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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Pinnacle West Capital Corporation is a Phoenix-based company with

consolidated assets of approximately $7 billion and consolidated

revenues of approximately $2 billion. Pinnacle West's major subsidiary

is Arizona Public Service Company, which generates, sells and

delivers electricity and energy-related products and services to

wholesale and retail customers in the western United States. Pinnacle

West's other two subsidiaries are SunCor Development Company, with

residential, commercial and industrial real estate projects under

development, and El Dorado Investment Company, an investment firm

with a diversified portfolio.
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INCOME HIGHLIGHTS

Operating Revenues

Income From Continuing Operations

BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS

Total Assets

Common Stock Equity

S 2,130,586

S 242,892

S 6,824,546

S 2,163,351

S 1,995,026

S 235,856

S 6,850,417

S 2,027,436

S 1,817,760

S 211,059

S 6,989,289

S 1,970,323

6.8% 9.8%

3.0% 11.7%

(0.4)'Yo (2.0)%

6 7% 2.9'Yo

'cs o
Oo ~

m
cs

O

PER SHARE HIGHLIGHTS

Earnings Per Share from Continuing

Operations - Diluted

Dividends Paid Per Share

Stock Price Per Share —Year-End

S 285

S 1.225

S 42.375

S 274 S 240

S 1.125 S 1.025

S 42.375 S 31.75

4.0% 14.2%

8.9% 9.8%

33.5%

STOCK PERFORMANCE

Market Capitalization - Year-End

Total Return

Stock Price Appreciation

S 3,594,457

2.8%

S 3,594,457 S 2,778,628

38.0'Yo 14.2'Yo

33.5% 10 4%

29.4%

APS Annual Electric Customer Growth

APS
4.2%

93 94 95 96 97

Electric
Industry
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

True to his word, as always, Dick Snell has

turned this space over to me this year as

chief executive officer, a position I assumed

in February 1999. Dick retired from man-

agement that same month but will continue

as chairman, and I welcome his insights.

During his tenure at Pinnacle West, our mar-

ket value increased fourfold to $3.6 billion.

His performance set a high standard —one

we intend to continue.

1998 and the early months of this year have

been a time of considerable achievement

and some frustration. I'l get the latter out

of the way, sketch some highlights and then

address how we plan to increase the long-

term value of your company.

We are accustomed to being among the

leaders in our industry for total shareholder

return. In 1998 we were not, and that

is unacceptable. Late in the year, the Arizona

Supreme Court stayed the regulatory agree-

ment we had reached earlier with the

Arizona Corporation Commission Staff, effec-

tively denying its approval. The associated

regulatory uncertainty stemming from this
"go and stop" launch of competition in the

state (and much attending political intrigue)

contributed to this reduced performance.

Lately, market realities and rising interest

rates have affected our stock price and

those of our peer group. We can't control

the stock market, but effectively managing

our businesses, including the company's

relationships with regulators, is something

shareholders should expect from us, and

over the years it's something we have done

very well. Although our relationships

remain good, internal forces at the Arizona

Corporation Commission have stalled, for

now, the movement toward competition.

However, we remain committed to competi-

tion in Arizona and will continue our efforts

to work with regulators and others toward

that goal.

None of this —stock price swoons or

temporary regulatory missteps —should

overshadow another strong performance by

the men and women of this organization.

Earnings were up; prices to customers were

down for the fourth time in five years; and

we experienced exceptional sales growth at

Arizona Public Service and SunCor in a

market that continues to be one of the

nation's growth leaders. We expanded our

power marketing and trading activities, and

they contributed to earnings. APS set

production, reliability and safety records.

We increased the common stock dividend

and reiterated that we expect to continue to

do so at a pace well above the average for

our industry. Our balance sheet strength-

ened. We used strong free cash flow to

reduce outstanding debt and preferred

stock by $164 million in 1998 and eliminated

all our preferred stock in 1999.

Early in 1998, we reached a historic agree-

ment with a local public power competitor,

Salt River Project, designed to facilitate

customer choice and provide cost reduction

opportunities. Getting this agreement in place

exponentially decreased the complexity of

opening electricity markets in Arizona.



This overall performance is great history,

but more importantly it indicates the start-

ing point for future expectations. One of the

reasons we chose the theme on the cover of

this report is that we want to emphasize

that our employees understand that small

increments gained throughout the organiza-

tion translate into significant market value.

If you are looking for the creation of value,

you will find it in the details of putting our

resources to their best use. You will find it

among employees who are mastering the

details of ongoing agility and in a

company that believes that success is

determined by today's performance, not

yesterday's record.

2.402,27

1.13 1. 23

Plnnacte West Earnings Per Share (Continuing Operations) and Dividends Per Share
(tH OOLLARS)
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With respect to generation, our goal is to

add considerably to our generation capacity

to meet the needs of growing markets.

Current plans call for expanding our gener-

ating resources within the next five years

by purchasing greater interests in facilities

we operate, buying existing facilities, or

building new capacity. These generation

assets will be organized in a newly created

non-regulated affiliate under the parent.

Our energy delivery business is expected to

create efficiencies while delivering superior

service. Under performance regulation, we

have been able to capture the benefits of

productivity improvements flowing from cost

management and efficient utilization of

assets. We know how to do both, as our

record indicates, resulting in stable earnings

growth and strong cash flow. With this half

of our business growing every day, we are in

a very advantageous position from which to

capture growth and create value.

93

0.83

94 95 96 97 98

Creating this value will require growth—
growth in existing markets, growth in

emerging markets, growth in markets

where we have a presence and growth in

markets we do not even contemplate today.

This growth and value creation will take

place under a new structure at the utility

that separates regulated and unregulated

businesses. Our new structure increases

clarity of direction and responsibility, pos-

turing the organization to capture growth

and create value. These new businesses

have everything to do with accountability

and integration, very little to do with

internal division and categorization.

APS Energy Services is our unregulated

customer development business. It begins

life with the spirit of a start-up company, but

is disciplined in its goals for profitability.

This is a business whose market character-

istics are thin margins and significant

competitors who buy market share at a loss,

something we are not compelled to do. APS

Energy Services has already delivered new

customers and new knowledge from Western

markets and has earned a reputation in

California based on its intellectual capital

and a competitive drive. We expect modest

earnings in this business over the next

five years.

These businesses and our power marketing

and trading business define how we, as a

multifaceted energy company, will attack

the 21st Century. While it may seem that

you recognize some of the parts in our new

structure, the old monolithic, vertically



oriented utility for us is dead. In its place

is an integrated portfolio of operations, each

with different customer markets, among

which we will invest capital based on our

overriding criteria for decision making: will

it make money for our shareholders.

At SunCor, our real estate development

subsidiary, we have continued to enhance

the value of our holdings in Arizona and

have realized improved earnings. New proj-

ects in northern New Mexico and southern

Utah hold strong promise for the future.

These are exciting times in our industry

and for our company. Our future success

will require repeat performances in areas

such as maximization of resources,

cost management, cooperative regulatory

relations, operational excellence through-

out the company and cash and earnings

contributions from all subsidiaries.

The speed at which our industry is chang-

ing offers us exciting opportunities. We are

well positioned to turn the opportunities

we have into greater value. My coworkers

and the management of your company will

do just that.

Sincerely,

William J. Post

Chief Executive Officer

FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Future success also requires high-level

performance in new areas. Most impor-

tantly, I am looking for new activities to

capture growth in energy markets in both

generation and energy services. Continued

and expanded performance regulation

agreements must be gained for our delivery

business. And, our real estate operations

need to continue to improve earnings while

contributing significantly to cash flow.

We are a growing company. Customer

expansion, performance regulation, asset

utilization and cost management willcontinue

to propel our performance. Generation and

energy services expansion, combined with

the less obvious investments we'e made in

improving our operational capabilities (such

as the completion of our new comprehen-

sive information technology platform) will

give us the ability to take advantage of

tomorrow's opportunities.

That Bill Post does, in fact, occupy the space ahead of me here is further
evidence of a management succession that has gone very smoothly.

Even through the regulatory uncertainties he mentions, there is

continuing focus on preserving and building shareholder value. I will lend

my ongoing support to that focus.

Richard Snell

Chairman of the Board



strong cash flow to the parent company.

These subsidiaries paid cash dividends to

the parent in 1998 totaling $42 million.
SunCor's operations are described in

greater detail on page 14.

El Dorado, Pinnacle West's investment

company, has total assets of $27 million

invested in venture capital and other

investments. Its primary goal is currently to

convert the venture capital portfolio to cash

as quickly and advantageously as possible.

Over the long-term, we may use El Dorado

for investing in new ventures that are

strategically important to our primary

energy business.
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OVERVIEW

STOCK AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Growth and operational excellence continue

to anchor the strong performance of

the company.

For the five years 1994 through 1998, total

return on Pinnacle West common stock

was 126 percent, or 17.7 percent annually,

ranking us 14th among the U.S. electric

companies. This record compared very

favorably with the industry, which returned

a total of 70 percent, or 11.2 percent annu-

ally for the same period. Although total

return for 1998 was only 2.8 percent,

business development goals are in place

to produce superior long-term returns for

our shareholders.

Effective December 1, 1998, the common

stock dividend increased by 8.3 percent.

The policy of Increasing the dividend

annually by consistent dollar amounts

continues, with growth at a pace well above

the industry average and conservative pay-

out ratios well below those of the industry.

Earnings per share increased four percent

in 1998 to $ 2.85 per diluted share of

common stock. Consolidated net income

for the year was $ 242.9 million, up

$7 million from 1997. APS earnings were

$ 245.5 million compared with $238.7

million in 1997. Pinnacle West's real estate

and investment subsidiaries contributed a

combined $ 12 million to consolidated

results, compared with $ 13.5 million for

the prior year.

Earnings growth came from increased

electricity sales related to 4.2 percent

customer growth and higher usage per

customer, expanded power marketing and

trading activities and lower financing costs.

These positive earnings effects were

partially offset by the effects of milder,

more normal weather and electricity price

reductions in 1998 and 1997. Operating

expenses were up primarily because of

customer growth, initiatives relating to

competition and expansion of our power

marketing and trading function. The year-

to-year earnings comparisons would have

been even more positive, except for the

beneficial effects in 1997 of two non-

recurring fuel-related settlements that

contributed approximately $ 21 million

before income taxes.

OPERATIONAL ADVANTAGES

Pinnacle West operates in markets that are

experiencing significant growth. In 1998,

Arizona's population growth was 3.4

percent, almost four times the national

average, and job growth was 4.6 percent,

nearly twice the U.S. average.

A number of other factors represent

competitive strengths, including low-cost

generation, extensive knowledge of the

western U.S. electricity markets, excellence

in customer care and operations, state-

of-the-art technology systems, modest

concentration of large commercial and

industrial customers and prices that are

competitive with those in our region. Free

cash flow and a strengthening balance

sheet also provide financial resources to

support future growth and agility.

Excellent operation of generation facilities

as measured by production costs and plant

output continue the solid record of achieve-

ment. Current plans will expand our gener-

ation resources to meet growing customer

needs and to facilitate future earnings

growth. Managing the growth of the energy

delivery business is a challenge that is being

successfully met. Our power marketing and

trading group is growing —literally and in

its strategic, operational importance—
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providing energy marketing and procure-

ment services. APS. Energy Services is

capturing opportunities in various markets

in the western United States as they open to

competitive choice.

ELECTRIC INDUSTRY RESTRUCTURING

The transition of regulated monopolies to

competitive suppliers has been underway

for a number of years and can be expected

to continue to evolve for years to come.

Investor-owned electricity providers in

Arizona are regulated by the Arizona

Corporation Commission (ACC), which is

developing the framework for introducing

retail electricity competition in the state.

The ACC initially adopted rules in 1996 that

provided a basis for competitive choice,

and further refinement of this process to

determine final rules is described in some

detail starting on page 35.

The Arizona Legislature passed a law in

May 1998 that establishes the process for

government-operated electricity providers

to open their markets to competition. At the

federal level, several pieces of legislation

related to industry restructuring are

expected. We believe the pace of competi-

tion throughout the nation is already

increasing and that the actions of state

regulators in Arizona and other states will

precipitate more change in the near future.

We have been working —and are continu-

ing to work —with regulators, legislators

and other interested parties to achieve a

transition to competition in Arizona that will

be constructive for our shareholders, our

customers and the public. Final outcome is

expected around the end of 1999.

In April 1998, APS and Salt River Project, a

public power entity operating in central

Arizona, reached a historic agreement

designed to facilitate customer choice in

Arizona and to provide cost reduction

opportunities.

The agreement furthered the process

of establishing competitive electricity
markets in Arizona by putting to rest long-

standing issues.

The company is taking part in discussions

of public policy issues, the outcome of

which could impact its business and the

progress of electric industry restructuring.

These include:

~ The rulemaking process at the Federal

Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) with

respect to pricing, constraints, congestion and

"federalization" of the transmission system.

~ Proposals regarding environmental and

global climate issues, some of which could

result in considerable disruption of the

American economy and our industry. The

company supports market-based solutions

to global climate concerns.

~ Market power and antitrust determina-

tions and the impact on incumbent electric

companies and on new competitors.

In many respects, competition in Arizona is

not waiting for final determination of rules

at state or federal levels. Various energy

companies are already offering services

even as they seek regulatory approval to

sell electricity in the state. During the year,

APS restructured into Generation, Energy

Delivery and Energy Services. A non-

regulated generation affiliate will be

organized under the parent.

SunCor, our real estate subsidiary, and

El Dorado, our investment subsidiary, are

continuing to pursue strategies that provide



GENERATION
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Generating electricity is a competitive

advantage for the company. Based on a pro-

duction cost per kilowatt-hour comparison,

the company's generation assets are com-

petitive with other generating facilities in

the western United States and are particu-

larly so with those in the Southwest. The

company's generation business is well

positioned to capture market share in the

wholesale electricity markets.

With 39 generating units totaling about

8,000 megawatts, APS ranks second among

investor-owned companies operating gener-

ation facilities in the western United States.

These facilities include nuclear, coal and

gas generating capacity. Operational per-

tormance has been considerably above

industry averages and additional cost

management opportunities are expected to

enhance protitability in electricity markets

in the fast-growing West.

The generation business highlights for

1998, mentioned on the previous page,

underscore the excellent pertormance

achieved to date. Palo Verde's 1998 pro-

duction record represents the first time

any American power plant has generated

more than thirty billion kilowatt-hours in a

year. Improved capacity factors and

reduced production costs are results of

lowering fuel costs, improving heat rates,

reducing the length of outages and main-

taining high operational performance to

capture opportunities when prices peak

in the spot market.

Attention to details at all levels and a focus

on profitability are evident throughout the

generation group. For example:

D Newly negotiated fuel contracts involv-

ing coal supply, rail transportation and

uranium enrichment services will soon

yield annual pretax savings of $20 million.

1'
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'alo Verde engineers have reduced the

duration ot refueling outages through

several efficiency-improving techniques,

including speedier methods of reintorcing

water pipelines that are vital to Palo

Verde's operation.

At the Four Corners plant, about $ 1 million

was saved as a result of reducing the

length of a major overhaul at Unit 2.

The capability of the Yucca plant increased

five percent following the rebuilding of

cooling components.



DELIVERY

The Energy Delivery business manages the

transmission and distribution of electricity

to APS'ustomers.

Population growth in Arizona has been and is

expected to continue to be three to four

times the United States average. More than

32,000 customers were added to the APS

system in 1998 for a growth rate of 4.2

percent. On average, four customers were

connected every hour of every day in 1998.

Managing this growth through cost manage-

ment and efficient deployment of capital led

to a 1.1 percent electricity price decrease in

July. This was the fourth price decrease in

the last five years, bringing the total to

nearly 8.4 percent. Our retail electricity

prices are currently average to below aver-

age when compared with neighboring

utilities in the southwestern United States.

The performance pricing mechanism con-

tained in the 1996 regulatory agreement

with the Arizona Corporation Commission

allows shareholders and customers to

share cost-savings benefits. These price

decreases are important ingredients to

enhancing APS'osition as the electricity

market opens to competition. Although

retail electric competition in Arizona has

been delayed from its initially planned

implementation in January 1999, we are

continuing to work with the ACC and other

parties to achieve a comprehensive transi-

tion to competitive markets.



replaced or added. These systems were

brouoht on to further our comoetitive
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ENERGY SERVICES
APS Energy Services provides energy,

metering, billing and energy management

services to markets in the western U.S.

Incorporated in late 1998, this group is

actively pursuing business opportunities in

Arizona and California and is exploring

markets in Nevada and New Mexico.

Targeted market share acquisition, at a

profit, is the primary goal of this business.

As a start-up company, APS Energy Services

has not yet accomplished its objective, but

progress is being made.

The long-term objective for this business

is to contribute to corporate profitability by

capturing strategically targeted segments

of existing and newly competitive markets.

APS Energy Services was the first direct

access electricity provider in the U.S.

Customers now under contract throughout

California have a combined peak load of

more than 185 megawatts. Customer

services in this business go well beyond

selling power and include developing

alternatives to reduce energy costs

1l1 l - ~

through energy efficiency solutions. These

solutions include competitive metering

and billing, lighting retrofits and chiller

replacements for major public institutions.

Profit margins in this business are razor

thin. Profitable operations will result from

employing value-added services to meet

customer needs. Ooing this while increasing

revenues is the key to success. This is a

difficult formula because APS Energy

Services will not buy market share—
profitability will not be sacrificed. In fact,

we exited one specific northern California

market in mid-1998 because new competi-

tion rules made that market unprofitable.

Overall, in the world of undifferentiated

competitors, APS Energy Services is off to

a solid start in a very tough market.

Progress to date and future success

depend on intellectual capital and antici-

pating markets and customers'eeds.

0 Based on a demonstrated knowledge of

the complexities of California's power

market exchange and connection with retail

tariffs, APS Energy Services'erformance
in 1998 underscored the potential for

providing additional revenues from deregu-

lated markets.
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The primary goals of the Power Marketing

and Trading group are to maximize sales of

electricity generated by APS, to obtain

additional power needed by the company

for growing customer needs, to manage

fuel costs and to capture trading opportu-

nities. This group actively trades physical

quantities of electricity and gas as well as

financial contracts relating to these

commodities. Further, APS is one of the

leading traders of emissions allowances.

Electricity trading activities are concen-

trated in the Western markets. Emissions

trading is national in scope. This business is

managed with the oversight of the Energy

Risk Management Committee that estab-

lishes and monitors trading practices, sets

risk limits and implements credit policies.

1998 was the second full year of opera-

tions. Technology systems are being

upgraded to state-of-the-art capabilities.

Power Marketing is expected to build off

the profitable operations of 1998 through

an expansion plan that contemplates

adding additional resources through the

end of 2000.

Success to date has been based on a

thorough knowledge of, and experience in,

the physical markets of the western

United States, combined with analytical

and risk disciplines.

SUNCOR

Our real estate subsidiary, SunCor, is one

of the premier real estate developers in the

southwestern United States. Its divisions

focus on master-planned communities,

retail office and industrial properties, and

golf course development and management.

Strategically, SunCor seeks to improve its

overall profitability while building value,

controlling its commitments and providing

a cash return to the parent company. In

1998, SunCor contributed $7.5 million to

our consolidated results, a 41 percent

increase over the prior year, and paid

$ 30 million in dividends to the parent. At

the end of 1998, SunCor had assets with a

total book value of $407 million.

With almost 34,000 single-family building

permits issued in the metropolitan Phoenix

area in 1998, the market is extremely

healthy. Such growth has brought pressures

on transportation, education, neighborhoods

and the labor force. SunCor seeks to

responsibly balance environmental and

public policy issues as it plans and develops

its various projects.

POWER MARKETING

0 In 1998, Power Marketing team members

implemented a 24-hour marketing and

schedule coordination desk to capture

opportunities in the new California market

structure. This significantly increased Power

Marketing's contribution to APS earnings.

SunCor's assets consist primarily of six

master-planned communities and numer-

ous commercial properties in Arizona,

predominantly the metropolitan Phoenix

area. It also is developing master-planned

communities in northern New Mexico and

southern Utah.

In 1998, SunCor added two new master- ~

planned communities to its development

portfolio. Coral Canyon is an 1,800-acre

development with a planned 18-hole

championship golf course in Utah near
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SUNCOR

St. George. Northeast of Phoenix, Hidden

Hills is a 400-acre community that comple-

ments SunCor's nearby Scottsdale Mountain

and SunRidge Canyon developments.

The Palm Valley master-planned community

has become a driving force in the western

metropolitan Phoenix area. Within its

remaining 8,000 acres, SunCor has brought

its newest residential phase online. The

project also includes PebbleCreek, a

2,600-acre adult community being devel-

oped by Robson Communities; shopping

centers; apartments; schools and medical

facilities. In the heart of this area, SunCor

also manages the renowned Wigwam

Resort in Litchfield Park.

Development and sales are progressing at
SunCor's other master-planned communi-

ties as well. Activity has been strong at

SunRidge Canyon, northeast of Phoenix in

Fountain Hills, and Sedona Golf Resort,

90 miles north of Phoenix in the scenic
"red rock" country of northern Arizona.

As planned, models opened and sales

began at Rancho Viejo, near Santa Fe,

New Mexico.

Golden Heritage Homes is SunCor's home-

building operation. Although SunCor uses a

number of homebuilders in its residential

developments, it is able to capture a

greater share of the profit on homes sold at

its communities through Golden Heritage.

The SunCor golf division currently manages

six golf courses and is now developing

two new courses. One of these, the

Sanctuary golf course in Scottsdale, will be

the first Audubon Signature course in the

state, built to the strict environmental

standards of the Audubon Society.

Tatum Ranch in north Phoenix is nearly

built out, and all remaining residential lots

are under contract. In the foothills north-

east of Phoenix, Scottsdale Mountain is in

its last phase.

SunCor's commercial, office and industrial

properties performed well in 1998, with

activity at both Marketplace, southeast of

Phoenix, and Talavi, northwest of Phoenix.

The last commercial parcels at Sedona Golf

Resort were sold during the year.
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1998 FINANCIALS



SELECTED CONSOLIDATED DATA

(Dollars la Thousaah. Srccpt Pcr Sharc Aasouau) 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

OPERATING RESULTS

Operating revenues

Electric
Real estate

S 2,006,398
124,188

S 1,878,553 S 1,718,272 S 1,614,952 S 1,626,168
116,473 99,488 54,846 59,253

income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operatlons-

net of income tax (c)
Extraordinary charge for early

retirement of debt —net
of income tax d

S 242,892 S 235,856 S 211,059(a) S 199,608 S 200,619(b)

(9,539)

20,340 11,571

Net income

COMMON STOCK DATA

Book value per share - year-end

Earnings (loss) per average common
share outstanding

S 242.892 S 235,856 S 181,180 S 188,037 S 200,619

S 25.50 S 23.90 S 22.51 S 21.49 S 20.32

Continuing operations - basic
Discontinued operations
Extraordinar char e

S 2.87 S 2.76 S 2.41(a) S 2.28 S 2.30(b)

(0.11)
0.23 0.13

Net income - basic S 2.87 S 2.76 S 2.07 S 2.15 S 2.30

Continuing operations —diluted
Net income —diluted

S 2.85
S 2.85

S 2.74

S 2.74
S 2.40(a) S 2.27 S 2.29(b)

S 206 S 214 S 229

Dividends declared per share

Indicated annual dividend rate—
year-end

S 1.225 S 1.125 ,S 1.025 S 0.925 S 0.825

S 1 30 S 1 20 S 1 10 S 1 00 S 0 90

Average common shares outstanding —basic

Average common shares outstanding - diluted
84,774,218
85,345,946

85,502,909
86,022,709

87,441,515
88,021,920

87,419,300
87,884,226

87,410,967
87,671,451

TOTAL ASSETS S 6,824,546 S 6,850,417 S 6,989,289 S 6,997,052 S 6,909,752

LIABILITIESAND EQUITY

Long-term debt less current maturities
Other liabilities

S 2,048,961
2,516,993

S 2,244,248
2,407,572

S 2,372,113
2,428,180

S 2,510,709
2,336,695

S 2,588,525
2,276,249

4,565,954 4,651,820 4,800,293 4,847,404 4,864,774
Minority interests

Non-redeemable preferred stock
of APS

Redeemable preferred stock of APS

Common stock e uit

85,840
9,401

2,163,351

142,051
29,110

2,027,436

165,673
53,000

1,970,323

193,561

75,000

1,881,087

193,561

75,000

1,776,417

Total liabilities and equity S 6,824,546 S 6,850,417 S 6,989,289 S 6,997,052 S 6,909,752

(a) Includes an after-tax charge of $ 18.9 million ($0.22 per share) for

a voluntary severance program and about $12 million (S0.13 per

share) of income Iax benefits related to capital loss cartyforwards.

(b) Includes after-tax Palo Verde Unit 3 accretion income of $20.3

million ($ 0'.23 per share) and a non-reculring Income tax benefit of

$26.8 million ($ 0.31 per share) related to a change In tax law.

(c) Charges associated with the settlement of a legal matter related to

MeraBank, A Federal Savings Bank.

(d) Charges associated with the repayment or refinancing of the

parent company's high-coupon debt.
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(Doiion in rhousonds, EsesPS Psr Shore hsnounts) 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

ELECTRIC OPERATING REVENUES

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Irrigation
Other

Total retail
Sales for resale
Transmission for others
Miscellaneous services

S 766,378
699,016
172,296

7,288
10,644

1,655,622
300,698

11,058
39,020

$ 746,937 $
687,988
164,696

8,706
11,842

1,620,169
226,828

10,295
21,261

721,877
678,130
162,324

9,448
13,078

1,584,857
98,560
10,240
24,615

S 669,762
653,425
156,501

9,596
12,631

1,501,915
86,510

9,390
'7,137

S 675,153
631,212
166,457

10,538
12,729

1,496,089
95,158

9,506
16,107

Electric operating revenues
Retail rate refund reversal

2,006,398 1,878,553 1,718,272 1,614,952 1,616,860
9,308

Net electric operating revenues

ELECTRIC SALES (MWIi)

$ 2,006,398 S 1,878,553 S 1,718,272 $ 1,614,952 S 1,626,168

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Irrigation
Other

Total retail
Sales for resale

8,310,689
8,697,397
3,279,430

84,640
90,927

20,463,083
10,317,391

7,970,309
8,524,882
3,123,283

112,363
86,090

19,816,927
9,233,573

7,541,440
8,233,762
3,039,357

121,775
84,362

19,020,696
3,367,234

6,848,905
7,768,289
2,933,459

119,580
78,478

17,748,711
2,720,704

6,873,300
7,456,049
2,926,318

132,340
76,827

17,464,834
2,764,223

Total electric sales

ELECTRIC CUSTOMERS - END OF YEAR

30,780,474 29,050,500 22,387,930 20,469,415 20,229,057

Residential
Commercial

Industrial
Irrigation
Other

709,111
84,745

3,159
710
895

680,478
81,246"

3,192
764
851

654,602
78,178

3,055
841

828

625,352
75,105

2,913
837
786

603,989
72,740

2,976
897
762

Total retail
Sales for resale

Total electric customers

798,620
67

798,687

766,531
50

737,504
48

704,993
39

681,364
44

766,581 737,552 705,032 681,408

See "Financial Review" on pages 20-27 for a discussion of certain information in the table above.

QUARTERLY STOCK PRICES AND DIVIDENDS

Stock Symbol: PNW

1998

Dioidende
Per

'lighLore Close Sharc(a) 1997 lligh Lose Close

Dioidcnds
Pci

Share(a)

1st Quarter 45 39 3/8 44 7/16 $ 0.300

2nd Quarter 46 3/16 42 45 $ 0.600

3rd Quarter 45 9/16 40 1/16 44 13/16 S

4th Quarter 49 1/4 41 5/8 42 3/8 S 0.325

1st Quarter 32 7/8 30 1/8 30 1/8 S 0.275

2nd Quarter 30 3/4 27 5/8 30'1/16 S 0.550
3rd Quarter 34 7/8 2913/16 33 5/8 S

4th Quarter 42 3/4 33 3/16 42 3/8 S 0.300

(a) Dividends for the 3rd quarter of 1998 and 1997 were declared In June.

Pinnacle IVest Capital Corporation QH



FINANCIAL REVIEW

In this section, we explain the results of operations, gen-

eral financial condition, and outlook for Pinnacle West and

our subsidiaries: APS, SunCor, and El Dorado, including:

~ the changes in our earnings from 1997 to 1998 and

from 1996 to 1997
~ the factors impacting our business, including competi-

tion and electric industry restructuring
~ the effects of regulatory agreements on our results and

outlook
~ our capital needs and resources —both for APS and

our non-utility operations and

~ Year 2000 technology issues.

Throughout this Financial Review, we refer to specific
"Notes" In the Notes to Consolidated Financial State-

ments that begin on page 33. These Notes add further

details to the discussion.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

1998 Compared with 1997

Our 1998 consolidated net Income was $242.9 million

compared with $235.9 million in 1997- a 3.0%

increase. Net income increased by $7.0 million primarily

because of increased earnings at the subsidiaries and

lower financing costs as we paid down debt and took

advantage of lower interest rates.

APS'998 earnings increased $ 6.9 million —a 2.9%

increase —over 1997 earnings primarily because of an

increase in customers, expanded power marketing and

trading activities, and lower financing costs. In the

comparison, these positive factors more than offset the

effects of milder weather, two fuel-related settlements

recorded in 1997, and two retail price reductions.

See Note 3 for additional information about the price

reductions.

As mentioned above, these positive factors were partially

offset by the effects of milder weather ($33 million) and

reductions in retail prices ($ 18 million).

Power marketing and trading activities are predominantly

short-term opportunity wholesale sales. The increase in

power marketing revenues resulted from higher prices,

increased activity in Western bulk power markets, and

increased sales to large customers in California. The

increase in power marketing and trading revenues was

accompanied by related increases in purchased power

expenses.

The two fuel-related settlements increased 1997 pretax

earnings by about $ 21 million. The income statement

reflects these settlements as reductions in fuel expense

and as other income.

Operations and maintenance expense increased $ 15

million because of customer growth, initiatives related

to competition, and expansion of our power marketing

and trading function.

Depreciation and amortization expense Increased $11

million because APS had more plant in service.

APS decreased its financing costs by $9 million primarily

because of lower amounts of outstanding debt and

preferred stock.

Our real estate subsidiary, SunCor Development, and

our investment subsidiary, El Dorado, contributed a

combined $ 12.0 million to consolidated net income In

1998 compared with $ 13.5 million in 1997. SunCor's

contribution increased $2.2 million as a result of an

increase In land sales. El Dorado's contribution

decreased $ 3.7 million as a result of a decrease In

investment sales.

In 1998, electric operating revenues increased $ 128

million primarily because of:

~ increased power marketing and trading revenues

($94 million)
~ increases in the number of customers and the amount

of electricity used by customers ($77 million) and

~ miscellaneous factors ($ 8 million).

SunCor's stand-alone net income was $44.7 million, of

which $ 37.2 million represents income related to the

recognition of a deferred tax asset. The deferred tax

asset relates to net operating losses and book/tax basis

differences. SunCor is expected to realize these benefits

in subsequent periods pursuant to an intercompany tax

allocation agreement. On a consolidated basis, Pinnacle

West had already recognized the income tax benefits,

therefore, there was no impact on consolidated net

income in 1998.
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1997 Compared with 1996

Our 1997 consolidated net income was $235.9 million

compared with $ 181.2 million in 1996. The following

is a summary:

r&ovsenCk ofDollen) 1997 1996

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations —net of income tax

Extraordinar char 9 for earl retirement of debt —net of Income tax

Net income

S 235,856 S 211,059

(9,539)

20.340

S 235,856 S 181,180

Our earnings from continuing operations increased from

1996 to 1997 by $24.8 million, or 11.7%, primarily

because of increased earnings at the subsidiaries and

lower financing costs as we paid down debt and took

advantage of lower Interest rates. The 1996 loss from

discontinued operations related to remnants of

MeraBank legal matters.

APS'997 earnings Increased $ 12.3 million —a 5.4%

increase —over 1996 earnings primarily because of:

~ an increase in customers
~ a $32 million pretax charge in 1996 for a voluntary

severance program
n two fuel-related settlements in 1997 and

~ lower financing costs.

These positive factors more than offset the effects of

the 1996 regulatory agreement with the Arizona

Corporation Commission (ACC), which during 1997

resulted in about $ 60 million of additional regulatory

asset amortization and a $35 million revenue decrease

caused by two retail price reductions. See Note 3 and

"Results of Operations —Regulatory Agreements" below

for additional information. In addition, APS recognized

$ 12 million of income tax benefits in 1996 that were not

repeated in 1997.

In 1997, electric operating revenues increased $ 160

million primarily because of:

~ increased power marketing revenues ($128 million)

~ an increase in the number of customers

($58 million) and

~ weather effects ($7 million).

As mentioned above, these positive factors were par-

tially offset by a $35 million revenue decrease caused

by retail price reductions. The increase in power mar-

keting revenues resulted from increased activity in

Western bulk power markets. This did not significantly

affect our earnings because the increase was substan-

tially offset by higher purchased power expenses.

Two fuel-related settlements in 1997 increased pretax

earnings by about $21 million. The income statement

shows these settlements as reductions in fuel expense

and as other income. About $16 million of the settle-

ments related to years prior to 1997 and $ 5 million

related to 1997. APS expects the total annual savings

from the settlements for at least the next several years

to be about $ 10 million before income taxes. APS does

not have a fuel adjustment clause as part of its retail

rate structure. As a result, APS shows changes in fuel

and purchased power expenses in current earnings.

APS lowered Its operations and maintenance expenses

in 1997 by putting in place a voluntary severance pro-

gram in late 1996, with related savings reflected in

1997. These savings were partially offset by increased

expenses for marketing, information technology, and

power plant maintenance.

APS decreased its financing costs by $ 12 million during

1997 by lowering the amounts of outstanding debt and

preferred stock.

SunCor Development and El Dorado contributed a com-

bined $ 13.5 million to consolidated net income in 1997

compared with $4.6 million in 1996. SunCor's contribu-

tion increased as a result of increased land and home

sales. El Dorado's contribution increased as a result of an

increase in investment sales.
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Regulatory Agreements

Regulatory agreements with the ACC affect the results

of APS'perations. The following discussion focuses on

two agreements: a 1996 agreement to accelerate the

amortization of APS'egulatory assets and a 1994

settlement to accelerate amortization of APS'eferred
investment tax credits (ITCs).

Under the 1996 agreement with the ACC, APS is recov-

ering substantially all of its present regulatory assets

through accelerated amortization. The recovery of these

assets is taking place over an eight-year period that will

end June 30, 2004. For more details, see Note 3. This

accelerated amortization increased annual amortization

expense by approximately $120 million ($72 million

after taxes).

Also, as part of the 1996 regulatory agreement, APS

reduced its retail prices by 3.4/0 effective July 1, 1996.

This reduces revenue by about $ 48.5 million annually

($29 million after taxes). APS also agreed to share

future cost savings with its customers, which resulted

In the following additional retail price reductions:

~ $ 17.6 million annually ($ 10.5 million after income

taxes), or 1.2/n, effective July 1, 1997, and
~ $ 17 million annually ($ 10 million after income taxes),

or 1.1/o, effective July 1, 1998.

APS expects to file with the ACC for another retail price

decrease of approximately $ 10.8 million annually ($ 6.5

million after income taxes) to become effective July 1,

1999. The amount and timing of the price decrease are

subject to ACC approval. This will be the last price

decrease under the 1996 regulatory agreement.

We discuss above, in "Results of Operations," the fac-

tors that offset the earnings impact of the accelerated

regulatory asset amortization and the price decreases.

As part of the 1994 rate settlement, APS accelerated

amortization of substantially all deferred investment tax

credits (ITCs) over a five-year period that ends on

December 31, 1999. The amortization of ITCs decreases

annual consolidated income tax expense by approximate-

ly $24 million. Beginning in 2000, no further benefits will

be reflected in income tax expense. See Note 4.

CAPITAL NEEDS AND RESOURCES

Pinnacle West (Parent Company)

We have reduced our debt over the last three years as

follows: 1998, $ 113 million; 1997, $45 million; and

1996, $60 million. We have a $250 million line of cred-

it, under which we had $42 million of borrowings out-

standing at December 31, 1998. We do not have any

debt repayment obligations until 2001.

During the past three years, our primary cash needs

were for:

~ dividends for our shareholders
~ interest payments and

~ optional and mandatory repayment of principal on our

long-term debt.

In addition, as part of the 1996 agreement with the

ACC, we Invested $50 million in APS in 1998, 1997, and

1996 and will invest the same amount in 1999. This will

be the last payment under the 1996 regulatory agree-

ment. See Note 3. During 1997, we repurchased $ 80

million of common stock, reducing our shares outstand-

ing at year-end by 2.7 million shares.

Our primary source of cash is from APS dividends.

During 1998, APS paid $ 170 million in dividends. In

1998, SunCor provided cash of $30 million and El

Dorado provided cash of $ 12 million. We expect both

SunCor and El Dorado to contribute to our cash flow in

1999. Tax allocation payments from our subsidiaries, in

excess of payments we made to taxing authorities, were

an additional source of cash in 1998, 1997, and 1996.

This is not expected to be a source of cash for Pinnacle

West in the future.

APS

APS'apital requirements consist primarily of capital

expenditures and optional and mandatory redemptions

of long-term debt and preferred stock. APS pays for its

capital requirements with:

~ cash from operations
~ annual cash payments from Pinnacle West of

$50 million annually from 1996 through 1999

(see Note 3) and

~ to the extent necessary, external financing.
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During the period from 1996 through 1998, APS paid

for all of its capital expenditures with cash from

operations. APS expects to do so in 1999 through

2001, as well.

APS'apital expenditures in 1998 were $327 million.

APS'rojected capital expenditures for the next three

years are: 1999, $328 million; 2000, $ 317 million; and

2001, $ 300 million. These amounts include about $30-

$35 million each year for nuclear fuel. In general, most

of the projected capital expenditures are for:

~ expanding transmission and distribution capabilities

to meet customer growth
~ upgrading existing utility property and

~ environmental purposes.

In addition, APS is considering expanding certain of

its operations over the next several years, which may

result in additional expenditures. APS currently believes

that there will be opportunities to expand its investment

in generating assets in the next five years. It is expected

that these generating assets would be organized in a

newly created non-regulated aftiliate under the parent.

During 1998, APS redeemed about $ 145 million of long-

term debt and $76 million ot preterred stock, including

premiums, with cash from operations and long- and

short-term debt. APS'ong-term debt and preferred

stock redemption requirements and payment obligations

on a capitalized lease for the next three years are:

1999, $260 million; 2000, $ 115 million; and 2001, $2

million. On March 1, 1999, APS redeemed all $95 mil-

lion ot its outstanding preferred stock. Based on market

conditions and optional call provisions, APS may make

optional redemptions of long-term debt from time to time.

As of December 31, 1998, APS had credit commitments

from various banks totalling about $ 400 million, which

were available either to support the issuance of com-

mercial paper or to be used as bank borrowings. At the

end of 1998, APS had about $ 179 million of commercial

paper and $ 125 million of long-term bank borrowings

outstanding.

In 1998, APS issued $ 100 million of unsecured long-

term debt and in February 1999, APS issued $125 million

of unsecured long-term debt.

Although provisions in APS'irst mortgage bond inden-

ture, articles of incorporation, and ACC financing orders

establish maximum amounts of additional first mortgage

bonds that APS may issue, APS does not expect any of

these provisions to limit its ability to meet its capital

requirements.

Non-Utility Subsidiaries

During the past three years, SunCor and El Dorado each

funded all of their cash requirements with cash from

operations and their own financing.

SunCor's capital needs consist primarily of capital

expenditures for land development and home construc-

tion. On the basis of projects now under development,

SunCor expects capital needs over the next three years

to be: 1999, $ 58 million; 2000, $ 53 million; and 2001,

$ 43 million. Capital resources to meet these require-

ments include funds from operations and SunCor's own

external financings.

As of December 31, 1998, SunCor had a $55 million line

of credit, under which $38 million of borrowings were

outstanding. SunCor's debt repayment requirements

for the next three years are: 1999, $4 million; 2000,

$26 million; and 2001, $ 51 million.

COMPETITION AND INDUSTRY RESTRUCTURING

The electric industry is undergoing significant change.

It is moving to a competitive, market-based structure

from a highly-regulated, cost-based environment in

which companies have been entitled to recover their

costs and to earn fair returns on their invested capital

in exchange for commitments to serve all customers

within designated service territories. In December 1996,

the ACC adopted rules that provide a framework for the

introduction of retail electric competition in Arizona and

adopted amendments to the rules in August 1998.

On January 11, 1999, the ACC issued an order which

stayed the amended rules and granted waivers from

compliance with the rules to all affected utilities

(including APS) pending further ACC decisions. On

February 5, 1999, ACC hearing officers issued recom-
b mendations for changes to the amended rules. See

Note 3 for additional information about these rules and

other competitive developments, including an agreement

with Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and

Power District (Salt River Project). We cannot currently
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predict when or if the amended rules will be further

modified, when the stay of the amended rules will be

lifted, or when retail electric competition will be intro-

duced in Arizona with respect to affected utilities.

The rules as recommended indicate that the ACC will

allow affected utilities the opportunity to fully recover

unmitigated stranded costs, but do not set forth the

mechanisms for determining and recovering such costs.

On June 22, 1998, the ACC issued an order on stranded

cost determination and recovery and on February 5,

1999, an ACC hearing officer issued recommended

changes to that order. See Note 3 for additional informa-

tion on proposed modifications to the stranded cost order.

An Arizona Joint legislative committee studied electric

utility restructuring issues in 1996 and 1997. In May

1998, a law was enacted to facilitate implementation of

retail electric competition in the state. Additionally, leg-

islation related to electric competition has been pro-

posed in the United States Congress. See Note 3 for a

discussion of legislative developments.

We believe that further ACC decisions, legislation at the

Arizona and federal levels, and perhaps amendments to

the Arizona Constitution will ultimately be required

before significant implementation of retail electric com-

petition can lawfully occur in Arizona. Until it has been

determined how competition will be implemented in

Arizona, Including the manner in which stranded costs

will be addressed, we cannot accurately predict the

impact of full retail competition on our financial

position, cash flows, or results of operations. As com-

petition in the electric industry continues to evolve, we

will continue to evaluate strategies and alternatives

that will position us to compete effectively in a restruc-

tured industry.

APS prepares its financial statements in accordance

with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

(SFAS) No. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain

Types of Regulation." SFAS No. 71 requires a cost-

based, rate-regulated enterprise to reflect the impact of

regulatory decisions in its financial statements.
APS'xisting

regulatory orders and the current regulatory

environment support its accounting practices related to

regulatory assets, which amounted to about S900 mil-

lion at December 31, 1998. Under the 1996 regulatory

Inosntoy hsssssmsnt Rsmsdiatton & Tnting

APS 100 100% 70% 1

Pinnacle West and

other subsidiaries

(excluding APS) 100% 100% 80% (2)

It) Estimated to be at 100% by June 30, 1999, except one Palo Verde

unit as discussed below.

(2) Estimated to be at 100% by June 30, 1999.

Discussion

APS has been actively implementing and replacing

systems and technology since 1995 for general busi-

ness reasons unrelated to the Year 2000, and these

actions have resulted in substantially all of its major

information technology (IT) systems becoming Year

2000 ready. The major IT systems that were, and are

being, implemented and replaced include the following:

~ Work Management
~ Materials Management
m Energy Management

agreement, the ACC accelerated the amortization of

substantially all of APS'egulatory assets to an eight-

year period that will end June 30, 2004. If APS ceases

to be cost-based regulated, it would no longer be able

to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 71 to part or all of

its operations, which could have a material impact on

our financial statements. See Note 1 for additional

information on regulatory accounting.

YEAR 2000 READINESS DISCLOSURE

Overview

As the year 2000 approaches, many companies face

problems because many computer systems and

equipment will not properly recognize calendar dates

beginning with the year 2000. We are addressing the

Year 2000 issue as described below. APS initiated a

comprehensive company-wide Year 2000 program

during 1997 to review and resolve all Year 2000 issues

in mission critical systems (systems and equipment that

are key to business function, health, and safety) in a

timely manner to ensure the reliability of electric service

to our customers. This included a company-wide

awareness program of the Year 2000 issue.

The following chart shows Year 2000 readiness'of our

mission critical systems as of January 31, 1999:
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~ Payroll
~ Financial
~ Human Resources
~ Trouble Call Management
~ Computer and Communications Network Upgrades
~ Geographic Information Management
~ Customer Information System and

~ Palo Verde Site Work Management.

We and our subsidiaries have made, and will continue to

make, certain modifications to computer hardware and

software systems and applications, including IT and non-

IT systems, in an effort to ensure they are capable of

handling changing business needs, including dates in the

year 2000 and thereafter. In addition, other APS IT

systems and non-IT systems, including embedded tech-

nology and real-time process control systems, are being

analyzed for potential modifications.

Pinnacle West, APS, SunCor, and El Dorado have

inventoried and assessed essentially all mission critical

IT and non-IT systems and equipment. APS is 70%

complete and Pinnacle West and its other subsidiaries

are 80% complete with the remediation and testing of

these systems. Remediation and testing is expected to

be completed by June 30, 1999 for all mission critical

systems, except for those items that can only be com-

pleted during maintenance outages at Palo Verde, which

will be completed for the last unit, which is substantially

identical to the other two units, during the last half of

1999. APS has an internal audit/quality review team

that is periodically reviewing the Individual Year 2000

projects and their Year 2000 readiness.

APS currently estimates that it will spend approximately

$ 5 million relating to Year 2000 issues, about $3 million

of which has been spent to date. This includes an esti-

mated allocation of payroll costs for APS employees

working on Year 2000 issues, and costs for consultants,

hardware, and software. We do not separately track

other internal costs. This does not include any expendi-

tures incurred since 1995 to implement and replace

systems for reasons unrelated to the Year 2000, as dis-

cussed above. Our cost to address the Year 2000 issue

is charged to operating expenses as incurred and has

not had, and is not expected to have, a material adverse

effect on our financial position, cash flows, or results of

operations. We expect to fund this cost with available

cash balances and cash provided by operations.

Pinnacle West and its subsidiaries are communicating

with their significant suppliers, business partners, other

utilities, and large customers to determine the extent

to which they may be affected by these third
parties'lans

to remediate their own Year 2000 issues in a

timely manner. These companies have been interfacing

with suppliers of systems, services, and materials In

order to assess whether their schedules for analysis

and remediation of Year 2000 issues are timely and to

assess their ability to continue to supply required

services and materials.

APS is also working with the North American Electric

Reliability Council (NERC) through the Western Systems

Coordinating Council (WSCC) to develop operational

plans for stable grid operation that will be utilized by

APS and other utilities in the western United States.

These plans are expected to be completed by June 30,

1999. However, APS cannot currently predict the effect

on APS if the systems of these other companies are

not Year 2000 ready.

We currently expect that our most reasonably likely

worst case Year 2000 scenario would be intermittent

loss of power to APS customers, similar to an outage

during a severe weather disturbance. In this situation,

APS would restore power as soon as possible by, among

other things, re-routing power flows. We do not cur-

rently expect that this scenario would have a material

adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows,

or results of operations.

We are working to develop our own contingency plans

to handle Year 2000 issues, including the most reason-

ably likely worst case scenario discussed above, and we

expect these plans to be completed by June 30,1999.
As discussed above, APS has also been working with

NERC and WSCC to develop contingency plans related to

grid operation.

ACCOUNTING MATTERS

We describe two new accounting rules in Note 2. First,

the new rule on energy trading and risk management is

effective in 1999. We do not expect it to have a material

impact on our financial results. Secondly, the new stan-

dard on derivatives is effective for us in 2000. We are
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currently evaluating what impact it will have on our

financial statements. Also, see Note 13 for a description

of a proposed standard on accounting for certain liabili-

ties related to closure or removal of long-lived assets.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Our operations include managing market risks related to

changes in interest rates, commodity prices, and irivest-

ments held by the nuclear decommissioning trust fund.

Interest Rate and Equity Risk

Our major financial market risk exposure is changing

interest rates. Changing interest rates will affect inter-

est paid on variable rate debt and interest earned by the

nuclear decommissioning trust fund. Our policy is to

manage interest rates through the use of a combination

of fixed and floating rate debt. The nuclear decommis-

sioning fund also has risks associated with changing

market values of equity investments. Nuclear decommis-

sioning costs are recovered in rates.

The tables below present contractual balances of our

long-term and short-term debt at the expected maturity

dates as well as the fair value of those instruments on

December 31, 1998 and December 31, 1997. The

weighted average interest rates for the various debt

presented are actual as of December 31, 1998 and

December 31, 1997.

Expected Maturity/Principal Repayment - December 31,1998

(Aousands ofDollars)
Short 7'crm Variable Long-Term

Intcrnt Rotes Amount interns Rotes Amount
find Long ferm

lntermt Rates Amount

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Years thereafter

Total

Fair Value

6.21% S 178,830

$ 178,830

S 178,830

7.30% S

7.32%

6.57'Yo

10.25'/o

5.69'Yo

3.43%

$

S

3,268

25,756

93,472

119

125,131

459,803

707,549

707,549

7.24'/o S 164,777

5 79% 114 711

6.70% 27,488

8.13'Yo 125,000

6.87'Yo 25,000

7.75'/o 1,058,963

$ 1,515,939

S 1,577,365

Expected Maturity/Principal Repayment - December 31,1997

(Thousands ofDollars)
Short-Term

Intcrmt Rates Amount
Voriable Long 7crm

Interest Rotcs Amount
fixed Long-Term

Interest Rates Amount

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

Years thereafter

Total

Fair Value

6.27% $ 130,750

S 130,750

S 130,750

7.95'Yo $ 3,064

7 98% 28 598

7.99'/o 54,133

6.25'Yo 155,079

6.25% 150,088

3.67% 443,178

S 834,140

S 834,140

7.59'Yo $ 105,631

7.25% 164,378

5.83% 104 711

6.70% 27 488

8.13% 125,000

7.89% 998,628

S 1,525,836

S 1,556,697
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Commodity Price Risk

APS utilizes a variety of derivative instruments including

exchange-traded futures, options, and swaps as part of

its overall risk management strategies and for trading

purposes. In order to reduce the risk of adverse price

fluctuations in the electricity and natural gas markets,

APS enters into futures and/or option transactions to

hedge certain natural gas held in storage as well as

certain expected purchases and sales of natural gas

and electricity. The changes in market value of such

contracts have a high correlation to the price changes

in the hedged commodity. Gains and losses related to

derivatives that qualify as hedges of expected transac-

tions are recognized in income when the underlying

hedged physical transaction closes (deferral method).

Gains and losses on derivatives utilized for trading are

recognized in income on a current basis (the mark to

market method).

APS has prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate its

exposure to the market risk of its derivative position for

natural gas and electricity. With respect to these deriv-

atives, a potential adverse price movement of 10/o in

the market price of natural gas and electricity from the

December 31, 1998 levels would decrease the fair value

of these instruments by approximately $ 1 million. This

analysis does not include the favorable impact that the

same hypothetical price movement would have on

expected physical purchases and sales of natural gas

and electricity.

APS is exposed to credit losses in the event of

non-performance or non-payment by counterparties.

APS uses a credit management process to assess and

monitor the financial viability of its counterparties.

APS does not expect counterparty defaults to materially

Impact its financial condition, results of operations, or

net cash flows.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The above discussion contains forward-looking state-

ments that involve risks and uncertainties. Words such

as "estimates," "expects," "anticipates," "plans,"

"believes," "projects," and similar expressions identify

forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertain-

ties include, but are not limited to, the ongoing restruc-

turing of the electric industry; the outcome of the regu-

latory proceedings relating to the restructuring; regula-

tory, tax, and environmental legislation; the ability of

APS to successfully compete outside its traditional regu-

lated markets; regional economic conditions, which

could affect customer growth; the cost of debt and equi-

ty capital; weather variations affecting customer usage;

technological developments in the electric industry; Year

2000 issues; and the strength of the real estate market.

These factors and the other matters discussed above

may cause future results to differ materially from histor-

ical results, or from results or outcomes we currently

expect or seek.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENTAND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'EPORT

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'EPORT

The primary responsibility for the integrity of the Company's

financial information rests with management, whIch has pre-

pared the accompanying financial statements and related

information. Such information was prepared in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in

the circumstances, and based on management's best esti-

mates and judgments. Materiality was given due consideration.

These financial statements have been audited by Independent

auditors and their report is included.

Management maintains and relies upon systems of internal

accounting controls. A limiting factor ln all systems of internal

accounting control Is that the cost of the system should not

exceed the benefits to be derived. Management believes that

the Company's system provides the appropriate balance

between such costs and benefits.

Periodically the internal accounting control system is reviewed

by both the Company's internal auditors and its Independent

auditors to test for compliance. Reports Issued by the internal

auditors are released to management, and such reports or

summaries thereof are transmitted to the Audit Committee of

the Board of Directors and the independent auditors on a

timely basis.

The Audit Committee, composed solely of outside directors,

meets periodically with the internal auditors and independent

auditors (as well as management) to review the work of each.

The internal auditors and independent auditors have free

access to the Audit Committee, without management present,

to discuss the results of their audit work.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets of Pinnacle West Capital Corporation and its sub-

sidiaries as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 and the related

consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December

31, 1998. These financial statements are the responsibility of

the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally

accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-

cial statements. An audit also Includes assessIng the account-

ing principles used and significant estimates made by manage-

ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present

fairly, In all material respects, the financial position of Pinnacle

West Capital Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31,

1998 and 1997 and the results of their operations and theIr

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 1998 in conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles.

Management believes that the Company's systems, policies

and procedures provide reasonable assurance that operations

are conducted in conformity with the law and with manage-

ment's commitment to a high standard of business conduct.

Deloitte 8 Touche LLP

Phoenix, Arizona

March 4, 1999

William J. Post

Chief Executive Officer

George A. Schreiber, Jr.

President
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Yoo Endod Dora bo St,
rDollan in Tboarandn ErcoPt Par Shoto Anoantd

OPERATING REVENUES

Electric
Real estate

1998

$ 2,006,398
124,188

1997

$ 1,878,553
116,473

1996

S 1,718,272
99,488

Total 2,130 586 1,995,026 1,817,760

OPERATING EXPENSES

Fuel and purchased power
Utilityoperations and maintenance
Real estate operations

. Depreciation and amortization (Note 1)

Taxes other than income taxes

537,501
414,041
115,331
379,679
116,906

436,627
399,434
111,628
368,285
121,546

325,523
430,714

96,080
299,507
122,077

Total

OPERATING INCOME

1,563,458

567,128

1,437,520 1,273,901

557,506 543,859

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Allowance for equity funds used during construction
Preferred stock dividend requirements of APS

Net other Income and ex ense

Total

INCOME BEFORE INTEREST AND INCOME TAXES

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest charges
Ca Italized Interest

Total

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAXES NOTE 4

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Loss from discontinued operations —net of income tax of $ 6,461

Extraordinary charge for early retirement of debt-
net of income tax of $ 13,777

(9,703)
609

9,094

558,034

169,145
18,596

150,549

407,485

164,593

242,892

(1 2,803)
4,569

8,234

549,272

182,838
19,703

163,135

386,137

150,281

235,856

5,209
(17,092)

6,748

18,631

525,228

198,569
12,856

185,713

339,515

128,456

211,059
(9,539)

20,340

NET INCOME

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING - BASIC

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING - DILUTED

EARNINGS PER AVERAGE COMMON SHARE OUTSTANDING

Continuing operations —basic
Net Income —basic
Continuing operations —diluted.
Net income —diluted

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE

$ 242,892

84,774,218

85,345,946

S 2.87
2.87
2.85
2.85

$ 1.225

S 235,856 S 181,180

85,502,909

86,022,709

87,441,515

88,021,920

S 2.76 S 2.41

2.76 2.07
2.74 2.40
2.74 2.06

S 1.125 S 1.025

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Dsrrsobssr SS,
(rtsousooCk ofDotlors) 1998 1997

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Customer and other receivables —net
Accrued utility revenues
Materials and supplies (at average cost)
Fossil fuel (at average cost)
Deterred Income taxes (Note 4)

'ther current assets

Total current assets

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

Real estate investments —net (Note 6)
Other assets Note 1 3

Total investments and other assets

UTILITYPLANT (NOTES Bs 10 AND 11)
Electric plant in service and held for future use
Less accumulated de reclation and amortization

Total

Construction work In progress
Nuclear fuel, net of amortization of $68,569 and $ 66,081

Net utilit lant

DEFERRED DEBITS

Regulatory asset for income taxes (Note 4)
Rate synchronization cost deferral
Other deferred debits

Total deferred debits

$ 20,538
233,876

67,740
69,074
13,978
3,999

47,594

456,799

331,021
236,562

567,583

7,265,604
2,814,762

4,450,842

228,643
51,078

4,730,563

400,795
303,660
365,146

1,069,601

$ 27,484
183,507
58,559
70,634

9,621
57,887
41.408

449,100

365,921
215,027

580,948

7,009,059
2,620,607

4,388,452

237,492
51,624

4,677,568

458,369
358,871
325,561

1,142,801

TOTAL ASSETS $ 6,824,546 $ 6,850,417

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LIABILITIESAND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Accrued interest
Short-term borrowlngs (Note 5)
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 6)
Customer deposits
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT LESS CURRENT MATURITIES NOTE 6

DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER

Deferred Income taxes (Note 4)

Deferred investment tax credit (Note 4)

Unamortized gain - sale of utility plant
Other

Total deferred credits and other

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTES 3 AND 12)

MINORITY INTERESTS (NOTE 7)
Non-redeemable referred stock of APS

Redeemable referred stock of APS

COMMON STOCK EQUITY (NOTE B)

Common stock, no par value; authorized 150,000,000 shares;
issued and outstanding 84,824,947 at end of 1998 and 1997

Retained earnln s

Total common stock e uit

S 155,800
62,520
31,866

178,830
168,045

28,510
14,632

640,203

2,048,961

1,343,536
27,345
77,787

428,122

1,876,790

85,840

9,401

1,550,643
612,708

2,163,351

S 117,429
84I610
32,974

130,750
108,695
30,672
18,534

523,664

2,244,248

1,363,461
50,861
82,363

387,223

1,883,908

142,051

29,1 IO

1,553,771
473,665

2,027,436

TOTAL LIABILITIESAND EQUITY S 6,824,546 S 6,850,417
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nor znckkt Dkkkrntkkr st,
(rtkoukonktk ofDoltork) 1996 1997 1996

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income from continuing operations S 242,892 S 235,856 S 211,059

Items not requiring cash
Depreciation and amortization
Nuclear fuel amortization
Deferred income taxes —net
Allowance for equity funds used

during construction
Deferred investment tax credit
Other —net

Changes in current assets and liabilities
Customer and other receivables - net
Accrued utility revenues
Materials, supplies and fossil fuel
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Accrued Interest
Other current liabilities

Decrease In land held
Other - net

379,679
32,856
41,262

(23,516)
1,190

(50,369)
(9,181)
(2,797)
(6,186)

34,386
(22,090)

(1,108)
(5,235)

33,405
39,350

368,285
32,702
24,809

(23,518)
(3,854)

(14,270)
(3,089)
7,793

(1 09)
(54,882)

2,197
(6,678)

(23,087)
33,010
48,254

299,507
33,566
13,392

(5,209)
(23,518)

1,370

(38,106)
(1,951)
11,945
(8,949)

65,586
(7,088)
(9,306)
1,515

19,894
2,576

Net Cash Flow Provided B Operatln Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

605,838 623,419 566,283

Capital expenditures
Capitalized Interest
Other —net

(319,142)
(18,596)

2,144

(307,876)
(19,703)

3,124

(258,598)
(12,856)

6,345

Net Cash Flow Used For Investln Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

339,882 330,703 277,799

Issuance of long-term debt
Short-term borrowings - net
Dividends paid on common stock
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Repayment of long-term debt
Redemption of preferred stock
Extraordinary charge for early retirement of debt
Other —net

148,229
48,080

(103,849)

(286,314)
(75,517)

3,531

146,013
113,850
(96,160)
(79,997)

(325,526)
(47,201)

2,897

557,067
(1 60,900)

(89,614)

(575,332)
(50,360)
(20,340)

1,858

Net Cash Flow Used For Financin Activities

NET CASH FLOW

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

272,902

(6,946)

27,484

S 20,538

291,918 341,337

798

26,686

(52,853)

79,539

S 27,484 S 26,686

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS

Y<ar End<d D«<mbr<r Ss,
iZboosonds o Dollars) 1998 1997 1996

Retained Earnings at Beginning of Year

Net Income

Common Stock Dividends

Retained Earnings at End of Year

$ 473,665 $ 333,969 S 242,403

242,892

103,849

235,856

96,160

181,180

89,614

S 612,708 S 473,665 S 333,969

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation and Nature of Operations

The consolidated financial statements Include the accounts

of Pinnacle West and our subsidiaries: APS, SunCor, and

El Dorado.

APS, our major subsidiary and Arizona's largest electric utility,

with 799,000 customers, provides wholesale or retail electric

service to the entire state with the exception of Tucson and

about one-half of the Phoenix area. SunCor is a developer of

residential, commercial, and industrial projects on some

12,400 acres in Arizona, New Mexico, and Utah. El Dorado is a

venture capital firm with a diversified portfolio.

Accounting Records

Our accounting records are maintained in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The prep-

aration of financial statements In accordance with GAAP

requires the use of estimates by management. Actual results

could differ from those estimates.

Regulatory Accounting

APS is regulated by the Arizona Corporation Commission

(ACC) and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).

The accompanying financial statements reflect the rate-

making policies of these commissions. APS prepares its

financial statements in accordance with Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71, "Accounting for the

Effects of Certain Types of Regulation." SFAS No. 71 requires a

cost-based, rate-regulated enterprise to reflect the impact of

regulatory decisions in its financial statements.

APS'ajor regulatory assets are deferred Income taxes (see

Note 4) and rate synchronization cost deferrals (see "Rate

Synchronization Cost Deferrals" in this Note). These items,

combined with miscellaneous regulatory assets and liabilities,

amounted to approximately $900 million at December 31,

1998 and $1.0 billion at December 31, 1997. Most of these

Items are Included in "Deferred Debits" on the Balance Sheets.

Under the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note 3), the ACC

accelerated the amortization of substantially all of APS'egu-

latory assets to an eight-year period that willend June 30,

2004. APS records the accelerated portion of the regulatory

asset amortization, approximately $ 120 million pretax in 1998

and 1997 and $ 60 million pretax In 1996, in depreciation and

amortization expense on the Statements of Income.

During 1997, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) of the

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued EITF 97-4.

EITF 97-4 requires that SFAS No. 71 be discontinued no later

than when legislation is passed or a rate order Is Issued that

contaIns sufficient detail to determine Its effect on the portion

of the business being deregulated, which could result in write-

downs or write-offs of physical and/or regulatory assets. Addi-

tionally, the EITF determined that regulatory assets should not

be written off If they are to be recovered from a portion of the

entity which continues to apply SFAS No. 71.

Although rules have been proposed for transitioning generation

services to competition, there are many unresolved issues.

APS continues to apply SFAS No. 71 to Its generation opera-

tions. If rate recovery of regulatory assets is no longer

probable, whether due to competition or regulatory action,

APS would be required to write off the remaining balance as

an extraordinary charge to expense.

UtilityPlant and Depreciation

Utilityplant is the term APS uses to describe the business

property and equipment that supports electric service. APS

reports utilityplant at its original cost, which includes:

~ material and labor

~ contractor costs

~ construction overhead costs (where applicable) and

~ capitalized Interest or an allowance for funds used during

construction.
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APS charges retired utilityplant, plus removal costs less

salvage realized, to accumulated depreciation. See Note 13 for

information on a proposed accounting standard that Impacts

accounting for removal costs.

APS records depreciation on utility property on a straight-line

basis. For the years 1996 through 1998 the rates, as pre-

scribed by our regulators, ranged from a low of 1.51% to a

high of 20%. The weighted-average rate for 1998 was 3.32%.

APS depreciates non-utility property and equipment over the

estimated useful lives of the related assets, ranging from 3

to 50 years.

Capitalized Interest

In 1997, APS began capitalizing Interest In accordance with

SFAS No. 34, "Capitalization of Interest Cost." Capitalized

Interest represents the cost of debt funds used to finance con-

struction of utility plant. Plant construction costs, Including

capitalized interest, are recovered In authorized rates through

depreciation when completed projects are placed Into commer-

cial operation. Capitalized interest does not represent current

cash earnings. The rate used to calculate capitalized interest

for 1998 was 6.88% and for 1997 was 7.25%.

Prior to 1997, APS accrued an allowance for funds used during

construction (AFUDC). AFUDC represented the cost of debt and

equity funds used to finance construction of utility plant.

AFUDC did not represent current cash earnings. AFUDC has

been calculated using a composite rate of 7.75% for 1996.

Revenues

APS records electric operating revenues on the accrual basis,

which Includes estimated amounts for service rendered but

unbllled at the end of each accounting period.

Rate Synchronization Cost Deferrals

As authorized by the ACC, operating costs (excluding fuel) and

financing costs of Palo Verde Units 2 and 3 were deferred from

the commercial operation dates (September 1986 for Unit 2

and January 1988 for Unit 3) until the date the units were

Included in a rate order (April 1988 for Unit 2 and December

1991 for Unit 3). Beginning July 1, 1996, the deferrals are

being amortized over an eight-year period in accordance with

the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note 3). Prior to July 1,

1996, the deferrals were amortized over thirty-five year peri-

ods. Amortization of the deferrals is included in depreciation

and amortization expense on the Statements of Income.

Nuclear Fuel

APS charges nuclear fuel to fuel expense by using the unit-of-

production method. The unit-of-production method Is an amor-

tization method that is based on actual physical usage. APS

divides the cost of the fuel by the estimated number of thermal

units that APS expects to produce with that fuel. APS then mul-

tiplies that rate by the number of thermal units that it produces

within the current period. This provides APS with current period

nuclear fuel expense.

APS also charges nuclear fuel expense for the permanent dis-

posal of spent nuclear fuel. The United States Department of

Energy (DOE) is responsible for the permanent disposal of

spent nuclear fuel, and it charges APS S0.001 per kWh of

nuclear generation. See Note 12 for Information about spent

nuclear fuel disposal. In addition, Note 13 has information on

nuclear decommissioning costs.

Income Taxes
I

We file our federal income tax return on a consolidated basis

and we file our state income tax returns on a consolidated or

unitary basis. In accordance with our Intercompany tax sharing

agreement, federal and state income taxes are allocated to

each subsidiary as though each subsidiary filed a separate

Income tax return. Any difference between the aforementioned

allocations and the consolidated (and unitary) income tax lia-

bility is attributed to the parent company.

Reacquired Debt Costs

When APS incurs gains or losses on debt that it retires prior to

maturity, APS amortlzes those gains or losses over the remaining

original life of the debt. In accordance with the 1996 regulatory

agreement (see Note 3), the ACC accelerated APS'mortization

of the regulatory asset for reacquired debt costs to an eight-year

period that will end June 30, 2004. The accelerated portion of

the regulatory asset amortization Is included in depreciation and

amortization expense in the Statements of Income.

Statements of Cash Flows

We consider temporary cash investments and marketable secu-

rities to be cash equivalents for purposes of reporting cash

flows. During 1998, 1997, and 1996 we paid interest, net of

amounts capitalized, Income taxes, and dividends on preferred

stock of APS.

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, was:

~ 6143.9 million In 1998

~ S163.0 million In 1997 and

~ 8185.9 million In 1996.
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Income taxes paid were:

~ $164.9 million in 1998

~ $146.2 million in 1997 and

~ $ 1 21.0 million in 1996.

Segments

APS is Pinnacle West's only reportable segment. Unless

otherwise identified, APS represents substantially all of the

consolidated Information being reported.

Dividends paid on preferred stock of APS were:

~ $10.3 million in 1998

~ $13.3 million in 1997 and

~ $ 17.4 million in 1996.

Reclassiflcatlons

We have reclassified certain prior year amounts for comparison

purposes with 1998.

2. ACCOUNTING MATTERS

In 1998 we adopted SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive

Income." This standard changes the reporting of certain items

previously reported in the common stock equity section of the

balance sheet. The effects of adopting SFAS No. 130 were not

material to our financial statements.

In November 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board's

Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF 98-10, "Accounting for

Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management

Activities," which is effective for us in 1999. EITF 98-10

requires energy trading contracts to be measured at fair value

as of the balance sheet date with the gains and losses included

in earnings and separately disclosed in the financial statements or

footnotes. We have evaluated the impact of this rule and believe

the effects are not material to our financial statements.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued

SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities," which is effective for us In 2000. SFAS No.

133 requires that entities recognize all derivatives as either

. assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure those

Instruments at fair value. The standard also provides specific

guidance for accounting for derivatives designated as hedging

instruments. We are currently evaluating what impact this

standard will have on our financial statements.

3. REGULATORY MATTERS

Electric Industry Restructuring

STATE

In December 1996, the ACC adopted rules that provide a

framework for the introduction of retail electric competition In

Arizona. The rules, as amended, became effective on August

10, 1998, and on December 10, 1998, the ACC adopted the

amended rules without any modifications that would have a

significant impact on us. We believe that certain provisions of

the 1996 ACC rules and the amended rules are deficient and

APS has filed lawsuits to protect its legal rights regarding the

1996 rules and the amended rules. These lawsuits are pending

but two related cases filed by other utilities have been partially

decided in a manner adverse to those utilities'ositions.

On January 11, 1999, the ACC Issued an order which stayed

the amended rules, granted reconsideration of the decision to

make the rules permanent, and directed the hearing division of

the ACC to establish a procedural order for further action on

these rules. The order also granted waivers from compliance

with the rules for APS, and all affected utilities.

On February 5, 1999, the ACC hearing officers issued recom-

mendations for changes to the amended rules. The recom-

mended rules include the following major provisions:

~ They would apply to virtually all Arizona electric utilities

regulated by the ACC, including APS.

< Each utility must make at least 20/o of its 1995 retail peak

demand available for competitive generation supply.

~ The rules become effective when the ACC makes a final

decision on each utility's stranded costs and unbundled

rates (Final Decision Date) or January 1, 2001, whichever

comes first.
~ Subject to the 20/o requirement, all utilitycustomers with

sIngle premise loads of one megawatt or greater will be eli-

gible for competitive electric services on the Final Decision

Date. Customers with single premise loads of 40 kilowatts

or greater may aggregate loads to meet this one megawatt

requirement.

~ When effective, residential customers will be phased in at

1-1/4'/o per quarter calculated beginning on January 1,

1999, subject to the 20/o requirement above.

~ Electric service providers that get Certificates of Conve-

nience and Necessity (CCBNs) from the ACC can supply only

competitive services, including electric generation, but not

electric transmission and distribution.

~ Affected utilities must file ACC tariffs with separate pricing

for electric services provided for noncompetitive services.

Pinnacle IVest Capital Corporation gg



~ ACC shall allow a reasonable opportunity for recovery of

unmitigated stranded costs (see "Stranded Costs" below).

~ Absent an ACC waiver, prior to January 1, 2001, each affect-

ed utility must transfer all competitive generation assets and

services either to an unaffiliated party or to a separate cor-

porate affiliate.

~ Affiliate transaction rules prohibit a utilityor certain electric

service providers and their competitive affiliates from shar-

ing certain assets, employees, and Information.

If approved by the ACC, the rules would be subject to the for-

mal rulemaking process under Arizona statute. In compliance

with statutory procedural requirements, ACC oral proceedings

on the matter would be scheduled no sooner than 30 days after

the proposed rules are published by the Secretary of State.

We cannot currently predIct when or If the amended rules will

be further modified, when the stay of the amended rules will

be lifted, or when retail electric competition will be Introduced

in Arizona.

Stranded Costs

On June 22, 1998, the ACC Issued an order on stranded cost

determination and recovery. APS believes that certain provi-

sions of the stranded cost order are deficient and in August

1998, APS filed two lawsuits to protect its legal rights relating

to the order.

On February S, 1999, ACC hearing officers issued recommended

changes to the June 1998 stranded cost order. The recom-

mended changes to the stranded cost order would be effective

upon approval of the ACC. The recommended order allows

each affected utility to choose from four options for the

recovery of stranded costs:

~ Net Revenues Lost Methodology Is the difference between

generation revenues under traditional regulation and gener-

ation revenues under competition. This option provides tor

declining recovery percentages tor stranded costs over a

five-year recovery period. Regulatory assets are to be fully

recovered under their presently authorized amortization

schedule. In accordance with a 1996 regulatory agreement,

the ACC accelerated the amortization of substantially all ot

APS'egulatory assets to an eight-year period that ends June

30, 2004.

~ Divestiture/Auction Methodology allows a utility to divest ail

or substantially all ot its generating assets, including regula-

tory assets assocIated with generation, in order to collect

100 percent ot the difference between net sales price and

book value ot generating assets divested over a ten-year

period, with no return on the unamortized balance.

~ Financial Integrity Methodology allows a utility"sufficient

revenues to meet minimum financial ratios'or a period of

ten years.

~ Settlement Methodology allows a settlement to be agreed

upon by the ACC and a utility.

Legislative Initiatives

An Arizona joint legislative committee studied electric utility

industry restructuring Issues in 1996 and 1997. In conjunction

with that study, the Arizona legislative counsel prepared mem-

oranda in late 1997 related to the legal authority ot the ACC to

deregulate the Arizona electric utility industry. The memoranda

raise a question as to the degree to which the ACC may, under

the Arizona Constitution, deregulate any portion of the electric

utility Industry and allow rates to be determined by market

torces. This latter issue has been subsequently decided by

lower courts in favor of the ACC In tour separate lawsuits, two

of which are unrelated.

In May 1998, a law was enacted to facilitate Implementation

of retail electric competition in Arizona. The law includes the

following major provisions:

~ Arizona's largest government-operated electric utility (Salt

River Project) and, at their option, smaller municipal electric

systems must (i) make at least 20% of their 1995 retail peak

demand available to electric service providers by December

31, 1998 and for all retail customers by December 31, 2000;

(il) decrease rates by at least 10% over a ten-year period

beginning as early as January 1, 1991; (ill) implement pro-

cedures and public processes comparable to those already

applicable to public service corporations, tor establishing

the terms, conditions, and pricing ot electric services as well

as certain other decisions affecting retail electric competition;

~ describes the factors whIch form the basIs of consideration

by Salt River Project In determining stranded costs; and

~ metering and meter reading services must be provided on a

competitive basis during the tirst two years of competition

only tor customers having demands In excess of one

megawatt (and that are eligible for competitive generation

services), and thereafter for all customers receiving compet-

itive electric generation.
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In addition, the Arizona legislature will review and make

recommendations for the 1999 legislature on certain

competitive issues.

Agreement vvlth Salt River Preject

On April 25, 1998, APS entered Into a Memorandum of

Agreement with Salt River Project in anticipation of, and to

facilitate, the opening of the Arizona electric Industry. The

Agreement contains the following major components:

~ Both parties would amend the Territorial Agreement to

remove any barriers to the provision of competitive

electricity supply and non-distribution services.

~ Both parties would amend the Power Coordination Agreement

to lower the price that APS will pay Salt River Project for

purchased power by approximately $ 17 million (pretax) during

the first full year that the Agreement is effective and by lesser

annual amounts during the next seven years.

~ Both parties agreed on certain legislative positions regarding

electric utility restructuring at the state and federal level.

Certain provisions of the Agreement (including those relating

to the amendments of the Territorial Agreement and the Power

Coordination Agreement) are affected by the timIng of

the introduction of competition. See "ACC Rules" above. On

February 18, 1999, the ACC approved the Agreement.

General

We believe that further ACC decisions, legislation at the

Arizona and federal levels, and perhaps amendments to the

Arizona Constitution (which would require a vote of the people)

will ultimately be required before significant implementation of

retail electric competition can lawfully occur In Arizona. Until

the manner of implementation of competition, including

addressing stranded costs, is determined, we cannot accurate-

ly predict the impact of full retail competition on our financial

position, cash flows, or results of operation. As competition in

the electric Industry continues to evolve, we will continue to

evaluate strategies and alternatives that will position us to

compete in the new regulatory environment.

FEDERAL

The Energy Policy Act of 1992 and recent rulemaklngs by FERC

have promoted increased competition in the wholesale electric

power markets. APS does not expect these rules to have a

material impact on Its financial statements.

Several electric utility reform bills have been introduced

during recent congressional sessions, which as currently

written would allow consumers to choose their electricity

suppliers by 2000 or 2003. These bills, other bills that are

expected to be Introduced, and ongoing discussions at the fed-

eral level suggest a wide range of opinion that will need to be

narrowed before any substantial restructuring of the electric

utility Industry can occur.

1996 Regulatory Agreement

In April 1996, the ACC approved a regulatory agreement

between the ACC Staff and APS. The major provisions of this

agreement are:

~ An annual rate reduction of approximately $48.5 million

($29 million after Income taxes), or 3.4% on average for all

customers except certain contract customers, effective

July 1, 1996.

~ Recovery of substantially all of APS'resent regulatory

assets through accelerated amortization over an eight-year

period that will end June 30, 2004, Increasing annual

amortization by approximately $120 million ($72 million

after income taxes). See Note 1.

~ A formula for sharing future cost savings between customers

and shareholders (price reduction formula) referencing a

return on equity (as defined) of 11.25%.

~ A moratorium on filing for permanent rate changes prior to

July 2, 1999, except under the price reduction formula and

under certain other limited circumstances.

~ Infusion of S200 million of common equity into APS by the

parent company, In annual payments of $ 50 million starting

in 1996.

Based on the price reduction formula, the ACC approved retail

price decreases of approximately $ 17.6 million ($10.5 million

after income taxes), or 1.2%, effective July 1, 1997, and

approximately $ 17 million ($10 million after Income taxes), or

1.1%, effective July1,1998. APS expects to file with the ACC

for another retail price decrease of approximately $10.8 million

annually ($6.5 million after Income taxes) to become effective

July 1, 1999. The amount and timing of the price decrease are

subject to ACC approval. This will be the last price decrease

under the 1996 regulatory agreement.
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4. INCOME TAXES

Investment Tax Credit

Because of a 1994 rate settlement agreement, we are amortiz-

Ing almost all of our investment tax credits (ITCs) over 5 years

(1995-1999).

Income Taxes

Certain assets and liabilities are reported differently for

income tax purposes than they are for financial statements.

The tax effect of these differences is recorded as deferred

taxes. We calculate deferred taxes using the current income

tax rates.

APS has recorded a regulatory asset on its Balance Sheet in

accordance with SFAS No. 71. This regulatory asset is for cer-

tain temporary differences, primarily AFUDC equity. APS amor-

tlzes this amount as the differences reverse. APS has been able

to accelerate its amortization of the regulatory asset for income

taxes to an eight-year period that will end June 30, 2004. This

is a result of a 1996 regulatory agreement with the ACC. We

are including this accelerated amortization In depreciation and

amortization expense on the Statements of Income.

The components of income tax expense are:

Ecor Ended Dcccm6cr Ssr
(76oosoodh ofDouon) 1998 1997 1996

Current

Federal

State

S 105,922

40,621

$ '1 05,818 S 105,312

43,172 35,052

Total current

Deferred

Change in valuation allowance

ITC amortization

146,543

41,566

23,516

148,990

28,729

(3,920)

23 518

140,364

23,752

(12,142)

23,518,

Total expense S 164,593 S 150,281 $ 128,456

Multiplying income before income taxes by the statutory

federal income tax rate does not equal the amount recorded as

Income tax expense because of the following:

labor Eodhd Dcscm6cr Ss,
(76oosonds ofDonors) 1998 1997 1996

Federal income tax expense at 35% statutory rate

Increases (reductions) in tax expense resulting from:

'ax under book depreciation

Preferred stock dividends of APS

ITC amortization

State income tax net of federal income tax benefit

Change in valuation allowance

Other

S 142,620

17,848

3,396

(23,516)

22,764

1,481

14,694

4,481

(23,518)

24,497

(3,400)

1,621

19,229

5,982

(23,518)

19,565

(10,525)

1,107

S 135,148 $ 118,830

Income tax expense S 164,593 S 150,281 S 128,456
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The components of the net deferred Income tax liabilitywere

as follows:

DeccmIn Sl,
rAousanh ofDollars)

Deferred tax assets

Alternative minimum tax

Deferred gain on Palo Verde Unit 2 sale/leaseback

Other

1998

S

31,285

86,795

1997

S 53,601

33,257

91,701

Total deferred tax assets 118,080 178,559

Deferred tax liabilities
Plant-related

Regulatory asset for income taxes

Rate synchronization deferrals

Other

1,112,897

161,836

122,130

60,754

1,096,222

185,084

144,908

57,919

Total deferred tax liabilities

Accumulated deferred income taxes —net

1,457,617 1,484,133

S 1,339,537 S 1,305,574

5. LINES OF CREDIT

APS had committed tines of credit with various banks of $400

million at December 31, 1998 and 1997, which were available

either to support the Issuance of commercial paper or to be

used for bank borrowlngs. The commitment fees at December

31, 1998 and 1997 for these lines of credit ranged from.07%

to .15% per annum. APS had long-term bank borrowlngs of

$ 125 million outstanding at December 31, 1998, and $150

million outstanding at December 31, 1997.

APS had commercial paper borrowlngs outstanding of

$ 178.8 million at December 31, 1998, and $130.8 million at

December 31, 1997. The weighted average Interest rate on

commercial paper borrowings was 6.21% on December 31,

1998, and 6.27% on December 31, 1997. By Arizona statute,

APS'hort-term borrowlngs cannot exceed 7% of Its total

capitalization unless approved by the ACC.

Pinnacle West had a revolving line of credit of $ 250 million at

December 31, 1998 and 1997. The commitment fees were

0.10% in 1998 and ranged from 0.10% to 0.125% in 1997.

Outstanding amounts at December 31, 1998 were S42 million

and at December 31, 1997 were $ 155 million.

SunCor had revolving lines of credit totalling $55 million

at December 31, 1998 and 1997. The commitment fees were

0.125% in 1998 and 1997. SunCor pad $ 38.1 million outstand-

ing at December 31, 1998, and $40.6 million outstanding at

December 31,1997.
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT

Borrowlngs under the APS mortgage bond Indenture are

secured by substantially all utility plant; SunCor's debt is

collaterallzed by Interests in certain real property; Pinnacle

West's debt Is unsecured. The following table presents the

components of consolidated long-term debt:

Drtkkkkbkr St,
(rrkookaoCh ofDollane

APS

First mortgage bonds

Unamortized discount and premium

Pollution control bonds

Collateralized loan

Unsecured note

Senior notes (c)

Senior notes (c)

Debentures

Bank loans

Ca itallzed lease obli ation

SunCor

Revolving credit

Bank loan

Notes a able

Pinnacle West

Revolving credit

Senior notes

Total long-term debt

Less current maturitles

Total long-term debt less current maturitles

itretoritr
Dank (o)

1998

1999

2000

2002

2004

2020

2021

2021

2023

2024

2025

2028

2028

2024-2033

1999-2000

2005

1999

2006

2025

2003

1998-2001

2001

2001

1998-2006

2001

2001-2003

iotkrwt
Retrk

7.625%

7.625%

5.75'Yo

8.125%

6.625%

10.25%

9.5'Yo

9%

7.25%

8 75%

8%

5.5%

5 875%

Adjustable rate(b)

5.375%.6.125%

6.25'Yo

6.72'Yo

6.75%

10%

Adjustable rate(d)

7.48'Yo e

(I)

(g)

h

1998

S

100,000

100,000

125,000

85,000

100,550

45,140

72,370

91,900

121,668

88,300

25,000

154,000

(6,482)

456,860

20,000

100,000

50,000

100,000

75,000

125,000

11,612

2,040,918

38,139

42,061

3,888

84,088

42,000

50,000

92,000

2,217,006

168,045

S 2,048,961

1997

S 100,000

100,000

100,000

125,000

85,000

109,550

45,140

72,370

97,150

121,918

88,500

25,000

154,000

(7,033)

439,990

10,000

50,000

100,000

75,000

150,000

15,645

2,057,230

40,600

45,000

5,113

90,713

155,000

50,000

205,000

2,352,943

108,695

S 2,244,248

(a) This schedule does not reflect the timing of redemptions that may occur

prior to maturity.

(b) The weighted.average rate for the year ended December 31, 1998 was

3.39'/o and for Oecember 31 ~ 1997 was 3.62Vk. Changes in short-term

Interest rates would affect the costs associated with this debt.

(c) APS has Issued SI50 million of first mortgage bonds ('senior note mort-

gage bonds ) to the senior note trustee as collateral for the senior notes.

The senior note mortgage bonds have the same Interest rate, Interest

payment dates, maturity, and redemption provisions as the senior notes.

APS'ayments of principal, premium, and/or Interest on the senior notes

satisfy its corresponding payment obligations on the senior note mort-

gage bonds. As long as the senior note mortgage bonds secure the

senior notes, the senior notes win effectively rank equally with the first

mortgage bonds. On the date that APS has repaId all of its first mortgage
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bonds, other than those that secure senior notes, the senior note mort.

gage bonds will no longer secure the senior notes and willcease to be

outstanding.

(d) The weighted.average rate at December 31 ~ 1998 was 5.69% and at

December 31, 1997 was 6.25%. Changes In short. term interest rates

would affect the costs associated with this debt.

(e) Represents the present value of future lease payments (discounted at an

Interest rate of 7.48%) on a combined cycle plant that was sold and

leased back (see Note 10).

(f) The weighted-average rate at December 31, 1998 was 8.21% and at

December 31, 1997 was 8.60%. Interest for 1998 and 1997 was based

on LIBOR plus 2% or prime plus 0.5%.

(g) The weighted-average rate at December 31, 1998 was 7.76% and at

December 31, 1997 was 8.44%. Interest for 1998 and 1997 was based

on LIBOR plus 2% or prime plus 0.5%.

(h) Multiple notes primarily with variable Interest rates based mostly on the

fenders'rime.

(I) The weighted average rate at December 31 ~ 1998 was 5.66e/ and at

December 31, 1997 was 6.25%. Interest for 1998 was based on LIBOR

plus 0.33/a and for 1997 was LIBOR plus 0.33%.0.4%,

Q) Includes two series of notes: 525 million at 6.62% due 2001, and 825

million at 6.87/o due 2003.

The following Is a list of principal payments due on total long-

term debt and sinking fund requirements through 2003:

~ $ 168.0 million In 1999

~ $140.4 million In 2000

n $121.0 million In 2001

~ $ 125.1 million in 2002 and

~ S150.1 million In 2003.

First mortgage bondholders share a lien on substantially all

utility plant assets (other than nuclear fuel, transportation

equipment, and the combined cycle plant). The mortgage

bond indenture Includes provisions that would restrict the

payment of common stock dividends under certain conditions.

These conditions did not exist at December 31, 1998.

7. PREFERRED STOCK OF APS

On March 1, 1999, APS redeemed all of its preferred stock.

Preferred stock balances of APS at December 31, 1998 and

1997 are shown below:

(Dollan in Thouconds,

SecePt Pcr Share Amount) Authorrced 1998 1997

Number ofShares Outctandh'nd

December St,
Par Volue

Per Share 1998 1997

Par Value Ountandind
December St, Call

Price Per

Share (a)

Non-Redeemable:

$ 1.1 0 preferred
1

$2.50 preferred

$2.36 preferred

$4.35 preferred

Serial preferred:

$2.40 Series A

S2.625 Series C

S2.275 Series D

S3.25 Series E

Serial preferred:

Adjustable rate

Series Q

Serial preferred:

$1.8125 Series W

Total

Redeemable:

Serial preferred:

$10.00 Series U

160,000

105,000

120,000

150,000

1,000,000

4,000,000(b)

10,000,000

139,030

86,440

32,520

62,986

200,587

214,895

90,691

304,475

295,851

1,427,475

94,011

145,559

97,252

38,506

68,386

$ 25.00 $ 3,476

50.00 4,322

50.00 1,626

100.00 6,299

234,839

231,572

164,101

312,991

50.00

50.00

50.00

50.00

10,029

10,745

4,534

15,224

352,851 100.00 29,585

1 693 016

3,339,073

25.00

S 85,840

291,098 S 100.00 S 9,401

11,742

11,579

8,205

15,649

50.50

51.00

50.50

51.00

35,285 (c)

42,325

S 142,051

S 29,110

$ 3,639 $ 27.50

4,863 51.00

1,925 51.00

6,839 102.00

(a) The actual call price per share is the indicated amount plus any accrued

dividends.

(b) This authorization covers all outstanding redeemable preferred stock.

(c) Dividend rate adjusted quarterly to 2% below that of certain united States

Treasury securities, but ln no event less than 6% or greater than 12% per

annum. Redeemable at par.
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APS cannot pay common stock dividends or acquire shares of

common stock if preferred stock dividends or sinking fund

requirements are in arrears.

Redeemable preferred stock transactions of APS during each

of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998

are as follows:

(Dol lors in f)sousonds)

Nunstsr of
SAorss

Por Volus

An!nuns

Balance, December 31, 1995

Retirements

$10.00 Series U

$7.875 Series V

(90,000)

130,000

(9,000)

13,000

750,000 $ 75,000

Balance, December 31, 1996

Retirements

$ 10.00 Series U

S7.875 Series V

530,000

(118,902)

120,000

53,000

(11,890)

12,000

Balance, December 31, 1997

Retirements

$10.00 Series U

291,098 29,110

197,087 19,709

Balance, December 31, 1998 94,011 $ 9,401

8. COMMON STOCK

Our common stock Issued during each of the three years In the

period ended December 31, 1998 is as follows:

(Dollors ln 'Bousonds)
)(u rnfrsr of

Shorrs Asrount (o)

Balance, December 31, 1995

Common stock issued

87,515,847 $ 1,638,684

2,330

Balance, December 31, 1996

Common stock issued

Common stock retired

87,515,847 1,636,354

(2,586)

2,690,900 79,997

Balance, December 31, 1997

Common stock issued

84,824,947 1,553,771

3 128

Balance, December 31, 1998 84,824,947 $ 1,550,643

(a) Including premiums and expenses of preferred stock Issues of APS.
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9. RETIREMENT PLANS AND OTHER BENEFITS

Voluntary Severance Plan

APS sponsored a voluntary severance plan In 1996. There was

a pretax charge of $31.7 million In 1996 recorded mostly as

operations and maintenance expense. This pretax charge

included additional pension and postretirement benefit expense.

Employees who participated in the plan were credited with an

additional year ot age and service when their pension and

postretirement benefits were calculated. The additional expenses

recorded In 1996 for this plan were $2.3 million tor pension and

$5.4 million for postretirement benefits.

Pension Plans

Pinnacle West and Its subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pen-

sion plans for their employees. A defined benefit plan specifies

the amount of benefits a plan participant Is to receive using

information about the participant. The plan covers nearly all of

our employees. Our employees do not contribute to this plan.

Generally, we calculate the benefits under these plans based

on age, years ot service, and pay. We tund the plan by con-

tributing at least the minimum amount required under Internal

Revenue Service regulations but no more than the maximum

tax-deductible amount. The assets In the plan at December 31,

1998 were mostly domestic and international common stocks

and bonds and real estate. Pension expense, including adminis-

trative and severance costs, was:

~ $10.5 million in 1998

~ $9.3 million in 1997 and

~ $15.5 million in 1996.

The tollowing table shows the components ot net pensIon cost

before consideration of amounts capitalized or billed to others

and excluding severance costs of $2.9 million in 1996:

rrrkoosondh ofDofloss) 1998 1997 1996

Service cost —benefits earned during the period

Interest cost on proJected benefit obligation

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of:

S 24,817

51,524

(54,513)

S 20,435

48,402

(47,959)

S 23,397

45,124

(42,404)

Transition asset

Prior service cost

Net actuarial losses

(3,226)

2,078

(3,226) (3,226)

2,078 1,735

728

Net periodic pension cost S 20,680 S 19,730 S 25,354

The following table shows a reconciliation of the funded status

of the plans to the amounts recognized In the balance sheets:

rAoosonds o Dolloss) 1996 1997

Funded status —pension plan assets less than projected benefit obligation

Unrecognized net transition asset

Unrecognized prior service cost

Unreco nized net actuarial losses/ ains

Net pension amount recognized In the balance sheets

S (41,034)

(23,235)

22,715

38,668

S (80,222)

S (88,732)

(26,462)

24,792

16,943

S (73,459)

Pinnacle IVesi Capital Corporation QH



The following table sets forth the defined benefit pension
plans'hange

in projected benefit obligation for the plan years 1998

and 1997:

~ ~

rrtkookonCk ofDollokk) 1998 1997

Projected pension benefit obligation at beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Benefit payments

Plan amendments

Actuarial losses/ alns

Pro ected pension benefit obligation at end of year

S 708,144

24,817

51,524

(29,636)

23,544

S 731,305

S 608,675

20,435

48,402

(29,965)

5,537

55,060

S 708,144

The following table sets torth the defined benefit pension

plans'hange In the fair value ot plan assets for the plan years

1998 and 1997:

(AoukonCk ofDoltokk) 1998 1997

Fair value of pension plan assets at beginning of year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefit a ments

$ 619,412

86,527

13,968

29,636

S 539,179

88,620

21,578

29,965

Fair value of pension plan assets at end of year $ 690,271 S 619,412

We made the assumptions below to calculate the pension liability:

1998 1997

Discount rate

Rate ot Increase In compensation levels

Expected long-term rate ot return on assets

7.00%

3.50%

10.00%

7.25%

4.50%

9.00%

Employee Savings Plan Benefits

We also sponsor a defined contribution savings plan that is

offered to nearly all employees. In a defined contribution plan,

the benefits a participant Is to receive result from regular con-

tributions to a participant account. Under this plan, we make

matching contributions to participant accounts. We recorded

expenses for this plan of:

~ $ 4.1 million In 1998

~ $3.9 million In 1997 and

~ $3.6 million In 1996.

Postretirement Plans

We provide medical and life insurance benetits to retired

employees. Employees must retire to become eligible for these

retirement benefits, which are based on years ot service and

age. For the medical insurance plans, retirees make contributions

to cover a portion of the plan costs. For the life Insurance plan,

retlrees do not make contributions to cover a portion of the

plan costs. We retain the right to change or eliminate

these benefits.

Funding is based upon actuarially determined contributions

that take tax consequences into account. Plan assets consist

primarily of domestic stocks and bonds. The postretirement

benefit expense was:

~ $9.1 million for 1998

~ $9.8 million for 1997 and

~ $ 16.2 million tor 1996.

The following table shows the components of net periodic

postretlrement benefit costs before consideration of amounts

capitalized or billed to others and excluding severance costs of

S9.6 million In 1996:

Pinnacle IVcst Capital Corporation



(r)rousands ofDollon) 1998 1997 1996

Service cost - benefits earned during the period

Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of:

Transition obligation

Net actuarial alns

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost

S 7,890

15,763

(1 2,001)

7,698

2,952

S 16,398

7,698

2,685

8,269

1,345

S 17,794 S 21,921

S 7,046 S 8,168

14,441 13,525

(8,706) (6,696)

The following table shows a reconciliation of the funded status

of the plan to the amounts recognized in the balance sheets:

(rlsousandh ofDollars)

Funded status —postretlrement plan assets less than projected benefit obligation

Unrecognized net obligation at transition

Unreco nized net actuarial alns

1998

S (24,269)

107,842

86,692

1997

S (48,202)

115,541

79,013

Net postretlrement amount reco nlzed in the balance sheets S (3,119) S 11,674

The following table sets forth the postretirement benefit
plans'hange

in accumulated benefit obligation for the plan years

1998 and 1997:

(r)rousands o Dollars) 1998 1997

Accumulated postretlrement benefit obligation at beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Benefit payments

Actuarial losses

S 199,348

7,890

15,763

(10,378)

25,056

S 181,405

7,046

14,441

(6,745)

3,201

Accumulated postretlrement benefit obli ation at end ot ear S 237,679 S 199,348

The tollowlng table sets torth the postretirement benefit
plans'hange

in the fair value of plan assets for the plan years 1998

and 1997:

(rirousonds ofDollars) 1998 1997

Fair value ot postretirement plan assets at beginning of year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefit a ments

Fair value of postretirement plan assets at the end of year

S 151,146

47,284

25,327

10,347

S 213,410

S 109,763

30,846

17,269

6,732

S 151,146
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We made the assumptions below to calculate the postretire-

ment liability:

1998 1997

Discount rate

Expected long-term rate of return on assets - after tax

Initial health care cost trend rate —under age 65

Initial health care cost trend rate - age 65 and over

Ultimate health care cost trend rate (reached In the year 2002)

7 00%

8.73'Yo

7 50%

6 50%

5 00%

7.25'Yo

7.75'Yo

8.00'Yo

7.00%

5.00'Yo

Assuming a 1% increase in the health care cost trend rate, the

1998 cost of postretirement benefits other than pensions would

increase by approximately $4.6 million and the accumulated

benefit obligation as of December 31, 1998 would increase by

approximately $37.8 million.

Assuming a 1% decrease in the health care cost trend rate, the

1998 cost of postretlrement benefits other than pensIons

would decrease by approximately $3.8 million and the accumu-

lated benefit obligation as of December 31, 1998 would

decrease by approximately $31.9 million.

The average amounts to be paid for the Palo Verde Unit 2 leases

are as follows:

Teer (le millions)

10. LEASES

In 1986, APS sold about 42% of its share of Palo Verde Unit 2

and certain common facilities in three separate sale leaseback

transactions. APS accounts for these leases as operating leases.

The gain of approximately $140.2 million was deferred and is

being amortized to operations expense over 29.5 years, the

original term of the leases. There are options to renew the

leases for two additional years and to purchase the property

for fair market value at the end of the lease terms. Consistent

with the ratemaking treatment, an amount equal to the annual

lease payments is included in rent expense. A regulatory asset

Is recognized for the difference between lease payments and

rent expense calculated on a straight-line basis.

APS has a capital lease on a combined cycle plant, which it sold

and leased back. The lease requires semiannual payments of

$ 2.6 million through June 2001, and Includes renewal and pur-

chase options based on fair market value. The plant is Included

in plant In service at its original cost of $ 54.4 million; accumu-

lated amortization at December 31, 1998 was $48.6 million.

In addition, we lease certain land, buildings, equipment, and

miscellaneous other items through operating rental agreements

with varying terms, provisions, and expiration dates.

Approximate miscellaneous lease expense was:

~ $ 13.1 million in 1998

~ $11.2 million in 1997 and

~ $12.8 million In 1996.

Estimated future minimum lease commitments, excluding the

Palo Verde and combined cycle leases, are as follows:

1999

2000

2001-2015

S 40.1

46.3

49.0

In accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note

3), the ACC accelerated APS'mortization of the regulatory

asset for leases to an eight-year period that will end June 30,

2004. The accelerated amortization Is Included in depreciation

and amortization expense on the Statements of Income. The bal-

ance of thIs regulatory asset at December 31, 1998 was $48.5

million. Lease expense was approximately $ 42 million in each

of the years 1997 through 1999.

Teer

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Thereafter

Total future commitments

(Iss ellluehs)

S 16.4

16.4

18.3

19.3

18.2

151.2

$ 239.8
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11. JOINTLY-OWNED FACILITIES

APS shares ownership of some ot Its generation and transmis-

sion facilities with other companies. The following table shows

APS'nterest in those jointly-owned tacilities at December 31,

1998. APS'hare of operating and maintaining the facilities Is

included in the Income Statement In utilityoperations and

maintenance expense.

(Doiiort io Tkootoodl)

Ptrctot
Oontd kg

APS

Proilt
Io

Scrottt
Attomolottd
Dtpwtiotron

Cootttottion'pik

In
Progrcst

Generating Facilities

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station Units 1 and 3

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station Unit 2 (see Note 10)

Four Corners Steam Generating Station Units 4 and 5

Navajo Steam Generating Station Units 1, 2, and 3

Cholla Steam Generating Station Common Facilities (b)

29.1% S 1,821,620

17.0% 568,184

15 0% 150 165

14.0% 203,356

62.8%(c) 67,513

S 670,403 S

224,502

69,764

90,237

37,096

20,152

9,839

312

25,560(a)

267

Transmission Facilities

ANPP 500 KV System

Navajo Southern System

Palo Verde —Yuma 500 KV System

Four Corners Switchyards

Phoenix —Mead System

'5.8'Yo(c)

31.4%(c)
"

23.9%(c)

27.5'Yo(c)

17 1%(c)

66,547

26,918

11,376

3,071

36,324

20,282

17,285

4,215

1,780

536

1,384

21

143

(a) The construction costs at NavaJo are primarily related to the

installation of scrubbers required by environmental legislation.

(b) Paclfioorp owns Cholla Unit 4 and APS operates the unit for them. The

common facilities at the Cholla Plant are jointly.owned.

(c) Weighted average of Interests.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

We are party to various claims, legal actions, and complaints

arising in the ordinary course ot business. In our opinion, the

ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material

adverse effect on our tinancial statements.

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act, the Department of Energy

(DOE) was to develop the tacllltles necessary for the storage

and disposal of spent fuel and to have the first such facility in

operation by 1998. That facilitywas to be a permanent repository,

but DOE has announced that such a repository now cannot be

completed before 2010. In response to lawsuits flied over

DOE's obligation to accept used nuclear fuel, the United States

Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit has ruled that DOE had an

obligation to begin accepting used nuclear fuel in 1998. How-

ever, the Court refused to issue an order compelling DOE to

begin moving used fuel. Instead, the Court ruled that any dam-

ages to utilities should be sought under the standard contract

signed between DOE and utilities, Including APS. The United

States Supreme Court has refused to grant review of the D.C.

Circuit's decision. In July 1998, APS filed a Petition tor Review

regarding DOE's obligation to begin accepting spent nuclear fuel.

APS has capacity In existing fuel storage pools at Palo Verde

which, with certain modifications, could accommodate all fuel

expected to be discharged from normal operation of Palo Verde

through 2002, and believes It could augment that wet storage

with new facilities for on-site dry storage of spent fuel for an

indeterminate period of operation beyond 2002, subject to

obtaining any required governmental approvals. APS currently

estimates that It will Incur S113 million (in 1998 dollars) over

the life of Palo Verde for Its share of the costs related to the

on-site interim storage of spent nuclear fuel. Beginning in

1999, APS will accrue these costs as a component of fuel

expense, meaning the charges will be accrued as the fuel is

burned. During 1998, APS recorded a liability and a regulatory

asset ot S35 million for on-site Interim nuclear tuel storage

costs related to nuclear fuel burned prior to 1999. APS currently

believes that spent fuel storage or disposal methods will be

available for use by Palo Verde to allow its continued operation

beyond 2002.

The Palo Verde participants have Insurance for public liability

resulting from nuclear energy hazards to the full limitof liability

under federal law. This potential liability is covered by primary
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liability Insurance provided by commercial insurance

carriers in the amount of S200 million and the balance by an

industry-wide retrospective assessment program. If losses at

any nuclear power plant covered by the programs exceed the

accumulated funds, APS could be assessed retrospective pre-

mium adjustments. The maximum assessment per reactor

under the program for each nuclear Incident is approximately

$ 88 million, subject to an annual limit of $ 10 million per inci-

dent. Based upon APS'9.1% Interest in the three Palo Verde

units, APS'aximum potential assessment per incident for all

three units is approximately $77 million, with an annual pay-

ment limitation of approximately S9 million.

The Palo Verde participants maintain "all risk (including

nuclear hazards) Insurance for property damage to, and decon-

tamination of, property at Palo Verde In the aggregate amount

of S2.75 billion, a substantial portion of which must first be

applied to stabillzatlon and decontamination. APS has also

secured insurance against portions of any increased cost of gen-

eration or purchased power and busIness Interruption resulting

from a sudden and unforeseen outage of any of the three units.

The Insurance coverage discussed In this and the previous para-

graph is subject to certain policy conditions and exclusions.

Fuel and Purchased Power Commitments

APS Is a party to various fuel and purchased power contracts

with terms expiring from 1999 through 2020 that include

required purchase provisions. APS estimates its 1999 contract

requirements to be about S132 million. However, this amount

may vary significantly pursuant to certain provisions In such

contracts that permit APS to decrease Its required purchases

under certain circumstances.

APS must reimburse certain coal provlders for amounts

incurred for coal mine reclamation. APS estimates its share of

the total obligation to be about $ 103 million. The portion of the

coal mine reclamation obligation related to coal already burned

is about $ 62 million at December 31, 1998 and is included in

"Deferred Credits-Other in the Balance Sheet. A regulatory

asset has been established for amounts not yet recovered from

ratepayers. In accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement

(see Note 3), the ACC began accelerated amortization of
APS'egulatory

asset for coal mine reclamation costs over an elght-

year period that will end June 30, 2004. Amortization is Includ-

ed In depreciation and amortization expense on the Statements

of Income. The balance of the regulatory asset at December

31, 1998 was about $51 million.

Construction Program

Consolidated capital expenditures In 1999 are estimated at

$ 386 million.

13. NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING COSTS

APS recorded $11.4 million for decommissioning expense in

each of the years 1998, 1997, and 1996. APS estimates It will

cost about S1.8 billion (S452 million In 1998 dollars) to

decommission its 29.1% share of the three Palo Verde units.

The decommissioning costs are expected to be incurred over a

14-year period beginning In 2024. APS charges decomisslonlng

costs to expense over each unit's operating license term and

Includes them in the accumulated depreciation balance until

each unit is retired. Nuclear decommissioning costs are

recovered in rates.

APS'urrent estimates are based on a 1998 site-specific study

for Palo Verde that assumes the prompt removal/dismantle-

ment method of decommissioning. An Independent consultant

prepared this study. APS is required to update the study every

three years.

accordance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)

regulations. The trust accounts are reported ln "Investments

and Other Assets" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their

market value of $145.6 million at December 31, 1998 and

$124.6 million at December 31, 1997. APS invests the trust

funds primarily in fixed Income securities and domestic stock

and classlf les them as available for sale. Realized and unreal-

Ized gains and losses are reflected In accumulated depreciation.

In February 1996, the FASB issued an exposure draft,

"Accounting for CertaIn Liabilities Related to Closure or

Removal of Long-Lived Assets." This proposed standard would

require the estimated present value of the cost of decommis-

sioning and certain other removal costs to be recorded as a

liability, along with an offsetting plant asset when a decommis-

sioning or other removal obligation is Incurred. The FASB has

Indicated that a revised exposure draft will be issued in 1999.

To fund the costs APS expects to Incur to decornmlsslon the

plant, APS established external decommissioning trusts In

Pinnacle West CaPital CorPoration



14. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIALDATA (UNAUDITED)

Consolidated quarterly financial information for 1998 and 1997

Is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands, Except pcr Sherr Amounts) 1998

Quarter Ended br arch 3 I Junc 30 Scptcsnbcr 30 Dccccnbcr 3l

Operating revenues

Electric

Real estate

Operating income (a)

Net income

S 380,423 S 441,715 S 740,734 S 443,526

34,161 28,916 18,276 42,835

S 90s837 S 122,605 S 251,838 $ 101,848

$ 31,086 S 48,997 S 127,281 S 35,528

Earnings per average common share outstanding

Net income - basic

Net Income —diluted

Dividends declared per share (b)

S 0.37 S 0.58 S 1.50 S 0.42

S 0.36 S 0.57 S 1.49 S 0.42

S 0.30 S 0.60 S — S 0.325

(Doltan In yhousands, Except pcr Sharc hcnounts) 1997

Quarter Ended

Operating revenues

Electric

Real estate

Operating Income (a)

Net income

hrarch St junc 3O Scptcccbcr So Dccccnbcr St

S 379,021 S 458,751 S 632,821 S 407,960

19,543 30,166 30,929 35,835

S 82,471 S 150,024 $ 243,454 $ 81,557

S , 25,382 S 67,182 S 124,340 S 18,952

Earnings per average common share outstanding

Net income —basic

Net income —diluted

Dividends declared per share (b)

S 0.29 S 0.79 $ 1.47 S 0.21

S 0.29 S 0.78 S 1.46 S 0.21

S 0.275 S 0.55 S — S 0.30

(al APS'tility business Is seasonal In nature, with the peak sales periods

generally occurring during the summer months. Comparisons among quar-

ters of a year may not represent overall trends and changes In operations.

(b) Dividends for the quarters ending September 30,1993 and

September 3D, 1997 were declared In June.

15 ~ FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS

We believe that the carrying amounts of our cash equivalents

and commercial paper are reasonable estimates of their

fair values at December 31, 1998 and 1997 due to their

short maturitles.

We hold investments In debt and equity securities for purposes

other than trading. The December 31, 1998 and 1997 fair

values of such investments, which we determine by using

quoted market values or by discounting cash flows at rates

equal to our cost of capital, approximate their carrying amount.

The carrying value of our long-term debt (excluding a capital-

ized lease obligation) was $2.21 billion on December 31, 1998,

with an estimated fair value of $2.28 billion. On December 31,

1997, the carrying value of our long-term debt (excluding a

capitalized lease obligation) was $2.34 billion, with an estimated

fair value of $2.38 billion. The fair value estimates are based

on quoted market prices of the same or similar issues.
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

In 1997 we adopted SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share." This

statement requires the presentation of both basic and diluted

earnings per share on the financial statements. The following table

presents earnings per average common share outstanding (EPS):

1998 1997 1996

Basic EPS:

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Extraordinar char e

Net income

S 287

$ 2.87

$ 2.76 S 2.41

(0.11)

0.23

S 2.76 S 2.07

Diluted EPS:

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Extraordinar char e

Net Income

$ 2.85

S 285

S 2.74 S 2.40

(0.11)

0.23

S 2.74 S 2.06

Dllutive stock options increased average common shares out-

standing by 571,728 shares in 1998, 519,800 shares In 1997,

and 580,405 shares In 1996. Total average common shares

outstanding for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings

per share were 85,345,946 shares In 1998, 86,022,709 shares

in 1997, and 88,021,920 shares In 1996.

Options to purchase 244,200 shares of common stock at

$46.78 per share were outstanding during the last quarter of

1998 but were not included In the computation of diluted EPS

because the options'xercise price was greater than the

average market price of the common shares.

17. STOCK OPTIONS

We offer several stock incentive plans for our officers, APS

officers, and key employees.

The plans provide for the granting of new options or awards of

up to 3.5 million shares at a price per option not less than fair

market value on the date the option is granted. The plans also

provide for the granting of any combination of stock apprecia-

tion rights or dividend equivalents. The awards outstanding

under the various Incentive plans at December 31, 1998 approxi-

mate 1,497,012 non-qualified stock options, 158,121 restricted

shares, and no dividend equivalent shares, Incentive stock

options, or stock appreciation rights.

The FASB Issued SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation" which was effective for 1996. The statement

encourages, but does not require, that a company record com-

pensation expense based on the fair value method. We continue

to recognize expense based on Accounting Principles Board

Opinion No. 25, 'Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees."

If we had recorded compensation expense based on the fair

value method, our net Income would have been reduced to the

following pro forma amounts:

(Douoss io Zrsousoods,

Esssit ssShossAosouots) 1998 1997 1996

Net income

As reported

Pro forma (fair value method)

Net income per share —basic

As reported

Pro forma (fair value method)

S 242,892

S 242,177

S 287

S 286

S 235,856

S 235,446

$ 181,180

$ 180,969

S 2.76 $ 2.07

S 2.75 $ 2.07
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We did not consider compensation costs for stock options grant-

ed before January 1, 1995. Therefore, future reported net income

may not be representative of this compensation cost calculation.

ln order to present the pro forma information above, we calculated

the fair value of each fixed stock option in the incentive plans

using the Black-Schotes option-pricing model. The fair value

was calculated based on the date the option was granted. The

following weighted-average assumptions were also used in

order to calculate the fair value of the stock options:

1998 1997 1996

Risk-free interest rate

Dividend yield

Volatility

Expected life (months)

4.54%

3.03%

18.80%

60

5.66%

4.50%

15.63%

60

5.77%

4.50%

17.10%

58

The following table is a summary of the status of our stock

option plans as of December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 and

changes during the years ending on those dates:

t998 Wcightcd t997 Weighted t996 Weighted
I998 Aecragc t997 Aacroge 1998 Aecrogc

Shares Exercise Price Shares Excrcne Price Shares Excrche Price

Outstanding at beginning of year

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Outstanding at end of year

1,488,131

244,200

(217,317)

~18,0022
1,497,012

S 24.60 1,673,076

46.78 260,450

23.09 (409,975)

33.42 ~38,4202
28.34 1,488,131

S 21.59

39.56

21.60

27.10

24.60

1,807,900

260,500

(363,400)

(31,924)

1,673,076

S 19.78

31.44

19.41

24.35

21.59

Options exercisable at year-end 1,039,664 22.21 1,008,514 19.53 1,135,032 18.60

Weighted average fair value of

options granted during the year 8.15 5.83 4.24

The following table summarizes Information about our stock

option plans at December 31,1998:

Ron e o exercise rises cr share

1Vcightcd Aecroge

Remaining Options
Outstondin Contract Li c Exercisable

$11.25

11.50

15.75

17.68

19.00

19.56

22.13

27.44

31.44

39.75

46.78

$11.25 —$46.78

" 16,500

270,000

42,500

13,275

116,537

58,500

109,584

175,090

205,292

245,534

244,200

1,497,012

1.90 16,500

1.10 270,000

2.90 42,500

3.10 13,275

5.90 116,537

3.90 58I500

5.00 109,584

6.90 175,090

8.00 142,230

9.00 88,665

9.90 6,783

6.29 1,039,664
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RIchard Snell

(68)
1975'hairman

of the
Board*'he

Rev. Bill Jamieson, Jr.

(55) 1991

President,

Institute for Servant Leadership

of Asheville, North Carolina

Committees:

Audit

Finance and Planning

Douglas J. Wall

(71) 1976

Of Counsel to the Law Firm of

Mangum, Wall, Stoops 8 Warden

Committees:

Audit, Chairman

Human Resources

Roy A. Herberger, Jr.

(56) 1992

President,

Thunderbird, The American Graduate

School of International Management

Committees:

Audit

Finance and Planning

Pamela Grant

(60) 1980

Civic Leader

Committees:

Human Resources, Chairman

Finance and Planning

William J. Post

(48) 1994

Chief Executive Officer

(~g;
( j]f

John R. Norton lil
(69) 1984

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer,

J.R. Norton Company

Committees:

Finance and Planning, Chairman

Human Resources

Humberto S. Lopez

(53) 1995

President,

HSL Properties, Inc.

Committees:

Human Resources

Audit

L

Martha 0. Hesse

(56) 1991

President,

Hesse Gas Company

Committees:

Audit

Human Resources

George A. Schreiber, Jr.

(50) 1997

President

* The year ln which the individual first joined the Board of a Pinnacle West company.

"'etired as Chief Executive Officer February 5, 1999.
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OFFICERS

PINNACLE WEST

Richard Snell

(68)
1990'hairman

of the Board-

William J. Post

(48) 1973

Chief Executive Officer

George A. Schrelber, Jr.

(50) 1997

President

James L Kunkel

(61) 1997

Vice President

Faye Wldenmann

(50) 1978

Vice President of Corporate

Relations 8 Administration &

Secretary

Michael V. Palmeri

(40) 1982

Treasurer

ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

Richard Snell

Chairman of the Board

William J. Post

Chief Executive Officer

George A. Schrelber, Jr.

Executive Vice President &

Chief Financial Officer

Jack E. Davis

(52) 1973

President,

Energy Delivery 8 Sales

William L. Stewart

(55) 1994

President, Generation

Armando B. Flores

(55) 1991

Executive Vice President,

Corporate Business Services

ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE (CONT.)

James M. Levine

(49) 1989

Senior Vice President,

Nuclear Generation

Jan H. Bennett

(51) 1967

Vice President, Distribution

John G. Bohon

(53) 1971

Vice President, Corporate Services 8

Human Resources

John R. Denman

(56) 1964

Vice President, Fossil Generation

Edward Z. Fox

(45) 1995

Vice President, Environmental/

Health/Safety 8 New Technology

Ventures

William E. Ide

(52) 1977

Vice President,

Nuclear Engineering

Nancy C. Loftln

(45) 1985

Vice President, Chief Legal Counsel 8

Secretary

Gregg R. Overbeck

(52) 1990

Vice President, Nuclear Production
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GLOSSARY

ACC —Arizona Corporation Commission

ACC Staff—Staff of thc Arizona Corporation Commission

AFUDC—Allowance for Funds Used During Construction

Amcndmcnts —Clean AirAct Amcndmcnts of 1990

ANPP —Arizona Nuclear Power Project, also known as Palo Verde

APS —Arizona Public Scrvicc Company

CCAN—Certificate ofconvenicncc and necessity

Cholla —Cholla Power Plant

Cholla 4 —Unit 4 of the Cholla Power Plant

Company —Pinnacle West Capital Corporation

CUC —Citizens Utilities Company

DOE —United States Department of Energy

EITF—Emerging Issues Task Force

EITF 97-4 —Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 97-4, "Dcrcgulation of the Pricing of Electricity —Issues

Related to the Applications ofFASB Statements No. 71, Accounting for thc Effects ofCertain Types ofRegulation,

and No. 101, Rcgulatcd Enterprises —Accounting for the Discontinuation of Application of FASB Statement No.
71"

EITF 98-10 —Emerging Task Force Issue No. 98-10, "Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and

Risk Management Activities"

El Dorado —El Dorado Investment Company

Energy Act—National Energy Policy Act of 1992

EPA —United States Environmental Protection Agency

FASH —Financial Accounting Standards Board

FERC —Fcdcral Energy Regulatory Conunission

Four Corners —Four Corners Power Plant

GAAP—Generally acccptcd accounting principles

ITC—Investtncnt tax credit

1<W —Kilowatt, one thousand watts

kWh —Kilowatt-hour, onc thousand watts pcr hour

Mortgage —Mortgage and Deed ofTrust, dated as ofJuly 1, 1946, as supplcmcnted and amended

MW—Megawatt hours, onc millionwatts

MWh—Megawatt hours, onc million watts per hour

1935 Act—Public UtilityHolding Company Act of 1935

NGS —Navajo Generating Station

NRC —Nuclear Regulatory Conunission

PacifiCorp —An Oregon-based utilitycompany

Palo Vcrdc —Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station



SEC —Sccuritics and Exchange Commission

SFAS No. 34 —Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 34, "Capitalization of Interest Cost"

SFAS No. 71 —Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 71, "Accounting for the EQ'ects of Certain
Types ofRegulation"

SFAS No. 123 —Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Conlpcnsat lou

SFAS No. 130 —Statement ofFinancial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income"

SFAS No. 133 —Statement ofFinancial Accounting Standards No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities"

Salt River Project —Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and Power District

SunCor —SunCor Development Company

USEC —United States Enrichment Corporation

Waste Act—Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, as amended



PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Company

General

Wc were incorporated in 1985 under thc laws of the State of Arizona and are cngagcd, through our
subsidiaries, in the generation and distribution of electricity; in real estate development; and in venture capital
investment. Our principal executive offices are located at 400 East Van Buren Street, Suite 700, Phoenix, Arizona
85004 (telephone 602-379-2500).

At December 31, 1998, we einployed approximately 7,333 people, including the employees of our
subsidiaries. Of these employees, 6,075 were employees of our major subsidiary, APS, and employees assigned to
joint projects of APS where APS serves as a project manager, and approximately 1,258 were our cmployces and

employees ofour other subsidiaries.

Our other subsidiaries, in addition to APS, include SunCor and El Dorado. Scc "Business of SunCor
Development Company" and "Business of El Dorado Invcstmcnt Company" in this Item for further information
regarding SunCor and El Dorado.

This document contains "forward-looking statements" that involve risks and uncertainties. Words such as

"estimates," "expects," "anticipates," "plans," "believes," "projects," and similar expressions identify
fonvard-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the ongoing
restructuring of the electric industry; the outcome of thc regulatory proceedings relating to the restructuring;
regulatory, tax, and environmental legislation; the ability of APS to successfully compete outside its traditional
regulated markets; regional economic conditions, which could affect customer growth; the cost of debt and equity
capital; weather variations affectin customer usage; teclinological developments in the electric industry; Year
2000 issues; and the strength of thc real estate market. Sce "Business of Arizona Public Service Company—
Competition" for a discussion of some of these factors.

Arizona Corporation Commission Affiliated Intcrcst Rules. On March 14, 1990, thc ACC issued an

order adopting certain rules purportedly applicable only to a certain class of public utilitics regulated by the ACC,
including APS. The rules define the terins "public utility holding company" and 'Miliatc"with respect to public
service corporations regulated by the ACC in such a manner as to include us and all of our non-public service

corporation subsidiaries. By their terms, the rules, among other things, require public utilities, such as APS, to
receive ACC approval prior to (1) obtaining an interest in, or guaranteeing or assuming the liabilities of, any
affiliate not regulated by the ACC; (2) lending to any such affiliate (cxccpt for short-tenn loans in an amount less

than $ 100,000); or (3) using utilityfunds to form a subsidiary or divest itself of any established subsidiary. The
rules also prevent a utilityfrom transacting business with an affiliate unless the afIiliate agrees to provide thc ACC
"access to the books and records of the affiliate to the dcgrce required to fully audit, examine or otherwise

investigate transactions between the public utilityand the affiliate." In addition, the rules provide that an "afIiliate
or holding company may not divest itself of, or otherwise relinquish control of, a public utilitywithout thirty (30)

days prior written notification to the [ACC]" and requires all public utilities subject to them and all public utility
holding companies to annually "provide the [ACC] ivith a description of diversification plans for tlie current
calendar year that have bccn approved by the Boards of Directors." The rules have not had, nor do we expect the

rules to have, a material adverse impact on our business or operations.



BUSINESS OF ARIZONAPUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY

Following is a discussion of the business of APS, our major subsidiary.

General

APS was incorporated in 1920 under thc laws of Arizona and is cngagcd principally in serving electricity
in the State of Arizona. Thc principal cxccutivc oAices of APS are located at 400 North FiAh Street, Phoenix,
Arizona 85004 (telephone 602-250-1000). We own all of thc outstanding shares ofAPS'ommon stock.

APS is Arizona's largest clcctric utility, with 799,000 customers, and provides wholesale or retail electric
service to the cntirc state of Arizona with thc exception ofTucson and about one-half of the Phoenix area. During
1998, no single purcltascr or user of energy accounted for more than 2/o of total electric revenues. At December
31, 1998, APS cmploycd 6,075 people, which includes cntployccs assigned to joint projects where APS is project
manager.

Competition

Retail

Gcncral. Under current law, APS is not in direct competition with any other rcgulatcd electric utility for
electric service in APS'etail service territory. Ncvcrthclcss, APS is subject to varying degrees of competition in
certain tcrritorics adjacent to or within areas that it scrvcs that arc also currently served by other utilities in our
region (such as Tucson Electric Power Company, Southwest Gas Corpomtion, and Citizens UtilityCompany) as
well as coopemtives, municipalities, electrical districts, and similar types of governmental organizations
(principally Salt River Project).

APS faces competitive challenges from low-cost hydroelectric power and natural gas fuel, as well as the access
of some utilitics to prcfercntial low-priced federal power and other subsidies. In addition, some customers,
particularly industrial and large conunercial, may own and operate facilities to gcneratc their own electric energy
rcquircments. Such facilitics may be opcratcd by thc customers themsclvcs or by other cntitics engaged for such
purpose.

Arizona Electric Industry Restructuring. Sec Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item
8 for a discussion of thc electric industry restructuring in Arizona, including ACC rules for the introduction of
retail electric competition; stranded cost recovery; and Arizona legislative initiatives. Sec also "Financial Revicw-
Compctition and Industry Restructuring" in Item 7.

Wholesale

Gcncral. APS compctcs with other utilitics, power marketers, and independent power producers in the sale of
electric capacity and energy in thc wholesale market. APS expects that competition to sell capacity will remain
vigorous. APS'ates for wholesale power sales and tmnsmission services are subject to regulation by the FERC.
During 1998, approximately 16'/0 ofAPS'lcctric operating rcvcnucs resulted from such sales and charges.

Thc National Energy Policy Act of 1992 (the "Energy Act,") has promoted increased competition in the
wholesale clcctric power markets. Thc Energy Act rcformcd provisions of the Public UtilityHolding Company Act
of 1935 (the "1935 Act") and the Federal Power Act to rcmove certain barriers to competition for tltc supply of
electricity. For example, thc Energy Act permits the FERC to order transmission access for third parties to
tmnsntission facilitics owned by another entity so that indcpendcnt suppliers and other third parties can scil at
wholesale to customers wherever located. The Energy Act does not, however, pcrtnit the FERC to issue an order
requiring transmission access to retail customers.



Effective July 9, 1996, a FERC decision requires all electric utilitics subject to the FERC's jurisdiction to file
transmission tariffs which provide competitors with access to transmission facilitics comparable to the transmission
owners'ccess for wholesale transactions, establishes information requirements, and provides for recovery of
certain wholesale stranded costs. Retail stranded costs resulting from a state-authorized retail direct-access

program are the responsibility of the states, unless a state lacks authority to impose rates to recover such costs, in
which case FERC will consider doing so. APS has filed a rcviscd open access tariff in accordance with this
decision. APS docs not bclicve that this decision willhave a material adverse impact on its results of operations or
financial position.

Regulatory Assets

APS'ajor regulatory assets are defcrrcd income taxes and rate synchronization cost dcferrals. These items,

combined with misccllancous regulatory assets and liabilities, amounted to approximately $900 million at
December 31, 1998. Under a 1996 regulatory agrccmcnt, the ACC accclcratcd the amortization of substantially all
of APS'egulatory assets to an eight-year period that will cnd June 30, 2004. APS'xisting regulatory orders and

the current regulatory environment support APS'ccounting practices related to regulatory assets. Ifrate recovery

of thcsc assets is no longer probable, whether duc to competition or regulatory action, APS would be required to

write offthe remaining balance as an extraordinary charge to cxpcnsc. This could liave a material impact on
APS'inancialstatcrnents. Sec Notes 1, 3, and 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for additional

iiiformation.

Compctitivc Stratcgics

APS is pursuing strategies to maintain and enhance its competitive position. These strategies include (i) cost

rnanagcment, vvith an emphasis on the reduction ofvariable costs (fuel, operations, and maintenance expenses) and

on increased productivity through tccluiological efficiencie; (ii) a focus on APS'ore business through customer

scrvicc, distribution system reliability, business segmentation, and thc anticipation of inarkct opportunitics; (iii)an

emphasis on good regulatory relationships; (iv) asset maximization (c.g,, higher capacity factors and lower forced

outage rates); (v) expanding APS'eneration asset base to support growth in thc competitive power marketing
arena; (vi) strengthening APS'apital structure and financial condition; (vii) leveraging core competencies into
related areas, such as energy management products and services; and (viii) establishing a trading floor and

implementing a risk managcmcnt program to provide for morc stability of prices and the ability to retain or grow
incremental margin through more competitive pricing and risk manageinent. Underpinning APS'ompctitivc
stratcgics arc the strong growth characteristics of APS'ervice territory. As competition in the electric utility
industry continues to evolve, APS will continue to evaluate strategies and alternatives that will position us to

compete effectively in a more competitive, rcstnictured industry.

Generating Fuel and Purchased Power

1998 Energy Mix

APS'ources of cncrgy during 1998 were: coal —36.2N; nuclear —27.5/o, purchased power - 32.3'/o, and

other —4.0/o.

II

Coal Supply

APS believes that Cholla has sufficien reserves of low sulfiir coal committed to the plant through 2005. In
1998, the current supplier agreed to allow Cholla to test burn coal from other sources, which led to coal purchases

on the spot market. The current supplier is expected to continue to provide substantially all of Cholla's low sulfur
coal requirements. APS believes there arc sufficient rcscrves of low sullur coal available to allow the continued

operation of Cholla for its useful life. APS also bclievcs that Four Corners and NGS have sufficient reserves of low
sulfur coal available for usc by those plants to continue operating them for their useful lives.



The current sulfur content of coal being used at Four Corners, NGS, and Cholla is approximately 0.77/o,
0.54'/o, atld 0.44/o, respectively. In 1998, average prices paid for coal supplied from the reserves dedicated under
existing contracts were slightly lower, but still comparable to 1997. Escalation components'of existing long-term
coal contracts impact future coal prices. In addition, major price adjustments can occur from time to time as a
result ofcontract renegotiation.

NGS and Four Corners are located on the Navajo Reservation and held under easements granted by the federal
government as well as leases from the Navajo Nation. See "Properties- Plant Sites Leased from the Navajo Nation"
in Item 2. APS purchases all of thc coal which fuels Four Corners from a coal supplier with a long-term lease of
coal reserves owned by thc Navajo Nation and for NGS from a coal supplier with a long-term lease with thc Navajo
Nation and the Hopi Tribe. Coal is supplied to Cholla from a coal supplier who mines all of the coal under a long-
term lease ofcoal rcscrvcs owned by the Navajo Nation, the federal government, and private landholders. See Note
12 of Notes to Consolidated Fiiiancial Statcincnts in Item 8 for inforination regarding APS'bligation for'coal
mine reclamation.

Natural Gas Supply

APS is a party to contracts with a number of natural gas operators and marketers which allow APS to purchase
natural gas in thc method APS detcrniincs to bc most economic. Currently, APS is purchasing the majority of its
natural gas requirements from 25 companies pursuant to contracts. APS'atural gas supply is transported
pursuant to a finn transportation service contract with El Paso Natural Gas Company. APS continues to analyze
the niarkct to deterinine the most favorable source and method of meeting its natural gas requirements.

Nuclear Fuel Supply

The fuel cycle for Palo Verde is comprised of the following stages:

~ the mining and milling of uranium orc to produce uranium concentrates,
~ the conversion ofuranium concentrates to uranium hexafluoride,
~ the enrichment of uranium hexafluoridc,
~ the fabrication of fuel assemblics,
~ the utilization of fiiel assemblies in reactors and
~ the storage of spent fiicland thc disposal thereof.

Thc Palo Vcrdc participants have made contractual arrangements to obtain quantitics of uranium concentrates
anticipated to be sufflicicnt to meet operational requirements through 2001. Existing contracts and options could be
utilized to meet approximately 93/o of requirements in 2002, 62/o of requirements in 2003, 51/o of requirements
in 2004, and 44/o ol'requirements from 2005 through 2007. Spot purchases on the uranium market willbc made,
as appropriate, in lieu ofany uranium tllat inight bc obtained through contractual options.

The Palo Verde participants have contracted for 85~/o of conversion services required through 2002. The Palo
Verde participants liave an enrichment services contract and an cn'riched uranium product contract, that furnish
enrichment services required for the operation of the three Palo Verde units through 2003. In addition, existing
contracts willprovide fiiel assembly fabrication scrviccs until at least 2003 for each Palo Verde unit, and through
contract options, approximately fiflccnadditional years are available.

Spent Nuclear Fuel and Waste Disposal. Pursuant to the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982;as amcndcd in
1987 (the "Waste Act"), DOE is obligated to accept and dispose of all spent nuclear fuel and other high-level
radioactive wastes gcncmtcd by all domestic power reactors. The NRC, pursuant to thc Waste Act, requires
opcmtors of nuclear power reactors to enter into spent fuel disposal contracts with DOE. APS lias done so on its
behalf and on behalf of thc other Palo Verde participants. Under the Waste Act, DOE was to develop the facilities
necessary for thc storage and disposal of spent nuclear fuel and to have the first such facility in operation by 1998.
That fa'cility was to be a pcrinanent repository. DOE has announced that such a repository now cannot be



completed before 2010. In July 1996, the United States Court of Appeals for thc District of Columbia Circuit (D.C.
Circuit) ruled that the DOE luis an obligation to start disposing of spent nuclear fuel no later than January 31,
1998. By way of lcttcr dated Dcccmber 17, 1996, DOE informed APS and other contract holders that DOE
anticipates that it will be unablc to begin acceptance of spent nuclear fuel for disposal in a repository or interim
storage facility by January 31, 1998, In November 1997, the D.C. Circuit issued a Writ of Mandamus precluding
DOE from excusing its own delay on the grounds that DOE has not yet prcparcd a permanent repository or interim
storage facility. On May 5, 1998, the D.C. Circuit issued a ruling refusing to order DOE to begin moving spent

nuclear fuel. On July 24, 1998, APS filed a Petition for Review regarding DOE's obligation to begin accepting
spentnuclearfuel. ArizonaPublic Service Cpm an v. De artmentofEncr andUnitedStatesofAmerica,No.
98-1346 (D.C. Cir.). See "Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station" in Note 12 ofNotes to Financial Statcmcnts in
Item 8 for a discussion of interim spent fuel stomge costs.

Several bills have been introduced in Congress contemplating tlie construction of a central interim storage

facility; however, there is resistance to certain features of these bills both in Congress and thc Administration.

'Facility funding is a further complication. While all nuclear utilities pay into a somslled nuclear waste fund
an amount calculated on the basis of the output of their respective plants, thc annual Congressional appropriations
for the pcrinanent repository have been for amounts less than the amounts paid into the waste fund (the balance of
which is being used for other purposes). According to DOE spokespersons, the fund may now be at a level less than

needed to achieve a 2010 operational date for a permanent repository. No funding willbe available for a central

interim facilityuntil one is authorized by Congress.

APS has storage capacity in existing fuel storage pools at Palo Verde wluch, with certain modifications, could

accommodate all fuel expected to be discharged from norinal operation of Palo Vcrdc through about 2002. APS

also believes it could augment that wet stomge with ncw facilitics for on-site dry storage of spent fuel for an

indeterininate period of operation beyond 2002, subject to obtaining any rcquircd governmental approvals. One

way or another, APS currently bclievcs that spent fuel storage or disposal methods willbe available for use by Palo

Verde to allow its continued operation beyond 2002.

A new low-level waste facility divas built in 1995 on-site which could store an amount of waste equivalent to

tcn years of normal opemtion at Palo Verde. Although some low-level waste has been stored on-site, APS is

currently shipping low-level waste to off-site facilities. APS currently belicvcs that interim low-level waste storage

methods are or willbe available for use by Palo Verde to allow its continued operation and to safely store low-level

waste until a permanent disposal facility is availablc.

APS believes that scientific and financial aspects of the issues of spent fuel and low-level waste storage and

disposal can bc resolved satisfactorily. However, APS also acknowledges that their ultimate resolution in a timely
fashion willrequire political resolve and action on national and regional scales which APS is less able to predict.

Purchased Power Agrecmcnts

In addition to that available from APS'wn generating capacity (see "Properties" in Itcin 2), APS purchases

electricity from other utilities under various arrangcmcnts. One of thc most important of these is a long-term

contract with Salt River Project. This contract may be canceled by Salt River Project on three years'otice and

requires Salt River Project to make available, and APS to pay for, certain amounts of electricity. The amount of
electricity is based in large part on customer dcrnand within certain areas now served by APS pursuant to a related

territorial agreement. Thc generating capacity available to APS pursuant to the contract was 292 MW January

through May 1998, and starting June 1998 increased to 316 MW. In 1998, APS received approximately 943,354

MWh of energy under thc contract and paid about $43 million for capacity availability and energy received. See

Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of amendments to agreements with Salt

River Project.

In Scpteinber 1990, APS entered into certain agrccments with PacifiCorp relating principally to sales and

purchases ofelectric power and electric utilityassets. In July 1991 APS sold Cholla 4 to PacifiCorp. As part of the



transaction, PacifiCorp agreed to make a firm system sale to APS for thirty years'during our surnmcr peak season.
The amount of the sale for the first seven years was 175 MW and it increases aAer that at APS'ption, up to a
niaximum amount of 380 MW. APS converted the firm system sales to one-for-one seasonal capacity exchanges
with PacifiCorp on October 31, 1997. On January 1, 1999 APS'grcemcnts with PacifiCorp provide for 275 MW
capacity exchange and bcgiruiing in May 1999, an additional 205 MW capacity exchange begins. In 1998, APS
had 275 MW of generating capacity available from PacifiCorp. APS received approximately 281,217 MWh of
energy under thc exchange.

During 1996, APS cntercd into an agrcemcnt with Citizens Utilities Company to build, own, operate, and
maintain a combustion turbine in nortlnvcst Arizona. CUC terininated the combustion turbine project in February
1999. APS has notified CUC that it will retain the rights to thc combustion turbine project.

Construction Program

During the years 1996 through 1998, APS incurred approximately $ 899 million in capitalized expenditures.
Utility capitalized expenditures for thc years 1999 through 2001 arc expected to bc primarily for expanding
transmission and distribution capabilities to meet customer growth, upgrading existing facilitics, and for
environmental purposes. Capitalized expenditures, including expcnditurcs for environmental control facilities, for
the years 1999 through 2001 Iiave been cstimatcd as follows:

By Year
(Millionsof Dollars)

By Ma or Facihtics
1999
2000
2001

Total

$328
317
300

$~45

Production '236
Transmission and Distribution 564
General 113
Other Projects M2"

Total $~5
The amounts for 1999 through 2001 exclude capitalized interest costs and include capitalized property taxes

and about $30-$ 35 million each year for nuclear fuel. APS conducts a continuing review of its construction
program. APS is considering expanding certain of its operations over the next several years, which may result in
additional cxpcnditurcs. APS currently belicvcs tliat there will be opportunities to expand its investinent in
generating assets in the next five years. It is expected that these generating assets would be organized in a newly-
creatcd, non-regulated afIiliate under us.

Mortgage Rcplaccment Fund Rcquircmcnts

So long as any ofAPS'irst mortgage bonds are outstanding, APS is required for each calendar year to deposit
with thc trustee under its Mortgage cash in a formularized amount related to nct additions to APS'ortgaged
utility plant. APS may satisfy all or any part of this "replacement fund" requirement by utilizing redeemed or
rctircd bonds, nct property additions, or property retirements. For 1998, the rcplaccment fund requirement
amounted to approxiniatcly $ 138 million. Certain of the bonds APS has issued under the Mortgage that are
callablc prior to maturity arc redeemable at their par value plus acciued intcrcst with cash APS deposits in the
replacement fund. This is subject in many cases to a period of time aAer thc original issuance of the bonds during
which they may not be so redccmcd.

Environmental Matters

EPA Environmental Regulation

Clean AirAct. APS is subject to a number of rcquircmcnts under the Clean AirAct. Pursuant to the 1977
amendments to the Clean Air Act, the EPA adopted regulations tliat address visibility impairment in certain
federally-protected areas which can bc reasonably attributed to specific sources. In September 1991, the EPA
issued a final nile that lirnitcd sulfur dioxide cmissions at NGS. One NGS unit had to comply with this rule in
1997, one in 1998, and the last unit in 1999. Salt River Project is the NGS operating agent. Salt River Project



estimates a capital cost of$430 million and annual operations and maintenance costs of approxiniatcly $ 14 million
for. all three units, for NGS to meet these rcquircments. APS is required to fund 14% of tlicse expenditures.

Approximately 93% of thcsc capital costs have been incurred through 1998.

Thc Clean AirAct Amcndmcnts of 1990 (thc "Amcndmcnts") address, among other things:

~ acid mill,
~ visibilityin certain specified areas,
~ hazardous air pollutants and
~ areas that have not attained national ambient air quality standards.

With respect to "acid rain," the Amendments establish a system of sulfur dioxide emissions "allowances." Each

existing utilityunit is granted a certain number of "allowances." For Pliase II plants, which include APS'lants,
alloivances will be rcquircd beginning in thc year 2000 to operate the plants. On March 5, 1993, the EPA

promulgated rules listing allowance allocations applicable to APS'lants. Based on those allocations, APS will
Iiave sufficient allowances to perinit continued operation of its plants at current levels without installing additional

cquipmcnt.

In addition, thc Amendmcnts require the EPA to sct nitrogen oxides cmissions limitations. These limitations

require certain plants to install additional pollution control cquipmcnt, In December 1996, the EPA issued rules

for nitrogen ovidcs cmissions limitations that may require APS to install additional pollution control equipment at

Four Corners by January 1, 2000. On February 14, 1997, APS filed a Petition for Review in the United States

Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia. APS alleged tliat thc EPA improperly classified Four Corners Unit
4 in thcsc rules, thereby subjecting Unit 4 to a more stringent emission limitation. Arizona Public Service

Corn an v. United States Environmental Protection A en, No. 97-1091. In February 1998, the Court vacated

the Unit 4 emission limitation and rcniandcd the issue to EPA for reconsideration. APS cannot currently predict

how the EPA will respond. However, based on APS'nitial evaluation, APS currently estimates its capital cost of
complying with thc rules may bc approximately $4 million.

l

With respect to protection ofvisibilityin certain specified areas, thc Amendments require the EPA to conduct

a study concerning visibility impairment in those areas and to identify sources contributing to such impairment.

Interim findings of this study indicate that any beneficial effect on visibilityas a result of the Amendments would

be offset by expected population and industry growth. The Amendments also require EPA to establish a "Grand

Canyon VisibilityTransport Commission" to complctc a study on visibility impairincnt in the "Golden Circle of
National Parks" in the Colondo Plateau. NGS, Cholla, and Four Corners are located near the Golden Circle of
National Parks. The Commission completed its study and on Junc 10, 1996 submitted its final rccomniendations to

thc EPA. The Commission rccoinmcnded that, beginning in 2000 and every 5 years thcreaAer, ifactual sulfur
dioxide emissions from all stationary sources in an eight-state region (including Arizona, Ncw Mexico, Utah,

Nevada, and California) exceed the projected emissions, which are projected to decline under the current

regulatory scheme, thc projected total cmissions will bc changed to a "regional cmissions cap" and an emissions

trading program would bc irnplerncntcd to limit total sulfur dioxide cmissions in the region. The EPA will
consider these rccommcndations before promulgating final requirements on a regional haze regulatory program
which the EPA proposed in July 1997 and which is cxpcctcd to bc finalized by mid-1999.

Under EPA's proposed regional haze prognm, states would be required to submit plans'to meet "presumptive

rcasonablc progress targets" for achieving perceptible improvements in visibility conditions in Fcdcral Class I
areas (c.g., national parks) every 10-15 years. Thc proposal also calls for states to conduct thrcc year "best

available retrofit technology" ("BART") reviews on point sources which becarnc operational bctwccn 1962 and

1977 and which may normally be anticipated to contribute to regional haze visibilityimpairinent.

Also, in July 1997, EPA promulgated fiiialNational Ambient Air Quality Standards for ozone and particulate

matter. Pursuant to the rules, the ozone standard is more stringent and a new ambient standard for very fine

particles lias been established. Congress has cnactcd legislation that could delay the implcinentation of regional



haze requirements and the particulate niattcr ainbient standard. Because the actual level of emissions controls, if
any, for any unit cannot be determined at this time, APS currently cannot estimate the capital expenditures, ifany,
which would result from the final rules. However, APS does not currently expect these rules to have a material
adverse effect on its financial position or results ofoperations.

With respect to Iiazardous air pollutants emitted by electric utility steam generating units, the Amendmcnts
require two studies. The results of thc first study indicated an impact from mercury emissions from such units in
certain unspecified areas. The EPA has not yet stated whether or not mercury emissions limitations will be
imposed. Secondly, thc EPA will complete a general study in the next several years concerning the necessity of
regulating Iiazardous air pollutant emissions from such units under the Amendments. Because APS cannot
speculate as to the ultimate requirements by the EPA, APS cannot currently estimate the capital expenditures, if
any, which may be required as a result of these studies.

Certain aspects of the Amendments may require related expenditures by APS, such as permit fees. APS does
not expect any of these to have a material impact on its financial position or results ofoperations.

Supcrfund. The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("Superfund")
cstablishcs liabilityfor the cleanup ofhazardous substances found contaminating the soil, water, or air.,Those who
generated, transported, or disposed of hazardous substances at a contaminated site are among those who arc
potentially responsible parties ("PRPs"). PRPs may be strictly, and oAen jointly and severally, liable for the cost of
any necessary remediation of thc substances. The EPA had previously advised APS that the EPA considers APS to
bc a PRP in the Indian Bend Wash Superfund Site, South Area. APS'cotillo Power Plant is located in tlus area.
APS is in the process of conducting an investigation to determine the extent and scope of contamination at the
plant site. Based on thc information to date, including available insurance coverage and an EPA cstimatc of
cleanup costs, APS docs not expect this matter to have a material impact on its financial position or results of
operations.

Manufactured Gas Plant Sites. APS is currently investigating properties which APS now owns or wliich
were at one time owned by APS or its corporate predcccssor, that werc at one time sites of, or sites associated with,
manufactured gas plants. Thc purpose of this investigation is to detcrininc if:

~ waste Iilatcllals afc pfesellt
~ such materials constitute an environmental or health risk and
~ APS Iias any responsibility for remedial action.

Where appropriate, APS Iias begun remediation ofcertain of these sites. APS docs not expect these matters to have
a niatcrial adverse effect on its financial position or results ofoperations.

Purported Navajo Environmental Regulation

Four Corners and NGS arc located on the Navajo Reservation and arc held under casements granted by the
fcdenl govcrnntcnt as well as lcascs from thc Navajo Nation. APS is the Four Corners operating agent. APS owns
a 100/o interest in Four Corners Units I, 2, and 3, and a 15/o interest in Four Corners Units 4 and 5. APS owns a
14/o intcrcst in NGS Units I, 2, and 3.

In July 1995, the Navajo Nation cnactcd the Navajo Nation Air Pollution Prevention and Control Act, the
Navajo Nation Safe Drinking Water Act, and the Navajo Nation Pesticide Act (collectively, the "Acts"). Pursuant
to the Acts, the Navajo Nation Enviromnental Protection Agency is authorized to promulgate regulations covering
air quality, drinking water, and pesticide activities, including those that occur at Four Corners and NGS. By
separate letters dated October 12 and October 13, 1995, thc Four Corners participants and the NGS participants
requested the United States Secretary of thc Interior to resolve their dispute with the Navajo Nation regarding
whether or not the Acts apply to operations of Four Coriiers and NGS. On October 17, 1995, the Four Corners

10



participants and the NGS participants each filed a lawsuit in the District Court of the Navajo Nation, Window
Rock District, seeking, among other things, a declaratory judgment tliat

~ their respective leases and fcdcral easemcnts preclude the application of the Acts to the operations of Four
Corners and NGS and

~ the Navajo Nation and its agencies and courts lack adjudicatory jurisdiction to determine the cnforceability of
thc Acts as applied to Four Corners and NGS.

On October 18, 1995, the Navajo Nation and the Four Corners and NGS participants agreed to indefinitely stay
these proceedings so that the parties may attempt to resolve the dispute without litigation. Thc Secretary and the
Court have stayed these proceedings pursuant to a request by the parties. APS canriot currently predict the
outcome of this ma'tter.

In February 1998, the EPA promulgated regulations specifying those provisions of the Clean AirAct for which
it is appropriate to treat Indian tribes in the same manner as states. The EPA indicated that it believes that the
Clean Air Aet generally would supersede pre-existing binding agrccments that may limit the scope of tribal
mithority over reserv'ations. On April 10, 1998, APS filed a Petition for Review in thc United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia. Arizona Public Service Com an v. United States Environmental Protection

~Acne, No. 98-1196. On February 19, 1999, the EPA promulgated regulations setting forth the EPA's approach
to issuing Federal operating permits to covered stationary sources on Indian reservations, pursuant to the
Amendments. APS is currently evaluating thc impact of these regulations.

Water Supply

Assured supplies of water are important for APS'enerating plants. At thc present time, APS lias adequate
water to meet its nccds. However, conflicting claims to limited amounts ofwater in the soutlovcstern United States

have resulted in numerous court actions in recent years.

Both groundwater and surface water in areas important to APS'perations liavc been the subject of inquiries,
claims, and legal proceedings which will require a nmnbcr of years to resolve. APS is one of a number of parties
in a proceeding before a state court in New Mexico to adjudicate rights to a stream system from which water for
Four Cornersisderived. StateofNew Mexico in therelationofS.E. Re nolds StateEn ineervs. United States

of America Cit ofFarmin on Utah International Inc. ct al. San Juan Count New Mexico, District Court No.
75-184). An agreement reached with the Navajo Nation in 1985, however, provides that ifFour Corners loses a

portion of its rights in the adjudication, thc Navajo Nation will provide, for a then-agreed upon cost, sufficient
water from its allocation to offset the loss.

A summons served on APS in carly 1986 required all water claimants in the Lower Gila River Watershed in
Arizona to assert any claims to water on or before January 20, 1987, in an action pending in Maricopa County
Superior Court. In re The Geneml Ad'udication ofAllRi hts to Use Water in the Gila River S stem and Source,

Supreme Court Nos. WC-79-0001 through WC 79-0004 (Consolidated) [WC-I, WC-2, WC-3 and WCA
(Consolidated)], Maricopa County Nos. W-l, W-2, W-3 and W-4 (Consolidated)). Palo Verde is located within thc

geographic area subject to thc surmnons. APS'ights and the rights of the Palo Verde participants to thc use of
groundwater and efllucnt at Palo Verde is potentially at issue in this action. As project manager of Palo Verde,

APS filed claims that dispute the court's jurisdiction over the Palo Verde participants'roundwater rights and their
contractual rights to effluen relating to Palo Verde. Alternatively, APS seeks confirmation of such rights. Thrcc
ofAPS'ess-utilized power plants are also located within thc geographic area subject to the summons. APS'laims
dispute the court's jurisdiction over APS'roundwater rights with respect to these plants. Altcrnativcly, APS sccks

confirmation of such rights. Issues important to the claims are pending on appeal to the Arizona Supreme Court.

No trial date concerning APS'ater rights claims has been set in this matter.

APS has also filed claims to water in the Little Colorado River Watershed in Arizona in an action pending in
thc Apache County Superior Court. In re The General Ad'udication of All Ri hts to Use Water in the Little
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Colorado River S stem and Source, Supreme Court No. WC-79-0006 WC-6, Apache County No. 6417).
APS'roundwaterresource utilized at Cholla is within, the geographic area subject to the adjudication and is therefore

potentially at issue in the case. APS'laims dispute the court's jurisdiction over APS'roundhvater rights.
„Alternatively, APS seeks coidirmation of such rights. The parties arc in the process of settlement negotiations
with respect to this matter. No trial date concerning APS'ater rights claims has been sct in this matter.

Although the foregoing matters remain subject to further evaluation, APS expects that the described litigation
willnot have a rnatcrial adverse impact on its financial position or results ofoperations.

BUSINESS OF SUNCOR DEVELOPMENTCOMPANY

SunCor was incorporated in 1965 under the laws of the State of Arizona and is engaged primarily in the
acquisition, ownership, development, operation, and sale of land and other real property, including homes and
commercial buildings. The principal cxecutivc offices of SunCor are located at 3838 North Central, Suite 1500,
Phoenix, Arizona 85012 (telephone 602-285-6800). SunCor and its subsidiaries, excluding SunCor Resort &Golf
Management, Inc., ("Resort Management"), employ approximately 140 persons. Resort Management, which
manages the Wigwam Resort and Country Club (thc "Wigwatn"), employs between 620 and 750 persons at the
Wigwam, depending on thc Wigwam's operating season. In addition, Resort Management operates three golf
courses and family entcrtainmcnt operations which together employ about 300 people.

I

Effective January 1, 1996, SunCor's homebuilding subsidiary, SunCor Homes, Inc., purchased the assets
of Golden Heritage Homes. Subsequent to Dcccmber 31, 1996, SunCor Homes, Inc. changed its name to Golden
Heritage Homes, Inc.

SunCor's projects consist primarily of land and improvcmcnts and other real estate investments. SunCor's
major asset is the Palm Valley project which consists ofover 9,000 acres and is located west of Phoenix in the area
of Goodyear/Litchfield Park, Arizona (,"Palm Valley"). SunCor has completed the master plan for developing
Palm Valley. Thcrc has bccn significant residential and commercial development at Palm Valley by SunCor and
by other dcvelopcrs that have acquired land from SunCor or entered into jointventures with SunCor. Development
at Palm Valley currently includes residential conununities, including a retirement community, with golf courses,
hotels, restaurants, commercial and retail outlets, hospitals, and assisted-care facilities.

Other SunCor projects under development include seven master-planned communities and four
commercial projects. The four commercial projects and four of the master-planned communities are located in the
Phoenix area. Other master-planned communities arc located near Sedona, Arizona, near St. George, Utah, and
near Santa Fe, Ncw Mexico. Several of the master-plan and commercial projects are joint ventures with other
developers, financial partners, or landowners.

For the past three years, SunCor's operating revenues were about: 1998, $ 124.2 million; 1997, $ 116.5
million; and 1996, $99.5 million. For those same periods SunCor's nct income was about: 1998, $44.7 million;
.1997, $5.3 million; and 1996, $4.2 million. About $37.2 million of SunCor's 1998 nct income represents income
rclatcd to thc recognition ofa dcferrcd tax asset. Thc deferred tax asset relates to net operating losses and book/tax
basis differences. SunCor is expected to realize these benefits in subsequent periods pursuant to an intercompany
tax allocation agrccrnent. On a consolidated basis, there was no impact to consolidated net income. SunCor's
capital needs consist prinrarily of capital expenditures for land development and home construction. On the basis
of projects now under devclopmcnt, SunCor expects capital needs over the next thrcc years to be: 1999, $58
million; 2000, $53 million; and 2001, $43 million.

At December 31, 1998, SunCor had total assets of about $407 million. Scc Note 6 of Notes to thc
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for inforination regarding SunCor's long-term debt. SunCor intends
to continue its focus on real estate development in homebuilding and thc development of residential, commercial,
and industrial projects.
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BUSINESS OF EL DORADO DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

El Dorado was incorporated in 1983 under the laws of the State of Arizona and is engaged principally in
the business of making equity investments in other companies. El Dorado's short-tenn goal is to convert its
venture capital portfolio to cash as quickly and as advantageously as possible. On a long-term basis, we may use El
Dorado, when appropriate, as our subsidiary for new ventures that are strategically close to our principal business
ofgenerating, distributing, and marketing electricity. El Dorado's offices arc located at 400 East Van Buren Street,
Suite 750, Phoenix, Arizona 85004 (telephone 602-379-2662).

El Dorado had investmcnts in venture capital partnerships totaling approximately $7 millionat December

31, 1998. In addition to the foregoing investments, at December 31, 1998, El Dorado had direct investments of
approximately $ 17 tnillion in other private and public companies and partnerships. These invcstmcnts include'a
56/o interest in NAC International, a company tlrat specializes in nuclear spent fuel storage and transportation
technology, as well as nuclear fuel cycle and international energy policy consulting.

'or the past three years, El Dorado's net income was.'998, $4.5 million; 1997, $8.2 million; and 1996,

$0.4 million. AtDecember 31, 1998, El Dorado had total assets of about $27 million.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Accredited Capacity

APS'resent gcnemting facilities have an accredited capacity as follows:

Coal:
Units I, 2, and 3 at Four Corners.
15% owned Units 4 and 5 at Four Corners
Units 1, 2, and 3 at Cholla Plant.
14% owned Units 1, 2, and 3 at thc Navajo Plant

Gas or Oil:
Two steam units at Ocotillo and two steam units at Saguaro.
Eleven combustion turbine units..
Three combined cycle units.

Nuclear:
29.1% owned or leased Units 1, 2, and 3 at Palo Verde

Ca~aci LkW}

560,000
222,000
615,000
315,000

1 212 000

435,000(1)
493,000
255,000

1 183 000

1 086 300

Other 3 600

Total.

(1) West Phoenix steam units (108,300 kW) are currently mothballed.

Rcscrvc Margin

APS'eak one-hour denrand on its electric system was recorded on July 16, 1998 at 5,072,000 kW, compared
to thc 1997 peak of 4,608,600 kW recorded on August 22. Taking into account additional capacity then available
to APS under purchase power contracts as well as APS'wn generating capacity, APS'apability of meeting
system denrand on July 16, 1998, computed in accordance with accepted industry practices, amounted to 5,139,600
kW, for an installed reserve margin of 3.1%. Thc power actually available to APS from its resources fluctuates
from time to tin>e due in part to planned outages and technical problems. Thc available capacity from sources
actually operable at the time of the 1998 peak amounted to 4,862,600 kW, for'a margin of (3.9%). Firm purchases
from neighboring utilities totaling 1,467,000 kW were in place at thc time of the peak ensuring the ability to meet
the load requircmcnt, with an actual reserve margin of7.4%.
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Plant Sites Leased from Navajo Nation

NGS and Four Corners arc located on land held under cascmcnts from the federal government and'also under

lcascs from thc Navajo Nation. We do not believe tliat thc risk with respect to enforcemcnt of these easements and

leases is material. The lease for Four Corners waives until 2001 thc requirenient that APS, as well as its fuel

supplier, pay certain taxes to the Navajo Nation. In Scptcmbcr 1997, a settlement agreement was finalized between

the coal supplier to Four Corners, thc Navajo Nation, and APS which settled certain issues in the Four Corners

lease regarding the obligation of thc fiicl supplier to pay taxes prior to the expiration of tax waivers in 2001.

Pursuant to the agrecmcnt, in 1997 APS recognized approximately $ 14 million of pretax earnings related to a

partial refund of possessory interest taxes paid by the fuel supplier. The parties also agreed to renegotiate their
business relationship before 2001 in an effort to pcrinit the electricity gcncratcd at Four Corners to be priced

competitively. APS cannot currently predict thc outcome of this matter. Certain of APS'ransmission lines and

almost all of its contracted coal sources are also located on Indian reservations. Sec "Generating Fuel and

Purchased Power —Coal Supply" in Item 1.

Palo Vcrdc Nuclear Generating Station

Palo Vcrdc Leases

Scc Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statcmcnts in Item 8 for a discussion of three sale and

leaseback transactions rclatcd to Palo Verde Unit 2.

Regulatory

Operation of each of thc three Palo Verde units requires an operating license from thc NRC. Thc NRC issued

full power operating liccnscs for Unit 1 in Junc 1985, Unit 2 in April 1986, and Unit 3 in November 1987. The

full power operating liccnscs, each valid for a period of approximately 40 years, authorize APS, as operating agent

for Palo Verde, to opente thc three Palo Verde units at full power.

Nuclear Decommissioning Costs

The NRC recently amended its rules on financial assurance requirements for thc decommissioning of
nuclear power plants. The amended nilcs became effective on November 23, 1998. The amended rules provide

that a licensee may use an external sinking fund as the exclusive financial'assurance mechanism if the licensee

recovers estimated total decommissioning costs through cost of service rates or through a "non-bypassablc charge."

Other mechanisms are prescribed, including prepayment, ifthe requircrnents for cxclusivc reliance on the extenial

sinking fund mechanism arc not met. APS currently relics on the external sinking fund mechanism to meet thc

NRC financial assurance rcquiremcnts for its interests in Palo Verde Units 1, 2, and 3. The decommissioning costs

of Palo Verde Units 1, 2, and 3 are currently included in ACC jurisdictional rates. Proposed ACC rules regarding

the introduction of retail electric competition in Arizona (sce Note 3) currently provide that decommissioning costs

would be recovered through a non-bypassablc "system benefits" charge, which would allow APS to maintain its

external sinking fund mechanism. See Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for
additional information about nuclear decommissioning costs.

Palo Verde Liabilityand Insurance Matters

See "Palo Vcrdc Nuclear Gcncrating Station" in Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in

Item 8 for a discussion of thc insurance rnaintaincd by the Palo Verde participants, including APS, for Palo Verde.
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Other Information Regarding Propcrtics

Scc "Enviromncntal Matters" and "Water Supply" in Item 1 with respect to matters having possible impact on
the operation ofcertain ofAPS'ower plants.

Sec "Construction Program" in Item 1 and "Financial Review —Capital Needs and Resources" in Item 7 for a
discussion ofAPS'onstruction plans.

Scc Notes 6, 10, and 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 with respect to property of
the Company not held in fec or held subject to any major encumbrance.

Information Regarding SunCor's and El Dorado's Propcrtics

Sce "Business of SunCor Development Company" and "Business of El Dorado Investment Company" for
information regarding SunCor's and El Dorado's properties.
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ITEM 3. LEGALPROCEEDINGS

Sec "Environmental Matters" and "Water Supply" in Item 1 in regard to pending or threatened litigation
and other'disputes. Scc "Regulatory Matters" in Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8
for a discussion of competition and thc rules regarding the instruction of retail electric competition in Arizona. On
February 28, 1997 and October 16, 1998, APS filed lawsuits to protect its legal rights regarding the rules and the
amended rules, rcspcctivcly, and in each complaint APS asked thc Court for (i) a judgment vacating the retail
clcctric competition rules, (ii) a declaratory judgment that thc rules arc unlawful because, among other things, they
were entered in'to without proper legal authorization, and (iii) a pcrinanent injunction barring thc ACC from
enforcing or implementing the rules and from promulgating any other regulations without lawful authority.
Arizona Public Service Com an v, Arizona Co oration Commission, CV 9743753 (consolidated under CV 97-
03748.) Arizona Public Service Com an v. Arizona Co oration Commission, CV98-18896. On August 28,
1998, APS filed two lawsuits to protect its legal rights under the stranded cost order and in its complaints the
Company asked the Court to vacate and sct aside the order. Arizona Public Service Com an v. Arizona
Co omtion Commission, CV 98-15728. Arizona Public Service Com an v. Arizona Co omtion Commission,
1-CA-CC-98-0008.
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ITEM4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A
VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicablc.

SUPPLEMENTAL'TEM. EXECUTIVEOFFICERS
OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive ofIicers are as follows;
Name A
Jack E. Davis
James L. Kunkel
Michael V. Palmcri
William J. Post

George A. Schrciber, Jr.
Richard Snell
WilliamL. Stewart
Faye Widenrnann

e at March 1 1999

52
61

40
48
50
68
55
50

Position s atMarch I 1999

President, APS Energy Delivery & Sales

Vice President
Treiisufef
ChiefExecutive Office(1)
President and Cluef Financial Officer(1)
Chairinan of the Board ofDirectors (1)
President, APS Gcncration
Vice President of Corporate Relations and
Administration and Secretary

(1) member of the Board ofDirectors

The cxccutive officers of thc Company arc clccted no less often than annually and may be removed by the

Board ofDirectors at any time. Thc terms served by the named officer in their current positions and the principal
occupations (in addition to those stated in thc table) ofsuch ofIiccrs for the past five years have bccn as follows:

Mr. Davis was elected to his present position in October 1998. Prior to that time he was Executive Vice
President, Coinmercial Operations (September 1996 - October 1998) and Vice Prcsidcnt, Generation and

Transmission (June 1993-Scptcmbcr 1996) of APS. Mr. Davis is a director of APS.

Mr. Kunkel was elected Vice President cffectivc December 15, 1997. Prior to Deccmbcr 1997, he was a

partner with thc accounting firin PricewatcrhouscCoopers, successor to Coopers & Lybrand, in both their Los

Angeles and Phoenix olliccs. Mr. Kunkel is also a director ofAztar Corporation.

Mr. Palmcri was clcctcd to the position of Treasurer of both thc Company and APS effcctivc July 23,

1997. From February 1994 to July 1997, he was Assistant Treasurer of the Company. Froin June 1990 to February

1994, hc was Manager ofFinance.

Mr. Post was elected Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective February 1999. Prior to that time

he was President (February 1997 - February 1999) and Executive Vice President (June 1995 - February 1997). He

was also elected President and Chief Executive Officer of APS in February 1997. In October 1998, he resigned as

President and maintained the position of Chief Executive Officer of APS. He has been APS'luef Operating

Office (September 1994 - Febniary 1997), as well as a Senior Vice President since June 1993. Mr. Post is also a

director of APS.

Mr. Schrciber was elected President in February 1999 and Chief Financial Officer in Februaiy 1997. He

also held the position of Executive Vice President (February 1997 - February 1999). Mr. Schrciber has also bccn

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of APS since February 1997. From 1990 to January 1997, he

was Managing Director at PaincWcbbcr, Inc. He is also a director of APS.

Mr. Snell has been Cliairman of thc Board of thc Company and Chairinan of the Board of APS since

February 1990. Until February 1999, he was also Chief Executive Officer of thc Company, and until February

1997, he was Prcsidcnt of thc Company. Mr. Snell is also a director of Aztar Corporation and Central

Ncwspapcrs, Inc.
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Mr. Stewart was elected to his prcscnt position in October 1998. Prior to that time he was Executive Vice
President, Generation (September 1996 - October 1998), Executive Vice President, Nuclear of APS (May 1994-
September 1996) and Senior Vice President —Nuclear for VirginiaPower (since 1989). Mr. Stewart is a director
of APS.

Ms. Widenmann was elected Secretary of the Company in 1985 and Vice President of Corporate Relations
and Administration in November 1986.

PART II

ITEM5. MARKETFOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON
STOCK AND RELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock is publicly held and is traded on the New York and Pacific Stock Exchanges. At the
close ofbusiness on March 12, 1999, our common stock was held of record by approximately 44,968 shareholders.

Thc chart below sets forth the common stock price ranges on the composite tape, as reported'in the Wall
Strcct Journal for 1998 and 1997. The chart also sets forth the dividends declared and paid pcr share during each
of the four quarters for 1998 and 1997.

Common Stock Price Ranges and Dividends

1998
1st Quarter

2nd Quarter
3rd Quarter
4th uarter

1997

1st Quarter
2nd Quarter
3rd Quarter
4th uarter

Hi h
45
46 3/16
45 9/16
49 1/4

32 7/8
30 3/4
34 7/8
42 3/4

Low
39 3/8
42
40 I/16
41 5/8

30 1/8
27 5/8
29 13/16
33 3/16

Dividend Pcr Sharc'
.300
.600

.325

$ .275
.550

.300
(a) Dividends for thc third quarter of 1998 and 1997 werc dcclarcd in Junc.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

rponooo ro Aooiooju Eroop< for SAoro Aaovou) 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

OPEAATING RESULTS

Operating revenues
Electric
Real estate

S 2,006,398
124,188

$ 1,878,553
116,473

S 1,718,272
99,488

$ 1,614,952
54,846

S 1,626,168
59,253

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operatlons-
net of Income tax (c)

Extraordinary charge for early
retirement of debt —net
of income tax d

'242,892 S 235,856 S 211,059(a) $ 199,608 S 200,619(b)

(9,539)

20.340 11,571

Net Income

COMMON STOCK OATA

Book value per share - year.end

Earnings (loss) per average common

share outstanding

Continuing operations —basic

Discontinued operations
Extraordinar char e

Net income - basic

Continuing operations - diluted

Net income - diluted

Dividends declared per share

Indicated annual dividend rate-
year-end

S 242,892

$ 25.50

S 2.87

$ 2.87

S 285
S 285

S, 1.225

S 1.30

S 235.856 . S 181,180 S 188.037 S 200,619

$ 23.90 S 22.51 S 21.49 S 20.32

S 2.74

S 2.74
S 2.40(a) S 2.27 S 2.29(b)

S 2.06 S 2.14 S 2.29

S 1.125 $ 1.025, S 0.925 $ 0.825

$ 1.20 S 1.10 S 1.00 S 0.90

$ 2.76 S 2.41(a) $ 2.28 S 2.30(b)

(0.11)
0.23 0.1 3

S 2.76 $ 2.07 S 2.15 $ 2.30

Average common shares outstanding —basic

Avera e common shares outstandln - diluted
84,774,218
85,345.946

85,502,909
86,022,709

87,441,515
88,021,920

87,419,300
87,884,226

87,410,967
87,671,451

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIESANO EQUITY

Long-term debt less current maturltles
Other liabilities

S 6.824,546

$ 2,048,961
2.516,993
4,565,954

S 6,850,417 S 6,989,289 S 6,997,052 S 6,909,752

S 2,244,248 $ „2,372,113 - $ 2,510,709 S 2,588,525
2,407,572 2,428,180 2,336,695 2,276,249

4,651,820 4,800,293 4,847,404 4,864,774

Minority Interests
Non-redee'mable preferred stock

of APS

Redeemable preferred stock of APS

85,840
9,401

142,051

29,110
165,673
53,000

193,561

75,000

193,561

75,000

Common stock e uit

Total liabilities and euuity

2,163,351

S 6,824,546

2,027,436 1,970,323 1,881.087 1,776.417

S 6,850,417 S 6,989.289 $ 6,997,052 S 6,909,752

(a) Includes an after.tax charge of $ 18.9 million ($ 0.22 per share) for

a voluntary severance program and about $ 12 million ($0.13 per

share) of income tax benefits related to capital loss carryforwards.

(b) Includes after.tax Palo Verde Unit 3 accretion income of $20.3

million ($0.23 per share) and a non-recurring Income tax benefit of

$ 26.8 million ($ 0.31 per share) related to a change in tax Iaw.

(c) Charges associated with the settlement of a legal matter reIated to

MeraBank, A Federal Savings Bank.

(d) Charges associated with the repayment or refinancing of the

parent company's high. coupon debt.
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(Dollork io Thovkoodk, Except Per Shore hroovotr) 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

ELECTRIC OPERATING REVENUES

Resid ential
Commercial
Industrial
Irrigation
Other

S '766,378

699,016
172,296

7,288
10,644

S 746,937 S 721,877
687,988 678,130
164,696 162,324

8,706 9,448
11,842 13,078

S 669,762
653,425
156,501

9,596
12,631

S 675,153
631,212
166,457

10,538
12,729

Total retail
Sales for resale
Transmission for others
Miscellaneous services

1,655,622
300,698

11,058
39,020

1,620,169
226,828

10,295
21,261

1,584,857
98,560
10,240
24,615

1,501,915
86,510

9,390
17,137

1,496,089
95,158

9,506
16,107

Electric operating revenues
Retail rate refund reversal

Net electric operating revenues

ELECTRIC SALES fMWh)

2,006,398

S 2,006.398

1,878,553 1,718,272 1,614,952 1,616,860
9,308

S 1,878.553 S 1,718,272 S 1,614,952 S 1,626,168

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Irrigation
Other

Total retail
Sales for resale

8,310,689
8,697,397
3,279,430

84,640
90.927

20,463,083
10,317,391

7,970,309
8,524,882
3,123,283

112,363
86.090

19,816,927
9,233,573

7,541,440
8,233,762
3,039,357

121,775
84.362

19,020,696
3,367,234

6,848,905
7,768,289
2,933,459

119,580
78,478

17,748,711
2.720.704

6,873,300
7,456,049
2,926,318

132,340
76,827

17,464,834
2,764,223

Total electric sales

ELECTRIC CUSTOMERS - END OF YEAR

30,780,474 29.050.500 22,387.930 20.469.415 20.229,057

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Irrigation
Other

Total retail
Sales for resale

709,111
84,745

3,159
710
895

798,620
67

680,478
81,246

3,192
764
851

7661531

50

654,602
78,178

3,055
841

828

737,504
48

625,352
75,105

2,913
837
786

704,993
39

603,989
72,740

2,976
897
762

681,364
44

Total electric customers 798.687 766.581 737,552 705,032 681,408

See Financial Review on pages 23-30 for a discussion of certain information in the table above.

QUARTERLY STOCK PRICES AND DIVIDENDS

Stock Symbol: PNW

1998 High Lonr Clare

Dioidcndk
Pcr

Sharc(o) 1997 High

Dioidendk
Pcr

Loco Crore Sharc(a)„

1st Quarter 45 39 3/8 44 7/16 S 0.300
2nd Quarter 46 3/16 42 45 S 0.600
3rd Quarter 45 9/16 40 1/16 44 13/16 S

4th Quarter 49 1/4 41 5/8 42 3/8 S 0.325

1st Quarter 32 7/8 30 1/8 30 1/8 S 0.275
2nd Quarter 30 3/4 27 5/8 30 1/16 $ 0.550
3rd Quarter 34 7/8 29 13/16 33 5/8 $
4th Quarter 42 3/4 33 3/16 42 3/8 $ 0.300

(a) Dividends for the 3rd quarter of 1998 and1997 were declared in June.

22



ITEM 7. FINANCIALREVIEW

In this section, we explain the results of operations, gen-

eral financial condition, and outlook for Pinnacle West and

our subsidiaries: APS, SunCor, and El Dorado, including:

~ the changes in our earnings from 1997 to 1998 and

from 1996 to 1997

~ the factors impacting our business, including competi-

tion and electric industry restructuring
~ the effects of regulatory agreements on our results and

outlook

~ our capital needs and resources —both for APS and

our non-utility operations and

~ Year 2000 technology issues.

Throughout this Financial Review, we refer to specific

"Notes" in the Notes to Consolidated Financial State-

ments that begin on page 37. These Notes add further

details to the discussion.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

1998 Compared with 1997

Our 1998 consolidated net income was $242.9 million

compared with $235.9 million in 1997 —a 3.0/o

increase. Net income increased by $7.0 million primarily

because of increased earnings at the subsidiaries and

lower financing costs as we paid down debt and took

advantage of lower interest rates.

APS'998 earnings'increased $6.9 million —a 2.9O/o

increase —over 1997 earnings primarily because of an

increase in customers, expanded power marketing and

trading activities, and lower financing costs. In the

comparison, these positive factors more than offset the,

eftects of milder weather, two fuel-related settlements

recorded in 1997, and two retail price reductions.

See Note 3 for additional intormation about the price

reductions.

As mentioned above, these positive factors were partially

offset by the effects of milder weather ($33 million) and

reductions in retail prices ($ 18 million).

Power marketing and trading activities are predominantly

short-term opportunity wholesale sales. The increase in

power marketing revenues resulted from higher prices,

increased activity in Western bulk power markets, and

increased sales to large customers in California. The

increase in power marketing and trading revenues was

accompanied by related increases in purchased power

expenses.

The two fuel-related settlements increased 1997 pretax

earnings by about S21 million. The income statement

reflects these settlements as reductions in fuel expense

and as other income.

Operations and maintenance expense increased $ 15

million because of customer growth, initiatives related

to competition, and expansion of our power marketing

and trading function.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $ 11

million because APS had more plant in service.

APS decreased its financing costs by $ 9 million primarily

because of lower amounts of outstanding debt and

preferred stock.

Our real estate subsidiary, SunCor Development, and

our investment subsidiary, EI Dorado,-contributed a

combined $ 12.0 million to consolidated net income in

1998 compared with $13.5 million in 1997. SunCor's

contribution increased $2.2 million as a result of an

increase in land sales. El Dorado's contribution

decreased $ 3.7 million as a result of a decrease in

investment sales.

In 1998, electric operating revenues increased $ 128

million primarily because ot:

~ increased power marketing and trading revenues

($94 million)
~ increases in the number of customers and the amount

of electricity used by customers ($77 million) and

e miscellaneous factors ($ 8 million).

SunCor's stand-alone net income was $44.7 million, ot

which $37.2 million represents income related to the

recognition of a deferred tax asset. The deferred tax

asset relates to net operating losses and book/tax basis

ditterences. SunCor is expected to realize these benefits

in subsequent periods pursuant to an intercompany tax

allocation agreement. On a consolidated basis, Pinnacle

West had already recognized the income tax benefits,

therefore, there was no impact on consolidated net

income in 1998.
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1997 Compared with 1996

Our 1997 consolidated net income was $235.9 million

compared with $181.2 million in 1996. The following
is a summary:

rAtesaeA ofDollop) 1997 1996

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations - net of Income tax

Extraordiner char e for earl retirement of debt —net of income tax

S 235,856 S 211,059

(9,539)

20,340

Net income S 235.856 S 181,180

Our earnings from continuing operations increased from

1996 to 1997 by $24.8 million, or 11.7%, primarily

because of increased earnings at the subsidiaries and

lower financing costs as we paid down debt and took

advantage of lower interest rates. The 1996 loss from

discontinued operations related to remnants of

MeraBank legal matters.

APS'997 earnings increased $ 12.3 million —a 5.4%

increase —over 1996 earnings primarily because of:

~ an increase In customers
~ a $32 million pretax charge in 1996 for a voluntary

severance program
~ two fuel-related settlements in 1997 and
~ lower financing costs.

These positive factors more than offset the etfects of
the 1996 regulatory agreement with the Arizona

Corporation Commission (ACC), which during 1997
resulted in about $60 million of additional regulatory
asset amortization and a $ 35 million revenue decrease

caused by two retail price reductions. See Note 3 and

"Results of Operations —Regulatory Agreements" below

for additional information. In addition, APS recognized

$ 12 million of income tax benefits in 1996 that were not

repeated in 1997.

In 1997, electric operating revenues increased $ 160

million primarily because of:
C'

increased power marketing revenues ($128 million)
~ an increase in the number of customers

(S58 million) and
~ weather effects ($7 million).

As mentioned above, these positive factors were par-

tially ottset by a $ 35 million revenue decrease caused

by retail price reductions. The increase in power mar-

keting revenues resulted trom increased activity in

Western bulk power markets. This did not significantly
affect our earnings because the increase was substan-

tially offset by higher purchased power expenses.

Two tuel-related settlements In 1997 increased pretax
'arningsby about S21 million. The income statement

shows these settlements as reductions in fuel expense

and as other income. About $ 16 million of the settle-

ments related to years prior to 1997 and $ 5 million

related to 1997. APS expects the total annual savings

from the settlements for at least the next several years

to be about $10 million before income taxes. APS does

not have a fuel adjustment clause as part of its retail

rate structure. As a result, APS shows changes in fuel

and purchased power expenses in current earnings.

APS lowered its operations and maintenance expenses

in 1997 by putting in place a voluntary severance pro-

gram in late 1996, with related savings reflected in

1997. These savings were partially ottset by increased

expenses for marketing, intormation technology, and

power plant maintenance.

APS decreased its financing costs by $ 12 million during

1997 by lowering the amounts of outstanding debt and

preferred stock.

SunCor Development and El Dorado contributed a com-

bined $13.5 million to consolidated net income in 1997

compared with $4.6 million in 1996. SunCor's contribu-

tion increased as a result of increased land and home

sales. El Dorado's contribution increased as a result ot an

increase in Investment sales.
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Regulatory Agreements

Regulatory agreements with the ACC affect the results

of APS'perations. The following discussion'focuses on

two agreements: a 1996 agreement to accelerate the

amortization of APS'egulatory assets and a 1994

settlement to accelerate amortization of APS'eferred

investment tax credits (ITCs).

Under the 1996 agreement with the ACC, APS is recov-

ering substantially all of its present regulatory assets

through accelerated amortization. The recovery of these

assets is taking place over an eight-year period that will

end June 30, 2004. For more details, see Note 3. This

accelerated amortization increased annual amortization

expense by approximately $ 120 million ($72 million

after taxes).

Also, as part of the 1996 regulatory agreement,'APS

reduced its retail prices by 3.4/0 effective July 1, 1996.

This reduces revenue by about $48.5 million annually

($29 million after taxes). APS also agreed to share

future cost savings with its customers, which resulted

in the following additional retail price reductions:

~ $ 17.6 million annually ($ 10.5 million after income

taxes), or 1.2/o, effective July 1, 1997, and

~ $17 million annually ($ 10 million after income taxes),

or 1.1%, effective July 1, 1998.

APS expects to file with the ACC for another retail price

decrease of approximately $ 10.8 million annually ($ 6.5

million after income taxes) to become effective July 1,

1999. The amount and timing of the price decrease are

subject to ACC approval. This will be the last price

decrease under the 1996 regulatory agreement.

We discuss above, in "Results of Operations," the fac-

tors that offset the earnings impact of the accelerated

regulatory asset amortization and the price decreases.

As part of the 1994 rate settlement, APS accelerated

amortization of substantially all deferred investment tax

credits (ITCs) over a five-year period that ends on

December 31, 1999. The amortization of ITCs decreases

annual consolidated income tax expense by approximate-

ly $24 million. Beginning in 2000, no further benefits will

be reflected in income tax expense. See Note 4.

CAPITAL NEEDS AND RESOURCES

Pinnacle West (Parent Company)

We have reduced our debt over the last three years as

follows: 1998, $113 million; 1997, $45 million; and

1996, $ 60 million. We have a $ 250 million line of cred-

it, under which we had $42 million of borrowings out-

standing at December 31, 1998. We do not have any

debt repayment obligations until 2001.

During the past three years, our primary cash needs

were for:

~ dividends for our shareholders
~ interest payments and

~ optional and mandatory repayment of principal on our

long-term debt.

In addition, as part of the 1996 agreement with the

ACC, we invested $ 50 million in APS in 1998, 1997, and

1996 and will invest the same amount in 1999. This will

be the last payment under the 1996 regulatory agree-

ment. See Note 3. During 1997, we repurchased $ 80

million of common stock, reducing our shares outstand-

ing at year-end by 2.7 million shares.

Our primary source of cash is from APS dividends.

During 1998, APS paid $ 170 million in dividends. In

1998, SunCor provided cash of $30 million and El

Dorado provided cash of $ 12 million. We expect both

SunCor and El Dorado to contribute to our cash flow in

1999. Tax allocation payments from our subsidiaries, in

excess of payments we made to taxing authorities, were

an additional source of cash in 1998, 1997, and 1996.

This is not expected to be a source of cash for Pinnacle

West in the future.

APS

APS'apital requirements consist primarily of capital

expenditures and optional and mandatory redemptions

of long-term debt and preferred stock. APS pays for its

capital requirements with:

~ cash from operations

~ annual cash payments from Pinnacle West of

$50 million annually from 1996 through 1999

(see Note 3) and

~ to the extent necessary, external financing.
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During the period from 1996 through 1998, APS paid

for all of its capital expenditures with cash from

operations. APS expects to do so in 1999 through

2001 ~ as well.

APS'apital expenditures in 1998 were $327 million.

APS'rojected capital expenditures for the next three

years are: 1999, $ 328 million; 2000, $ 317 million; and

2001, $ 300 million. These amounts include about $30-

$35 million each year for nuclear fuel. In general, most

of the projected capital expenditures are for:

~ expanding transmission and distribution capabilities

to meet customer growth
i upgrading existing utility property and
~ environmental purposes.

In addition, APS is considering expanding certain of

its operations over the next several years, which may

result in additional expenditures. APS currently believes

that there will be opportunities to expand its investment

in generating assets in the next five years. It is expected

that these generating assets would be organized in a

newly created non-regulated affiliate under the parent.

During 1998, APS redeemed about $145 million of long-

term debt and $76 million of preferred stock, including

premiums, with cash from operations and long- and

short-term debt. APS'ong-term debt and preferred

stock redemption requirements and payment obligations

on a capitalized lease for the next three years are:

1999, $260 million; 2000, $ 115 million; and 2001, $ 2

million. On March 1, 1999, APS redeemed all $ 95 mil-

lion of its outstanding preferred stock. Based on market
conditions and optional call provisions, APS may make

optional redemptions of long-term debt from time to time.

As of December 31, 1998, APS had credit commitments

from various banks totalling about $400 million, which

were available either to support the issuance of com-

mercial paper or to be used as bank borrowings. At the

end of 1998, APS had about $ 179 million of commercial

paper and $ 125 million of long-term bank borrowings

outstanding.

In 1998, APS issued $ 100 million of unsecured long-
term debt and in February 1999, APS issued $125 million

of unsecured long-term debt.

Although provisions in APS'irst mortgage bond inden-

ture, articles of incorporation, and ACC financing orders

establish maximum amounts of additional first mortgage
bonds that APS may issue, APS does not expect any of

these provisions to limit its ability to meet its capital

requirements.

Non-Utility Subsidiaries

During the past three years, SunCor and El Dorado each

funded all of their cash requirements with cash from

operations and their own financing.

SunCor's capital needs consist primarily of capital
expenditures for land development and home construc-

tion. On the basis of projects now under development,

SunCor expects capital needs over the next three years

to be: 1999, $ 58 million; 2000, $53 million; and 2001,

$43 million. Capital resources to meet these require-

ments include funds from operations and SunCor's own

external financings.

As of December 31, 1998, SunCor had a $ 55 million line

of credit, under which $38 million of borrowings were
outstanding. SunCor's debt repayment requirements

.for the next three years are: 1999, $4 million; 2000,

$26 million; and 2001, $ 51 million.

COMPETITION AND INDUSTRY RESTRUCTURING

The electric industry is undergoing significant change.

It is moving to a competitive, market-based structure

from a highly-regulated, cost-based environment in

which companies have been entitled to recover their
costs and to earn fair returns on their invested capital
in exchange for commitments to serve all customers
within designated service territories. In December 1996,

the ACC adopted rules that provide a framework for the

Introduction of retail electric competition in Arizona and

adopted amendments to the rules in August 1998.

On January 11, 1999, the ACC issued an order which

stayed the amended rules and granted waivers from

compliance with the rules to all affected utilities
(including APS) pending further ACC decisions. On

February 5, 1999, ACC hearing officers issued recom-

mendations for changes to the amended rules. These

recommended changes were further amended by an

ACC Procedural Order dated March 12, 1999. See Note

3 for additional information about these rules and other
competitive developments, including an agreement

with Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and

Power District (Salt River Project). We cannot currently
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predict when or if the amended rules will be further

modified, when the stay of the amended rules will be

lifted, or when retail electric competition will be intro-

duced in Arizona with respect to affected utilities.

The rules as recommended indicate that the ACC will

allow affected utilities the opportunity to fully recover

unmitigated stranded costs, but do not set forth the

mechanisms for determining and recovering such costs.

On June 22, 1998, the ACC issued an order on stranded

cost determination and recovery and on February 5,

1999, an ACC hearing officer issued recommended

changes to that order. These recommended changes

were further amended by an ACC Procedural Order

dated March 12, 1999. See Note 3 for additional

information on proposed modifications to the stranded

cost order.

An Arizona joint legislative committee studied electric

utility restructuring issues in 1996 and 1997. In May

1998, a law was enacted to facilitate implementation of

retail electric competition in the state. Additionally, leg-

islation related to electric competition has been pro-

posed in the United States Congress. See Note 3 for a

discussion of legislative developments.

We believe that further ACC decisions, legislation at the

Arizona and federal levels, and perhaps amendments to

the Arizona Constitution will ultimately be required

before significant implementation of retail electric com-

petition can lawfully occur in Arizona. Until it has been

determined how competition will be implemented in

Arizona, including the manner in which stranded costs

will be addressed, we cannot accurately predict the

impact of full retail competition on our financial

position, cash flows, or results of operations. As com-

petition in the electric industry continues to evolve, we

will continue to evaluate strategies and alternatives

that will position us to compete effectively in a restruc-

tured industry.

APS prepares its financial statements in accordance

with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

(SFAS) No. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain

Types of Regulation." SFAS No. 71 requires a cost-

based, rate-regulated enterprise to reflect the impact of

regulatory decisions in its financial statements.
APS'xisting

regulatory orders and the current regulatory

environment support its accounting practices related to

regulatory assets, which amounted to about $900 mil-
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lion at December 31, 1998. Under the 1996 regulatory

agreement, the ACC accelerated the amortization of

substantially all of APS',regulatory assets to an eight-

year period that will end June 30, 2004. If APS ceases

to be cost-based regulated, it would no longer be able

to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 71 to part or all of

its operations, which could have a material impact on

our financial statements. See Note 1 for additional

information on regulatory accounting.

Ineentoer Assessment Remesriotion & Testing

APS 100% 100% 70% (1)

Pinnacle West and

other subsidiaries

(excluding APS) 100% 100% 80% (2)
l

l1) Estimated to be at 100% by June 30, 1999, except one Palo Verde

unit as discussed below.

I2) Estimated to be at 100% by June 30. 1999.

Discussion

APS has been actively implementing and replacing

systems and technology since 1995 for general busi-

ness reasons unrelated to the Year 2000, and these

actions have resulted in substantially all of its major

information technology (IT) systems'becoming Year

2000 ready. The major IT systems that were, and are

being, implemented and replaced include the following:

i Work Management
~ Materials Management
~ Energy Management

YEAR 2000 READINESS DISCLOSURE

Overview

As the year 2000 approaches, many companies face

problems because many computer systems and

equipment will not properly recognize calendar dates

beginning with the year 2000. We are addressing the

Year 2000 issue as described below. APS initiated a

comprehensive company-wide Year 2000 program

during 1997 to review and resolve all Year 2000 issues

in mission critical systems (systems and equipment that

are key to business function, health, and safety) in a

timely manner to ensure the reliability of electric service

to our customers. This included a company-wide

awareness program of the Year 2000 issue.

The following chart shows Year 2000'readiness of our

mission critical systems as of January 31, 1999:



~ Payroll
~ Financial
~ Human Resources
~ Trouble Call Management
~ Computer and Communications Network Upgrades
~ Geographic Information Management
~ Customer information System and

~ Palo Verde Site Work Management.

We and our subsidiaries have made, and will continue to

make, certain modifications to computer hardware and

software systems and applications, including IT and non-

IT systems, in an effort to ensure they are capable of

handling changing business needs, including dates in the

year 2000 and thereafter. In addition, other APS IT

systems and non-IT systems, including embedded tech-

nology and real-time process control systems, are being

analyzed for potential modifications.

Pinnacle West, APS, SunCor, and El Dorado have

inventoried and assessed essentially all mission critical

IT and non-IT systems and equipment. APS is 70yo

complete and Pinnacle West and its other subsidiaries

are 80/o complete with the remediation and testing of

these systems. Remediation and testing is expected to

be completed by June 30, 1999 for all mission critical

systems, except for those items that can only be com-

pleted during maintenance outages at Palo Verde, which

will be completed for the last unit, which is substantially

identical to the other two units, during the last half of

1999. APS has an internal audit/quality review team

that is periodically reviewing the individual Year 2000

projects and their Year 2000 readiness.

APS currently estimates that it will spend approximately

$5 million relating to Year 2000 issues, about $ 3 million

of which has been spent to date. This includes an esti-

mated allocation of payroll costs for APS employees

working on Year 2000 issues, and costs for consultants,

hardware, and software. We do not separately track

other internal costs. This does not include any expendi-

tures Incurred since 1995 to implement and replace

systems for reasons unrelated to the Year 2000, as dis-

cussed above. Our cost to address the Year 2000 issue

is charged to operating expenses as incurred and has

not had, and is not expected to have, a material adverse

effect on our financial position, cash flows, or results of

operations. We expect to fund this cost with available

cash balances and cash provided by operations.

Pinnacle West and its subsidiaries are communicating

with their significant suppliers, business partners, other

utilities, and large customers to determine the extent

to which they may be affected by these third
parties'lans

to remediate their own Year 2000 issues in a

timely manner. These companies have been interfacing

with suppliers of systems, services, and materials in

order to assess whether their schedules for analysis

and remediation of Year 2000 issues are timely and to

assess their ability to continue to supply required

services and materials.

APS is also working with the North American Electric

Reliability Council (NERC) through the Western Systems

Coordinating Council (WSCC) to develop operational

plans for stable grid operation that will be utilized by

APS and other utilities in the western United States.

These plans are expected to be completed by June 30,

1999. However, APS cannot currently predict the effect

on APS if the systems of these other companies are

not Year 2000 ready.

We currently expect that our most reasonably likely

worst case Year 2000 scenario would be intermittent

loss of power to APS customers, similar to an outage

during a severe weather disturbance. In this situation,

APS would restore power as soon as possible by, among

other things, re-routing power flows. We do not cur-

rently expect that this scenario would have a material

adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows,

or results of operations.

We are working to develop our own contingency plans

to handle Year 2000 issues, including the most reason-

ably likely worst case scenario discussed above, and we

expect these plans to be completed by June 30, 1999.

As discussed above, APS has also been working with

NERC and WSCC to develop contingency plans related to

grid operation.

ACCOUNTING MATTERS

We describe two new accounting rules in Note 2. First,

the new rule on energy trading and risk management is

effective in 1999. We do not expect it to have a material

impact on our financial results. Secondly, the new stan-

dard on derivatives is effective for us in 2000. We are
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currently evaluating what impact it will have on our

financial statements. Also, see Note 13 for a description

of a proposed standard on accounting for certain liabili-

ties related to closure or removal of long-lived assets.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Our operations include managing market risks related to

changes in interest rates, commodity prices, and invest-

ments held by the nuclear decommissioning trust fund.

Interest Rate and Equity Risk

Our major financial market risk exposure is changing

interest rates. Changing interest rates will affect inter-

est paid on variable rate debt and interest earned by the

nuclear decommissioning trust fund. Our policy is to

manage interest rates through the use of a combination
'f

fixed and floating rate debt. The nuclear decommis-

sioning fund also has risks associated with changing

market values of equity investments. Nuclear decommis-

sioning costs are recovered in rates.

The tables below present contractual balances of our

long-term and short-term debt at the expected maturity

dates as well as the fair value of those instruments
on'ecember

31, 1998 and December 31, 1997. The

weighted average interest rates for the various debt

presented are actual as of December 31, 1998 and

December 31, 1997.

Expected Maturity/Principal Repayment - Oecember 31,1998

(Thousands ofDollars)
Short-Term

Interest Rates Amount
Variable Long-Term

Intermt Rates Amount
Fired Long- Term

Interest Rates Amount

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Years thereafter

Total

Fair Value

6.21'Yo S 178,830

S 178,830

S 178,830

7.30'Yo

7.32%

6 57%

10.25%

5 69%

3.43%

S 3,268

25,756

93,472

119

125,131

459,803

S 707.549

$ 707,549

7.24% $ 164,777

5.79% 114,711

6.70'Yo 27,488

8.13% 125,000

6.87% 25,000

7.75'Yo 1,058,963

$ 1,515,939

S 1,577,365

Expected Maturity/Principal Repayment - December 31,1997

(Thousands ofDollarr)
Short-Term

Interest Roice Amount
Varioblc Long Term

Intense Rates Amount
Riced Long-Term

Interest Rates Amount

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

Years thereafter

Total

Fair Value

6.27'Yo $ 130,750

S 130,750

S 130,750

7.95% S

7.98%

7.99'Yo

6.25%

6.25%

3.67'/o

S

S

3,064

28,598

54,133

155,079

150,088

443,178

834,140

834,140

7.59% S 105,631

7.25% 164,378

5.83% 104,711

6.70'Yo 27,488

8.13%'25,000
7.89'Yo 998,628

S 1.525,836

S 1,556,697



Commodity Price Risk

APS utilizes a variety of derivative instruments including

exchange-traded futures, options, and swaps as part of

its overall risk management strategies and for trading

purposes. In order to reduce the risk of adverse price

fluctuations in the electricity and natural gas markets,

APS enters into futures and/or option transactions to
- hedge certain natural gas held in storage as well as

certain expected purchases and sales of natural gas

and electricity. The changes in market value of such

contracts have a high correlation to the price changes

in the hedged commodity. Gains and losses related to

derivatives that qualify as hedges of expected transac-

tions are recognized in income when the underlying

hedged physical transaction closes (deferral method).

Gains and losses on derivatives utilized for trading are

recognized in income on a current basis (the mark to

market method).

APS has prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate its

exposure to the market risk of its derivative position for

natural gas and electricity. With respect to these deriv-

atives, a potential adverse price movement of 100/o in

the market price of natural gas and electricity from the

December 31, 1998 levels would decrease the fair value

of these instruments by approximately $ 1 million. This

analysis does not include the favorable impact that the

same hypothetical price movement would have on

expected physical purchases and sales of natural gas

and electricity.

APS is exposed to credit losses in the event of

non-performance or non-payment by counterparties.

APS uses a credit management process to assess and

monitor the financial viability of its counterparties.

APS does not expect counterparty defaults to materially

impact its financial condition, results of operations, or

net cash flows.,

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The above discussion contains forward-looking state-

ments that involve risks and uncertainties. Words such

as "estimates," "expects," "anticipates," "plans,"

"believes," "projects," and similar expressions identify

forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertain-
4

ties include, but are not limited to, the ongoing restruc-

turing of the electric industry; the outcome of the regu-

latory proceedings relating to the restructuring; regula-

tory, tax, and environmental legislation; the ability of

APS to successfully compete outside its traditional regu-

lated markets; regional economic conditions, which

could affect customer growth; the cost of debt and equi-

ty capital; weather variations affecting customer usage;

technological developments in the electric industry; Year

2000 issues; and the strength of the real estate market.

These factors and the other matters discussed above

may cause future results to differ materially from histor-

ical results, or from results or outcomes we currently

expect or seek.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVEAND QUALITATIVE

DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

See "Financial Review" in item 7 for a discussion

of quantitative and qualitative disclosures about

market risk.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENTAND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'EPORT

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'EPORT

The primary responsibility for the Integrity of the Company's

financial information rests with management, which has pre-

pared the accompanying financial statements and related

information. Such Information was prepared in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in

the circumstances. and based on management's best esti-

mates and Judgments. Materiality was given due consideration.

These financial statements have been audited by Independent

auditors and their report is included.

Management maintains and relies upon systems of Internal

accounting controls. A limiting factor in all systems of internal

accounting control is that the cost of the system should not

exceed the benefits to be derived. Management believes that

the Company's system provides the appropriate balance

between such costs and benefits.

Periodically the internal accounting control system ls reviewed

by both the Company's Internal auditors and its independent

auditors to test for compliance. Reports issued by. the internal

auditors are released to management, and such reports or

summaries thereof are transmitted to the Audit Committee of

the Board of Directors and the independent auditors on a

timely basis.

The Audit Committee, composed solely of outside directors,

meets periodically with the internal auditors and independent

auditors (as well as management) to review the work of each.

The internal auditors and independent auditors have free

access to the Audit Committee, without management present,

to discuss the results of their audit work.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets of Pinnacle West Capital Corporation and its sub-

sidiaries as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 and the related

consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December

31, 1998. These financial statements are the responsibility of

the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits ln accordance with generally

accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-

cial statements. An audit also includes assessing the account-

ing principles used and significant estimates made by manage-

ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pinnacle

West Capital Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31,

1998 and 1997 and the results of their operations and their

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 1998 In conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles.

Management believes that the Company's systems, policies

and procedures provide reasonable assurance that operations

are conducted in conformity with the law and with manage-

ment's commitment to a high standard of business conduct.

Deloltte & Touche LLP

Phoenix, Arizona

March 4, 1999

William J. Post

Chief Executive Officer

George A. Schreiber, Jr.

President
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Frer Eedhd Drhrehrrhr Sh,
(Deuerh he rrheeheedh, EhhrPh Prr S4re heheeehh)

OPERATING REVENUES

Electric
Real estate

199e

S 2,006,398
124,188

1997

S 1,878,553
116,473

1996

S 1,718,272
99,488

Total 2,130,586 1,995,026 1,817,760

OPERATING EXPENSES

Fuel and purchased power
Utilityoperations and maintenance
Real estate operations
Depreciation and amortization (Note 1)

Taxes other than income taxes

537,501
414,041
115,33'I

379,679
116,906

436,627
399,434
111,628
368,285
121,546

325,523
430,714

96,080
299,507
122,077

Total

OPERATING INCOME

1,563,458

567,128

1,437,520 ',273,901
557.506 543.859

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Allowance for equity funds used during construction
Preferred stock dividend requirements of APS,

Net other income and ex ense
(9,703)

609
(12,803)

4,569

5,209
(17,092)

6,748

Total

INCOME BEFORE INTEREST AND INCOME TAXES

9,094

558,034

8.234 18.631

549,272 525,228

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest charges
Ca italized interest

Total

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAXES NOTE 4

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Loss from discontinued operations - net of Income tax of $ 6,461

Extraordinary charge for early retirement of debt-
net of income tax of $ 13,777

169,145
18,596

150,549

407,485

164,593

242,892

182,838
19,703

163,135

386,137

150,281

235,856

198,569
12,856

185,713

339,515

128,456

211,059
(9,539)

20.340

NET INCOME S 242,892 $ 235.856 $ 181,180

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING - BASIC

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING - DILUTED

84,774,218

85,345,946

85,502,909

86,022,709

87,441,515

88,021,920

EARNINGS PER AVERAGE COMMON SHARE OUTSTANDING

Continuing operations —basic

Net income —basic
Continuing operations - diluted
Net income - diluted

S 2.87
2.87
2.85
2.85

S 2.76 $ 2.41

2.76 2.07
2.74 2.40
2.74 2.06

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE S 1.225 S 1.125 $ 1.025

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Dcn~4r st,
(AOUSOIIAOfDOuOII) 1998 1997

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Customer and other receivables —net
Accrued utility revenues
Materials and supplies (at average cost)
Fossil fuel (at average cost)
Deferred income taxes (Note 4)
Other current assets

Total current assets

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

Real estate investments —net (Note 6)
Other assets Note 13

Total investments and other assets

UTILITYPLANT (NOTES 6, 10 AND 11)

Electric plant In service and held for future use

Less accumulated de reciation and amortization

Total

Construction work in progress
Nuclear fuel, net of amortization of $ 68.569 and $ 66,081

Net utilit lant

DEFERRED DEBITS

Regulatory asset for income taxes (Note 4)
Rate synchronization cost deferral
Other deferred debits

Total deferred debits

S 20,538
233,876

67,740
69,074
13,978

3,999
47,594

456.799

331,021
236,562

567,583

7,265,604
2,814,762

4,450,842

228,643
51.078

4,730.563

400,795
303,660
365,146

1,069,601

5 27,484
183,507
58,559
70,634

9,621
57,887
41,408

449,100

365,921
215,027

580.948

7,009,059
2,620.607

4,388,452

237,492
51,624

4,677,568

458,369
358,871
325.561

1,142.801

TOTAL ASSETS S 6,824,546 S 6,850,417

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Decee4r sn
(71ovseeh ofDollop) 1998 1997

LIABILITIESAND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Accrued interest
Short-term borrowings (Note 5)
Current maturitles of long-term debt (Note 6)
Customer deposits
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT LESS CURRENT MATURITIES NOTE 6

DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER

Deferred income taxes (Note 4)
Deferred investment tax credit (Note 4)
Unamortized gain —sale of utility plant
Other

Total deferred credits and other

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTES 3 AND 12)

MINORITY INTERESTS (NOTE 7)
Non-redeemable referred stock of APS

Redeemable preferred stock of APS

COMMON STOCK EQUITY (NOTE a)
, ~ Common stock, no par value; authorized 150,000,000 shares;

issued and outstanding 84,824,947 at end of 1998 and 1997
Retained earnin s

Total common stock equit

S 155,800
62,520
31,866

178,830
168,045

28,510
14,632

640.203

2,048,961

1,343,536
27,345
77,787

428.122

1,876,790

85.840

9,401

1,550,643
612.708

2.163,351

$ 117,429
84,610
32,974

130,750
108,695

30,672
18,534

523,664

2,244,248

1,363,461
50,861
82,363

387,223

1.883,908

142,051

29,110

1,553,771
473.665

2,027,436

TOTAI. LIABILITIESAND EQUITY S 6,824,546 S 6,850,417
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

nao fohn Daaaw4oa Sn
rr4owoah ofDortara) 1998 1997 1996

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income from continuing operations S 242,892 S 235,856 S 211,059

Items not requiring cash
Depreciation and amortization
Nuclear fuel amortization
Deferred income taxes —net
Allowance for equity funds used

during construction
Deferred Investment tax credit
Other - net

Changes in current assets and liabilities
Customer and other receivables - net
Accrued utility revenues
Materials, supplies and fossil fuel
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Accrued interest
Other current liabilities

Decrease in land held
Other - net

379,679
32,856
41,262

(23,516)
1,190

(50,369)
(9,181)
(2,797)
(6,186)
34,386

(22,090)
(1,108)
(5,235)
33,405
39,350

368,285
32,702
24,809

(23,518)
(3,854)

(14,270)
(3,089)
7,793

(109)
(54,882)

2,197
(6,678)

(23,087)
33,010
48,254

299,507
33,566
13,392

(5,209)
(23,518)

1,370

(38,106)
(1,951)
11,945
(8,949)
65,586
(7,088)
(9,306)
1,515

19,894
2.576

Net Cash Flow provided 8 0 eratin Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

605,838 623,419 566,283

Capital expenditures
Capitalized interest
Other - net

(319,142)
(1 8,596)

2,144

(307,876)
(1 9,703)

3,124

(258,598)
(12,856)

6,345

Net Cash Flow Used For Investin Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

339,882 330,703 277,799

Issuance of long-term debt
Short-term borrowings —net
Dividends paid on common stock
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Repayment of long-term debt
Redemption of preferred stock
Extraordinary charge for early retirement of debt
Other - net

148,229
48,080

(103,849)

(286,314)
(75,517)

3,531

146,013
113,850
(96,160)
(79,997)

(325,526)
(47,201)

2.897

557,067
(160,900)

(89,614)

(575,332)
(50,360)
(20,340)

1,858

Net Cash Flow Used For Financin Activities

NET CASH FLOW

CASH ANO CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

272.902

(6,946)

27,484

798

26,686

(52,853)

79,539

291.918 341,337

, CASH ANO CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ENO OF YEAR $ 20,538 S 27,484 $ 26,686

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

36



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS

1<or Zohd D««or<sr Ss,
rAovsooC< o Dollars) '1998 1997 1996

Retained Earnings at Beginning of Year

Net Income

Common Stock Dividends

Retained Earnings at End of Year

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

242,892

103,849

235,856

96,160

181,180

89,614

S 612.708 S 473,665 S 333,969

S 473,665 S 333,969 S 242,403

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation and Nature of Operations

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts

of Pinnacle West and our subsidiaries: APS, SunCor, and

El Dorado.

APS, our major subsidiary and Arizona's largest electric utility,

with 799,000 customers, provides wholesale or retail electric

service,to the entire state with the exception of Tucson and

about one-half of the Phoenix area. SunCor is a developer of

residential, commercial, and Industrial projects on some

12,400 acres in Arizona, New Mexico, and Utah. El Dorado is a

venture capital firm with a diversified portfolio.

Accounting Records

Our accounting records are maintained in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The prep-

aration of financial statements in accordance with GAAP

requires the use of estimates by management. Actual results

could differ from those estimates.

Regulatory Accounting

APS ls regulated by the Arizona Corporation Commission

(ACC) and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).

The accompanying financial statements reflect the rate-

making policies of these commissions. APS prepares its

financial statements In accordance with Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71, Accounting for the

Effects of Certain Types of Regulation." SFAS No. 71 requires a

cost-based, rate-regutated enterprise to reflect the impact of

regulatory decisions in its financial statements.

APS'ajor regulatory assets are deferred Income taxes (see

Note 4) and rate synchronization cost deferrals (see "Rate

Synchronization Cost Oeferrals in this Note). These items,

combined with miscellaneous regulatory assets and liabilities,

amounted to approximately 5900 million at December 31,

1998 and $ 1.0 billion at December 31, 1997. Most of these

items are included in Deferred Debits on the Balance Sheets.

Under the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note 3), the ACC

accelerated the amortization of substantially all of APS'egu-
latory assets to an eight-year period that will'end June 30,

2004. APS records the accelerated portion of the regulatory

asset amortization, approximately S120 million pretax in 1998

and 1997 and S60 million pretax In 1996, in depreciation and

amortization expense on the Statements of Income.

During 1997, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) of the

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued EITF 97-4.

EITF 97-4 requires that SFAS No. 71 be discontinued no later

than when legislation is passed or a rate order is issued that

contains sufficient detail to determine its effect on the portion

of the business being deregulated, which could result in write-

downs or write-offs of physical and/or regulatory assets. Addi-

tionally, the EITF determined that regulatory assets should not

be written off if they are to be recovered from a portion of the

entity which continues to apply SFAS No. 71.

Although rules have been proposed for transitioning generation

services to competition, there are many unresolved issues.

APS continues to apply SFAS No. 71 to its generation opera-

tions. If rate recovery of regulatory assets is no longer

probable, whether due to competition or regulatory action,

APS would be required to write off the remaining balance as,

an extraordinary charge to expense.

Utility Plant and Depreciation

Utilityplant is the term APS uses to describe the business

property and equipment that supports electric service. APS

reports utility plant at its original cost, which includes:

~ material and labor

~ contractor costs

~ construction overhead costs (where applicable) and

~ capitalized interest or an allowance for funds used during

construction.
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APS charges retired utility plant, plus removal costs less

salvage realized, to accumulated depreciation. See Note 13 for

Information on a proposed accounting standard that impacts

accounting for removal costs.

APS records depreciation on utility property on a straight-line

basis. For the years 1996 through 1998 the rates, as pre-

scribed by our regulators, ranged from a low of 1.51% to a

high of 20%. The weighted-average rate for 1998,was 3.32/o.

APS depreclates non-utility property and equipment over the

estimated useful lives of the related assets, ranging from 3

to 50 years.

Capitalized Interest

In 1997, APS began capitalizing interest In accordance with

SFAS No. 34, "Capitalization of Interest Cost." Capitalized

interest represents the cost of debt funds used to finance con-

struction of utility plant. Plant construction costs, including

capitalized interest, are recovered In authorized rates through

depreciation when completed projects are placed into commer-

cial operation. Capitalized interest does not represent current

cash earnings. The rate used to calculate capitalized interest

for 1998 was 6.88% and for 1997 was 7.25%.

Prior to 1997, APS accrued an allowance for funds used during

construction (AFUDC). AFUDC represented the cost of debt and

equity funds used to finance construction of utility plant.

AFUDC did not represent current cash earnings. AFUDC has

been calculated using a composite rate of 7.75% for 1996.

Revenues

APS records electric operating revenues on the accrual basis,

which includes estimated amounts for service rendered but

unbilled at the end of each accounting period.

Rate Synchronization Cost Deferrals

As authorized by the ACC, operating costs (excluding fuel) and

financing costs of Palo Verde Units 2 and 3 were deferred from

the commercial operation dates (September 1986 for Unit 2

and January 1988 for Unit 3) until the date the units were

included in a rate order (April 1988 for Unit 2 and December

1991 for Unit 3). Beginning July 1, 1996, the deferrals are

being amortized over an eight-year period in accordance with

the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note 3). Prior to July 1,

1996, the deferrals were amortized over thirty-five year peri-

ods. Amortization of the deferrals is included in depreciation

and amortization expense on the Statements of Income.

Nuclear Fuel

APS charges nuclear fuel to fuel expense by using the unit-of-

production method. The unit-of-production method Is an amor-

tization method that is based on actual physical usage. APS

divides the cost of the fuel by the estimated number of thermal

units that APS expects to produce with that fuel. APS then mul ~

tiplies that rate by the number of thermal units that it produces

within the current period. This provides APS with current period

nuclear fuel expense.

APS also charges nuclear fuel expense for the permanent dis-

posal of spent nuclear fuel. The United States Department of

Energy (DOE) is responsible for the permanent disposal of

spent nuclear fuel, and it charges APS $ 0.001 per kWh of

nuclear generation. See Note 12 for information about spent

nuclear fuel disposal. In addition, Note 13 has information on

nuclear decommissioning costs.

Income Taxes

We file our federal income tax return on a consolidated basis

and we file our state income tax returns on a consolidated or

unitary basis. In accordance with our intercompany tax sharing

agreement, federal and state income taxes are allocated to

each subsidiary as though each subsidiary filed a separate

income tax return. Any difference between the aforementioned

allocations and the consolidated (and unitary) income tax lia-

bility is attributed to the parent company.

Reacquired Debt Costs

When APS Incurs gains or losses on debt that It retires prior to

maturity, APS amortizes those gains or losses over the rerqaining

original life of the debt. In accordance with the 1996 regulatory

agreement (see Note 3), the ACC accelerated APS'mortization

of the regulatory asset for reacquired debt costs to an eight-year

period that will end June 30, 2004. The accelerated portion of

the regulatory asset amortization Is included in depreciation and

amortization expense in the Statements of Income.

Statements of Cash Flows

We consider temporary cash investments and marketable secu-

~ ritles to be cash equivalents for purposes of reporting cash

flows. During 1998, 1997, and 1996 we paid interest, net of

amounts capitalized, Income taxes, and dividends on preferred

stock of APS.

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, was:

~ $143.9 million in 1998

~ $163.0 million In 1997 and

~ $ 1 85.9 million in 1996.
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Income taxes paid were:

~ $ 164.9 million in 1998

~ $146.2 million in 1997 and

~ $121.0 million In 1996.

Segments

APS Is Pinnacle West's only reportable segment. Unless

otherwise identified, APS represents substantially all of the

consolidated information being re ported.

Dividends paid on preferred stock of APS were:

~ $ 10.3 million In 1998

~ $ 13.3 million In 1997 and

~ $17.4 million In 1996.

Re classifications

We have reclassified certain prior year amounts for comparison

purposes with 1998.

2. ACCOUNTING MATTERS

In 1998 we adopted SFAS No.130, Reporting Comprehensive

Income. This standard changes the reporting of certain Items

previously reported in the common stock equity section of the

balance sheet. The effects of adopting SFAS No. 130 were not

material to our financial statements.

In November 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board's

Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF 98-10, "Accounting for

Contracts Involved In Energy Trading and Risk Management

Activities," which is effective for us in 1999. EITF 98-10

requires energy trading contracts to be measured at fair value

as of the balance sheet date with the gains and losses included

in earnings and separately disclosed in the financial statements or

footnotes. We have evaluated the impact of this rule and believe

the effects are not material to our financial statements.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued

SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities," which is effective for us in 2000. SFAS No.

133 requires that entities recognize all derivatives as either

assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure those

instruments at fair value. The standard also provides specific

guidance for accounting for derivatives designated as hedging

Instruments. We are currently evaluating what impact thIs

standard will have on our financial statements.

3. REGULATORy MATTERS

Electric Industry Restructuring

STATE

In December 1996, the ACC adopted rules that provide a

framework for the Introduction of retail electric competition in

Arizona. The rules, as amended, became effective on August
/

10, 1998, and on December 10, 1998, the ACC adopted the

amended rules without any modifications that would have a

significant impact on us. We believe that certain provisions of

the 1996 ACC rules and the amended rules are deficient and

APS has filed lawsuits to protect its legal rights regarding the

1996 rules and the amended rules. These lawsuits are pending

but two related cases filed by other utilities have been partially

decided In a manner adverse to those utilities'ositions.

On January 11, 1999, the ACC issued an order which stayed

the amended rules, granted reconsideration of the decision to

make the rules permanent, and directed the hearing division of

the ACC to establish a procedural order for further action on

these rules. The order also granted walvers from compliance

with the rules for APS, and all affected utilities.

On February 5, 1999, the ACC Hearing Division Issued recom-

mendations for changes to the amended rules. The recom-

mended changes to the amended rules were further modified

by a Procedural Order of the ACC Hearing Division dated

March 12, 1999. The recommended rules Include the following

major provisions:

~ They would apply to virtually all Arizona electric utilities

regulated by the ACC, Including APS.

~ Each utility must make at least 20% of Its 1995 retail peak

demand available for competitive generation supply.

~ The rules become effective when the ACC makes a final

decision on each utility's stranded costs and unbundled

rates (Final Decision Date) or January 1, 2001 ~ whichever

comes first.

~ Subject to the 20Vo requirement, all utilitycustomers with

single premise loads of one megawatt or greater will be eli-

gible for competitive electric services on the Final Decision

Date. Customers with single premise loads of 40 kilowatts

or greater may aggregate loads to meet this one megawatt

requirement.

~ When effective, residential customers will be phased in at

1-1/4/o per quarter calculated beginning on January 1,

1999, subject to the 20% requirement above.

~ Electric service providers that get Certificates of Conve-

nience and Necessity (CC8Ns) from the ACC can supply only

competitive services, including electric generation, but not

electric transmission and distribution.

~ Affected utilities must file ACC tariffs with separate pricing

for electric services provided for noncompetitive services.



~ ACC shall allow a reasonable opportunity for recovery of

unmitigated stranded costs (see Stranded Costs below).

~ Absent an ACC waiver, prior to January 1, 2001, each affect-

ed utility must transfer all competitive generation assets and

services either to an unaffiliated party or to a separate cor-

porate affiliate.

< Affiliate transaction rules prohibit a utility and Its competi-

tive electric affiliates from sharing certain assets, employ-

ees, and information.

If approved by the ACC, the rules would be subject to the for-

mal rulemaking process under Arizona statute. In compliance

with statutory procedural requirements, ACC oral proceedings

on the matter would be scheduled no sooner than 30 days after

the proposed rules are published by the Secretary of State.

We cannot currently predict when or If the amended rules will

be further modified, when the stay of the amended rules will

be lifted, or when retail electric competition will be introduced

in Arizona.

Stranded Costs

On June 22,1998, the ACC Issued an order on stranded cost

determination and recovery. APS believes that certain provi-

sions of the stranded cost order are deficient and In August

1998, APS filed two lawsuits to protect its legal rights relating

to the order.

On February 5, 1999, the ACC Hearing Division issued recom-

mended changes to the June 1998 stranded cost order. These

recommended changes were further amended by an ACC

Procedural Order dated March 12, 1999. The recommended

changes to the stranded cost order would be effective upon

approval of the ACC. The recommended order, as amended on

March 12, 1999 ~ allows each affected utility to choose from

five options for the recovery of stranded costs:

~ Net Revenues Lost Methodology is the difference between

generation revenues under traditional regulation and gener-

ation revenues under competition. This option provides for

declining recovery percentages for stranded costs over a

tive-year recovery period. Regulatory assets are to be fully

recovered under their presently authorized amortization

schedule. In accordance with a 1996 regulatory agreement,

the ACC accelerated the amortization of substantially all of

APS'egulatory assets to an eight-year period that ends June

30, 2004.

~ Divestiture/Auction Methodology allows a utility to divest all

or substantially all of its generating assets, Including regula-

tory assets associated with generation, in order to collect

100 percent of the difference between net sales price and

book value of generating assets divested over a ten-year

period, with no return on the unamortized balance.

~ Financial Integrity Methodology allows a utility"sufficient

revenues to meet minimum financial ratios" for a period of

ten years.

~ Settlement Methodology allows a settlement to be agreed

upon by the ACC and a utility.
~ Any combination of the above is shown to be in the best

Interest of all affected parties.

Legislative lnltlatlves

An Arizona joint legislative committee studied electric utility

Industry restructuring issues In 1996 and 1997. In conjunction

with that study, the Arizona legislative counsel prepared mem-

oranda in late 1997 related to the legal authority of the ACC to

deregulate the Arizona electric utility industry. The memoranda

raise a question as to the degree to which the ACC may, under

the Arizona Constitution, deregulate any portion of the electric

utility Industry and allow rates to be determined by market

forces. This latter Issue has been subsequently decided by

lower courts in favor of the ACC in four separate lawsuits, two

of which are unrelated.

In May 1998, a law was enacted to facilitate implementation

of retail electric competition in Arizona. The law includes the

following major provisions:

~ Arizona's largest government-operated electric utility (Salt

River Project) and, at their option, smaller municipal electric

systems must (i) make at'least 20'f their 1995 retail peak

demand available to electric service provlders by December

31, 1998 and for all retail customers by December 31, 2000;

(ii) decrease rates by at least 10/o over a ten-year period

beginning as early as January 1, 1991; (lli) implement pro-

cedures and public processes comparable to those already

applicable to public service corporations, for establishing

the terms, conditions, and pricing of electric services as well

as certain other decisions affecting retail electric. competition;
~ describes the factors which form the basis of consideration

by Salt River Project in determining stranded costs; and

~ metering and meter reading services must be provided on a

competitive basis during the first two years of competition

only for customers having demands in excess of one

megawatt (and that are eligible for competitive generation

services), and thereafter for all customers receiving compet-

itive electric generation.
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In addition, the Arizona legislature will review and make

recommendations for the 1999 legislature on certain

competitive issues.

Agreement with Salt River Pro/eel

On April 25, 1998, APS entered into a Memorandum of

Agreement with Salt River Project In anticipation of, and to

facilitate, the opening ot the Arizona electric industry. The

Agreement contains the following major components:

< Both parties would amend the Territorial Agreement to

remove any barriers to the provision of competitive

electricity supply and non-distribution services.

< Both parties would amend the Power Coordination Agreement

to lower the price that APS will pay Salt River Project for

purchased power by approximately $ 17 million (pretax) during

the first full year that the Agreement is effective and by lesser

annual amounts during the next seven years.

~ Both parties agreed on certain legislative positions regarding

electric utility restructuring at the state and federal level.

Certain provisions of the Agreement (including those relating

to the amendments ot the Territorial Agreement and the Power

Coordination Agreement) are affected by the timing of

the introduction of competition. See "ACC Rules" above. On

February 18, 1999, the ACC approved the Agreement.

general

We believe that further ACC decisions, legislation at the

Arizona and federal levels, and perhaps amendments to the

Arizona Constitution (which would require a vote ot the people)

will ultimately be required before significant implementation of

retail electric competition can lawfullyoccur in Arizona. Until

the manner of implementation of competition, including

addressing stranded costs, is determined, we cannot accurate-

ly predict the impact of tull retail competition on our tlnanclal

position, cash flows, or results of operation. As competition In

the electric industry continues to evolve, we willcontinue to

evaluate strategies and alternatives that will position us to

compete in the new regulatory environment.

FEDERAL

The Energy Policy Act of 1992 and recent rulemakings by FERC

have promoted increased competition In the wholesale electric

power markets. APS does not expect these rules to have a

material impact an its financial statements.

Several electric utility reform bills have been introduced

during recent congressional sessions, which as currently

written would allow consumers to choose their electricity

suppliers by 2000 or 2003. These bills, other bills that are

expected to be introduced, and ongoing discussions at the fed-

eral level suggest a wide range ot opinion that will need to be

narrowed before any substantial restructuring of the electric

utility Industry can occur.

1996 Regulatory Agreement

In April 1996, the ACC approved a regulatory agreement

between the ACC Staff and APS. The major provisions of this

agreement are:

~ An annual rate reduction of approximately S48.5 million

($29 million after Income taxes), or 3.4'n average for all

customers except certain contract customers, effective

July 1, 1996.

~ Recovery of substantially all of APS'resent regulatory

assets through accelerated amortization over an eight-year

period that will end June 30, 2004, increasing annual

amortization by approximately $ 120 million ($72 million

after Income taxes). See Note 1.

~ A formula for sharing future cost savings between customers

and shareholders (price reduction formula) referencing a

return on equity (as defined) ot 11.25'Yo.

~ A moratorium on filing for permanent rate changes prior to

July 2, 1999,'except under the price reduction formula and

under certain other limited circumstances.

~ Infusion ot $ 200 million of common equity into APS by the

parent company, In annual payments of $ 50 million starting

in 1996.

Based on the price reduction formula, the ACC approved retail

price decreases of approximately $17.6 million ($10.5 million

after income taxes), or 1.2%, effective July 1.1997, and

approximately $17 million ($10 million after income taxes), or

1.1'Yo, effective July 1, 1998. APS expects to file with the ACC

for another retail price decrease ot approximately $ 10.8 million

annually ($ 6.5 million after income taxes) to become effective

July 1, 1999. The amount and timing of the price decrease are

subject to ACC approval. This will be the last price decrease

under the 1996 regulatory agreement.
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4. INCOME TAXES

Investment Tax Credit

Because of a 1994 rate settlement agreement, we are amortiz-

ing almost all of our investment tax credits (ITCs) over 5 years

(1995-1999).

Income Taxes

Certain assets and liabilities are reported differently for

income tax purposes than they are for financial statements.

The tax effect of these differences is recorded as deferred

taxes. We calculate deferred taxes using the current income

tax rates.

APS has recorded a regulatory asset on its Balance Sheet in

accordance with SFAS No. 71. This regulatory asset is for cer-

tain temporary differences, primarily AFUDC equity. APS amor-

tizes this amount as the differences reverse. APS has been able

to accelerate its amortization of the regulatory asset for income

taxes to an eight-year period that will end June 30, 2004. This

is a result of a 1996 regulatory agreement with the ACC. We

are including this accelerated amortization in depreciation and

amortization expense on the Statements of Income.

The components of income tax expense are:

1'o EddDc 1

(DovkooCk ofDollorc) 1998 1997 1996

Current

Federal

State

S 105,922

40.621

$ 105,818

43.172

S 105,312

35,052

Total current

Deferred

Change in valuation allowance

ITC amortization

146,543

41,566

23,516

148,990

28,729

(3,920)

23,518

140,364

23,752

(12,142)

23.518

Total expense S 164.593 S 150.281 S 128.456

Multiplying income before Income taxes by the statutory

federal income tax rate does not equal the amount recorded as

income tax expense because of the following:

rcor Eodcd Dcccrobcr Sk,
rrrcovkoodk of Dollork) 1996 1997 1996

Federal income tax expense at 35% statutory rate

Increases (reductions) in tax expense resulting from:

Tax under book depreciation

Preferred stock dividends of APS

ITC amortization

State Income tax net of federal income tax benefit

Change in valuation allowance

Other

Income tax expense

S 142,620

17,848

3,396

(23,516)

22,764

1,481

$ 164,593

14,694

4,481

(23,518)

24,497

(3,400)

(1,621)

19,229

5,982

(23,518)

19,565

(10,525)

(1,107

$ 150.281 S 128,456

S 135,148 S 118,830
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The components of the net deferred income tax liabilitywere

as follows:

Denasbrr st,
Olovuah af Donors)

Deferred tax assets

Alternative minimum tax

Deferred gain on Palo Verde Unit 2 sale/leaseback

Other

Total deferred tax assets

1998

$

31,285

86,795

118,080

1997

$ 53,601

33,257

91,701

178,559

Deferred tax liabilities
Plant-related

Regulatory asset for income taxes

Rate synchronization deferrals

Other

Total deferred tax liabilities

Accumulated deferred income taxes —net

1,112,897

161,836

122,130

60,754

1,457,617

$ 1,339,537

1,096,222

185,084

144,908

57,919

1,484 ~ 133

$ 1,305,574

5. LINES OF CREDIT

APS had committed lines of credit with various banks of $ 400

million at December 31, 1998 and 1997, which were available

either to support the issuance of commercial paper or to be

used for bank borrowings. The commitment fees at December

31, 1998 and 1997 for these lines of credit ranged from.07%

to .15% per annum. APS had long-term bank borrowings of

$ 125 million outstanding at December 31, 1998, and $ 150

million outstanding at December 31. 1997.

APS had commercial paper borrowings outstanding of

$178.8 million at December 31, 1998, and $ 130.8 million at

December 31, 1997. The weighted average interest rate on

commercial paper borrowlngs was 6.21% on December 31,

1998, and 6.27% on December 31, 1997. By Arizona statute,

APS'hort-term borrowings cannot exceed 7% of Its total

capitalization unless approved by the ACC.

Pinnacle West had a revolving line of credit of $ 250 million at

December 31 ~ 1998 and 1997. The commitment fees were

0.10% in 1998 and ranged from 0.10% to 0.125% In 1997.

Outstanding amounts at December 31, 1998 were $ 42 million

and at December 31, 1997 were $155 milli'on.

SunCor had revolving lines of credit totalling $ 55 million

at December 31, 1998 and 1997. The commitment fees were

0.1 25% in 1998 and 1997. SunCor had $38.1 million outstand-

ing at December 31, 1998, and $40.6 million outstanding at

December 31 ~ 1997.
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT

Borrowlngs under the APS mortgage bond Indenture are

secured by substantially all utility plant; SunCor's debt ls

collaterallzed by Interests ln certain real property; Pinnacle

West's debt ls unsecured. The following table presents the

components of consolidated long-term debt:

ohhhmrrhr sh,
(yrhoohooCh ofDotforh)

APS

First mortgage bonds

Unamortized discount and premium

Pollution control bonds

Collaterallzed loan

Unsecured note

Senior notes (c)

Senior notes (c)

Debentures

Bank loans

Ca Itallzed lease obli ation

SunCor

Revolving credit

Bank loan

Notes a able

Pinnacle West

Revolving credit

Senior notes

Total long-term debt

Less current maturlties

Total ion -term debt less current rnaturltles

)rrhhvrin
Dohrh ro)

1998

1999

2000

2002

2004

2020

2021

2021

2023

2024

2025

2028

2028

2024-2033

1999-2000

2005

1999

2006

2025

2003

1998-2001

2001

2001

1998-2006

2001

2001-2003

Illhhrrhh

Rohrh

7.625Vo

7.625Vo

5.75Vo

8.125Vo

6.625Vo

10.25%

9.5Vo

9'Yo

7.25Vo

8.75Vo

8Vo

5.5%

5 875%

Adjustable rate(b)

5.375Vo 6.125Vo

6.25%

6.72%

6.75'Yo

10Vo

Adjustable rate(d)

7.48'Yo e

(I)

(9)

h

1998

100,000

100,000

125,000

85,000

100,550

45,140

72,370

91,900

121,668

88,300

25,000

154,000

(6,482)

456,860

20,000

100,000

50,000

100,000

75,000

125,000

11,612

2,040,918

38,139

42,061

3,888

84,088

42,000

50.000

92,000

2,217,006

168,045

S 2.048,961

1997

S 100,000

100,000

100,000

125,000

85,000

109,550

45,140

72,370

97,150

121,918

88,500

25,000

154,000

(7,033)

439,990

10,000

50,000

100,000

75,000

150,000

15,645

2.057,230

40,600

45,000

5,113

90,713

'55,000

50,000

205,000

2,352,943

108,695

S 2,244,248

(a) This schedule does not reflect the timing of redemptions that may occur

prior to maturity.

(b) The weighted. average rale for the year ended oecember 31, 1999 wss

3.39% snd for December 31 ~ 1997 was 3.62%. Changes in short. term

interest rates would affect the costs associated with this debt.

(c) APS has issued $ 150 million ol firsl mortgape bonds ('senior note mort-

gape bonds ) lo the senior note trustee as collateral lor the senior notes.

44

The senior note mortpage bonds have the same interest rate, interest

payment dates. maturity, and redemption provisions as the senior notes.

APS'ayments of principal. premium, and/or interest on the senior notes

satisfy its corresponding payment oblipations on the senior note mort-

gage bonds. As lonp as the senior note mortgage bonds secure the

senior notes, the senior notes willeffectively rank equally with the first

mortgage bonds. On the date that APS has repaid all of Its first mortgage



bonds, other than those that secure senior nates, the senior note mort-

gage bonds willno longer secure the senior notes and willcease te be „,

outstandlnp.

(d) The weighted average rate at December 31 ~ 1998 was 5.69% and at

December 31, 1997 was 6.25%. Changes In short-term Interest rates

would affect the costs associated with this debt.

(e) Represents the present value ot future lease payments (discounted at an

Interest rate ot 7.48%) on a combined cycle plant that was sold and

leased back (see Ifote 10).

(I) The weighted.average rate at December 31. 1998 was 8.21% and at

December 31 ~ 1997 was 8.60%. Interest for 1998 and 1997 was based

on t.lBOR pIus 2% or prime p!us 0.5%.

(g) The weighted.averape rate at December 31 ~ 1998 was 7.76% and at

December 31, 1997 was 8.44%. tnterest for 1998 and 1997 was based

on LIBOApius 2% or prime plus 0.5%.

(h) Multiple notes primarily with variable interest rates based mostly on the

tenders'rime.

(I) The weighted.averape rate at December 31, 1998 was 5.66% and at

'ecember 31 ~ 1997 was 6.25%. Interest for 1998 was based on UBOR

plus 0.33% and for 1997 was LIBOR plus 0.33% 0.4%.

6) Includes two series ol notes: $25 million at 6.62% due 2001, and $25

million at 6.87% due 2003.

The following is a list of principal payments due on total long-

term debt and sinking fund requirements through 2003:

~ $168.0 million in 1999

~ $140.4 million in 2000

~ $121.0 million in 2001

~ $ 1 25.1 million in 2002 and

~ $ 150.1 million in 2003.

First mortgage bondholders share a lien on substantially ail

utility plant assets (other than nuclear fuel, transportation

equipment, and the combined cycle plant). The mortgage

bond Indenture includes provisions that would restrict the

payment of common stock dividends under certain conditions.

These conditions did not exist at December 31, 1998.

7. PREFERRED STOCK OF APS

On March 1, 1999, APS redeemed all of its preferred stock.

Preferred stock balances of APS at December 31, 1998 end

1997 are shown below:

(Dollar< in Thon<oars.

Err<pc P<r Shan <I<novae) <tv<horn<4 1998 1997

No<<bar a/Sharc< Over<an/inc
Dc<<<nb<< Si,

Por Valve
P<r Sharr 1998 1997

Por Vora< Ovccconrins
D<c<nb<r Sc, Coll

Prior Prr
Sharc (o)

Non-Redeemable:

$ 1.10 preferred

$2.50 preferred

$2.36 preferred

$4.35 preferred

Serial preferred:

$2.40 Series A

$ 2.625 Series C

$2.275 Series D

$ 3.25 Series E

Serial preferred:

Adjustable rate

Series Q

Serial preferred:

$1.8125 Series W

Total

Redeemable:

Serial preferred:

$10.00 Series U

160,000

105,000

120,000

150,000

1,000,000

4,000,000(b)

10,000,000

139,030

86,440

32,520

62,986

145,559

97,252

38,506

68,386

S 25.00

50.00

50.00

100.00

200,587

214,895

90,691

304,475

234,839

231,572

164,101

312,991

50.00

50.00

50.00

50.00

1 693.016

1,427,475 3,339,073

25.00

94,011 291,098 $ 100.00

295,851 352,851 100.00

S 3,476

4,322

1,626

6,299

10,029

10,745

4,534

15,224

29,585

$ 85,840

$ 9,401

$ 3,639

4,863

1,925

6,839

11,742

11,579

8,205

15,649

35,285

42,325

S 142,051

$ 29,110

S 27.50

51.00

51.00

102.00

50.50

51.00

50.50

51.00

(c)

(a) The actual call price per share Is the Indicated amount plus any accrued

dividends.

(b) This authorization covers all outstanding redeemable preferred stock.

(c) Dividend rate adjusted quarterly lo 2% below that of certain united states

Treasury securities, but In no event less than 6% or greater than 12% per

annum. Redeemable at par.
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APS cannot pay common stock dividends or acquire shares of

common stock if preferred stock dividends or sinking fund

requirements are In arrears.

Redeemable preferred stock transactions of APS during each

of the three years In the period ended December 31, 1998

are as follows:

(Dollorr io Thovrovh)
Hvrohrr of

Sh«rr
Por Volvo

Alllovor

Balance, December 31 ~ 1995

Retirements

$10.00 Series U

$7.875 Series V

(90,000)

130,000)

(9,000)

13.000)

750,000 $ 75,000

Balance, December 31, 1996

Retirements

$10.00 Series U

$7.875 Series V

530,000

(118,902)

(120,000)

53,000

(1 1,890)

(12,000)

Balance, December 31, 1997

Retirements

$10.00 Series U

291,098 29,110

197,087 19,709)

Balance, December 31, 1998 94,011 $ 9,401

8. COMMON STOCK

Our common stock issued during each of the three years In the

period ended December 31, 1998 Is as follows:

(Dolrorr io rrrovrovCk)

Hvrvhrr of
Shorrr Avlovor (o)

Balance, December 31, 1995

Common stock issued

87,515,847 S 1,638,684

2.330

Balance, December 31, 1996

Common stock issued

Common stock retired

Balance, December 31, 1997

Common stock issued

87,515,847

2,690,900

84,824,947

1,636,354

(2,586)

79,997

1,553,771

3,128

Balance, December 31, 1998 84.824.947 $ 1.550.643

lal Includinp premiums and expenses of preierred stock Issues el APS.



9. RETIREMENT PLANS AND OTHER BENEFITS

Voluntary Severance Plan

APS sponsored a voluntary severance plan In 1996. There was

a pretax charge of $31.7 million in,1996 recorded mostly as

operations and maintenance expense. This pretax charge

included additional pension and postretirement benefit expense.

Employees who participated in the plan were credited with an

additional year of age and service when their pension and

postretirement benefits were calculated. The additional expenses

recorded In 1996 for this plan were $2.3 million for pension and

$ 5.4 million for postretirement benefits.

Pension Plans

Pinnacle West and its subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pen-

sion plans for their employees. A defined benefit plan specifies

the amount of benefits a plan participant Is to receive using

information about the participant. The plan covers nearly all of

our employees. Our employees do not contribute to this plan.

Generally, we calculate the benefits under these plans based

on age, years of service, and pay. We fund the plan by con-

tributing at least the minimum amount required under Internal

Revenue Service regulations but no more than the maximum

tax-deductible amount. The assets In the plan at December 31,

1998 were mostly domestic and international common stocks

and bonds and real estate. Pension expense, including adminis-

trative and severance costs, was:

~ $ 10.5 million in 1998

~ $9.3 million in 1997 and

~ $ 15.5 million in1996.

The following table shows the components of net pension cost

before consideration of amounts capitalized or billed to others

and excluding severance costs of $ 2.9 million in 1996:

rAowoodo ofDollop) 1998 1997 1996

Service cost- benefits earned during the period

Interest cost on proJected benefit obligation

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of:

Transition asset

Prior service cost

Net actuarial losses

S 24,817,

51,524

(54,513)

(3,226)

2,078

$ 20,435

48,402

(47,959)

(3,226)

2,078

$ 23,397

45,124

(42,404)

(3,226)

1,735

728

Net periodic pension cost S 20,680 S 19,730 S 25,354

The following table shows a reconciliation of the funded status

of the plans to the amounts recognized In the balance sheets:

rzloosoodo o Douooo)

1

Funded status - pension plan assets less than projected benefit obligation

Unrecognized net transition asset

Unrecognized prior service cost

Unreco nized net actuarial losses/ alns

1998

S (41,034)

(23,235)

22,715

38.668

1997

$ (88,732)

(26,462)

24,792

16,943

Net pension amount recognized In the balance sheets S (80.222) $ (73,459)
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The following table sets forth the defined benefit pension
plans'hange

In projected benefit obligation for the plan years 1998

and 1997:

(r)kovkooCh ofDouokk) 1998 1997

Projected pension benefit obligation at beglnnlng of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Benefit payments

Plan amendments

Actuarial losses/ ains

Projected pension benefit obligation at end of year

o

$ 708,144

24,817

51,524

(29,636)

23,544

$ 731,305

$ 608,675

20,435

48,402

(29,965)

5,537

55.060

$ 708,144

The following table sets forth the defined benefit pension

plans'hange In the fair value of plan assets for the plan years

1998 and 1997:

(Aovkookrk of rkouokk) 1998 1997

Fair value of pension plan assets at beginning of year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefit pa ments

$ 619,412

86,527

13,968

29.636

$ 539,179

88,620

21,578

29.965

Fair value of pension plan assets at end of year $ 690,271 $ 619.412

We made the assumptions below to calculate the pension liability:

1998 1997

Discount rate

Rate of Increase In compensation levels

Expected long-term rate of return on assets

7.00%

3.50%

10.00%

7.25%

4 50

9.00%

Employee Savings Plan Benefits

We also sponsor a defined contribution savings plan that Is

offered to nearly all employees. In a defined contribution plan,

the benefits a participant is to receive result from regular con-

tributions to a participant account. Under this plan, we make

matching contributions to participant accounts. We recorded

expenses for this plan of:

~ $4.1 million In 1998

~ $ 3.9 million in 1997 and

~ $ 3.6 million In 1996.

Postretirement Plans

We provide medical and life insurance benefits to retired

employees. Employees must retire to become eligible for these

retirement benefits, which are based on years of service and

age. For the medical insurance plans, retlrees make contributions
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to cover a portion of the plan costs. For the life insurance plan,

retirees do not make contributions,to cover a portion of the

plan costs. We retain the right to change or eliminate

these benefits.

Funding Is based upon actuarially determined contributions

that take tax consequences into account. Plan assets consist

primarily of domestic stocks and bonds. The postretlrement

benefit expense was:

~ $9.1 million for 1998

~ $9.8 million for 1997 and

~ $ 1 6.2 million for 1996.

The following table shows the components of net periodic

postretirement benefit costs before consideration of amounts

capitalized or billed to others and excluding severance costs of

$9.6 million in 1996:



rrxovsonh af Donoss) 1998 1997 1996

Service cost- benefits earned during the period

Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of:

Transition obligation

Net actuarial ains

$ 7,890

15,763

(12,001)
P

7,698

2,952

$ 7,046

14,441

(8,706)

$ 8,168

13,525

(6,696)

7,698 8,269

2.685 1.345

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 16,398 S 17,794 S 21,921

The following table shows a reconciliation of the funded status

of the plan to the amounts recognized in the balance sheets:

r71ovsanh af Dollars)

Funded status - postretirement plan assets less than projected benefit obligation

Unrecognized net obligation at transition

Unreco nlzed net actuarial sins

1998

S (24,269)

107,842

86,692

1997

$ (48,202)

115,541

79,013

Net postretirement amount reco nized in the balance sheets S (3.119) S 11.674)

The following table sets forth the postretirement benefit
plans'hange

in accumulated benefit obligation for the plan years

1998 and 1997:

rr1ovsanh 0 Dollass) 1998 1997

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Benefit payments

Actuarial losses

Accumulated postretirement benefit obli ation at end of ear

S 199,348

7,890',

15,763

(1 0,378)

25,056

S 237,679

$ 181,405

7,046

14,441

(6,745)

3,201

S 199,348

The following table sets forth the postretirement benefit
plans'hange

in the fair value of plan assets for the plan years 1998

and 1997:

rr1ovsanh of Dollass) 1998 1997

Fair value of postretirement plan assets at beginning of year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefit pa ments

Fair value of postretirement plan assets at the end of year

$ 151,146

47,284

~ 25,327

10,347

$ '213,410

S 109,763

30,846

17,269

6,732
' 151,146

h
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We made the assumptions below to calculate the postretire-

ment liability:

1998 1997

Discount rate

Expected long-term rate of return on assets —after tax

Initial health care cost trend rate —under age 65

Initial health care cost trend rate - age 65 and over

Ultimate health care cost trend rate (reached in the year 2002)

7.00%

8.73%

7.50'Yo

6.50'Yo

5.00%

7.25%

7.75%

8.00'Yo

7.00%

5.00%

Assuming a 1% increase in the health care cost trend rate, the

1998 cost ot postretirement benefits other than pensions would

increase by approximately $4.6 million and the accumulated

benefit obligation as of December 31, 1998 would increase by

approximately $ 37.8 million.

Assuming a 1% decrease in the health care cost trend rate, the

1998 cost ot postretirement benefits other than pensions

would decrease by approximately $3.8 million and the accumu-

lated benefit obligation as of December 31 ~ 1998 would

decrease by approximately $ 31.9 million.

10. LEASES

In 1986, APS sold about 42% of its share of Palo Verde Unit 2

and certain common facilities in three separate sale leaseback

transactions. APS accounts for these leases as operating leases.

The gain of approximately $ 140.2 million was deferred and Is

being amortized to operations expense over 29.5 years, the

original term of the leases. There are options to renew the

leases for two additional years and to purchase the property

for fair market value at the end of the lease terms. Consistent

with the ratemaking treatment, an amount equal to the annual

lease payments Is included in rent expense. A regulatory asset

is recognized for the difference between lease payments and

rent expense calculated on a straight-line basis.

The average amounts to be paid for the Palo Verde Unit 2 leases

are as follows:

'(rll IIIluiOIII)

APS has a capital lease on a combined cycle plant, which it sold

and leased back. The lease requires semiannual payments of

$ 2.6 million through June 2001, and includes renewal and pur-

chase options based on fair market value. The plant is included

in plant In service at its original cost of $54.4 million; accumu-

lated amortization at December 31, 1998 was $48.6 million.

In addition, we lease certain land, buildings, equipment, and

miscellaneous other items through operating rental agreements

with varying terms, provisions, and expiration dates.

Approximate miscellaneous lease expense was:

~ $13.1 million in 1998

~ $11.2 million in 1997 and

~ $12.8 million in 1996.

Estimated future minimum lease commitments, excluding the

Palo Verde and combined cycle leases, are as tollows:

1999

2000

2001-2015

S 40.1

46.3

49.0

In accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note

3), the ACC accelerated APS'mortization of the regulatory

asset for leases to an eight-year period that will end June 30,

2004. The accelerated amortization is included in depreciation

and amortization expense on the Statements ot Income. The bal-

ance of this regulatory asset at December 31, 1998 was $ 48.5

million. Lease expense was approximately $42 million in each

of the years 1996 through 1998.

lier

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Thereafter

Total future commitments

(III IIIIulrrlr)

S 164

16.4

18.3

19.3

18.2

151.2

S 239.8
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11 ~ JOINTLY-OWNED FACILITIES

APS shares ownership of some of its generation and transmis-

sion facilities with other companies. The following table shows

APS'nterest in those jointly-owned facilities at December 31,

1998. APS'hare of operating and maintaining the facilities is

Included In the Income Statement In utilityoperations and

maintenance expense.

fDolrork ia TkovkoaCk)

Pcrccal
Ovackr kg

AyS

Proat

la
S<rorcc

Accvravrotr4
DkPrrciatioo

Coaktrvctioa
Work ra
ftosrckk

Generating Facilities

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station Units 1 and 3

palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station Unit 2 (see Note 10)

Four Corners Steam Generating Station Units 4 and 5

Navajo Steam, Generating Station Units 1, 2, and 3

Cholla Steam Generating Station Common Facilities (b)

29.1%" S 1,821,620 S

17 0% 568 184

'15.0% 150,165

14.0% 203 356

62.8%(c), 67,513

670,403

224,502

69,764

90,237

37,096

S 20,152

9,839

312

25,560(a)

267

~ Transmission Facilities

ANPP 500 KV System

Navajo Southern System

Palo Verde —Yuma 500 KV System

Four Corners Switchyards

Phoenix —Mead System

35.8%(c)

31.4%(c)

23.9%(c)

27.5%(c)

17.1%(c)

66,547

26,918

11,376

3,071

36,324

20,282

17,285

4,215

1,780

536

1,384

21

143

ia) The construction costs at Navajo are primarily related to the

Installation of scrubbers required by environmental legislation.

(b) Pacificorp owns choua unit 4 and APS operates the unit for them. The

common faculties at the Choua Plant are Iointly.owned.

(c) Weighted average of Interests.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

We are party to various claims, legal actions, and complaints

arising in the ordinary course of business. In our opinion, the

ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material

adverse effect on our financial statements.

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act, the Department of Energy

(DOE) was to develop the facilities necessary for. the storage

and disposal of spent fuel and to have the first such facility In

operation by 1998. That facilitywas to be a permanent repository,

but DOE has announced that such a repository now cannot be

completed before 2010. In response to lawsuits filed over

DOE's obligation to accept used nuclear fuel, the United States

Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit has ruled that DOE had an

obligation to begin accepting used nuclear fuel In 1998. How-

ever, the Court refused to issue an order compelling DOE to

begin moving used fuel. Instead, the Court ruled that any dam-

ages to utilities should be sought under the standard contract

signed between DOE and utilities, including APS. The United

States Supreme Court has refused to grant review of the D.C.

Circuit's decision. In July 1998, APS filed a Petition for Review

regarding DOE's obligation to begin accepting spent nuclear fuel.
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APS has capacity In existing fuel storage pools at Palo Verde

which, with certain modifications, could accommodate all fuel

expected to be discharged from normal operation of Palo Verde

through 2002, and believes it could augment that wet storage

with new facilities for on-site dry storage of spent fuel for an

indeterminate period of operation beyond 2002, subject to

obtaining any required governmental approvals. APS currently

estimates that it will incur $ 113 million (in 1998 dollars) over

the life of Palo Verde for its share of the costs related to the

on-site interim storage of spent nuclear fuel. Beginning in

1999, APS willaccrue these costs as a component of fuel

expense, meaning the charges will be accrued as the fuel is

burned. During 1998, APS recorded a liabilityand a regulatory

asset of $ 35 million for on-site interim nuclear fuel storage

costs related to nuclear fuel burned prior to 1999.APS currently

believes that spent fuel storage or disposal methods will be

available for use by Palo Verde to allow its continued operation

beyond 2002.

The Palo Verde participants have insurance for public liability

resulting from nuclear energy hazards to the full limitof liability

under federal law. This potential liability is covered by primary



liability Insurance provided by commercial Insurance

carriers in the amount of $200 million and the balance by an

industry-wide retrospective assessment program. If losses at

any nuclear power plant covered by the programs exceed the

accumulated funds, APS could be assessed retrospective pre-

mium adjustments. The maximum assessment per reactor

under the program for each nuclear incident Is approximately

$88 million, subject to an annual limitof $ 10 million per Inci-

dent. Based upon APS'9.1/o Interest In the three Palo Verde

units, APS'aximum potential assessment per incident for all

three units is approximately $77 million, with an annual pay-

ment limitation of approximately $9 million.

The Palo Verde participants maintain all risk (including

nuclear hazards) Insurance for property damage to, and decon-

tamination of, property at Palo Verde in the aggregate amount

of $2.75 billion, a substantial portion of which must first be

applied to stabilization and decontamination. APS has also

secured Insurance against portions of any Increased cost of gen-

eration or purchased power and business Interruption resulting

from a sudden and unforeseen outage of any of the three units.

The insurance coverage discussed in this and the previous para-

graph Is subject to certain policy conditions and exclusions.

Fuel and Purchased Power Commitments

APS Is a party to various fuel and purchased power contracts

with terms expiring from 1999 through 2020 that include

required purchase provisions. APS estimates its 1999 contract

requirements to be about $ 132 million. However, this amount

may vary significantly pursuant to certain provisions in such

contracts that permit APS to decrease its required purchases

under certain circumstances.

APS must reimburse certain coal providers for amounts

incurred for coal mine reclamation. APS estimates its share of

the total obligation to be about $ 103 million. The portion of the

coal mine reclamation obligation related to coal already burned

is about $ 62 million at December 31, 1998 and is included in

Deferred Credits-Other in the Balance Sheet. A'regulatory

asset has been established for amounts not yet recovered from

ratepayers. In accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement

(see Note 3),'the ACC began accelerated amortization of
APS'egulatory

asset for coal mine reclamation costs over an eight-

year period that will end June 30, 2004. Amortization is includ-

ed in depreciation and amortization expense on the Statements

of Income. The balance of the regulatory asset at December

31, 1998 was about $ 51 million.

Construction Program

Consolidated capital expenditures In 1999 are estimated at

$ 386 million.

13. NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING COSTS

APS recorded $11.4 million for decommissioning expense in

each of the years 1998, 1997, and 1996. APS estimates it will

cost about $ 1.8 billion ($452 million In 1998 dollars) to

decommission its 29.1% share of the three Palo Verde units.

The decommissioning costs are expected to be incurred over a

14-year period beginning fn 2024. APS charges decomissioning

costs to expense over each unit's operating license term and

includes them In the accumulated depreciation balance until

each unit is retired. Nuclear decommissioning costs are

recovered In rates.

APS'urrent estimates are based on a 1998 site-specific study

for Palo Verde that assumes the prompt removal/dismantle-

ment method of decommissioning. An Independent consultant

prepared this study. APS is required to update the study every

three years.

accordance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)

regulations. The trust accounts are reported in Investments

and Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their

market value of $ 145.6 million at December 31, 1998 and

$124.6 million at December 31, 1997. APS invests the trust

funds primarily in fixed income securities and domestic stock

and classifies them as available for sale. Realized and unreal-

ized gains and losses are reflected in accumulated depreciation.

In February 1996, the FASB issued an exposure draft,

"Accounting for Certain Liabilities Related to Closure or

Removal of Long-Lived Assets. This proposed standard would

require the estimated present value of the cost of decommis-

sioning and certain other removal costs to be recorded as a

liability, along with an offsetting plant asset when a decommis-

sioning or other removal obligation is incurred. The FASB has

indicated that a revised exposure draft will be issued In 1999.

To fund the costs APS expects to incur to decommission the

plant, APS established external decommissioning trusts in
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14. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIALDATA (UNAUDITED)

Consolidated quarterly financial information for 1998 and 1997

Is as follows:

(Doiiorc is ybovtoerrr. frcrpt pci Sborc Aerovetc) 1998

Quarter Ended Moira St Jvec So Srptcrebri 3o Dcccrsbcr St

Operating revenues

Electric

Real estate

Operating income (a)

Net income

$ 380,423 S 441,715 S 740,734 S 443,526

34,161 28,916 18,276 42,835

S 90,837 S 122,605 S 251,838 S 101,848

S 31,086 S 48,997 S 127,281 S 35,528

Earnings per average common share outstanding

Net income —basic

Net Income —diluted

Dividends declared per share (b)

$ 0.37 $ 0.58 $ 1.50 $ 0.42

S 0.36 S '.57 S 1.49 S 0.42

$ 0.30 $ 0.60 $ — S "0.325

(Dolls«rs ylovroeclr, fccrpt pci Slorr Aerovetc) 1997

Quarter Ended

Operating revenues

Electric

Real estate

Operating income (a)

Net Income

Morta 3t Jeer 30 Srptcrebcr So Dr«rebri St

S 379,021 $ 458,751 S, 632,821 S 407,960

19,543 30,166 30,929 35,835

S 82,471 S 150,024 S 243,454 S 81,557

S 25,382 S 67,182 S 124,340 S 18,952

Earnings per average common share outstanding

Net Income - basic

Net Income —diluted

Dividends declared per share (b)

S 0.29 S 0.79 S

$ 0.29 $ 0.78 S

$ 0.275 $ 0.55 S

1.47

1.46

h

S 0.21

S 021

S 030

ia) APS'tilitybusiness ls seasonal In nature, with the peak sales periods

generally occurring during the summer months. Comparisons among quar-

ters ol a year may not represent overall trends and changes in operations.

ib) Dividends for the quarters ending September 30, 1999 and

September 30, 1997 were dedated In June,

15. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS

We believe that the carrying amounts of our cash equivalents

and commercial paper are reasonable estimates of their

fair values at December 31, 1998 and 1997 due to their

short maturitles.

We hold Investments in debt and equity securities for purposes

other than trading. The December 31, 1998 and 1997 fair

values of such investments, whIch we determine by using

quoted market values or by discounting cash flows at rates

equal to our cost of capital, approximate their carrying amount.

The carrying value of our long-term debt (excluding a capital-

ized lease obligation) was $ 2.21 billion on December 31. 1998.

with an estimated fair value of $2.28 billion. On December 31,

1997, the carrying value of our long-term debt (excluding a

capitalized lease obligation) was $2.34 billion, with an estimated

fair value of $2.38 billion.The fair value estimates are based

on quoted market prices of the s'arne or'similar issues.

53



16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

In 1997 we adopted SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share. This

statement requires the presentation of both basic and diluted

earnings per share on the financial statements. The following table

presents earnings per average common share outstanding (EPS):

1998 1997 1996

Basic EPS:

Continuing operations

Olscontlnued operations

Extraordinar char e

S 2.87 $ 2.76 S 2.41

(0.11)

0.23

Net income S 2.87 $ 2.76 S 2.07

Oiluted EPS:

Continuing operations

Olscontinued operations

Extraordinar char e

S 285 $ 2.74 $ 2.40

(0.1 1)

0.23

Net income S 285 S 274 S 206

Oilutive stock options increased average common shares out-

standing by 571,728 shares In 1998, 519,800 shares in 1997,

and 580,405 shares in 1996. Total average common shares

outstanding for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings

per share were 85,345,946 shares in 1998, 86,022,709 shares

In 1997, and 88,021,920 shares in 1996.

Options to purchase 244,200 shares of common stock at

$ 46.78 per share were outstanding during the last quarter of

1998 but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS

because the options'xercise price was greater than the

average market price of the common shares.

17. STOCK OPTIONS

We offer several stock Incentive plans for our officers, APS

officers, and key employees.

The plans provide for the granting of new options or awards of

up to 3.5 million shares at a price per option not less than fair

market value on the date the option is granted. The plans also

provide for the granting of any combination of stock apprecia-

tion rights or dividend equivalents. The awards outstanding

under the various Incentive plans at Oecember 31, 1998 approxi-

mate 1,497,012 non-qualified stock options,158,121 restricted

shares, and no dividend equivalent shares, incentive stock

options, or stock appreciation rights.

The FASB issued SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation which was effective for 1996. The statement

encourages, but does not require, that a company record com-

pensation expense based on the fair value method. We continue

to recognize expense based on Accounting Principles Board

Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.

If we had recorded compensation expense based on the fair

value method, our net Income would have been reduced to the

following pro forma amounts:

rDoeorr ro 7Xovrooh, „,

Zrrrpt prr Sloro Arrovotr)'998 1997 1996

Net income

As reported

Pro forma (fair value method)

Net income per share - basic

As reported

Pro forma (fair value method)

S 242,892

S 242,177

S 2.87

S 2.86

S 235,856

S 235,446

$ 181,180

S 180,969

S 276 S 207

S 2.75 S 2.07
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We did not consider compensation costs for stock options grant-

ed before January 1 ~ 1995. Therefore, future reported net Income

may not be representative of this compensation cost calculation.

In order to present the pro forma information above, we calculated

the fair value of each fixed stock option in the incentive plans

using the Slack-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value

was calculated based on the date the option was granted. The

following weighted-average assumptions were also used in

order to calculate the fair value of the stock options:

1998 1997 1996

Risk-free interest rate

Dividend yield

Volatility

Expected life (months)

4.54'Yo

3.03'Yo

18.80'Yo

60

5.66'/o

4.50'Yo

15.63'/o

60

5.779o

4.50'Yo

17.10Vo
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The following table is a summary of the status of our stock

option plans as of December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 and

changes during the years ending on those dates:

t998 Weighted t997 Wcightcd l996 Weighted

t998 Aoerogc t997 Aocrogc t996 Aoeragc
Shorn Escrcise Price Shorn Escrcisc Price Shorn Ercrcisc Price

Outstanding at beginning of year

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Outstanding at end of year

1,488,131

244,200

(217,317)

(18,002)

1,497,012

S 24.60 1,673,076

46.78 260,450

23.09 (409,975)

33.42 ~35.420)
28.34 1,488,131

S 21.59

39.56

21.60

27.10

24.60

1,807,900

260,500

(363,400)

(31,924)

1,673,076

S 19.78

31.44

19.41

24.35

21.59

Options exercisable at year-end 1,039,664 22.21 1,008,514 19.53 1,135,032 18.60

Weighted average fair value of

options granted during the year 8.1 5 5.83 4.24

The fo!lowing table summarizes information about our stock

option plans at December 31, 1998:

Rance o cscrcise riccs cr share

Wesghtcd Aoerogc
Rcsnaining Options

Outstandin Contract Li c "Esercisablc

$11.25

11.50

15.75

17.68

19.00

19.56

22.13

27.44

31.44

39.75

46.78

16,500

270,000

42,500

13,275

116,537

58,500

109,584

175,090

205,292

245,534

244,200

1.90 16,500

1.10 270,000

2.90 42,500

3.10 13,275

5.90 '16,537
3.90 . 58,500

5.00 109,584

6.90 175,'090

8.00 142,230

9.00 88,665

9.90 6,783

$11.25 - $46.78 1,497,012 6.29 1,039,664
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PINNACLEWEST CAPITALCORPORATION
SCHEDULE II—VALUATIONAND QUALIYINGACCOUNTS

Column A

~Desert tion

Column B

Balance at
beginning
o~feriod

Column DColumn C
Additions

Charged to Charged
cost and to other
~cx enses accounts Deductions (a)

(Thousands ofDollars)

Column E

Balance
at end of
Period

Real Estate Valuation Reserves $ 23,000 $

YEARENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998

$ -- $ 8,000

YEARENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997

$ 15,000

Real Estate Valuation Reserves $ 41,000 $ -- $ — $ 18,000

YEARENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996

$ 23,000

Real Estate Valuation Reserves $ 47,000 $

(a) Rcprcscnts pro-rata allocations for sale of land.

$ -- $ 6,000 $ 41,000
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITHACCOUNTANTS
ON ACCOUNTINGAND FINANCIALDISCLOSURE

None.

PART III

ITEM10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Reference is hereby made to "Election of Directors" in the Company's Proxy Statcmcnt relating to thc
Annual Meeting of Sliareholders to be held on May 19, 1999 (the "1999 Proxy Statement" ) and to the
Supplcmcntal Itcin -- "Executive Officers of the Registrant" in Part I of this report.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Reference is hereby made to the fourth and fifth paragraphs under the heading "The Board and its
Committccs," to "Executive Cornpcnsation," to "Human Resources Committee Rcport," to "Stock Perforinancc
Comparisons" and to "Executive Benefit Plans" in the 1999 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF
CERTAIN BENEFICIALOWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Reference is hereby made to "Certain Securities Ownership" in the 1999 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Rcferencc is hereby made to "Exccutivc Benefit Plans -- Employmcnt and Sevcrancc Agreements" and
"General-Business Relationships" in thc 1999 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS,FINANCIALSTATEMENTS, FINANCIALSTATEMENT
SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

Financial Statentents

See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule in Part II, Item 8.

Exhibits Filed

Exhihit No. D~evcri lion

10.1'0.2'ummary of the Pinnacle West Capital Corporation 1999 Bonus Plan

Letter Agrccment between the Company and George A. Schreiber, Jr.

21 — Subsidiaries of thc Company

23.1 — Consent of Deloitte &Touche LLP

27.1 Financial Data Schedule

In addition to those Exhibits shown above, thc Company hereby incorporates the following Exhibits
pursuant to Exchange Aet Rule 12b-32 and Regulation $229.10(d) by reference to the filings set forth below:

3.2 Articles of Incorporation,
restated as ofJuly 29, 1988

Evtnbit tto. D~eccri rlion Ori inall Filed as Zrltibir:

19.1 to thc Company's
Septeinber 1988 Form 10-Q
Report

File No.b

1-8962

Dante E ective

11-14-88
b,

4.1

4.2

43

4,4

Bylaws, amended as of
February 21, 1996

Mortgage and Deed ofTrust
Relating to APS'irst
Mortgage Bonds, togcthcr
with forty-eight indentures
supplemental thereto

Forty-ninth Supplemental
Indenture

Fiftieth Supplemental
Indcnturc

Fifly-firstSupplemental
Indenture

3.1 to the Company's 1995
Form 10-K Report

4.1 to APS'eptember 1992
Form 10-Q Rcport

4.1 to APS'992 Form 10-K
Report

4.2 to APS'993 Form 10-K
Report

4.1 to APS'ugust 1, 1993
Form 8-K Report

1-8962 4-1-96

14473 11-9-92

14473 3-30-93

14473 3-30-94

14473 9-27-93

4.5 Fitly-second Supplemental
Indenture

4.1 to APS'eptember 30, 1993 14473
Form 10-Q Rcport

11-15-93

4.6 Fifly-thirdSupplemental
Indenture

4.5 to APS'egistration
Statement No. 3341228 by
means ofFebruary 23, 1994
Form 8-K Report

14473 3-1-94
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Erhihit Nc . ~Descri tievi Ori inall Filed ns Eviribir: File Ne . D~eteE ectiveb

4.7 Fitly-fourth Supplemental
Indenture

4.1 to APS'egistration
Statements Nos. 3341228,
33-55473, 33-64455 and
333-1 5379 by means of
November 19, 1996 Form 8-K
Rcport

IP473 11-22-96

4.8

4.9

Fifty-fifthSupplemental
Indenture

Agreement, dated March 21,
1994, relating to the filingof
instruincnts defining thc
rights ofholders ofAPS
long-tenn debt not in excess
of 10% ofAPS'otal assets

4.8 to APS'egistration
Statement Nos, 33-55473, 33-
64455 and 333-15379 by means
ofApril7, 1997 Form 8-K
Report

4.1 to APS'993 Form 10-K
Report

14473

14473

4-9-97

3-30-94

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

Indenture dated as ofJanuary
1, 1995 iunong APS and The
Bank ofNew York, as
Trustee

First Supplemental Indenture
dated as ofJanuary 1, 1995

Indcnturc dated as of
November 15, 1996 among
APS and The Barrk ofNew
York, as Trustee

First Supplemental Indenture

Second Supplemental
Indenture

4.6 to APS'egistration
Statement Nos. 3341228 and
33-55473 by means ofJanuary
1, 1995 Form 8-K Report

4.4 to APS'egistration
Statement Nos. 3341228 and
33-55473 by means ofJanuary
1, 1995 Form 8-K Report

4.5 to APS'egistration
Statements Nos. 3341228,
33-55473, 3344455 aild 333-
15379 by means ofNovember
19, 1996 Form 8-K Report

4.6 to APS'egistration
Statements Nos. 3341228,
33-55473, 33M455 a!id 333-
15379 by means ofNovember
19, 1996 Form 8-K Report

4.10 to APS'egistration
Statement Nos. 33-55473, 33-
64455 and 333-15379 by means
ofApril7, 1997 Form 8-K
Report

1-4473

14473

14473

1-4473

1v4473

1-11-95

1-11-95

11-22-96

11-22-96

4-9-97

4.15 Agreemcnt ofResignation,
Appointmcnt, Acccptancc
and Assignment dated as of
August 18, 1995 by and
among APS, Bank of
America National Trust and
Savings Association and Thc
Bank ofNew York

4.1 to APS'eptember 25, 1995 14473
Form 8-K Report

10-24-95



EelribilNe . D~escri ties Ori irrell Filed asEsiribil: File Na D~aleE eelieeb

4.16 Rights Agreement, amended
as ofNovember 14, 1990,
between the Company and
The Valley National Bank of
Arizona, as Rights Agent,
which includes the Certificate
ofDesignation ofSeries A
Participating Preferred Stock
as Exhibit A, the form of
Rights Certificate as Exhibit

'

and thc Summary ofRights
as Exhibit

4.1 to the Company's 1990

Form 10-K Report
1-8962 3-28-91

4.17

4.18

S pecimen Certificate of
Pinnacle West Capital
Corporation Conunon Stock,
no par value

Agrecmcnt, dated March 29,
1988, relating to thc filingof
instruments defining the
rights ofholders of long-term
debt not in excess of 10% of
the Company's total assets

4.2 to the Company's 1988
Form 10-K Rcport

4.1 to the Company's 1987
Form 10-K Rcport

1-8962 3-31-89

1-8962 3-30-88

4.19

4.20

Indenture dated as ofJanuary
15, 1998 among APS and
and Chase Maiihattan Bank, as

Trustee

First Supplcmcntal Indenture
dated as ofJanuary 15, 1998

4.10 to APS'egistration
The Statement Nos. 333-15379
333-27551 by means ofJanuary
13, 1998 Form 8-K Report

4.3 to APS'egistration
Statcmcnt Nos. 333-15379 and
333-27551 by means ofJanuary
13, 1998 Form 8-K Report

14473

1<473

1-16-98

1-16-98

4.21 Second Supplemental
Indenture dated as of
February 15, 1999

4.3 to APS'egistration
Statement Nos. 333-27551
and 333-58445 by means of
February 18, 1999
Form 8-K Report

14473 2-22-99

10.3 Agreement, dated Dec'ember

6, 1989, between the
Company and the OAicc of
ThriftSupervision, United
States Dcpartinent of
Treasury, and related
documents

4.1 to the Company's December
6, 1989 Form 8-K Rcport

1-8962 12-7-89
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Exhibit No. D~eccri rliorr Ori ihall Fzled as Exhibit: FileFto . ~DnleE ectiveb

10.4 Release from the OAice of
ThriftSupervision, United
States Dcparnnent of the
Treasury, to thc
Company, dated March 22,
1990, releasing the Company
from its purported obligations
under thc Stipulation and
under any other source of
alleged obligation of the
Company to infuse equity
capital into McraBank

10.1 to the Company's 1989
Form 10-K Rcport

1-8962 3-31-89

10.5 Release from the Federal
Deposit h>surance
Corporation to the Company,
dated March 22, 1990,
releasing the Company from
its purported obligations
under thc Stipulation and
under any other source of
alleged obligation of thc
Company to infuse equity
capital into MeraBank

10.2 to the Company's 1989
Form 10-K Report

1-8962 3-31-89

10.6 Rclcase from thc Resolution
Trust Corporation (in its
corporate capacity) to thc
Company, dated March 21,
1990, rclcasing thc Company,
from its purported obligation
under thc Stipulation mul
under any other source of
alleged obligation of thc
Company to infuse equity
capital into McraBank

10.3 to the Company's 1989
Form 10-K Rcport

1-8962 3-31-89

10.7 Relcasc from the Resolution
Trust Corporation (in its
capacity as Reccivcr of
MeraBank) to thc Company,
dated March 21, 1990,
releasing thc Company from
its purported obligations
utulcr thc Stipulation and
under any other source of
alleged obligation to the
Company to infuse equity
capital into MeraBank

10.4 to the Company's 1989
Form 10-K Report

1-8962 3-31-89

10.8 Form ofKcy Executive
Employtncnt and Scverancc
Agrccment between thc
Company and each of its
executive oAicers

10.5 to the Company's 1989
Form 10-K Report

1-8962 3-31-89



EvbibilNe . D~escri tierb Ori inall Filed as Evbibil: Pile Ne . D~ete E ectiveb

10.9'mploylnent Agreclncnt,
effective as ofFebruary 5,
1990, between Richard Snell
and the Company

10.1 to the Company's 1990
Form 10-K Report

2-96386 3-28-91

10.10 Two separate
Decommissioning Trust
Agreements (relating to
PVNGS Units I and 3,
respectively), each dated July
I, 1991, between APS and
Mellon Bank, N.A., as

Dccolmnissioning Trustee

10.2 to APS'eptember 1991

Form I0+ Report
14473 11-14-91

10,11 Amendment No. I to

,
Decommissioning Trust
Agrccment (PVNGS Unit I},
dated as ofDcccmber I, 1994

10.1 to APS'1994 Form 10- K 14473
Report

3-30-95

10.12 Amendment No. I to
Decommissioning Trust
Agrcemcnt (PVNGS Unit 3),
dated as ofDccembcr I, 1994

10.2 to APS'994 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-95

10.13

10.14

Alnendmcnt No. 2 to APS
Decommissioning Trust
Agrcemcnt (PVNGS Unit I)
dated as ofJuly I, 1991

Alnendment No. 2 to APS
Decommissioning Trust
Agreemcnt (PVNGS Unit 3)
dated as ofJuly I, 1991

10.4 to APS'996 Forln 10-K
Rcport

10.6 to APS'996 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-28-97

14473 3-28-97

10.15 Amended and Restated
Dcconunlsslonlng Trllst
Agreemcnt (PVNGS Unit 2)
dated as ofJanuary 31, 1992,
among APS, Mellon Bank,
N.A., as Decommissioning
Trustee, and State Street Bank
and Trust Company, as

successor to Thc First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Owner Trustcc under two
separate Trust Agrccments,
each with a scparatc Equity
Participant, and as Lessor
ululer two separate Facility
Lcascs, each relating to an
undivided interest in PVNG'S
Unit 2

10.1 to the Company's 1991

Form 10-K Report
1-8962 3-26-92

10.16 First Anlcndnlcnt to
Amended alul Restated
Decommissioning Trust
Agrecmcnt (PVNGS Unit 2),
dated as ofNovelnber I, 1992

10.2 to APS'992 Form 10-K
Report

14473 '3-30-93
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Echihilile. D~escri lies Ori inall Filed as Exhibir: TileNe . D~ele E ecliveb

10.17

10.18

Amcndmcuit No. 2 to
Ainended and Restated
Decoimnissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 2),
dated as ofNovember I, 1994

Amendment No. 3 to
Amended and Restated
Decommissioning Trust
Agreemcnt (PVNGS Unit 2),
dated as ofNovember I, 1994

10.2 to APS'994 Form 10-K
Rcport

10.1 to APS'une 1996 Form
10-Q Rcport

14473 3-30-95

14473 8-9-96

10.19 Amendincnt No. 4 to
Ainended and Restated
Decommissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 2)
dated as ofJanuary 31, 1992

APS 10.5 to APS'996 Form 10-K 1,4473
Rcport

3-28-97

10.20

10.21

Asset Purchase and Power
Exchange Agrccment dated
September 21, 1990 betwccn
APS and PacifiCorp, as
amended as ofOctober 11,
1990 and as ofJuly 18, 1991

Long-Term Power
Transaction Agreement dated
September 21, 1990 between
APS and PacifiCorp, as

amended as ofOctober 11,

1990, and as ofJuly 8, 1991

10.1 to APS'une 1991 Form 14473 8-8-91

10-Q Report

10.2 to APS'une 1991 Form 14473 8-8-91

10-Q Rcport

10.22

10.23

Amendinent No. 1 dated

April 5, 1995 to the
Long-Tenn Power
Transaction Agrecincnt and
Asset Purchase and Power
Exchange Agreement
between PacifiCorp and APS

Restated Transmission
Agreement bctwccn
PacifiCorp and APS
dated April5, 1995

10.3 to APS'995 Form 10-K
Report

10.4 to APS'995 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-29-96

14473 3-29-96

10.24 Contract among PacifiCorp,
APS and United States

Department ofEnergy
Western Area Power
Administration, Salt Lake
Area Integrated Projects for
Firm Transmission Service
dated May 5, 1995

10.5 to APS'995 Form 10-K, 14473 3-29-96

Rcport

10.25 Reciprocal Transmission
Service Agreement between
APS and PacifiCorp dated as

ofMarch 2, 1994

10.6 to APS'995 Forin 10-K
Rcport

14473 3-29-86
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10.26 Contract, dated July 21, 1984,
with DOE providing for the
disposal ofnuclear fuel
and/or high-level radioactive
waste, ANPP

Zahibie Ne . ~Descri tire Ori inall Filed as Exhibit:

10.31 to the Company's Form
S-14 Registration Statement

File No.b

2-96386

D~baee E ereiee

3-13-85

10.27 Indenture ofLease with
Navajo Tribe ofIndians, Four
Corners Plant

5.01 to APS'orm S-7
Registration Statement

2-59644 9-1-77

10.28 Supplemental and Additional
Indenture ofLease, including
amen<hnents and supplements
to original lease with Navajo
Tribe of Indians, Four
Corners Plant

5.02 to APS'orm S-7
Registration Statement

2-59644 9-1-77

10.29 Amendment and Supplement
No. 1 to Supplemental and
Additional Indenture ofLease
Four Corners, dated April25,
1985

10.36 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form
8-B Report

1-8962 7-25-85

10.30 Application and Grant of
10.31 multi-party
rightswf-way and easements,
Four Corners Plant Site

5.04 to APS'orm S-7
Registration Statement

2-59644 9-1-77

10.31 Application and Amendment
No. 1 to Grant ofmulti-party
righ~f-way and easements,
Fow Corners Power Plant
Site dated April25, 1985

10.37 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form
8-B

1-8962 7-25-85

10.32 Application and Grant of
Arizona Public Service
Company rights~f-way and
easements, Four Corners
Plant Site

5.05 to APS'orm S-7
Registration Statement

2-59644 9-1-77

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

Application and Amemhnent
No. 1 to Grant ofArizona
Public Service Company
rights-of-way and casements,
Four Corners Power Plant Site
dated April 25, 1985

Indenture ofLease, Navajo
Units 1, 2, and 3

Application and Grant of
rightswf-way and easements,
Navajo Plant

Water Service Contract
Assignment with the United
States Department ofInterior,
Bureau ofReclamation,
Navajo Plant

10.38 to thc Company's
Registration Statement on Form
8-B

5(g) to APS'orm S-7
Registration Statement

5(h) to APS'orm S-7
Registration Statement

5(1) to APS'orm S-7
Registration Statement

1-8962 '-25-85

2-36505 3-23-70

2-36505 3-23-70

2-394442 3-16-71
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Exhibit tdc .D~escri liert Ori ieeii i'tledeeExhibtt: Filehte. D~nleE ectiveb

10.37 Arizona Nuclear Power
Project Participation
Agreemcnt, dated August 23,
1973, among APS Salt River
Project Agricultural
Improvement and Power
District, Southern California
Edison Company, Public
Service Company ofNew
Mexico, Zl Paso Electric
Company, Southern
California Public Power
Authority, and Department of
Water and Power of the City
ofLos Angeles, and
amendmcnts 1-12 thereto

10. 1 to APS'988 Form 10-K 14473 3-8-89

10.38 Amendment No. 13, dated as

ofApril22, 1991, to Arizona
Nuclear Power Project
Participation Agrecmcnt,
dated August 23, 1973,
among APS, Salt River
Project Agricultural
Improvement and Power
District, Souther n California
Edison Company, Public
Service Company ofNew
Mexico, El Paso Electric
Company, Southern
California Public Power
Authority, and Department of
Water and Power of thc City
ofLos Angeles

10.1 to APS'March 1991 Form 14473 5-15-91

10-Q

10.39'acility Lease, dated as of
August 1, 1986, between
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to
The First National Bank of
Boston, in its capacity as

Owner Trustee, as Lessor,
and APS, as Lessee

4.3 to APS'Form S-3

Registration Statement
33-9480 10-24-86

10.40'mendment No. 1, dated as

ofNovember 1, 1986, to
Facility Lease, dated as of
August 1, 1986, between
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to
The First National Bank of
Boston, in its capacity as

Owner Trustee, as Lessor,
and APS, as Lessee

10.5 to APS'eptember 1986

Form 10-Q Report by means of
Amendment No. on December

3, 1986 Form 8

14473 124-86



EvitibitNe . D~escri tiott t Ori inall Filed aszxhibir: Pile No . D~ate E ective

10.41'mendment No. 2 dated as of
June 1, 1987 to Facility Lease
dated as ofAugust 1, 1986
between State Street Bank
and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Batty ofBoston,
as Lessor, and APS, as Lessee

10.3 to APS'988 Form 10-K,
Rcport

14473 3-8-89

10.42'mendment No. 3, dated as
ofMarch 17, 1993, to Facility
Lease, dated as ofAugust 1,

1986, between State Street
Bard; and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Lessor, and APS, as Lessee

10.3 to APS'992 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-93

10.43 Facility Lease, dated as of
December 15, 1986, between
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to
The First National Bank of
Boston, in its capacity as

Owner Trustee, as Lessor,
and APS, as Lessee

10.1 to APS'ovember 18, 1A473
1986 Form 8-K Report

1-20-87

10.44 Atnendment No. 1, dated as
ofAugust 1, 1987, to Facility
Lease, dated as ofDecember
15, 1986, between State
Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to
The First National Bank of
Boston, as Lessor, and APS,
as Lessee

4.13 to APS'Form S-3
Registration Statement No.
33-9480 by means ofAugust 1,
1987 Form 8-K Report

14473 8-24-87

10.45 Amendment No. 2, dated as
ofMarch 17, 1993, to
Facility Lease, dated as of
December 15, 1986, between
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to
The First National Battk of
Boston, as Lessor, and APS,
as Lessee

10.4 to APS'992 Form 10-K 14473
Report

3-30-93

10.46'irectors'eferred
Compensation Plan, as

restated, effective January 1,
1986

10.1 to APS'une 1986 Form 14473
10-Q Report

8-13-86

10.47'econd Atnendmcnt to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan, effective
as ofJanuary 1, 1993

10.2 to APS'993 Form 10-K 14473
Report

3-30-94



Feiabit Ne . D~esczi liabb Ori inall Filed as Kvlsibit: File Na D~ale 8 eelieeb

10.48'hird Atnendment to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Directors'eferred

'Compensation Plan, effective
as ofMay 1, 1993

10.1 to APS'eptember 1994
Form 10-Q

14473 11-10-94

10.49'0.50

Arizona Public Service
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan, as

restated, effective January 1,

1984, and the second and
third amendments thereto,
dated December 22, 1986,
and Dcccmber 23, 1987
respectively

Third Amendment to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan, cffcctive
as ofJanuary 1, 1993

10.4 to APS'988 Form 10-K 14473
Rcport

10.3 to APS'993 Form 10-K 14473
Report

3-8-89

3-30-94

'0.51'ourth Amendment to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan effective
as ofMay 1, 1993

10.2 to APS'cptcmber 1994
Form 10-Q Report

1-4473 11-10-94

10.52'ifOt Amendmcnt to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Dcfcrred
Compensation Plan

10.3 to APS'996 Form 10-K 14473
Rcport

3-28-97

10.53'999 APS Management
Variable Pay Plan

10.1 to APS'998 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473 3-31-99

10.54'999 APS Senior
Management Variable Pay
Plan

10.2 to APS'998 Form 10-K
'cport

14473 '-31-99

10.55'0.56'999
APS Oflicers Variable

Pay Plan

Pinnacle West Capital
Corporation, Arizona Public
Service Company, SunCor
Dcvclopmcnt Company and
El Dorado Investment
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan as
amended and restated
effectiv January 1, 1996

10.3 to APS'998 Form 10-K 14473
Report

10.10 to APS'995 Form 10-K 14473
Rcport

3-31-99

3-29-86
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Evlribit Ne . B~escri tice Ori iaall Filed ae Evlbibit: File Ne . B~ate E ectiveb

10.5T Arizona Public Service
Company Supplemental
Excess Benefit Retirement
Plan as amended and restated
on December 20, 1995

10.11toAPS'1995Form10-K 14473 3-29-86
Report

10.58'0.59'innacle
West Capital

Corporation and Arizona
Public Service Company
Directors'etirement Plan,
effective as ofJanuary 1, 1995

Letter Agreemcnt dated
December 21, 1993, between
APS and WilliamL. Stewart

10.7 to APS'994 Form 10-K
Rcport

10.7 to APS'994 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-95

14473 3-30-96

10.60'0.61'0.62

Letter Agreement, dated April
3, 1978, between APS and O.
Mark DeMichcle, regarding
certain retirement benefits
granted to Mr. DeMichcler

Letter Agreeinent dated as of
January 1, 1996 between APS
and Robert G. Matlock Ec

Associates, Inc. for
consulting services

Letter Agreement dated
August 16, 1996 between
APS and WilliamL. Stewart

10.7 to APS'988 Form 10-K
Report

10.8 to APS'995 Form 10-K
Report

10.8 to APS'996 Form 10-K
Report

1-4473 3-8-89

14473 3-29-96

14473 3-28-97

10.63

10.64

10.65"

Letter Agreemcnt bctwecn
APS and WilliamL. Stewart

Letter Agreement dated
November 27, 1996 bctwecn
APS and George A. Schreibcr, Jr.

Key Executive Employment
and Severance Agreemcnt
between APS and certain
executive ofofficers ofAPS

10.2 to APS'eptember 1997
Form 10-Q Report

10.9 to APS'996 Form 10-K
Report

10.3 to APS'989 Form 10-K
Report

14473 11-12-97

14473 3-28-97

14473 3-8-90

10.66" Revised form ofKey
Executive'mployment and
Severance Agreement
between APS and certain
executive officers ofAPS

10.5 to APS'993 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-94

10.67 Second revised form ofKey
Executive Employinent and
Severance Agreement
between APS and certain
executive officers ofAPS

10.9 to APS'994 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-95
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Eebibit No . D~escri tioe Ori ieell Filed es Eebibil: File No. D~ete E ectiveb

10 68a

10.69"

Key Executive Emplopnent
and Severance Agreement
between APS and certain
managers ofAPS

Revised form ofKey
Executive Emplopnent and
Severance Agreement
between APS and certain key
employees ofAPS

10.4 to APS'989 Form 10-K 14473
Report

10.4 to APS'993 Form 10-K 1-4473
Rcport

3-8-90

3-30-94

10.70 Second revised Form ofKey
Executive Etnployment and
Severance Agreement
between APS and certain key
employees ofAPS

10.8 to APS'994 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473 " '-30-95

10.71'innacle West Capital
Corporation Stock Option and
htcentive Plan

10.1 to APS'992 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-30-93

10.72'innacle West Capital
Corporation 1994 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, effective as of
March 23, 1994
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'Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangemcnt to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to Item 14(c)
ofForm 10-K.

t

'Reports filed under File No. 14473 and 1-8962 werc filed in the office of the Securities and Exchange
Commission located in Washington, D.C.

'An additional document, substantially identical in all material respects to this Exhibit, has been entered
into, relating to an additional Equity Participant. Although such additional document may diQer in other respects
(such as dollar amounts, percentages, tax indemnity matters, and dates ofexecution), there are no material details
in which such document differs from this Exhibit.

Additional agreements, substantially identical in all material respects to this Exlubit have been entered
into with additional persons. Although such additional documents may diQer in other respects (such as dollar
amounts and dates ofexecution), there arc no material details in which such agreements differ from this Exhibit.

Reports on Form 8-K

During thc quarter ended December 31, 1998, and the period ended March 30, 1999, the Company filed the
followingReports on Form 8-K.

Report dated December 1, 1998 relating to an order by the Arizona Supreme Court staying ACC hearings
regarding APS'ettlement agreement with the ACC Staff

Report dated December 9, 1998 relating to (1) a Notice of Withdrawal of Settlement filed by thc ACC Staff, (2)
terms of expiration of a memorandum of understanding, (3) ACC adoption of the amended rules, and (4) issues
affecting the agreement between APS and Salt River Project.

Report dated January 11, 1999 relating to (i) the ACC hearing oQicers'ecommended changes to the amended
rules regarding the introduction of retail electric competition in Arizona and to the Junc 1998 stranded cost order
and (ii) action by the Arizona Supreme Court vacating its order staying ACC hearings on the proposed settlement
agrccment and dismissing the Attorney General's action.
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DOE —United States Department ofEnergy

EITF—Emerging Issues Task Force

EITF 97-4 —Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 97M, "Deregulation of the Pricing of Electricity —Issues
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Thc Company

We were incorporated in 1920 under thc laws of Arizona and are engaged principally in serving electricity in
thc State ofArizona. Our principal executive offices are located at 400 North FiAh Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85004
(telephone 602-250-1000). Pinnacle West owns all of the outstanding shares ofour common stock.

We are Arizona's largest electric utility, with 799,000 customers. We provide wholesale or retail electric
service to the entire state of Arizona, with the exception ofTucson and about one-half of the Phoenix area. During
1998, no single purchaser or user of energy accounted for more than 2/o of total electric revenues. At December
31, 1998, we employed 6,075 people, which includes employees assigned to joint projects where we are project
manager. 1

This document contains fonvard-looking statements that involve risks and,uncertainties. Words such as
"cstimatcs," "expects," "anticipates," "plans," "believes," "projects," and similar expressions identify fotward-
looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but arc not limited to, the ongoing restructuring of the
electric industry; the outcome of thc regulatory proceedings relating to the restructuring; regulatory, tax, and
environmental legislation; our ability to successfully compete outside our traditional regulated markets; regional
economic conditions, which could affect customer growth; the cost of debt and equity capital; weather variations
affecting customer usage; technological devclopmcnts in the electric industry; and Year 2000 issues. See

"Competition" in this Item for a discussion of some of these factors.

Competition

Retail

Gcncral. Under current law, wc are not in direct competition with any other regulated electric utility for
clcctric service in our retail service tcrritoty. Nevertheless, we are subject to varying degrees of competition in
certain territories adjacent to or within areas that we serve that arc also currently served by other utilitics in our
region (such as Tucson Electric Power Cotnpany, Southwest Gas Corporation, and Citizens UtilityCompany) as

well as cooperatives, municipalities, electrical districts, and similar types of governmental organizations
(principally Salt River Project).

We face competitive challenges from low-cost hydroclcctric power and natural gas fuel, as well as thc access of
some utilitics to prcfercntial low-priced federal power and other subsidies. In addition, some customers,
particularly industrial and large commercial, may own and operate facilities to generate their own electric energy
requirements. Such facilitics may be operated by the customers themselves or by other entities engaged for such
purpose.

Arizona Electric Industry Restructuring. See Note 3 of Notes to Financial Statements in Item 8 for a
discussion of the electric industry restructuring in Arizona, including ACC rules for thc introduction of retail
clcctric compctitionl stranded cost recovery; and Arizona legislative initiatives. See also "Financial Review-
Competition and Industry Restructuring" in Item 7.

Wholesale

Gcncral. We compete with other utilitics, power markctcrs, and independent power producers in the sale of
clcctric capacity and energy in the wholesale ntarket. We expect that competition to sell capacity will remain



vigorous. Our rates for wholesale power sales and transmission services are subject to regulation by the FERC.

During 1998, approximately 16'lo of our electric operating revenues resulted from such sales and charges.

The National Energy Policy Act of 1992 (the "Energy Act") has promoted increased competition in the
wholesale electric power markets. The Energy Act reformed provisions of the Public UtilityHolding Company Act
of 1935 (the "1935 Act") and the Federal Poivcr Act to remove certain barriers to competition for the supply of
electricity. For example, the Energy Act perinits the FERC to order transmission access for third parties to

transmission facilities owned by another entity so that independent suppliers and other third parties can sell at
wholesale to customers wherever located. The Energy Act does not, however, permit the FERC to issue an order

requiring transmission access to retail customers.

Effective July 9, 1996, a FERC decision requires all electric utilities subject to the FERC's jurisdiction to file
transmission tariffs which provide competitors with access to transmission facilitics comparable to the transmission
owners'ccess for wholesale tmnsactions, establishes information requirements, and provides for recovery of
certain wholesale stranded costs. Retail stranded costs resulting from a state-authorized retail direct-access

program are the responsibility of the states, unless a state lacks authority to impose rates to recover such costs, in
which case FERC will consider doing so. Wc have filed a revised open access tariff in accordance with this
decision. We do not believe that this decision will have a material adverse impact on our results of operations or
financial position.

Regulatory Assets

Our major rcgulatoiy assets are deferred income taxes and rate synchronization cost deferrals. These items,
combined with miscellaneous regulatory assets and liabilities, amounted to approximately $900 million at
December 31, 1998. Under a 1996 regulatory agreeinent, the ACC accelerated the amortization of substantially all
ofour regulatory assets to an eight-year period that willcnd Junc 30, 2004. Our existing regulatory orders and the
current regulatory environment support our accounting practices related to regulatory assets. If rate rccovciy of
these assets is no longer probablc, whether due to cornpctition or regulatory action, we would be required to write
off the remaining balance as an extraordinary charge to expcnsc. This could have a material impact on our
financial statements. Sec Notes 1, 3, and 10 ofNotes to Financial Statcmcnts in Item 8 for additional information.

Compctitivc Stratcgics

We arc pursuing strategies to maintain and enhance our competitive position. These strategies include (i) cost
management, with an emphasis on the reduction ofvariable costs (fuel, operations, and maintenance expcnscs) and
on increased productivity through technological efficiencie; (ii) a focus on our core business through customer
service, distribution system reliability, business segmentation, and the anticipation of market opportunities; (iii)an

emphasis on good regulatory relationships; (iv) asset maximization (e.g., higher capacity factors and lower forced

outage rates); (v) expanding our generation asset base to support growth in the competitive poivcr marketing arena;

(vi) strengthening our capital structure and financial condition; (vii) leveraging core competencies into related

areas, such as energy management products and services; and (viii)establishing a trading floor and implementing
a risk management prognrn to provide for morc stability of prices and the ability to retain or grow incremental
margin through more competitive pricing and risk management. Underpinning our competitive strategies are the
strong growth characteristics of our service territory. As competition in the electric utility industry continues to
evolve, wc willcontinue to evaluate strategies and alternatives that willposition us to compete effectively in a morc
competitive, restructured industry.



Generating Fuel and Purchased Power

1998 Energy Mix

Our sources of energy during 1998 werc: coal —36.2'/o', nuclear —27.5/o, purchased power - 32.3'/o, and
other —4.0'/o.

Coal Supply

We bclievc that Cholla lras sufflcient reserves of low sulfur coal committed to the plant through 2005. In
1998, the current supplier agreed to allow Cholla to test burn coal from other sources, which led to coal purchases
on the spot market. The current supplier is expected to continue to provide substantially all of Cholla's low sulfur
coal requirements. We believe there are sufficient reserves of low'sulfur coal available to allow the continued
operation of Cholla for its useful life. We also believe that Four Corners and NGS have sufficient reserves of low
sulfur coal available for use by those plants to continue operating them for their useful lives.

Thc current sulfur content of coal being used at Four Corners, NGS, and Cholla is approximately 0.77/o,
0.54/o, and 0.44/o, respectively. In 1998, avcragc prices paid for coal supplied from the reserves dedicated under
existing contracts were slightly lower,'but still comparable to 1997. Escalation components of existing long-term
coal contmcts impact future coal prices. In addition, major price adjustments can occur from time to time as a
result ofcontract renegotiation.

NGS and Four Corners are located on the Navajo Reservation and held under easemcnts granted by the federal
government as well as leases from the Navajo Nation. Sec "Properties- Plant Sites Leased from the Navajo Nation"
in Item 2. We purchase all of the coal which fuels Four Corners from a coal supplier with a long-term lease of coal
rcservcs owned by the Navajo Nation and for NGS from a coal supplier with a long-term lease with the Navajo
Nation and the Hopi Tribe. Coal is supplied to Cholla from a coal supplier who mines all of the coal under a long-
term lease ofcoal reserves owned by the Navajo Nation, the federal government, and private landholders. Sce Note
12 ofNotes to Financial Statements in Item 8 for information regarding our obligation for coal mine reclamation.

Natural Gas Supply

We arc a party to contracts with a number of natural gas operators and markcters wluch allow us to purchase
natural gas in the method we dctcrmine to be most economic. Currently, we are purchasing the majority of our
natural gas requirements from 25 companies pursuant to contracts. Our natural gas supply is transported pursuant
to a firm transportation service contract with El Paso Natural Gas Company. We continue to analyze the market to
determine the most favorable source and method of meeting our natural gas requirements.

Nuclear Fuel Supply

The fuel cycle for Palo Verde is comprised of thc following stages:

the mining and millingofuranium ore to produce uranium concentrates,

thc conversion of uranium concentrates to uranium hexafluoridc,
the cnrichmcnt ofuranium hexafluoride,
the fabrication of fuel assemblies,
the utilization of fuel assemblics in reactors and
the storage of spent fuel and the disposal thereof.

Thc Palo Verde participants liave made contractual arrangements to obtain quantities of uranium concentrates

anticipated to be suQicicnt to meet operational rcquircments through 2001. Existing contracts and options could be

utilized to meet approximately 93'/o of requirements in 2002, 62'/o of requirements in 2003, 51/o of requirements



in 2004, and 44% of requirements from 2005 through 2007. Spot purchases on the uranium market ivillbe made,
as appropriate, in lieu ofany uranium that might be obtained through contractual options.

Thc Palo Verde participants have contracted for 85% of conversion services required through 2002. The Palo
Verde participants have an enrichment services contract and an enriched uranium product contract that furnish
enrichment services required for the operation of the three Palo Verde units through 2003. In addition, existing
contracts willprovide fuel assembly fabrication services until at least 2003 for each Palo Verde unit, and through
contract options, approximately fiAcen additional years are available.

Spent Nuclear Fuel and Waste Disposal. Pursuant to the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, as amended in
1987 (the "Waste Act"), DOE is obligated to accept and dispose of all spent nuclear fuel and other high-level
radioactive wastes generated by all domestic power reactors. The NRC, pursuant to the Waste Act, requires
operators of nuclear power reactors to enter into spent fuel disposal contracts with DOE. We have done so on our
behalf and on behalf of the other Palo Verde participants. Under the Waste Act, DOE was to develop the facilities
necessary for the storage and disposal of spent nuclear fuel and to have the first such facility in operation by 1998.

That facility was to be a pcrmancnt repository. DOE has announced that such a repository now cannot be
completed before 2010. In July 1996, the United States Court ofAppeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (D.C.
Circuit) ruled that the DOE has an, obligation to start disposing of spent nuclear fuel no later than January 31,
1998. By way of letter dated December 17, 1996, DOE informed us and other contract holders that DOE
anticipates that it will be unable to begin acceptance of spent nuclear fuel for disposal in a repository or interim
storage facility by January 31, 1998. In November 1997, the D.C. Circuit issued a Writof Mandamus precluding
DOE from excusing its own delay on the grounds that DOE has not yet prepared a permanent repository or interim
storage facility. On May 5, 1998, the D.C. Circuit issued a ruling refusing to order DOE to begin moving spent
nuclear fuel. On July 24, 1998, we filed a Petition for Review regarding DOE's obligation to begin accepting spent
nuclear fuel. Arizona Public Service Com an v. De artment of Ener and United States of America, No. 98-
1346 (D.C. Cir.). See "Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station" in Note 12 of Notes to Financial Statements in
Item 8 for a discussion of interim spent fuel storage costs.

Several bills have been introduced in Congress contemplating the construction of a central interim storage
facility; however, there is resistance to certain features of these bills both in Congress and the Administration.

Facility funding is a further complication. While all nuclear utilities pay into a so-called nuclear waste fund
an amount calculated on the basis of the output of their respective plants, the annual Congressional appropriations
for the permanent repository have been for amounts less than the amounts paid into the waste fund (the balance of
which is being used for other purposes). According to DOE spokespcrsons, the fund may now be at a level less than
necdcd to achieve a 2010 operational date for a pcrmancnt repository. No funding willbc available for a central
interim facilityuntil one is authorized by Congress.

Wc have storage capacity in existing fuel storage pools at Palo Verde which, with certain modifications, could
accommodate all fuel expected to be discharged from normal operation ofPalo Verde through about 2002. Wc also
believe we could augment that wet storage with new facilities for on-site dry storage of spent fuel for an
indeterminate period of operation beyond 2002, subject to obtaining any required governmental approvals. One
way or another, we currently believe that spent fuel storage or disposal methods willbe available for use by Palo
Vcrdc to allow its continued operation beyond 2002.

A new low-level waste facility was built in 1995 on-site which could store an amount of waste equivalent to
tcn years of normal operation at Palo Verde. Although some low-level waste has been stored on-site, we arc
currently shipping low-level waste to off-site facilities. We currently believe that interim low-level waste storage
methods arc or willbe available for use by Palo Verde to allow its continued operation and to safely store low-level
waste until a permanent disposal facility is available.



We believe that scientific and financial aspects of the issues of spent fuel and low-level waste storage and
disposal can be resolved satisfactorily. However, we also acknowledge that their ultimate resolution in a timely
fashion willrequire political resolve and action on national and regional scales which we are less able to predict.

Purchased Power Agreements

In addition to that available from its own generating capacity (see "Properties" in Item 2), we purchase
electricity from other utilities under various arrangements. One of the most important of these is a long-term
contract with Salt River Project. This contract may be canceled by Salt River Project on three years'otice and
requires Salt River Project to make available, and us to pay for, certain amounts of electricity. The amount of
electricity is based in large part on customer demand within certain areas now served by us pursuant to a related
territorial agreement. Thc generating capacity available to us pursuant to the contract was 292 MW January
through May 1998, and starting June 1998 increased to 316 MW. In 1998, we received approximately 943,354
MWh of energy under the contract and paid about $43 million for capacity availability and energy rcccivcd. See

Note 3 ofNotes to Financial Statements for a discussion ofamendments to agreements with Salt River Project.

In September 1990, we entered into certain agreements with PacifiCorp relating principally to sales and
purchases of electric power and electric utility assets. In July 1991 we sold Cholla 4 to PacifiCorp. As part of the
transaction, PacifiCorp agreed to make a firm system sale to us for thirty years during our summer peak season.
Thc amount of the sale for the first seven years was 175 MW and it increases aAer that at our option, up to a
maximum amount of 380 MW. We converted the firm system sales to one-for-one seasonal capacity exchanges
with PacifiCorp on October 31, 1997. On January I, 1999 our agreements with PacifiCorp provide for 275 MW
capacity exchange and beginning in May 1999, an additional 205 MW capacity exchange begins. In 1998, we had
275 MW of generating capacity available from PacifiCorp. We received approximately 281,217 MWh of energy
under the exchange.

During 1996, we entcrcd into an agreement with Citizens Utilities Company to build, own, operate, and
maintain a combustion turbine in northwest Arizona. CUC terminated the combustion turbine project in February
1999. Wc have notified CUC that we willretain the rights to the combustion turbine project.

Construction Program

During the years 1996 through 1998, wc incurred approximately $ 899 million in capitalized expenditures.
Utility capitalized expenditures for the years 1999 through 2001 are expected to be primarily for expanding
transmission and distribution capabilities to meet customer growth, upgrading existing facilities, and for
environmental purposes. Capitalized expenditures, including expenditures for environmental control facilities, for
the years 1999 tlirough 2001 have been estimated as follows:

B Year
(Millionsof Dollars)

B Ma'or Facilitics
1999
2000
2001

Total

$328
317
300

$~

Production
Transmission and Distribution
General
Other Projects

Total

$236
564
113

32

$/45

The amounts for 1999 through 2001 exclude capitalized interest costs and include capitalized property taxes
and about $30-$ 35 million each year for nuclear fuel. We conduct a continuing review of our construction
program. We are considering expanding certain ofour operations over the next several years, which may result in
additional expenditures. We currently believe that there will be opportunities to expand our investment in
gcncrating assets in the next five years. It is expected that these generating assets would be organized in a newly-
crcated, non-regulated aQiliate under Pinnacle West.



Mortgage Rcplacemcnt Fund Requirements

So long as any of our first mortgage bonds are outstanding, we are required for each calendar year to deposit
with the trustee under our Mortgage cash in a fonnularized amount related to net additions to our mortgaged utility
plant. Wc may satisfy all or any part of this "replacement. fund" requirement by utilizing redeemed or retired
bonds, nct property additions, or property retirements. For 1998, the replacement fund requirement amounted to

approximately $ 138 million. Certain of the bonds we have issued under the Mortgage that are callable prior to
maturity are redeemable at their par value plus accrued interest with cash we deposit in the replacement fund. Tliis
is subject in many cases to a period of time aAer the original issuance of the bonds during which they may not be so

redeemed.

Environmental Matters

EPA Environmental Regulation

Clean AirAct. We are subject to a number of requirements under the Clean Air Act. Pursuant to the 1977
amendmcnts to the Clean Air Act, the EPA adopted regulations that address visibility impairment in certain
federally-protected areas which can be reasonably attributed to specific sources. In September 1991, the EPA
issued a final rule that limited sulfur dioxide emissions at NGS. One NGS unit had to comply with this rule in
1997, one in 1998, and the last unit in 1999. Salt River Project is the NGS operating agent. Salt River Project
estimates a capital cost of$430 millionand annual operations and maintenance costs ofapproximately $ 14 million
for all three units, for NGS to meet thcsc requirements. Wc arc required to fund 14/o of these expenditures.

Approximately 93/o of these capital costs have been incurred through 1998.

The Clean AirAct Amendments of 1990 (thc "Amendments" ) address, among other tliings:

"acid rain,"
visibilityin certain specified areas,
hazardous air pollutants and
areas tliat have not attained national ambient air quality standards.

With respect to "acid rain," thc Amendments establish a system of sulfur dioxide emissions "allowances." Each
existing utility unit is granted a certain number of "allowances." For Phase II plants, which include our plants,
allowances will be required beginning in the year 2000 to operate the plants. On March 5, 1993, the EPA
promulgated rules listing allowance allocations applicable to our plants. Based on those allocations, we will have
sufficient allowances to permit continued operation of our plants at current levels without installing additional
equipment.

In addition, the Amendmcnts require the EPA to set nitrogen oxides emissions limitations. These limitations
require certain plants to install additional pollution control equipment. In December 1996, the EPA issued rules
for nitrogen oxides emissions limitations that may require us to install additional pollution control equipment at
Four Corners by January 1, 2000. On February 14, 1997, we filed a Petition for Review in the United States Court
of Appeals for thc District of Columbia. We alleged that thc EPA improperly classiTicd Four Corners Unit 4 in
thcsc rules, thereby subjecting Unit 4 to a more stringent emission limitation. Arizona Public Service Com an v
United States Environmental Protection A en, No. 97-1091. In February 1998, the Court vacated the Unit 4
emission limitation and rcnianded the issue to EPA for reconsideration. We cannot currently predict how the EPA
will respond. However, based on our initial evaluation, we currently estimate our capital cost of complying with
the rules may be approximately $4 million.

With respect to protection ofvisibilityin certain spccificd areas, the Amendments require the EPA to conduct
a study concerning visibility impairment in those areas and to identify sources contributing to such impairment.



Interim findings of this study indicate that any beneficial effec on visibilityas a result of the Amendments would
be offset by expected population and industry growth. The Amendments also require EPA to establish a "Grand
Canyon VisibilityTransport Comniission" to complete a study on visibility impairment in thc "Golden Circle of
National Parks" in the Colorado Plateau. NGS, Cholla, and Four Corners are located near the Golden Circle of
National Parks. The Commission completed its study and on June 10, 1996 submitted its final recommendations to
the EPA. The Commission recommended that, beginning in 2000 and every 5 years thereaAer, ifactual sulfur
dioxide ernissions from all stationary sources in an eight-state region (including Arizona, New Mexico, Utah,
Nevada, and'California) exceed thc projcctcd emissions, which arc projected to decline under the current
regulatory scheme, the projected total emissions will be changed to a "regional emissions cap" and an emissions
trading program would be implemented to liinit total sulfur dioxide emissions in the region. Thc EPA will
consider these recommendations before promulgating final requirements on a regional haze regulatory program
which the EPA proposed in July 1997 and which is expected to be finalized by mid-1999.

Under EPA's proposed regional haze program, states would be required to submit plans to meet "presumptive
reasonable progress targets" for achieving perceptible improvements in visibility conditions in Federal Class I
areas (e.g., national parks) every 10-15 years. Thc proposal also calls for states to conduct three year "best
available retrofit technology" ("BART") reviews on point sources which became operational bctwccn 1962 and
1977 and which may norinally be anticipated to contribute to regional haze visibilityimpairment.

Also, in July 1997, EPA pronniigated final National Ambient AirQuality Standards for ozone and particulate
matter. Pursuant to the rules, the ozone standard is more stringent and a new ambient standard for very fine
particles has been cstablishcd. Congress has enacted legislation that could delay thc implementation of regional
haze rcquircments and thc particulate matter ambient standard. Bccausc the actual level of cmissions controls, if
any, for any unit cannot bc determined at this time, we currently cannot estimate the capital expenditures, ifany,
which would result from the final rules. However, we do not currently expect these rules to have a material
adverse effect on our financial position or results ofoperations.

With respect to hazardous air pollutants emitted by electric utility steam generating units, the Amendments
require two studies. The results of the first study indicated an impact from mercury emissions from such units in
certain unspecified areas. The EPA has not yet stated whcthcr or not mercury emissions limitations will be
imposed. Secondly, the EPA will complete a general study in the next several years concerning the necessity of
regulating hazardous air pollutant emissions from such units under the Amendments. Because we cannot speculate
as to the ultimate rcquireincnts by the EPA, we cannot currently estimate the capital expenditures, ifany, ivhich
may be required as a result of these studies.

Certain aspects of the Amendments may require us to make related expenditures, such as permit fees. We do
not expect any of these to have a material impact on our financial position or results ofoperations.

Supcrfund. The Comprehensive Enviromnental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("Superfund")
establishes liabilityfor thc cleanup of hazardous substances found contaminating the soil, water, or air. Those who
generated, transported, or disposed of hazardous substances at a contaminated site arc among those who arc
potentially responsible parties ("PRPs"). PRPs may bc strictly, and oAen jointlyand severally, liable for the cost of
any necessary remediation of the substances. The EPA had previously advised us that the EPA considers us to be a

PRP in the Indian Bend Wash Superfund Site, South Area. Our Ocotillo Power Plant is located in this area. We
are in the process of conducting an investigation to dcterininc the extent and scope of contamination at the plant
site. Based on the information to date, including available insurance coverage and an EPA estimate of cleanup
costs, we do not expect this matter to have a material impact on our financial position or results ofoperations.

Manufactured Gas Plant Sites, We arc currently investigating properties which we now own or which were
at one time owned by us or our corporate predecessor, that were at one time sites of, or sites associated with,
manufactured gas plants. Thc purpose of this investigation is to deterinine if:



waste materials arc present
such materials constitute an environmental or health risk and
we have any responsibility for remedial action.

Where appropriate, we have begun remediation of certain of these sites. We do not expect these matters to have a

material adverse elfect on our financial position or results ofoperations.

Purported Navajo Environmental Regulation

Four Corners and NGS arc located on the Navajo Reservation and arc held under easements granted by the
federal government as well as leases from the Navajo Nation. Wc Are the Four Corners operating agent. We own a

100/o interest in Four Corners Units 1, 2, and 3, and a 15/o interest in Four Corners Units 4 and 5. We own a
14'/o interest in NGS Units 1, 2, and 3.

In July 1995, the Navajo Nation enacted the Navajo Nation Air Pollution Prevention and Control Act, the
Navajo Nation Safe Drinking Water Act, and the Navajo Nation Pesticide Act (collectively, the "Acts"). Pursuant
to the Acts, thc Navajo Nation Environmental Protection Agency is authorized to promulgate regulations covering
air quality, drinking water, and pesticide activities, including those that occur at Four Corners and NGS. By
separate letters dated October 12 and October 13, 1995, the Four Corners participants and the NGS participants
rcquestcd the United States Secretary of the Interior to resolve their dispute with the Navajo Nation regarding
whether or not the Acts apply to operations of Four Corners and NGS. On October 17, 1995, the Four Corners
participants and the NGS participants each filed a lawsuit in the District Court of thc Navajo Nation, Window
Rock District, sccking, among other things, a declaratory judgment that

~ their respective leases and federal eascmcnts preclude the application of the Acts to the
operations ofFour Corners and NGS and

~ the Navajo Nation and its agencies and courts lack adjudicatory jurisdiction to determine the
enforccability of thc Acts as applied to Four Corners and NGS.

On October 18, 1995, thc Navajo Nation and the Four Corners and NGS participants agreed to indefinitely stay
these proceedings so that the parties may attempt to resolve the dispute without litigation. The Secretary and the
Court have stayed these proceedings pursuant to a request by the parties. We cannot currently predict the outcome
of tlus matter.

In February 1998; the EPA promulgated regulations specifying those provisions of the Clean AirAct for winch
it is appropriate to treat Indian tribes in the same manner as states. The EPA indicated that it believes that the
Clean Air Act generally would supersede prewxisting binding agreements that may limit the scope of tribal
authority over reservations. On April 10, 1998, wc filed a Petition for Review in the United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia. Arizona Public Service Com an v. United States Environmental Protection
~Acne', No. 98-1196. On February 19, 1999, the EPA promulgated regulations setting forth the EPA's approach
to issuing Federal operating permits to covered stationary sources on Indian reservations, pursuant to the
Amcndmcnts. We are currently evaluating the impact of these regulations.

Water Supply

Assured supplies of water arc important for our generating plants. At the present time, we have adequate
water to meet our needs. However, conflicting claims to limited amounts of water in thc southwestern United
States have resulted in nmncrous court actions in recent years.

J
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Both groundwater and surface water in areas important to our operations have been the subject of inquiries,
claims, and legal proceedings which will require a number ofyears to resolve. We are one of a number of parties
in a proceeding before a state court in New Mexico to adjudicate rights to a stream system from which water for
Four Corners isderived. State ofNewMexico in the relation of S.E. Re nolds State En ineervs. United States
of America Ci ofFarmin on Utah International Inc. ct al. San Juan Coun New Mexico, District Court No.
75-184). An agreement reached with the Navajo Nation in 1985, however, provides that ifFour Corners loses a
portion of its rights in the adjudication, the Navajo Nation will provide, for a then-agreed upon cost, sufficient
water from its allocation to offset the loss.

A summons served on us in early 1986 rcquircd all water claimants in the Lower Gila River Watershed in
Arizona to assert any claims to water on or before January 20,"1987, in an action pending in Maricopa County
Superior Court. n re The General Ad'udication of AllRi hts to Use Water in the Gila River S stem and Source,
Supreme Court Nos. WC-79-0001 through WC 79-0004 (Consolidated) [WC-I, WC-2, WC-3 and WCA
(Consolidated)], Maricopa County Nos. W-l, W-2, W-3 and W-4 (Consolidated)). Palo Verde is located within the
geographic area subject to the suminons. Our rights and the rights of the Palo Verde participants to the use of
groundwater and eflluent at Palo Verde is potentially at issue in this action. As project manager ofPalo Verde, wc
filed claims that dispute the court's jurisdiction over thc Palo Verde participants'roundwater rights and their
contractual rights to effluent relating to Palo Verde. Alternatively, we seek confirmation of such rights. Three of
our less-utilized power plants are also located within the geograpliic area subject to the summons. Our claims
dispute the court's jurisdiction over our groundwater rights with rcspcct to these plants. Alternatively, we seek
confirmation of such rights. Issues important to thc claims are pending on appeal to the Arizona Supreme Court.
No trial date concerning our water rights claims has been sct in this matter.

We have also filed claims to water in the Little Colorado River Watershed in Arizona in an action pending in
the Apache County Superior Court. In rc The General Ad'udication of All Ri hts to Usc Water in the Little
Colorado River S stem and Source, Supreme Court No. WC-79-0006 WC4, Apache County,No. 6417). Our
groundwater resource utilized at Cholla is within the geographic area subject to thc adjudication and is therefore
potentially at issue in thc case. Our claims dispute the court's jurisdiction over our groundwater rights.
Alternatively, we seek conflirination of such rights. The parties are in thc process of settlement negotiations with
rcspcct to this matter. No trial date concerning our water rights claims has been set in this matter.

Although the foregoing matters remain subject to further evaluation, we expect that the described litigation
willnot have a material adverse impact on our financial position or results ofoperations.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Accrcditcd
Capacity'ur

present generating facilities have an accredited capacity as follows:

Coal:
Units I, 2, and 3 at Four Corners
15% owned Units 4 and 5 at Four Corners.
Units 1, 2, and 3 at Cholla Plant.
14% owned Units 1, 2, and 3 at the Navajo Plant.

Gas or Oil:
Two steam units at Ocotillo and two steam units at Saguaro.

Eleven combustion turbine units..
Three combined cycle units.

Nuclear:
29.1% owned or leased Units 1, 2, and 3 at Palo Verde

~Ca a~cit LkW}

560,000
222,000
615,000
315,000

1,712,000

435,000(l)
493,000
255,000

1,183,000

1,086,300

Other 5 600

Total

(1) West Phoenix stcam units (108,300 kW) are currently mothballed.

Rcscrvc Margin

Our pe% onc-hour demand on our electric system was recorded on July 16, 1998 at 5,072,000 kW, compared

to the 1997 peak of 4,608,600 kW recorded on August 22. Taking into account additional capacity then available

to us under purcliase power contracts as well as our own gcncrating capacity, our capability of meeting system

deniand on July 16, 1998, computed in accordance with accepted industry practices, amounted to 5,139,600 kW,
for an installed reserve margin of3.1%. The power actually available to us from our resources fluctuates from tiinc
to time due in part to planned outages and technical problems. The available capacity from sources actually

operable at the time of thc 1998 peak amounted to 4,862,600 kW, for a margin of (3.9%). Firm purchases from
neighboring utilities totaling 1,467,000 kW werc in place at the time of thc peak ensuring thc ability to meet the

load rcquircment, with an actual rcscrvc margin of7.4%.

Plant Sites Leased from Navajo Nation

NGS and Four Corners are located on land held under casements from the federal government and also under

leases from the Navajo Nation. We do not believe tliat the risk with respect to enforcement of these casements and

leases is material. The lease for Four Corners waives until 2001 the requirement that we, as well as our fuel

supplier, pay certain taxes to the Navajo Nation. In September 1997, a settlemcnt agreement was finalized betwccn

the coal supplier to Four Corners, the Navajo Nation, and us which settled certain issues in thc Four Corners lease

regarding thc obligation of the fuel supplier to pay taxes prior to the expiration of tax waivers in 2001. Pursuant to

thc agreemcnt, in 1997 we recognized approximately $ 14 million of pretax earnings related to a partial refund of
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possessory interest taxes paid by the fuel supplier. The parties also agreed to renegotiate their business relationship
before 2001 in an effort to permit the electricity generated at Four Corners to be priced competitively. We cannot
currently predict the outcome of this matter. Certain of our transmission lines and almost all of its contracted coal
sources are also located on Indian reservations. See "Generating Fuel and Purchased Power —Coal Supply" in
Itciii l.

Palo Vcrdc Nuclear Generating Station

Palo Verde Lcascs

See Note 9 ofNotes to Financial Statements in Item 8 for a discussion of three sale and leaseback transactions
related to Palo Verde Unit 2.

Regulatory

Operation of each of the three Palo Verde units requires an operating license from the NRC. The NRC issued
full power operating licenses for Unit 1 in June 1985, Unit 2 in April 1986, and Unit 3 in November 1987. The
full power operating licenses, each valid for a period of approximately 40 years, authorize us, as operating agent
for Palo Verde, to operate the three Palo Verde units at fullpower.

Nuclear Decommissioning Costs

The NRC recently amended its rules on financial assurance requirements for, the decommissioning of nuclear
power plants. The amended rules bccamc effective on November 23, 1998. The amended rules provide that a
licensee may use an external sinking fund as the exclusive financial assurance mechanism ifthe licensee recovers
estimated total decommissioning costs through cost of service rates or through a "non-bypassable charge." Other
mechanisms are prescribed, including prepayment, if thc requirements for exclusive reliance on the external
sinking fund mechanism are not mct. We currently rely on the external sinking fund mechanism to meet the NRC
financial assurance rcquiremcnts for our interests in Palo Verde Units 1, 2, and 3. The decommissioning costs of
Palo Verde Units 1, 2, and 3 arc currently included in ACC jurisdictional rates. Proposed ACC rules regarding the
introduction of retail electric competition in Arizona (see Note 3) currently provide that decommissioning costs
would be recovered through a non-bypassable "system benefits" charge, which would allow us to maintain our
external sinking fund mechanism. Scc Note 13 of Notes to Financial Statements in Item 8 for additional
information about our nuclear decommissioning costs.

Palo Verde Liabilityand Insurance Matters

Sec "Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station" in Note 12 of Notes to Financial Statements in Item 8 for a
discussion of the insurance inaintained by the Palo Verde participants, including us, for Palo Verde.

Other Information Regarding Our Propcrtics

Sec "Environincntal Matters" and "Water Supply" in Item 1 with respect to matters having possible impact on
the operation ofcertain ofour power plants.

See "Construction Program" in Item 1 and "Financial Review —Capital Needs and Resources" in Item 7 for a
discussion ofour construction plans.

Sce Notes 5, 8, and 9 ofNotes to Financial Statements in Item 8 with respect to our property not held in fec or
held subject to any major encumbrance.
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ITEM3. LEGALPROCEEDINGS

Sec "Environmental Matters" and "Water Supply" in Item 1 in regard to pending or threatened litigation and
other disputes. Sec "Regulatory Matters" in Note 3 of Notes to Financial Statements in Item 8 for a discussion of
competition and the rules regarding thc introduction of retail electric competition in Arizona. On February 28,
1997 and October 16, 1998, wc filed lawsuits to protect our legal rights regarding the rules and the amended rules,

respectively, and in each complaint we asked the Court for (i) a judgment vacating the retail electric competition
rules, (ii) a declaratory judgment that the rules are unlawful because, among other tlungs, they were entered into
without proper legal authorization, and (iii) a permanent injunction barring the ACC from enforcing or
implementing the rules and from promulgating any other regulations without lawful authority. Arizona Public
Service Com an v. Arizona Co omtion Commission, CV 9743753 (consolidated under CV 97-03748.) Arizona
Public Service Com an v. Arizona Co oration Commission, CV 98-18896. On August 28, 1998, we filed two
lawsuits to protect our legal rights under the stranded cost order and in its complaints the Company asked the

Court to vacate and set aside thc order. Arizona Public Service Com an v, Arizona Co oration Commission, CV
98-15728. Arizona Public Service Com an v. Arizona Co oration Commission, 1-CA-CC-98-0008.

ITEM4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A
VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable.
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SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
OF THE REGISTRANT

Thc Company's executive oQicers are as follows:

Name
Richard Snell
William J. Post
Jack E. Davis
WilliamL. Stewart
George A. Schreiber, Jr.
Armando B. Flores
James M. Levine
Jan H. Bennett
John G. Bohon
John R. Denman
Edward Z. Fox

WilliamE. Ide
Nancy C. LoAin
Gregg R. Overbeck
Chris N. Froggatt
Michael V. Palmeri

Age At
March 1 1999

68
48
52
55
50
55
49
51
53
56
45

52
45
52
41
40

, Position s At March 1 1999
Chairman of the Board ofDirectors(1)
Cluef Executive Officer(1)
President, Energy Delivery and Sales(1)
President, Generation(1)
'Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer(1)
Executive Vice President, Corporate Business Services
Senior Vice President, Nuclear Generation
Vice President, Distribution'ice President, Corporate Services and Human Resources
Vice Prcsidcnt, Fossil Generation
Vice President, Environmental/Health/Safety and

New Technology, Vcnturcs
Vice President, Nuclear Engineering
Vice Prcsidcnt, Chief Legal Counsel and Secretary
Vice President, Nuclear Production
Controller
Treasurer

(1) Member of the Board ofDirectors.
1.

Our executive officers arc elected no less often than annually and may be removed by the Board ofDirectors at
any time. The terms served by the named officers in their current positions and the principal occupations (in
addition to those stated in the table) of such officers for the past five years have been as follows:

Mr. Sncll was elected to his present position as ofFebruary 1990. He was also elected Chairman of the Board,
President and Cluef Executive Officer ofPinnacle West at that time. He retired as President in Februaiy 1997 and
as Chief Executive Office in February 1999. Mr. Snell is also a director ofPinnacle West, Aztar Corporation, and
Central Newspapers, Inc.

Mr. Post was elected President and ChiefExecutive OQicer in February 1997. In October 1998, he resigned as
President and maintained thc position of Chief Executive OQiccr. Prior to that time he was Senior Vice President
and Chief Operating Officer (September 1994 - February 1997) and Senior Vice President, Planning, Information
and Financial Services (June 1993 - September 1994). Mr. Post was President of Pinnacle West (February 1997-
February 1999) and in February 1999, he became Chief Executive Officer of Pinnacle West. Mr. Post is also a
director ofPinnacle West.

Mr. Davis was elected to his present position in October 1998. Prior to that time he was Executive Vice
President, Commercial Operations (September 1996 - October 1998) and Vice President, Generation and
Transmission (Junc 1993-September 1996).
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Mr. Stewart was elected to his present position in October 1998. Prior to that time he was Executive Vice
President, Generation (September 1996 - October 1998), Executive Vice President, Nuclear (May 1994-
September 1996) and Senior Vice President —Nuclear for Virginia Power (since 1989).

Mr. Schreibcr was elected to his present position in February 1997. Prior to that time he was Managing
Director at PaineWebbcr, Inc. (since February 1990). Mr. Schreiber was Executive Vice President of Pinnacle

West (February 1997 - February 1999), and he is currently President (since February 1999) and Chief Financial

OIIicer (since February 1997) ofPinnacle West. Mr. Schreibcr is also a director ofPinnacle West.

Mr. Flores was elcctcd to his present position in October 1998. Prior to that time, he was Senior Vice

President, Corporate Business Services (Scptcmber 1996 - October 1998) and Vice President, Human Resources

(1991-1996). Mr. Flores is a director ofHarris Trust Bank.

Mr. Levine was elected to his present position in September 1996. Prior to that time he was Vice President,

Nuclear Production (since September 1989).

Mr. Bennett was elected to his present position in May 1991.

Mr. Bohon was clectcd to his present position in October 1998. Prior to that time he was Vice President,

Procurcmcnt (April 1997 - October 1998) and Director, Corporate Services (Dcccmber 1989-April 1997).

Mr. Denman was clccted to his present position in April 1997. Prior to that time he was Director of Fossil

Gcncration (since 1990).

Mr. Fox was clectcd to his present position in October 1995. Prior to that time he was Director, Arizona

Dcpartmcnt of Environmental Quality and Chairman, Wastewater Management Authority of Arizona (July 1991-

September 1995).

Mr. Ide was clccted to his present position in September 1996. Prior to that time he was Director, Palo Verde

Operations (1994-1996) and Palo Verde Unit 1 Plant Manager (1988-1994).

Ms. Loftin was elected to the positions of Vice President and Chief Legal Counsel in September 1996 and has

been Secretary since April 1987. Prior to that time, in addition to Secretary, she was Corporate Counsel (since

February 1989).

Mr. Overbeck was elected to his current position in July 1995. Prior to that time he was Assistant to Vice

President of the Company (January 1994-July 1995).

Mr. Froggatt was clectcd to his present position in July 1997. Prior to that time he was Director, Accounting

Services (since December 1992) of the Company.

Mr. Palmeri was clcctcd to his prcscnt position in July 1997. Prior to that time he was Assistant Treasurer

(February 1994-July 1997) and Manager of Finance (June 1990-February 1994) ofPinnacle West. He also became

Treasurer ofPinnacle West in July 1997.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKETFOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON
STOCK AND RELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS

The Company's common stock is wholly-owned by Pinnacle West and is not listed for trading on any stock
exchange. As a result, there is no established public trading market for the Company's common stock.

Thc chart below sets forth the dividends declared on thc Company's common stock for each of the four
quarters for 1998 and 1997.

Common Stock Dividends
(Thousands of Dollars)

uartcr
1st Quarter

2nd Quarter
3rd Quarter
4th uartcr

1998

$42,500
42,500
42,500
42,500

1997
$42,500

42,500
42,500
42 500

AAer payment or setting aside for payment of cumulative dividends and mandatory sinking fund requirements,
where applicable, on all outstanding issues of preferred stock, the holders of common stock are entitled to
dividends when and as declared out of funds legally available therefor. See Notes 4 and 5 of Notes to Financial
Statements in Item 8 for restrictions on rctaincd earnings available for the payment ofcommon stock dividends.
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ITEM6. SELECTED FINANCIALDATA

1998 1997 1996 1995
(Thousands ofDollars)

1994

Electric Operating Revenues .......
Fuel and Purchased Power ..........
Operating Expenses.

Operating Income.
Other Income..
Interest Deductions —Net..........

Net Income..............................
Preferred Dividends.

Earnings for Common Stock....

$2,006,398
537,501

1,098,086

$ 19878,553 $ 1,718,272
436,627 325,523

1,070,101 1,027,541

$ 1,614,952 $ 1,626,168
269,798 300,689
963,400 957,046

370,811
20,448

136 012

255,247
9,703

371,825
21,586

141 918

251,493
12,803

365,208
35,217

156 954

243,471
17,092

381,754
25,548

167 732

239,570
19 134

368,433
44,510

169 457

243,486
25,274

... $ 245,544 $ 238,690 $ 226,379 $ 220,436 $ 218,212

Total Assets. $6,393,299 $6,331,142 $6,423,222 $6;418,262 $6,348,261

Capital Structure:
Common Stock Equity................................
Non-Redccmablc Preferred Stock................
Redeemable Preferred Stock .......................
Long-Term Debt Less Current Maturities ...

Total Capitalization ................................
Current Maturities ofLong-Term Debt.......
Commercial Paper.

Total

$ 1,729,390
165,673
53,000

2,029,482

$ 1,975,755
85,840

9,401
1,876,540

$ 1,621,555
193,561
75,000

2,132,021

$ 1,849,324
142,051
29,110

1,953,162

$ 1,571,120
193,561
75,000

2,181,832

4,021,513
3,428

131,500

4,022,137
3,512

177,800

3,977,545
153,780

16,900

3,973,647
104,068
130,750

3,947,536
164,378
178,830

$4,290,744 $4,208,465 $4,148,225 $4,203,449 $4,156,441

Scc "Financial Review" in Item 7 for a discussion ofcertain information in the foregoing table.
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ITEM7. FINANCIALREVIEW

In this section, we explain our results ofoperations, general financial condition, and outlook, including:

the changes in our earnings from 1997 to 1998 and from 1996 to 1997

the factors impacting our business, including competition and electric industry restructuring
the effects of regulatory agreements on our results
our capital needs and resources and
Year 2000 technology issues.

Throughout this Financial Review, wc refer to specific "Notes" in the Notes to Financial Statements that begin on
page 35. These Notes add further details to the discussion.

Results of Operations

1998 Compared with 1997 Our 1998 earnings increased $6.9 million —a 2.9/o increase - over 1997 earnings
primarily because of an increase in customers, expanded power marketing and trading activities, and lower
financing costs. In the comparison, these positive factors morc than offset thc effects of milder weather, two fuel-
related settlements recorded in 1997, and tivo retail price reductions. See Note 3 for additional information about
thc price reductions.

In 1998, electric operating revenues increased $ 128 millionprimarily because of:

increased power marketing and trading revenues ($94 million)
increases in the number of customers and the amount of electricity used by customers ($77
million)and
miscellaneous factors ($8 million).

As mentioned above, these positive factors were partially offset by the effect of milder weather ($33 million) and
reductions in retail prices ($ 18 million).

Power marketing and trading activities arc predominantly short-term opportunity wholesale sales. The increase in
power marketing revenues resulted from higher prices, increased activity in Western bulk power markets, and
increased sales to large customers in Califoriii. The incrcmc in power marketing and trading rcvcnucs was
accompanied by related incre~ in purchased power expenses.

The two fuel-related settlements increased 1997 pretax earnings by about $21 million. The income statement
reflects these settlements as reductions in fuel expense and as other income.

Operations and maintenance expense increased $ 15 million because of customer growth, initiatives related to
competition, and expansion ofour power marketing and trading function.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $ 11 millionbecause we had more plant in service.

Financing costs decreased by $9 million primarily because of lower amounts of outstanding debt and preferred
stock.
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1997 Compared with 1996 Our 1997 earnings increased $ 12.3 million —a 5.4% increase - over 1996 earnings

primarily because of:

an increase in customers
a $32 million pretax charge in 1996 for a voluntary severance program
two fuel-related settlemcnts in 1997 and
lower financing costs.

These positive factors more than offset the effects of our 1996 regulatory agreement with the Arizona Corporation
Commission (ACC), which during 1997 resulted in about $60 million of additional regulatory asset amortization
and a $35 million revenue decrease caused by two retail price reductions. See Note 3 and "Results of Operations
—Regulatory Agreements" below for additional information. In addition, we recognized $ 12 million of income

tax benefits in 1996 that were not repeated in 1997.

In 1997, electric operating revemies increased $ 160 millionprimarily because of:

~ increased power marketing rcvcnues ($ 128 million)
~ an increase in the number ofcustomers ($58 million)and
~ weather effects ($7 million).

As mentioned above, these positive factors werc partially offset by a $35 million revenue decrease caused by retail
price reductions. The increase in power marketing revenues resulted from increased activity in Western bulk
power markets. This did not significantly affec our earnings because the increase was substantially offset by
higher purchased power expenses.

Two fuel-related settlements in 1997 increased pretax earnings by about $21, million. The income statement shows

these settlements as reductions in fuel expense and as other income. About $ 16 millionof the settlements related

to years prior to 1997 and $5 million related to 1997. We expect the total annual savings from the settlemcnts for
at least the next several years to be about $ 10 million before income taxes. We do not have a fuel adjustment

clause as part of our retail rate structure. As a result, we show changes in fuel and purchased power expenses in
current earnings.

Wc lowcrcd our operations and maintenance expenses in 1997 by putting in place a voluntary severance program

in late 1996, with rclatcd savings reflccted in 1997. These savings were partially offset by incrcascd expenses for
marketing, inforination technology, and power plant maintenance.

We decreased our financing costs by $ 12 million during 1997 by lowering the amounts of outstanding debt and

preferred stock.

Regulatory Agrccmcnts Regulatory agreements with the ACC affec the results ofour operations. The following
discussion focuses on two agreements: a 1996 agrccment to accelerate thc amortization of our regulatory assets

and a 1994 settlcmcnt to accelerate amortization of our deferred investment tax credits (ITCs).

Under the 1996 agreemcnt with the ACC, we are recovering substantially all of our present regulatory assets

through accelerated amortization. Thc recovery of these assets is taking place over an eight-year period that will
cnd June 30, 2004. For more details, sce Note 3. This acccleratcd amortization increased annual amortization

expense by about $ 120 million ($72 millionaAcr taxes).

Also, as part of the 1996 regulatory agrecmcnt, we reduced our retail prices by 3.4% effective July 1, 1996. This
reduces revenue by about $48.5 million annually ($29 million after taxes). We also agreed to share future cost

savings with our customers, which resulted in the following additional retail price reductions:
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~ $ 17.6 millionannually ($ 10.5 million afler income taxes), or 1.2/o, eflective July I, 1997, and

~ $ 17 millionannually ($ 10 millionafter income taxes), or 1.10/0, efl'ective July 1, 1998.

We expect to file with the ACC for another retail price decrease of approximately $ 10.8 million annually ($6.5
million afler income taxes) to become effectiv July I, 1999. The amount and timing of the price decrease are
subject to ACC approval. This willbe the last price decrease under the 1996 regulatory agrccment.

We discuss above, in "Results of Operations," the factors that offset the earnings impact of the accelerated
regulatory asset amortization and the price decreases.

As part of the 1994 rate settlement, we accelerated amortization of substantially all deferred ITCs over a five-year
period that ends on December 31, 1999. The amortization of ITCs is shown on our income statement as Other
Income —Income Taxes. It decreases annual income tax expense by about $28 million. Beginning in 2000, no
further benefits willbe reflected in income tax expense. See Note 10.

Capital Needs and Resources

Our capital requirements consist primarily of capital expenditures and optional and mandatory redemptions of
long-term debt and preferred stock. We pay for our capital requirements with:

cash from our operations
annual cash payments from Pinnacle West of $50 million from 1996 through 1999 (see Note 3)
and
to the extent necessary, external financing.

During the period from 1996 through 1998, we paid for all of our capital expenditures with cash from our
operations. Wc expect to do so in 1999 through 2001 as well.

Our capital expenditures in 1998 were $327 million. Our projected capital expenditures for the next three years
are: 1999, $328 million; 2000, $317 million; and 2001, $300 million. These amounts include about $30-$ 35
millioneach yern for nuclear fuel. In general, most of the projcctcd capital expcnditurcs arc for:

~ expanding transmission and distribution capabilities to meet customer growth
~ upgrading existing utilityproperty and
~ environmental purposes.

In addition, we are considering expanding certain of our operations over the next several years, which may result
in additional expenditures. We currently believe that there will be opportunities to expand our investment in
generating assets in the next five years. It is expected that these generating assets would be organized in a newly
created non-regulated aQiliatc under Pinnacle West.

During 1998, wc redeemed about $ 145 million of long-tcrin debt and $76 million of preferred stock, including
premiums, with cash from operations and long- and short-tenn debt. Our long-term debt and preferred stock
redemption requirements and payment obligations on a capitalized lease for the next three years are: 1999, $260
million; 2000, $ 115 million; and 2001, $2 million. On March I, 1999, we redeemed all $95 million of our
outstanding preferred stock. Based on market conditions and optional call provisions, we may make optional
redemptions of long-term debt from time to time.
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As ofDecember 31, 1998, wc had credit commitments from various banks totaling about $400 million, which were

available either to support the issuance ofcommercial paper or to be used as bank borrowings. At the end of 1998,

we had about $ 179 millionofconunercial paper and $ 125 millionof long-term bank borrowings outstanding.

In 1998, we issued $ 100 million of unsecured long-term debt and in February 1999, we issued $ 125 million of
unsecured long-term debt.

Although provisions in our first mortgage bond indcnturc, articles of incorporation, and ACC financing orders

establish maximum'amounts of additional first mortgage bonds that we may issue, we do not expect any of these

provisions to limitour ability to meet our capital requirements.

Competition and Industry Restructuring

The electric industry is undergoing significant change. It is moving to a competitive, market-based structure from

a highly-regulated, cost-based environment in which companies have been entitled to recover their costs and to

earn fair returns on their invested capital in exchange for commitments to serve all customers within designated

service territories. In December 1996, the ACC adopted rules that provide a framework for the introduction of
retail electric competition in Arizona and adopted amendmcnts to the rules in August 1998. On JanuMy 11, 1999,

the ACC issued an order which stayed the amended rules and granted waivers from compliance with the rules to

all affecte utilitics (including us) pending further ACC decisions. On February 5, 1999, ACC hearing officers

issued recommendations for changes to the amended rules. These recommended changes were further amended by
an ACC Procedural Order dated March 12, 1999. See Note 3 for additional information about these rules and

other competitive developments, including an agreement with Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and

Power District (Salt River Project). We cannot currently predict when or if the amended rules will be further
modified, when the stay of thc amended rules willbe lifted, or when retail electric competition willbe introduced

in Arizona with respect to affecte utilities.

The rules as recommended indicate that the ACC will allow affected utilities the opportunity to fully recover

unmitigated stranded costs, but do'not set forth the mechanisms for determining and recovering such costs. On

June 22, 1998, thc ACC issued an order on stranded cost determination and recovery and on February 5, 1999, an

ACC hearing officer issued rccommcndcd changes to that order. These recommended changes were further
amended by an ACC Procedural Order dated March 12, 1999. See Note 3 for additional information on proposed

modifications to thc stranded cost order.

An Arizona joint legislative committee studied electric utilityrestructuring issues in 1996 and 1997. In May 1998,

a law was enacted to facilitate implcinentation of retail electric competition in the state. Additionally, legislation

related to electric competition has been proposed in the United States Congress. See Note 3 for a discussion of
legislative developments.

We believe that further ACC decisions, legislation at the Arizona and federal levels, and perhaps amendments to

thc Arizona Constitution willultimately bc required before significant implementation of retail electric competition

can lawfully occur in Arizona. Until it lias been determined how competition willbc implemented in Arizona,

including the manner in which stranded costs willbc addressed, we cannot accurately predict thc impact of full
retail competition on our financial position, cash flows, or results of operations. As competition in the electric

industry continues to evolve, wc will continue to evaluate strategies and alternatives that will position us to

compete effectively in a restructured industry.

Wc prepare our financial statements in accordance with Statement ofFinancial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.

71, "Accounting for the Effect of Certain Types of Regulation." SFAS No. 71 requires a cost-based, rate-

regulatcd enterprise to reflect the impact of regulatory decisions in its financial statements. Our existing regulatory

orders and the current regulatory environment support our accounting practices related to regulatory assets, which

amounted to about $900 million at December 31, 1998. Under the 1996 regulatory agrcemcnt, the ACC
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accelerated the amortization of substantially all of our regulatory assets to an eight-year period that will end June
30, 2004. Ifwc cease to be cost-based regulated, we would no longer be able to apply the provisions of SFAS No.
71 to part or all ofour operations, which could have a material impact on our financial statements. See Note 1 for
additional information on regulatory accounting.

Year 2000 Readiness Disclosure

Ovcrviciv As the year 2000 approaches, many companies face problems because many computer systems and
equipment willnot properly recognize calendar dates beginning with the year 2000. We are addressing the Year
2000 issue as described below. We initiated a comprehensive company-wide Year 2000 program during 1997 to
review and resolve all Year 2000 issues in mission critical systems (systems and equipment that are key to business
function, health, and safety) in a timely manner to ensure the reliability of electric service to our customers. This
included a company-wide aivarencss program of the Year 2000 issue.

The followingchart shows Year 2000 readiness ofour mission critical systems as ofJanuary 31, 1999:

Inventory Assessment Remediation 8r, Testing

100o/o 100'/o 70o/oo

* Estimated to be at 100'lo by June 30, 1999, except one Palo Verde unit as discussed below.
t

Discussion Wc have been actively implementing and replacing systems and technology since 1995 for general
business reasons unrelated to the Year 2000, and these actions have resulted in substantially all of our major
information technology gT) systems becoming Year 2000 ready. The major IT systems that were, and are being,
implemented and replaced include the following:

~, Work Management
~ Materials Management
~ Energy Management
~ Payroll
~ Financial
~ Human Resources
~ Trouble Call Management
~ Computer and Communications Network Upgrades
~ Geographic Information Management
~ Customer Information System and
~ Palo Verde Site Work Management.

We have made, and willcontinue to make, certain modifications to computer hardware and sofhvare systems and
applications, including IT'nd non-IT systems, in an effor to ensure they are capable of handling changing
business needs, including dates in the year 2000 and thereafter. In addition, we are analyzing other IT systems and
non-IT systems, including embedded technology and real-time process control systems, for potential modifications.

We have inventoried and assessed essentially all mission critical IT and non-IT systems and equipment. We are
70/o complete with the rcmcdiation and testing of these systems. Remediation and testing is expected to be
completed by Junc 30, 1999, for all mission critical systems, except for those items that can only be completed
during maintenance outages at Palo Verde, which will be completed for the last unit, which is substantially
identical to the other two units, during thc last half of 1999. We have an internal audit/quality review team that is
periodically reviewing the individual Year 2000 projects and their Year 2000 readiness.
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We currently estimate tliat we will spend about $5 million relating to Year 2000 issues, about $3 million of winch has

bccn spent to date. Tins includes an estimated allocation ofpayroll costs for our employees working on Year 2000 issues,

and costs for consultants, hardware, and sofhvare. We do not separately track other internal costs. Tlus does not include

costs incurred since 1995 to implement and replace systems for reasons unrelated to the Year 2000, as discussed above.

Our cost to address the Year 2000 issue is charged to operating expenses as incurred and has not had, and is not expected

to liave, a inaterial adverse cflect on our financial position, cash flows, or results ofoperations. We expect to fund this cost

with available cash balances and ash provided by operations.

We are communicating with our significant suppliers, business partners, other utilities, and large customers to
determine the extent to which we may be affected by these third parties'lans to rcmediate their own Year 2000

issues in a timely manner. We have been interfacing with suppliers of systems, services, and materials in order to

assess whether their schedules for analysis and remediation of Year 2000 issues are timely and to assess their
ability to continue to supply required services and materials.

We are also working with the North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) tlirough thc Western Systems

Coordinating Council (WSCC) to develop operational plans for stable grid operation that will be used by other
utilities and us in thc western United States. These plans arc expected to be completed by June 30, 1999.

However, we cannot currently predict the effec on us ifthe systems of these other companies are not Year 2000

ready.

Wc currently expect that our most reasonably likely worst case Year 2000 scenario would be intermittent loss of
power to customers, similar to an outage during a severe weather disturbance. In this situation, we would restore

power as soon as possible by, among other things, re-routing power flows. We do not currently expect that this
scenario would have a material adverse cffcct on our financial position, cash flows, or results ofoperations.

Wc are working to develop our own contingency plans to handle Year 2000 issues, including the most reasonably

likely worst case scenario, discussed above, and we expect these plans to be completed by June 30, 1999. As
discussed above, we have also been working with NERC and WSCC to develop contingency plans related to grid
operation.

Accounting Matters

Wc describe two new accounting rules in Note 2. First, the new rule on energy trading and risk management is

effectiv in 1999. Wc do not expect it to liavc a material impact on our financial results. Secondly, the new

standard on derivatives is effectiv for us in 2000. We are currently evaluating what impact it will have on our
financial statcrnents. Also, sce Note 13 for a description ofa proposed standard on accounting for certain liabilities
related to closure or removal of long-lived assets.

Risk Management

Our operations include managing market risks related to changes in interest rates, commodity prices, and

investments held by the nuclear decommissio'ning trust fund.

Intcrcst Rate and Equity Risk Our major financial market risk exposure is changing interest rates. Changing
interest rates willaffect interest paid on variable rate debt and interest earned by the nuclear decommissioning trust

fund. Our policy is to manage interest rates through the use of a combination of fixed and floating rate debt. The

miclear decommissioning fund also has risks associated with changing market values of equity investments.

Nuclear decommissioning costs are recovered in rates.

Thc tables below present contractual balances of our long-term debt and commercial paper at the expected maturity
dates as well as thc fair value of those instruments on Deceinber 31, 1998 and December 31, 1997. The weighted

average interest rates for the various debt presented are actual as ofDecember 31, 1998 and December 31, 1997.

25



Expected Maturity/Principal Repayment
Deccmbcr 31, 1998
(Thousands ofDollars)

Short-Term
Intcrcst

Rates Amount

Variable Lon -Term
Interest
Rates Amount

Fixed Lon
-Term'nterest

Rates Amount

1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
Years thereaAer
Total

Fair Value

6 21o/o $ 178 830

$ 178,830

$ 178,830

$

5 69o/o

3 39/o
$

$

125,000
456,860
581,860

581,860

7.24o/o $
5 79o/o

7 48o/o

8.13o/o

7.75o/o

$

$

164,378
114,711

2,488
125,000

1,058,963
1,465,540

1,525,900

Expcctcd Maturity/Principal Rcpaymcnt
Dccembcr 31, 1997
(Thousands of Dollars)

Short-Term
Interest

Rates Amount

Variable Lon -Term
Interest

Rates Amount

Fixed Lon -Term
Interest

Rates Amount

1998
1999
2000
2001 .

2002
Years thereaAer
Total

Fair Value

6.27/o $ 130,750

$ 130,750

$ 130,750

$

6.25o/o

3.62o/o

$

$

150,000
439,990
589,990

589,990

7.62/o $
7.25o/o

5 83o/o

7 48o/o

8.13/o
7.92o/o

$

$

104,068
164,378
104,711

2,488
125,000
973,628

1,474,273

1,504,417

Commodity Price Risk We utilize a variety of derivative instruments including exchange-traded futures, options,
and swaps as part ofour overall risk management strategies and for trading purposes. In order to reduce the risk of
adverse price fluctuations in the electricity and natural gas markets, we enter into futures and/or option
transactions to hedge certain natural gas held in storage as well as certain expected purchases and sales of natural
gas and electricity. The changes in market value of such contracts have a high correlation to the price changes in
thc hedged commodity. Gains and losses related to derivatives that qualify as hedges of expected transactions arc
recognized in income when the underlying hedged physical transaction closes (deferral method). Gains and losses
on derivatives utilized for trading are recognized in income on a current basis (the mark to market method).
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We have prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to the market risk of our derivative position for
natural gas and electricity. With respect to these derivatives, a potential adverse price movement of 10/o in the
market price of natural gas and electricity from the December 31, 1998 levels would decrease the fair value of these
instruments by approximately $ 1 million. This analysis does not include the favorable impact that the same
hypothetical price movement would have on expected physical purchases and sales ofnatural gas and electricity.

We are exposed to credit losses in the event of non-perforinance or non-payment by counterparties. We use a
credit management process to assess and monitor the financial viability of counterparties. We do not expect
counterparty defaults to materially impact our financial condition, results ofoperations, or nct cash flows.

Forward-Looking Statements

The above discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Words such as
"estimates," "expects," "anticipates," "plans," "believes," "projects," and similar expressions identify foiward-
looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the ongoing restructuring of the
electric industry; the outcome of the rcgulatoiy proceedings relating to the restructuring; regulatory, tax, and
environmental legislation; our ability to successfully compete outside our traditional regulated markets; regional
economic conditions, which could aflect customer growth; the cost of debt and equity capital; weather variations
aQecting customer usage; technological developments in the electric industry; and Year 2000 issues.

These factors and the other matters discussed above may cause future results to differ materially from historical
results, or from results or outcomes we currently expect or seek.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVEAND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUTMARKETRISK

See "Financial Review" in Item 7 for a discussion ofquantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

The primary responsibility for the integrity of the Company's financial information rests with management, which
has prepared the accompanying financial statements and related information. Such information was prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting'principles appropriate in the circumstances and based on
management's best estimates and judgments. Materiality was given due consideration. These financial statements
have been audited by indepcndcnt auditors and their report is included.

Management maintains and relics upon systems of internal accounting controls. A limitingfactor in all systems of
internal accounting control is that the cost of the system should not exceed the benefits to be derived. Management
believes that thc Company's system provides the appropriate balance between such costs and benefits.

Periodically thc internal accounting control system is reviewed by both the Company's internal auditors and its
indcpcndent auditors to test for compliance. Reports issued by the internal auditors are released to management,
and such reports or summaries thereof are transmitted to the Audit Review Committee of the Board of Directors
and the independent auditors on a timely basis.

The Audit Review Committcc, composed solely of outside directors, meets periodically with thc internal auditors
and independent auditors (as well as management) to review thc work of each. The internal auditors and
independent auditors have free access to the Audit Review Committee, without management present, to discuss the
results of their audit work.

Management believes that the Company's systems, policies, and procedures provide reasonable assurance that
operations are conducted in conforinity with the law and with management's commitment to a high standard of
business conduct.

William J. Post
Chief Executive Oflicer

George A. Schreiber, Jr.
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial OQicer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'EPORT

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Arizona Public Service Company as of December 31, 1998

and 1997 and the related statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for each of thc three years in the
period ended December 31, 1998. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perforin thc audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are frcc of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing thc accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Wc
believe that our midits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Company at December 31, 1998 and 1997 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 1998 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

~WM~m i'7e A ~c
Deloitte &Touche LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
March 4, 1999
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ARIZONAPUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Electric Operating Revenues.

1998

$ 2,006,398

Year Ended Dccembcr 31
1997

(Thousands of Dollars)

$ 1,878,553

1996

$ 1,718,272

Fuel Expenses:
Fuel for electric generation
Purchased power..

Total.

Operating Revenues Less Fuel Expenses ...

231,967
305,534

537,501

1 468 897

201,341
235 286

436 627

1 441 926

230,393
95,130

325,523

1 392 749

Other Operating Expenses:
Operations and maintenance excluding

fuel expenses.
Depreciation and amortization (Note 1) ....
Income taxes (Note 10).
Other taxes.

Total.

Operating Income.

Other Income (Deductions):
Allowance for equity funds used during

construction
Income taxes (Note 10).
Other —nct.

Total.

Income Before Intcrcst Deductions.....

414,041
376,574
192,207
115,264

1,098,086

370,811

32,751
{12,303)

20,448

391,259

399,434
365,671
184,737
120,259

1,070,101

371,825

31,413
(9,827

21,586

393,411

430,714
297,210
178;513
121,104

1,027,541

365,208

5,209
45,552

{15,544)
35,217

400,425

Interest Deductions:
Interest on long-term debt.
Interest on short-term borrowings..........
Debt discount,'remium and expense.....
Capitalized interest.

Total ..

137,214
7,481
7,580

(16,263)
136,012

140,931
9,404
7,791

(16,208)
141,918

147,666
10,621
8,176

(9,509)
156,954

Nct Income .

Prcfcrred Stock Dividend Requirements....
255,247

9,703
251,493

12,803
243,471

17,092

Earnings for Common Stock.

See Notes to Financial Statements.

$ 245,544 $ 238,690 $ 226,379
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ARIZONAPUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY
BALANCESHEETS

ASSETS

Dccembcr 31
1998 1997

(Thousands of Dollars)

UtilityPlant (Notes 5, 8 and 9):
Electric plant in service and held for future use ..
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Total
Construction work in progress
Nuclear fuel, net of amortization of $68,569

and $66,081.
UtilityPlant —net.

Investments and Other Assets (Note 13).

$ 7,265,604
2 814762

4,450,842
228,643

51 078
4 '730 563

183 549

$ 7,009,059
2 620 607

4,388,452
237,492

51 624
4 677 568

164 906

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:

Service customers..
Other.
Allowance for doubtful accounts..

Accrued utilityrcvcnues
Materials and supplies (at average cost).
Fossil fuel (at average cost).
Dcfcrred income taxes (Note 10) ..

Other
Total Current Assets .

5,558

205,999
23,213
(1,725)
67,740
69,074
13,978
3,999

26 695

414 531

12,552

141,022
31,313
(1,338)
58,559
70,634

9,621
3,496

24 529

350 3RR

Defcrrcd Debits:
Regulatory asset for income taxes (Note 10).
Rate synchronization cost deferral
Unamortized costs of reacquired debt.
Unamortized debt issue costs.
Other

Total Deferred Debits..
Total

400,795
303,660

53,744
14,916

291 541

1,064,656

$ 6,393,299

458,369
358,871

63,501
15,303

242 236

1,138,280

$ 6,331,142

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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ARIZONAPUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY
BALANCESHEETS

LIABILITIES

Dccembcr 31

1998 1997

(Thousands of Dollars)

Capitalization (Notes 4 and 5):
Conunon stock.
Additional paid - in capital.
Retained earnings.

Common stock equity.
Non-redeemable preferred stock .

Redeemable preferred stock
Long-term debt less current rnaturitics..

Total Capitalization.

$ 178,162
1,195,625

601 968

1,975,755
85,840

9,401
1 876 540

3 947 536

$ 178,162
1,142,364

528 798

1,849,324
142,051
29,110

1 953 162

3 973 647

Current Liabilities:
Commercial paper (Note 6)

'urrent maturitics of long-tenn debt (Note 5).
Accounts payable....
Accrued taxes
Accrued interest.
Customer deposits.
Other........... .... .

Total Current Liabilities..

178,830
164,378
145,139
59,827
31,218
26,815
16 755

622 962

130,750
104,068
107,423
85,886
31,660
29,116
19 588

508 491

Deferred Credits and Other:
Deferred income taxes (Note 10).

Deferred investment tax credit (Note 10)

Unamortized gain —sale ofutilityplant (Note 9)..

Customer advances for construction.
Other.

Total Deferred Credits and Other.

1,312,007
32,465
77,787
31,451

369 091

1 822 801

1,345,177
60,093
82,363
29,294

332 077

1 849 004

Commitmcnts and Contingencies (Note 12)

Total.. $ 6,393,299 $ 6,331,142
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ARIZONAPUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended Dcecmber 31
1998 1997

(Thousands of Dollars)
1996

Cash Flows from Operations:
Net income.
Items not requiring cash

Depreciation and amortization
Nuclear fuel amortization.
Allowance for equity funds used during construction....
Deferred income taxes —nct.
Deferred investment tax credit —net

Clrangcs in certain current assets and liabilities:
Accounts rcccivable —net
Accrued utilityrevenues..
Materials, supplies and fossil fuel.
Other current assets.
Accounts payable .........................................................
Accrued taxes..
Accrued interest.
Other current liabilities.

Other —net.
Net cash provided..

Cash Flows from Investing:
Capital cxpcnditurcs......
Capitalized interest.
Other .....................

Nct cash used

Cash Flows from Financing:
Long-term debt..
Short-term borrowings —net
Common equity infusion from parent
Dividends paid on comnton stock
Dividends paid on preferred stock..........................
Rcpaymcnt ofpreferred stock.
Repayment and reacquisition of long-term debt .....

Net cash used.

$ 255,247

376,574
32,856

(26,374)
(27,628)

(56,490)
(9,181)
(2,797)
(2,166)
33,731

(26,059)
(442)

(4,654)
(29,641)

512,976

(319,142)
(16,263)

(8,593)

(343,998)

126,245

48,080
50,000

(170,000)

(10,279)

(75,517)
(144,502)

(175,972)

$ 251,493

365,671
32,702

(55,278)
(27,630)

(11,069)
(3,089)
7,793

(1,762)
(56,710)

(441)
(7,455)
(3,997)
46,625

536,853

(307,876)
(16,208)

~15 982

~340 066

109,906

113,850

50,000

(170,000)

(13,307)

(47,201)
~240 004

196 756

$ 243,471

297,210
33,566
(5,209)

(12,717)
(27,630)

(33,044)
(1,951)
11,945
(4,928)
68,788

3,500
(2,565)

(522)
7,616

577,530

(258,598)
(9,509)

(102)

(268,209)

205,830

(160,900)
50,000

(170,000)

(17,416)
(50,360)

(172,343)

(315,189)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.....
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ofyear.............

(6,994)
12 552

31
12 521

(5,868)
18 389

Cash and cash equivalents at end ofyear. $ 5,558 $ 12,552 $ 12,521

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest (excluding capitalized interest).
Income taxes.

Sec Notes to Financial Statements.

$ 128,627
$235,475

$ 141,991
$ 236,676

$ 150,603
$ 158,553
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ARIZONAPUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS

1998
Year Ended Dccembcr 31

1997 1996

(Thousands of Dollars)

Retained earnings at beginning ofyear.
Add: Nct income..

Total..

$ 528,798 $ 460,106 $ 403,843
255,247 251,493 243,471

784,045 711,599 647,314

Deduct:
Dividends:

Common stock (Notes 4 and 5)
Preferred stock (at required rates) (Note 4) ....

Other.
Total deductions.

Retained earnings at end ofyear

Scc Notes to Financial Statements.

170,000
9,703
2,374

182,077

$ 601,968

170,000
12,801

182,801

$ 528,798

170,000
17,092

116

187,208

$ 460,106

APS
NOTES TO FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations Wc are Arizona's largest electric utility,with 799,000 customers. Wc provide wholesale or
retail electric service to the entire state ofArizona, with the exception ofTucson and about one-half of the Phoenix
area.

Accounting Records Our accounting records are maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires thc use of
estimates by managcmcnt. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Regulatory Accounting Wc arc regulated by the Arizona Corpomtion Commission (ACC) and thc Federal

Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). Thc accompanying financial statements reflec the rate-making policics
of these commissions. We prepare our financial statements in accordance with Statement ofFinancial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 71, "Accounting for thc Effect of Certain Types of Regulation." SFAS No. 71 requires a

cost-based, rate-regulated enterprise to rcflect the impact of regulatory decisions in its financial statements.

Our major regulatory assets arc deferred income taxes (see Note 10) and rate synchronization cost deferrals (sce

"Rate Synchronization Cost Dcfcrrals" in this Note). These items, combined with miscellaneous regulatory assets

and liabilities, amounted to approximately $900 million at December 31, 1998 and $ 1.0 billion at December 31,
1997. Most of these items arc included in "Dcferrcd Debits" on thc Balance Shccts. Under the 1996 regulatory
agrccmcnt (see Note 3), the ACC accelerated the amortization of substantially all of our regulatory assets to an

eight-year period that will end June 30, 2004. We record the accelerated portion of the regulatory asset

amortization, approximately $ 120 million prctax in 1998 and 1997 and $60 millionprctax in 1996, in depreciation

and amortization cxpensc on thc Statements of Income.
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APS
NOTES TO FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

During 1997, thc Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued
EITF 97-4. EITF 97-4 requires that SFAS No. 71 be discontinued no later than when legislation is passed or a rate
order is issued that contains sufficien detail to determine its effect on the portion of the business being
deregulated, which could result in write-downs or write-offs ofphysical and/or regulatory assets. Additionally, the
EITF determined that regulatory assets should not be written off ifthey are to be recovered from a portion of the
entity winch continues to apply SFAS No. 71.

Although rules have been proposed for transitioning generation services to competition, there are many unresolved
issues. Wc continue to apply SFAS No. 71 to our generation operations. Ifrate recovery of regulatory assets is no
longer probable, whether due to competition or regulatory action, we would be required to write off the remaining
balance as an extraordinary charge to expense.

Common Stock Allof thc outstanding shares ofour common stock are owned by Pinnacle West. See Note 4.

UtilityPlant and Depreciation Utilityplant is thc term we usc to describe the business property and equipment
tliat supports electric service. We rcport utilityplant at its original cost, which includes:

material and labor
contractor costs
construction overhead costs (where applicable) and
capitalized interest or an allowance for funds used during construction.

Wc charge retired utilityplant, plus reinoval costs less salvage realized, to accumulated depreciation. Sec Note 13

for information on a proposed accounting standard that impacts accounting for removal costs.

Wc record depreciation on utilityproperty on a straight-line basis. For the years 1996 through 1998 the rates, as
prescribed by our regulators, ranged from a low of 1.51/o to a high of 20/o. The weighted-average rate for 1998
was 3.32/0. We depreciate non-utility property and equipment over the estimated useful lives of the related assets,
ranging from 3 to 50 years.

Capitalized Interest In 1997 wc began capitalizing interest in accordance with SFAS No. 34, "Capitalization of
Interest Cost." Capitalized interest represents the cost of debt funds used to finance construction of utility plant.
Plant construction costs, including capitalized interest, are recovered in authorized rates through depreciation
when completed projects are placed into commercial operation. Capitalized interest does not represent current
cash earnings. The rate used to calculate capitalized interest for 1998 was 6.88/0 and for 1997 was 7.25'/o.

Prior to 1997 we accrued an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC). AFUDC represented the cost
of debt and equity funds used to finance construction of utility plant. AFUDC did not represent current cash
earnings. AFUDC lias been calculated using a composite rate of7.75/o for 1996.

Rcvenucs We record electric operating revenues on the accrual basis, wluch includes estimated amounts for
service rcndercd but unbillcd at thc end ofeach accounting period.

Rate Synchronization Cost Dcfcrrals As authorized by the ACC, operating costs (excluding fuel) and financing
costs of Palo Verde Units 2 and 3 werc dcfcrrcd from the commercial operation dates (September 1986 for Unit 2
and January 1988 for Unit 3) until thc date thc units werc included in a rate order (April 1988 for Unit 2 and
Deceniber 1991 for Unit 3). Beginning July 1, 1996, the deferrals are being amortized over an eight-year period in

36



APS
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accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement (sce Note 3). Prior to July 1, 1996, the defcrrals were amortized
over thirty-fiveyear periods. Amortization of the defcrrals is included in depreciation and amortization expense on
the Statements of Income.

Nuclear Fuel We charge nuclear fuel to fuel expense by using the unit-of-production method. The unit-of-
production method is an amortization method tliat is based on actual physical usage. We divide the cost of the fuel
by the estimated number of thermal units tliat wc expect to produce with that fuel. We then multiply that rate by
the number of therinal units that we produce within the current period. This provides us with current period
nuclear fuel expense.

We also charge nuclear fuel expense for the pcrinanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel. The United States
Department of Energy (DOE) is responsible for the perinanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel, and it charges us
$0.001 per kWh of nuclear generation. Sec Note 12 for information about spent nuclear fuel disposal. In addition,
Note 13 has information on nuclear decommissioning costs.

Reacquired Debt Costs When wc incur gains or losses on debt that we retire prior to maturity, we amortize those
gains and losses over the reinaining original life of the debt. In accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement
(see Note 3), the ACC accelerated our amortization of the regulatory asset for reacquired debt costs to an eight-year
period that will cnd Junc 30, 2004. Thc accelerated portion of the regulatory asset amortization is included in
depreciation and amortization cxpcnse in the Statcmcnts of Income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents For purposes of reporting cash flows, we define cash equivalents as highly liquid
debt instruments tliat willmature in three months or less.

ReclassiTications Wc have reclassified certain prior year amounts for comparison purposes with 1998.

2. Accounting Matters

In 1998 we adopted SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income." This standard changes thc reporting of
certain items previously rcportcd in thc common stock equity section of the balance sheet. The effects of adopting
SFAS No. 130 were not material to our financial statements.

In November 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF 98-10,
"Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Tmding and Risk Management Activities," which is effective for us
in 1999. EITF 98-10 requires energy trading contracts to be measured at fair value as of the balance sheet date
with the gains and losses included in earnings and separately disclosed in the financial statements or footnotes.
Wc have evaluated the impact of this nile and believe the effects are not material to our financial statements.

In June 1998, thc Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities," which is effective for us in 2000. SFAS No. 133 requires that entities
recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair
value. The standard also provides specific guidance for accounting for derivatives designated as hedging
instruments. We are currently evaluating what impact this standard willhave on our financial statements.
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3. Regulatory Matters

Electric Industry Restructuring

State In December 1996, the ACC adopted rules that provide a framework for the introduction of retail electric
competition in Arizona. The rules, as amended, became effective on August 10, 1998, and on December 10, 1998,

the ACC adopted the amended rules without any modifications that would have a significant impact on us. We
believe that certain provisions of the 1996 ACC rules and the amended rules are deficient and we have filed
lawsuits to protect our legal rights regarding the 1996 rules and the amended rules. These lawsuits are pending but
two related cases filed by other utilities have been partially decided in a manner adverse to those utilities'ositions.

On January 11, 1999, the ACC issued an order which stayed the amended rules, granted reconsideration of the
decision to make the rules pcrmancnt, and directed the hearing division of the ACC to establish a procedural order
for further action on these rules. The order also granted waivcrs from compliance with tlie rules for us, and all
aGectcd utilities.

On February 5, 1999, the ACC Hearing Division issued recommendations for changes to the amended rules. The
recommended changes to the amended rules werc further modified by a Procedural Order of the ACC Hearing
Division dated March 12, 1999. Thc rccommendcd rules include the following major provisions:

They would apply to virtually all Arizona electric utilities regulated by the ACC, including APS.

Each utility must make at least 200/0 of its 1995 retail peak demand available for competitive
generation supply.

The rules become effective when the ACC makes a final decision on each utility's stranded costs

and unbundled ntes (Final Decision Date) or January 1, 2001, whichever comes first.

Subject to the 20/0 requirement, all utilitycustomers with single premise loads of one megawatt
or greater willbe eligible for competitive electric services on the Final Decision Date. Customers
with single premise loads of 40 kilowatts or greater may aggregate loads to meet this one

megawatt requirement.

When effectiv, residential customers willbe phased in at li/i/oper quarter calculated beginning
on January 1, 1999, subject to thc 20/0 requirement above.

Electric service providers that get Certificates of Convenience and Necessity (CCANs) from the
ACC can supply only competitive services, including electric generation, but not electric
transmission and distribution.

3

Affected utilitics must file ACC tariffs with separate pricing for electric services provided for
noncompetitive services.

ACC shall allow a reasonable opportunity for recovery of unmitigated stranded costs (see
"Stranded Costs" below).
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~ Absent an ACC waiver, prior to January 1, 2001, each aQected utility must transfer all
competitive generation assets and services either to an unaQiliated party or to a separate
corporate aQiliate.

Affiliate transaction rules prohibit a utility and its competitive electric aQiliatcs from sharing
certain assets, employees, and information.

Ifapproved by the ACC, the rules would be subject to the formal rulemaking process under Arizona statute. In
compliance with statutory procedural requirements, ACC oral proceedings on the matter would be scheduled no
sooner than 30 days aAer the proposed rules arc published by the Secretary of State.

We cannot currently predict when or ifthe amended rules will be further modified, when thc stay of the amended
rules willbe lifted, or when retail electric competition willbe introduced in Arizona.

Stranded Costs On June 22, 1998, the ACC issued an Order on stranded cost determination and
recovery. We believe that certain provisions of the stranded cost order are deficient and in August 1998, we filed
two lawsuits to protect our legal rights relating to thc order.

On February 5, 1999, thc ACC Hearing Division issued recommended changes to the June 1998 stranded cost
order. These rccommcndcd changes werc further amended by an ACC Procedural Order dated March 12, 1999.
The recommended changes to the stranded cost order would be effectiv upon approval of the ACC. The
rccommcnded order, as amended on March 12, 1999, allows each affected utility to choose from five options for
thc recovery of stranded costs:

~ Net Revenues Lost Methodology is the diQerence between generation revenues under traditional
regulation and generation revenues under competition. This option provides for declining
recovery percentages for stranded costs over a five-year recovery period. Regulatory assets are to
be fully recovered under their presently authorized amortization schedule. In accordance with a
1996 regulatory agreement, the ACC accelerated the amortization of substantially all of our
regulatory assets to an eight-year period that ends June 30, 2004.

~ Divestiture/Auction Methodology allows a utilityto divest all or substantially all of its generating
assets, including regulatory assets associated with generation, in order to collect 100 percent of
the diffcrencc behveen net sales price and book value ofgenerating assets divested over a ten-year

period, with no return on the unamortized balance.

~ Firiancial Integrity Methodology allows a utility "suQicient revenues to meet minimum financial
ratios" for a period of ten years.

~ Settlement Methodology allows a scttlemcnt to bc agreed upon by the ACC and a utility.

~ Any combination of the above ifshown to be in the best interests ofall aQ'ected parties.

Legislative Initiatives An Arizona joint legislative committee studied electric utility industry
restructuring issues in 1996 and 1997. In conjunction with that study, the Arizona legislative counsel prepared
memoranda in late 1997 related to thc legal authority of thc ACC to deregulate the Arizona electric utility industry.
The memoranda raise a question as to the degree to which the ACC may, under the Arizona Constitution,
deregulate any portion of the electric utilityindustry and allow rates to bc determined by market forces. Tins latter
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issue has been subsequently dccidcd by lower courts in favor of the ACC in four separate lawsuits, two of which are
unrclatcd.

In May 1998, a law was enacted to facilitate implementation of retail electric competition in Arizona. The law
includes thc folloivingmajor provisions:

~ Arizona's largest government-operated electric utility (Salt River Project) and, at their option,
smaller municipal electric systems must (i) make at least 20% of their 1995 retail peak demand
available to electric service providers by D'ccember 31, 1998 and for all retail customers by
December 31, 2000; (ii) decrease rates by at least 10% over a ten-year period beginning as carly
as January I, 1991; (iii) implement procedures and public processes comparable to those already
applicable to public service corporations for establishing the terms, conditions, and pricing of
electric scrviccs as well as certain other decisions affecting retail clcctric competition;

~ describes thc factors whicli foiin the basis of consideration by Salt River Project in determining
stranded costs; and

~ metering and meter reading services must bc provided on a competitive basis during the first two
years of competition only for customers having demands in excess of one megawatt (and that arc
eligible for competitive generation services), and thercaAer for all customers receiving
competitive electric generation.

In addition, the Arizona legislature will review and make recommendations for the 1999 legislature on certain

competitive issues.

Agrccmcnt with Salt River Project On April 25, 1998, wc entered into a Memorandum of Agreement
with Salt River project in anticipation of, and to facilitate," thc opening of thc Arizona electric industry. The
Agreement contains thc followingmajor components:

~ Both parties would amend the Territorial Agrccmcnt to remove any barriers to the provision of
competitive electricity supply and nondistribution services.

~ Both parties would amend the Poivcr Coordination Agrccmcnt to lower the price that wc willpay
Salt River project for purchased poiver by approximately $ 17 million (prctax) during the first full
year that the Agrccmcnt is effcctivc and by lesser annual amounts during thc next seven years

Both parties agreed on certain legislative positions regarding electric utility restructuring at thc
state and federal level.

Certain provisions of the Agreement (including those relating to the amendments of the Territorial Agreement and thc
Power Coordination Agreement) arc aAected by the tinung of the introduction of competition. Sce "ACC Rules" above.

On Febru~ 18, 1999, the ACC approved the Agrcemcnt.

General Wc believe that further ACC decisions, legislation at thc Arizona and federal levels, and
perhaps amendmcnts to thc Arizona Constitution (which would require a vote of the people) will ultimately be
rcquircd before significant implementation of retail electric competition can lawfully occur in Arizona. Until the
manner of implementation of competition, including addressing stranded costs, is determined, we cannot
accurately predict the impact offull retail competition on our financial position, cash flows, or results ofoperation.
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As competition in the electric industry continues to evolve, we willcontinue to evaluate strategies and alternatives
that willposition us to compete in thc new regulatory environment.

Fcdcral The Energy Policy Act of 1992 and recent rulcmakings by FERC have promoted increased competition in
thc wholesale electric power markets. We do not expect these rules to have a material impact on our financial
statenicnts.

Several electric utility rcforin bills have been introduced during recent congressional sessions, which as currently
writtcit would allow consmners to choose their electricity suppliers by 2000 or 2003. These bills, other bills that
are expected to be introduced, and ongoing discussions at the federal level suggest a wide range ofopinion that will
need to be narrowed before any substantial restructuring of the electric utilityindustry can occur.

1996 Regulatory Agrccmcnt

In April 1996, the ACC approved a rcgulatoiy agreement between the ACC Staff and us. The major provisions of
this agreerncnt are:

An annual rate reduction of approximately $48.5 million ($29 million aAer income taxes), or
3.4% on average for all customers except certain contract customers, effective July 1, 1996.

Recovery of substantially all of our present regulatory assets through accelerated amortization
over an eight-year period that will cnd June 30, 2004, increasing annual amortization by
approximately $ 120 million ($72 million aAcr income taxes). See Note 1.

A formula for sharing future cost savings bctwecn customers and shareholders (price reduction
formula), rcfercncing a return on equity (as defined) of 11.25%.

A moratorium on filingfor pcrinanent rate changes prior to July 2, 1999, except under the price
reduction forinula and under certain other limited circumstances.

~ Infusion of$200 million of common equity into us by Pinnacle West, in annual payments of $50
million starting in 1996.

Based on tlic price reduction formula, the ACC approved retail price decreases of approximately $ 17.6 million
($ 10.5 million aAer income taxes), or 1.2%, effective July 1, 1997, and approximately $ 17 million ($ 10 million
after income taxes), or 1.1%, effective July 1, 1998. We expect to file with the ACC for another retail price
decrease of approximately $ 10.8 million annually ($6.5 million after income taxes) to become cQ'ective July 1,

1999. The amount and timing of the price decrease are subject to ACC approval. This will be the last price
decrease under thc 1996 regulatory agreement.
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4, Common and Preferred Stocks

On March 1, 1999, we redeemed all ofour preferred stock. Common and preferred stock balances at December 31,
1998 and 1997 are shown below:

Authorized

Number
of Shares

Outstandln
1998 1997

Par
Value
Per
Share

Cau
Par Value Price

Outstandln Per
1999 1999 ~Shara a

tThousands olDollars)

Conunon Stock..... 100,000,000 71,264,947 71,264,947 $ 2.50 $ 178,162 $ 178,162

Preferred Stock:
Non-Redecmablc:
$ 1.10..
$2.50..
$2.36..
$4.35..
Serial preferred ............

$2.40 Series A ......
$2.625 Series C.......
$2.275 Series D......
$3.25 Series H.......

Serial preferred ............
Adjustable rate-

Serics Q................
Serial preferred ............

$ 1.8125 Series W......

Total.....

160,000
105,000
120,000
150,000

1,000,000

4,000,000(b)

10,000,000

139,030
86,440
32,520
62,986

200,587
214,895

90,691
304,475

145,559
97,252
38,506
68,386

234,839
231,572
164,101
312,991

$ 25.00 $3,476 $ 3,639 $ 27.50
50.00 4,322 4,863 51.00
50.00 1,626 1,925 51.00

100.00 6399 6,839 102.00

50.00 10,029 11,742 50.50
50.00 10,745 11,579 51.00
50.00 4,534 8405 50.50
50.00 15,224 15,649 51.00

295,851 352,851 100.00 29,585 35+85 (c)

1,693,016 25.00 — 42,325

1,427,475 3,339,073 $ 85,840 $ 142,051

Redeemable:
Serial preferred:

$ 10.00 Series U.... 94,011 291,098 $ 100.00 $ 9,401 $ 29,110

(a) The actual call price per share is the indicated amount plus any accrued dividends.

(b) This authorization also covers all oulstanding redeemable preferred stock

(c) Dividend rate adjusted quarterly lo 2YO below that ofcertain United Slates Treasury securities, but in no event
less than 6Yo or greater lhan 12Yo per annum. Redeemable at par.
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We cannot pay common stock dividends or acquire shares of common stock ifpreferred stock dividends or sinking
fund requirements are in arrears.

Redeemable preferred stock transactions during each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998 arc

as follows:

Dcscri tion 1998

Number of Shares
Outstandin

1997 1996

Par Value
0utstandin

(Thousands of Dollars)
1998 1997 1996

Balance, January 1........
Retirements:

$ 10.00 Series U......
$7.875 Series V......

Balance, December 31....

(197,087)

94,011

(118,902) (90,000)
(120,000) ~(130.000

291,098 530,000

291,098 530,000 750,000 $29,110 $53,000 $75,000

(19,709) (11,890) (9,000)
(12,000) ~(13,000

$ 9,401 $29,110 $53,000
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5. Long-Term Debt

The following table presents long-term debt outstanding:

Interest
Rates

December 31
1998 1997

(Thousands of Dollars)

First mortgage bonds

Unamortized discount and premium
Pollution control bonds

Collateralizcd loan

Unsecured note
Senior notes(c)
Senior notes(c)

1998
1999
2000

" 2002
2004
2020
2021

2021'023

2024
2025
2028
2028

2024-2033

1999-2000

2005
1999
2006

7 625%
7.625%
5.75%

8 125%
6 625%
10.25%
95%

7.25%
8.75%

8%
5.5%

5.875%

Adjustable
rate (b)
5.375%-
6.125%
6 25%
6.72%
6.75%

$
100,000
100,000
125,000
85,000

100,550
45,140
72,370
91,900

121,668
88,300
25,000

154,000
(6,482)

456,860

20,000

100,000
50,000

100,000

$ 100,000
100,000
100,000
125,000
85,000

109,550
45,140
72,370
97,150

121,918
88,500
25,000

154,000
(7,033)

439,990

10,000

50,000
100,000

Debentures
Bank loans

2025
2003

Capitalized lease obligation 1998-2001
Total long-term debt

Less current maturities
Total long-term debt less current maturitics

10%
Adjustable

rate (d)
7 48% (e)

75,000
125,000

75,000
150,000

15,64511,612
2,040,918

164,378
2,057,230

104,068
$ 1,876,540 $ 1,953,162

(n) This schedule does not reflect the tinu'ng ofredemptions that may occur prior to maturity.

(b) The weighted-average rate for the years ended December 31, 1998 was 3.39% and for December 31, 1997
was 3. 62%. Changes in short-term interest rates would affect the costs associated with this debt.
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(c) lVe issued $ 150 inillionoffirst mortgage bonds ("senior note mortgage bonds") to the senior note trustee as
collateral for tlie senior notes. The senior note mortgage bonds have the same interest rate, interest payment
dates, maturity, and redemption provisions as the senior notes. Our payments ofprincipal, premium, and/or
interest on the senior notes satisfy our corresponding payment obligations on the senior note mortgage bonds.

As long as the senior note niortgage bonds secure the senior notes, the senior notes will effectively rank
equally with the Jirst mortgage bonds. lVhen we repay all ofour Jirst mortgage bonds, other than those that
secure senior notes, the senior note mortgage bonds willno longer secure the senior notes and willcease to
be outstanding.

(d) The weighted-average rate at Deceinber 31, 1998 was 5.69Yo and at December 31, 1997 was 6.25Y0. Changes
in short-term interest rates would affect the costs associated with this debt.

(e) Represents tlie present value offuture lease payments (discounted at an interest rate of7.48Yo) on a combined
cycle plant that was sold and leased back (see 1Vote 9).

Principal payments due on total long-term debt and sinking fund requirements over the next five years are:

$ 164.4 million in 1999

$ 114.7 million in 2000
$2.5 million in 2001

$ 125 million in 2002 and
$ 125 million in 2003.

First mortgage bondholdcrs have a lien on substantially all utility plant assets (other than nuclear fuel,
transportation equipment, and the combined cycle plant). The mortgage bond indenture restricts the payment of
common stock dividends under certain conditions. These conditions did not exist at December 31, 1998.

6. Lines of Credit

We had cotmnitted lines of credit with various banks of $400 million at December 31, 1998 and 1997, which were
available either to support the issuance of commercial paper or to be used for bank borrowings. The commitment
fees at Dcccmbcr 31, 1998 and 1997 for these lines of credit ranged from.07/o to.lSN per annum. We had long-
tcrtn bank borrowings of $ 125 million outstanding at December 31, 1998, and $ 150 million outstanding at
December 31, 1997.

Our commercial paper borrowings outstanding were $ 178.8 million at December 31, 1998, and $ 130.8 million at
Dcccmbcr 31, 1997. The weighted average interest rate on commercial paper borrowings was 6.21/0 on December

31, 1998 and 6.27N on December 31, 1997. By Arizona statute, our short-term borrowings cannot exceed 7/0 of
our total capitalization unless approved by the ACC.

7. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Wc believe that thc cartying amounts of our cash equivalents and commercial paper are reasonable estimates of
their fair values at December 31, 1998 and 1997 due to their short maturitics. We hold investments in debt and

equity securities for purposes other than trading. The December 31, 1998 and 1997 fair values of these

investmcnts, which wc detcrminc by using quoted market values or by discounting cash flows at rates equal to our
cost ofcapital, approximate their carrying amounts.
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Thc carrying value ofour long-tenn debt (excluding a capitalized lease obligation) was $2.03 billion on December
31, 1998, with an estimated fair,value of $2.11 billion. On December 31, 1997, thc carrying value of our long-
tenn debt (excluding a capitalized lease obligation) was $2.04 billion, with an estimated fair value of $2.08 billion.
The fair value estimates arc based on quoted market prices of the same or similar issues.

8, Jointly-Owned Facilitics

We share ownership of some of our generating and transmission facilities with other companies. The following
table shows our interest in those jointly-owned facilities at December 31, 1998. Our share of operating and
maintaining these facilities is included in the income statement in operations and maintenance expense.

Percent
Owned by

~Ccm )an

Construction
Plant in Accumulated Work in
Sercicc ~Dc reciaiicn ~Pro recc

(Thousands of Dollars)
Generating Facilitics:

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station
Units 1 and 3

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station
Unit 2 (sec Note 9)

Four Corners Stcam Generating Station
Units,4 and 5

Navajo Steam Generating Station
Units 1, 2, and 3

Cholla Steam Generating Station
Common Facilitics (b)

Transmission Facilities:
ANPP 500KV Systetn
Navajo Southern System
Palo Verde-Yuma 500KV System
Four Corners Switchyards
Phoenix-Mead System

29 1%

17.0%

15.0%

14 0%

62.8%(c)

35.8%(c)
31.4%(c)
23.9%(c)
27.5%(c)
17.1%(c)

568,184

150,165

203,356

67,513

224,502

69,764

90,237

37,096

66,547
26,918
11,376
3,071

36,324

20,282
17,285
4,215
1,780

536

$ 1,821,620 $670,403 $20,152

9,839

312

25,560(a)

267

1,384
21

143

(a) The construction costs at Navajo are primarily related to the installation of scrubbers required by
environmental legislation.

(b) PaciJiCorp owns Cholla Unit 4 and we operate the unitfor them. The common facilities at the Cholla Plant
arejointly-owned.

(c) lVeighted average ofinterests.
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9. Lcascs

ln 1986, wc sold about 42'/0 ofour sharc ofPalo Verde Unit 2 and certain common facilities in three separate sale
leaseback transactions. We account for these lemes as operating leases. The gain of approximately $ 140.2 million
was deferred and is being amortized to operations expense over 29.5 years, the original term of the leases. There
arc options to renew the Icascs for two additional years and to purchase the property for fair market'value at the
cnd of the lease terms. Consistent with the ratemaking trcattnent, an amount equal to the annual lease payments is
included in rent expense. A regulatory asset is recognized for the differenc between lease payments and rent
expense calculated on a straight-line basis.

The average amounts to be paid for the Palo Verde Unit 2 leases are as follows:

Year (In millions)

1999
2000
2001-2015

$ 40.1
46.3
49.0

In accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note 3), the ACC accelerated our amortization of the
regulatory asset for Icascs to an eight-year period that will end June 30, 2004. The accelerated amortization is
included in depreciation and amortization expense on the Statements of Income. The balance of this regulatory
asset at December 31, 1998 was $48.5 million. Lease cxpensc was approximately $42 million in each of thc years
1996 through 1998.

We have a capital lease on a combined cycle plant, which we sold and leased back. The lease requires semiannual
payn>cuts of $2.6 tnillion through June 2001, and includes renewal and purchase options based on fair market
value. Thc plant is included in plant in service at its original cost of $54.4 million; accumulated amortization at
December 31, 1998 was $48.6 million.

In addition, wc lease certain land, buildings, equipmcnt, and miscellaneous other items through operating rental
agrccments with varying terms, provisions, and expiration dates.

Approximate miscellaneous lease expense was:

$9.6 million in 1998

$7.8 million in 1997 and
$9.7 million in 1996.
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Estimated future minimum lease commitments, excluding thc Palo Verde and combined cycle leases, are as

follows:

Year (in millions)

1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
ThercaAcr
Total future commitments

$ 13

13

14

14

13

91

$~8
10. Income Taxes

Wc are included in Pinnacle West's consolidated tax return. However, when Pinnacle West allocates income taxes

to us, it does so based on our taxable income or loss alone. Because of a 1994 rate settlement agrccment, we'are

amortizing ahnost all ofour investment tax credits (ITCs) over 5 years (1995-1999).

Certain assets and liabilities are reported differently for income tax purposes than they are for financial statements.

Thc tax effect of these difference is recorded as deferred taxes. We calculate deferred taxes using the current

income tax rates.

Wc have recorded a regulatory asset on our Balance Sheet in accordance with SFAS No. 71. Tlus regulatory asset

is for certain temporary differences, primarily AFUDC equity. We amortize this amount as thc diffcrcnccs reverse.

Wc have been able to accelerate the amortization of the regulatory asset for income taxes to an eight-year period

that willend June 30, 2004. This is a result of a 1996 regulatory agreement with the ACC. We arc including this

accelerated amortization in depreciation and amortization expense on the Statements of Income.

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

Year Ended Dcccmbcr 31

1998 1997 1996

(Thousands of Dollars)

Current:
Federal.
State..

Total current

Dcfcrrcd.
Change in valuation allowance..
Investmcnt tax credit amortization.

Total expense ..........................

$ 170,806
42,652

213,458

(26,374)

(27,628)

$ 159,456

$ 187,701
48,531

236,232

(55,278)

(27,630)

$ 153,324

$ 137,531
35,777

173,308

(869)
(11,848)
(27,630)

$ 132,961
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Multiplying income before income taxes by the statutory federal income tax rate does not equal thc amount
recorded as income tax expense because of the following:

1998
Year Ended December 31

1997 1996
(Thousands of Dollars)

Federal income tax expense at 35/0 statutory rate.............
Increases (reductions) in tax expense resulting from:

Tax under book depreciation.
Investment tax credit amortization.
State income tax —net of federal income tax benefit....
Cliangc in valuation allowance
Other.

Incornc tax cxpcnse..............................

$ 145,146

17,848
(27,628)
23,024

1,066

$ 159,456

$ 141,686

14,694
(27,630)
23,160

1 414

$ 153,324

$ 131,751

19,229
(27,630)
20,790

(10,269)
(9 10)

$ 132,961

Thc components of the nct dcferrcd income tax liabilitywerc as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
Dcferrcd gain on Palo Vcrdc Unit 2 sale/leaseback
Other

Total deferred tax assets.

$ 31,285
74,292

105,577

$ 33,257
77,412

110,669

Deccmbcr 31

1998 1997
(Thousands of Dollars)

Dcfcrred tax liabilities:
Plant related.
Regulatory asset for incornc taxes ..
Rate synchronization deferrals.
Other

Total deferred tax liabilities..........

Deferred income taxes —net

1,112,897
161,836
122,130

16,722

1,413,585

$ 1,308,008

1,096,222
185,084
144,908
26,136

1,452,350

$ 1,341,681

11. Retircmcnt Plans and Other Benefits

Voluntary Sevcrancc Plan Wc sponsored a voluntary severance plan in 1996. There was a pretax charge of
$31.7 million in 1996 rccordcd mostly as operations and maintenance expense. This pretax charge included
additional pension and postrctirement benefit expense. Employees who participated in the plan were credited with
an additional year of age and service when their pension and postretirement benefits were calculated. The
additional expenses recorded in 1996 for this plan werc $2.3 million for pension and $5.4 million for
postretircmcnt benefits.

Pension Plan We sponsor a defined benefit pension plan for our employees. A defined benefit plan specifies the
amount ofbenefits a plan participant is to receive using inforination about the participant. The plan covers nearly
all APS employees. Our cmployces do not contribute to this plan. Generally, we calculate the benefits under this
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plan based on age, years of service, and pay. We fund the plan by contributing at least the minimum amount
required under Internal Revenue Service regulations but no more than the maximum tax-deductible amount: The"
assets in the plan at December 31, 1998 were mostly domestic and international common stocks and bonds and real
estate. Pension expense, including administrative and severance costs, was:

~ $9.8 million in 1998
~ $8.7 million in 1997 and
~ $ 14.9 million in 1996.

The following table shows the components of net pension cost before consideration of amounts capitalized or billed
to others and excluding severance costs of$2.9 million in 1996:

1998 1997 1996

(Thousands of Dollars)

Service cost —benefits earned during the period .....
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation............
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of:

Transition asset.
Prior service cost.
Nct actuarial losses ..

Net periodic pension cost.

$24,126
50,863

(53,883)

(3,216)
2,063

319 933

$ 19,881
47,824

(47,422)

(3,216)
2,063

319 130

$22,861
44,602

(41,958)

(3,216)
1,727

721

$24,737

The following table shows a reconciliation of the funded status of the plan to the amounts recognized in the
balance sheets:

1998 1997
(Thousands ofDollars)

Funded status —Pension plan assets less than projected benefit obligation ...

Unrecognized net transition asset.

Unrecognized prior service cost.

Unrecognized net actuarial losses/(gains)

Net pension amount recognized in the balance sheets.

$ (38,957)

(23,159)
22,562

(38,916)

$ (78,470)

$ (87,208)

(26,376)
24,625

16,989

$ (71,970)
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The following table sets forth the defined benefit pension plan's change in projected benefit obligation for the plan
years 1998 and 1997:

Projected pension benefit obligation at beginning ofyear.

Service cost.

Interest cost.

Benefit payments .

Plan amendments..

Actuarial losses/(gains) ..

Projcctcd pension benefit obligation at cnd ofyear

1998
(Thousands

$699,600

24,126

50,863

(29,384)

23 976

$721,229

1997
of Dollars)

$601,094

19,881

47,824

(29,741)

5,537

55 005

$699,600

The following table sets forth the defined benefit pension plan's change in the fair value ofplan assets for the plan
years 1998 and 1997:

Fair value of pension plan assets at beginning ofyear

Actual return on plan assets

Einploycr contributions ..

Benefit payments

Fair value ofpension plan assets at end ofyear .

1998 1997

(Thousands of Dollars)
$612,392 $533,444

85,764 87,583

13,500 21,106

~29 384 ~29 741

$682,272 $612,392

We made the assumptions below to calculate the pension liability:
Discount rate ..

Rate of increase in compensation levels.
Expcctcd long-tcrin rate of return on assets..

7.00'/o
3 50o/o

10 00o/o

7 25o/o

4.50o/o

9 00ol

Employcc Savings Plan Benefits Wc also sponsor a defined contribution savings plan that is offered to nearly all
APS cmployecs. In a defined contribution plan, the benefits a participant is to receive result from regular
contributions to a participant account. Under this plan, we make matching contributions to participant accounts.

We recorded expenses for this plan of:

~ $3.9 million in 1998
~ $3.7 million in 1997 and
~ $3.4 million in 1996.

Postrctircment Plans We provide medical and life insurance benefits to retired employees. Employees must

retire to become eligible for these retirement benefits, which are based on years ofservice and age. For the medical

insurance plans, retirecs make contributions to cover a portion of the plan costs. For the life insurance plan,
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retirees do not'make contributions to cover a portion of the plan costs. We retain the right to change or eliminate
these benefits.

Funding is based upon actuarially determined contributions that take tax consequences into account. Plan assets
consist primarily ofdomestic stocks and bonds. The postretirement benefit expense was:

$8.7 million for 1998

$ 9.4 millionfor 1997 and
$ 15.8 millionfor 1996.

The following table shows the components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs before consideration of
ainounts capitalized or billed to others and excluding severance costs of$9.6 million in 1996:

1998 '997 1996
(Thousands of Dollars)

Service cost —benefits earned during thc period ....
Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation........
Expected return on plan assets.
Amortization of:

Transition obligation..
Net actuarial gains

Net periodic postretiremcnt benefit cost.

$ 7,676
15,610

(12,001)

7,652
(2,927)

$ 16,010

$ 6,865
14,315
(8,706)

7,652
(2,647)

$ 17,479

$ 7,974
13,395
(6,696)

8,223
(1,344)

$21,552

The following table shows a reconciliation of the funded status of the plan to the amounts recognized in the
balance sheets:

1998 , 1997

, (Thousands ofDollars)

Funded status —postretirement plan assets less than accumulated benefit
obligation.
Unrccognizcd net obligation at transition ..

Unrecognized nct actuarial gains

Net postretirement amount recognized in the balance sheets .

$ (21,912)
107,134

~86 131

$~909

$ (46,435)
114,787

(78,209)

$~9837
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The following table sets forth the postretirement benefit plan's change in accumulated benefit obligation for the
plan years 1998 and 1997:

Accumulated postretirctnent benefit obligation at beginning ofyear.....

Service cost.

Interest cost.

Benefit payments .

Actuarial losses.

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at end ofyear.

1998
(Thousands

$ 197,581

7,676

15,610

(10,347)
24 802

$235,322

1997
of Dollars)

$ 179,550

6,865

14,315

(6,732)
3 383

$ 197,581

The following table sets forth thc postretiremcnt bcncfit plan's change in the fairvalue ofplan assets for the plan
years 1998 and 1997:

Fair value ofpostretircment plan assets at bcginiung ofyear.

Actual return on plan assets.

Employer contributions.

Benefit payments .

Fair value ofpostrctircment plan assets at end ofyear

1998 1997

(Thousands of Dollars)
$ 151,146 $ 109,763

47,284 30,846

25,327 17,269

~10 347 ~6732
$213,410 $ 151,146

We made the assumptions below to calculate the postretircrnent liability:
Discount rate ................................ 7.00o/o 7.25/o
Expected long-term nte of return on assets-after tax. 8 73o/o 7.75o/o

Initial health care cost trend rate - under age 65. 7.50o/o 8 00/o
Initial health care cost trend rate - age 65 and over 6.50o/o 7.00o/o

Ultimate health care cost trend rate (reached in the year 2002) 5.00o/o 5.00o/o

Assuming a 1'/o increase in the health care cost trend rate, the 1998 cost of postrctiremcnt benefits other than
pensions would increase by approximately $5 million and the accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31,:
1998 would increase by approximately $37 million.

Assuming a lo/o dccrcase in the health care cost trend rate, the 1998 cost of postrctircment benefits other than

pensions would decrease by approximately $4 million and the accumulated benefit obligations as of December 31,
1998 would decrease by approximately $32 million.
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12. Commitmcnts and Contingencies

Litigation We are a party to various claims, legal actions, and complaints arising in the ordinary course of
business. In our opinion, the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse eQ'ect on our
financial statements.

Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station Under thc Nuclear Waste Policy Act, DOE was to develop the facilities
necessary for thc storage and disposal of spent fuel and to have the first such facility in operation by 1998. That
facilitywas to be a permanent repository, but DOE has announced that such a repository now cannot be completed
before 2010. In response to lawsuits filed over DOE's'bligation to accept used nuclear fuel, the United States
Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit luis ruled tliat DOE had an obligation to begin accepting used nuclear fuel in
1998. However, thc Court refused to issue an order compelling DOE to begin moving used fuel. Instead, the Court
ruled that any damages to utilities should be sought under the standard contract signed between DOE and utilities,
including APS. The United States Supreme Court has refused to grant review of the D.C. Circuit's decision. In
July 1998, we filed a Petition for Review regarding DOE's obligation to begin accepting spent nuclear fuel.

We have capacity in existing fuel storage pools at Palo Verde which, with certain modifications, could
accommodate all fuel expected to be discharged from normal operation of Palo Verde through about 2002, and
believe we could augment that wet storage with ncw facilitics for on-site dry storage of spent fuel for an
indeterininate period of operation beyond 2002, subject to obtaining any required governmental approvals. We
currently estimate tliat we will incur $ 113 million (in 1998 dollars) over the life ofPalo Verde for our share of the
costs related to thc on-site interim storage of spent nuclear fuel. Beginning in 1999, we willaccrue these costs as a
component offuel expense, meaning the charges willbe accrued as the fuel is burned. During 1998, we recorded a
liability and a regulatory asset of $35 million for on-site interim nuclear fuel storage costs related to nuclear fuel
burned prior to 1999. We currently believe that spent fuel storage or disposal methods willbe availablc for use by
Palo Verde to allow its continued operation beyond 2002.

The Palo Verde participants have insurance for public liability resulting from nuclear energy hazards to the full
limit of liability under fcdcral law. This potential liability is covered by primary liability insurance provided by
commercial insurance carriers in the amount of $200 million and thc balance by an industry-wide retrospective
assessment program. Iflosses at any nuclear power plant covered by the programs exceed the accumulated funds,
we could bc assessed retrospective premium adjustments. The maximum assessment per reactor under thc program
for each nuclear incident is approxiniately $ 88 million, subject to an annual limit of $ 10 million pcr incident.
Based upon our 29.1~/o interest in the three Palo Verde units, our maximum potential assessment per incident for
all three units is approximately $77 million, with an annual payment limitation ofapproximately $ 9 million.

The Palo Verde participants maintain "all risk" (including nuclear hazards) insurance for property damage to,
and decontamination of, property at Palo Verde in the aggrcgatc amount of $2.75 billion, a substantial portion of
which must first be applied to stabilization and decontamination. We have also secured insurance against portions
of any increased cost of generation or purchased power and business interruption resulting from a sudden and
unforcsecn outage ofany of the three units. The insurance coverage discussed in tlus and the previous paragraph is
subject to certain policy conditions and exclusions.

Fuel and Purchased Power Commitmcnts We are a party to various fuel and purchased power contracts with
tcrins expiring from 1999 through 2020 that include rcquircd purchase provisions. Wc estimate our 1999 contract
requirements to be about $ 132 million. However, this amount may vary significantly pursuant to certain provisions
in such contracts that permit us to decrease our rcquircd purchases under certain circumstances.
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We must reimburse certain coal providers for amounts incurred for coal mine reclamation. Wc estimate our share
of the total obligation to be about $ 103 million. The portion of thc coal mine reclamation obligation related to coal
already burned is about $62 million at Dcccmber 31, 1998 and is included in "Deferred Credits —Other" in the
Balance Sheet. A regulatory asset has bccn established for amounts not yct recovered from ratcpayers. In
accordance with the 1996 regulatory agreement (see Note 3), the ACC began accelerated amortization of our
regulatory asset for coal mine reclamation costs over an eight-year period that will cnd June 30, 2004.
Amortization is included in depreciation and amortization expense on the Statements of Income. The balance of
the regulatory asset at December 31, 1998 was about $51 million.

Construction Program Total capital expenditures in 1999 are estimated at $328 million.

13. Nuclear Decommissioning Costs

We recorded $ 11.4 million for decommissioning expense in each of the years 1998, 1997, and 1996. We estimate
it will cost about $ 1.8 billion ($452 million in 1998 dollars) to decommission our 29.1'/o share of the three Palo
Verde units. The decommissioning costs are expected to bc incurred over a 14-year period beginning in 2024. We
cliarge decommissioning costs to expense over each unit's operating license term and include them in the
accumulated depreciation balance until each unit is retired. Nuclear decommissioning costs are rccovercd in rates.

Our current estimates arc based on a 1998 site-specific study for'Palo Verde that assumes the prompt
removal/dismantlement method of dccomrnissioning. An independent consultant prepared tlus study for us. We
are required to update the study every three years.

To fund thc costs wc expect to incur to decommission the plant, we established external trusts in accordance with
Nuclear Regulatory Conunission (NRC) regulations. Thc trust accounts are reported in "Investments and Other
Assets" in our Balance Sheets at their market value of $ 145.6 million at Dcccmber 31, 1998 and $ 124.6 million at
December 31, 1997. Wc invest the trust funds primarily in fixed-income securities and domestic stock and classify
them as available for sale. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are rcfiected in accumulated depreciation.

In February 1996, the FASB issued an exposure draft, "Accounting for Certain Liabilities Related to Closure or
Removal of Long-Lived Assets." This proposed standard would require the estimated present value of the cost of
decommissioning and certain other removal costs to bc recorded as a liability, along with an offsetting plant asset

when a decommissioning or other removal obligation is incurred. The FASB has indicated that a revised exposure
draft willbe issued in 1999.
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14. Sclccted Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Quarterly financial information for 1998 and 1997 is as follows:

uartcr Ended

1998
March 31

June 30
September 30
Deccrnber 31

1997
March 31
Junc 30
September 30
December 31

Electric
Operating
Revenues

$380,423
441,715
740,734
443,526

$379,021
458,751
632,821
407,960

$ 31,935
52,184

133,193
37,935

$61,439
99,706

150,892
59,788

$28,645
69,493

129,699
23,656

Operating Net
~Income a Income

(Thousands of Dollars)

$ 63,541
81,299

155,079
70,892

Earnings
for

Common Stock

$ 29,057
49,749

130,846
35,892

$25,019
66,298

126,715
20,658

(a) Our utilitybusiness is seasonal in nature,'ith the peak sales periods generally occurring during the summer
months. Comparisons among quarters ofa year may not represent overall trends and changes in operati ons.
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15. Stocl< Options

Our parent company, Pinnacle West Capital Corpomtion, offers several stock incentive plans for our officers, our
parent company's officers, and kcy employees.

The plans provide for the granting of new options or awards of up to 3.5 million shares at a price per option not
less than fair market value on the date the option is granted. The plans also provide for the granting of any
combination of stock appreciation rights or dividend equivalents. The awards outstanding under the various
incentive plans at December 31, 1998 approximate 1,497,012 non~ualified stock options, 158,121 restricted
shares, and no dividend equivalent shares, incentive stock options, or stock appreciation rights.

The FASB issued SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," which was effectiv beginning in
1996. This statement encourages, but does not require, that a company record compensation expense based on thc
fair value method. Wc continue to recognize expense based on Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees." Ifwe had rccordcd compensation expense based on the fair value
method, our nct income would liave been reduced to the followingpro fonna amounts:

1998 1997 199'>

(Thousands of Dollars)

Net income
As reported.
Pro forma (fair value method) ...

$255,247
$254,640

$251,493
$251,142

$243,471
$243,291

We did not consider compensation costs for stock options granted before January 1, 1995. Therefore, future
rcportcd nct income may not be rcprcscntativc of this compensation cost calculation.

In order to present the pro fonna information above, wc calculated the fair value of each fixed stock option in the
incentive plans using thc Black-Scholcs option-pricing model. Thc fair value was calculated based on the date thc
option was granted. Thc following weighted-average assumptions were also used in order to calculate the fair
value of the stock options:

199S 1997 199'>

Risk-free interest rate.....
Dividend growth.
Volatility.
Erected life (months) ...

4.54%
3.03%

18.80%
60

5.66%
4 50%

15.63%
60

5.77%
4.50%

17.10%
58
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITHACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIALDISCLOSURE

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Not applicable.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVECOMPENSATION

Not applicable.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF
CERTAIN BENEFICIALOWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Not applicable.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS,FINANCIALSTATEMENTS, FINANCIALSTATEMENT
SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

Financial Statcmcnts

See the Index to Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 on page 28.

Exhibits Filed

Exhibit No. D~esori lion

10. 1' 1999 Management Variable Incentive Plan

10.2' 1999 Senior Management Variable Incentive Plan

10.3 — 1999 Officers Variable Incentive Plan

23.1 — Consent ofDeloitte 4 Touche LLP

27.1 — Financial Data Schedule

In addition to those Exhibits shown above, the Company hereby incorporates the followingExhibits pursuant
to Exchange Act Rule 12b-32 and Regulation $229.10(d) by reference to the filings set forth below:

Exhibit No.

3.1

D~esori tion

Bylaws, amended as of
February 20, 1996

Ori inall Filed as Exhibit:

3.1 to 1995 Form 10-K
Report

FileDo D~ateE.eetireb

14473 3-29-96

3.2 Resolution ofBoard of
Directors temporarily
suspending Bylaws in part

3.2 to 1994 Form 10-K
Report

1-4473 3-30-95

3.3 Articles of Incorporation,
restated as ofMay 25, 1988

4.2 to Form S-3

Registration Nos.
33-33910 and 33-55248 by
means of September 24,
1993 Form 8-K Report

1-4473 9-29-93

3.4 Certificates pursuant to
Sections 10-152.01 and
10416, Arizona Revised
Statutes, establishing Series A
through V of the Company's
Serial Preferred Stock

4.3 to Form S-3

Registration Nos.
33-33910 and 33-55248 by
means of September 24,
1993 Form 8-K Report

1-4473 9-29-93
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Eebibit No . D~escri tioo

3.5 Ccrtificatc pursuant to
Section 10416, Arizona
Revised Statutes, establishing
Series W of thc Company's
Serial Preferred Stock

Ori inall Filed as Kvbibit:

4.4 to Form S-3

Registration Nos.
33-33910 and 33-55248 by
means of September 24,
1993 Form 8-K Rcport

File No. b

1-4473

D'hoteE ective

9-29-93

4.1 Mortgage and Deed ofTrust
Relating to the Company's
First Mortgage Bonds,
together with forty-eight
indenturcs supplemental
thereto

4.1 to September 1992
Forin 10-Q Report

1-4473 11-9-92

4.3

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Forty-ninth Supplcmcntal
Indcnturc

FiAicth Supplcmcntal
Indenture

Fifty-firstSupplcmcntal
Indenture

FiAy-second Supplemental
Indenture

FiAy-third Supplemental
Indenture

FiAy-fourth Supplemental
Indcnturc

FiAy-fiAhSupplcrnental
Indenture

4.1 to 1992 Forin 10-K
Report

4.2 to 1993 Form 10-K
Rcport

4.1 to August 1, 1993

Forin 8-K Rcport

4.1 to September 30, 1993

Fortn 10-Q Report

4.5 to Registration
Statement No. 33-61228
by means ofFebruary 23,
1994 Form 8-K Report

4.1 to Registration
Statements Nos. 33o61228,
33-55473, 33-64455 and
333-15379 by means of
November 19, 1996
Form 8-K Rcport

4.8 to Registration
Statement Nos. 33-55473,
33-64455 and 333-15379

by means ofApril7, 1997
Forin 8-K Rcport

14473

1-4473

, lo4473

1-4473

Io4473

lo4473

lo4473

3-30-93

3-30-94

9-27-93

11-15-93

3-1-94

11-22-96

4-9-97

4.9 Agreemcnt, dated March 21,
1994, relating to the filingof
instruments defining the
rights of holders of long-term
debt not in excess of 10% of
thc Company's total assets

4.1 to 1993 Forin 10-K
Report

1-4473 3-30-94
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Eeltihit Ne . D~eecti tice Ori einall riled as Z i«blr: File No. b
D~aleE ective

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

Indenture dated as ofJanuary
1, 1995 among thc Company
and The Bank ofNew York,
as Trustee

First Supplemental Indenture
dated as ofJanuary 1, 1995

Indenture dated as of
November 15, 1996 among
thc Company and The Bank
ofNew York, as Trustee

First Supplemental Indenture

Second Supplcmcntal Indenture
dated as ofApril 1, 1997

Indenture dated as ofJanuary
15, 1998 among the Company
and The Chase Manhattan
Bank, as Trustee

First Supplemental Indenture
dated as of January 15, 1998

Second Supplcmcntal
Indenture dated as of
February 15, 1999

4.6 to Registration
Statement Nos. 33-61228
and 33-55473 by means of
January 1, 1995 Form 8-K
Report

4.4 to Registration
Statement Nos. 33-61228
and 33-55473 by means of
January 1, 1995 Form 8-K
Rcport

4.5 to Registration
Statements Nos. 3341228,
33-55473, 33-64455 and
333-15379 by means of
November 19, 1996
Form 8-K Report

4.6 to Registration
Statements Nos. 33-61228,
33-55473, 33-64455 and
333-15379 by means of
November 19, 1996
Fortn 8-K Report

4.10 to Registration
Statcmcnt Nos. 33-55473,
33-64455 and 333-15379
by means ofApril7, 1997
Form 8-K Report

4.10 to Registration
Statement Nos. 333-15379
and 333-27551 by means
ofJanuary 13, 1998
Form 8-K Report

4.3 to Registration
Statement Nos. 333-15379
and 333-27551 by means
of January 13, 1998
Fortn 8-K Rcport

4.3 to Registration
Statement Nos. 333-27551
and 333-58445 by means of
February 18, 1999
Form 8-K Rcport

14473

1-4473

1<473

1<473

1-4473

1-4473

14473

1-4473

1-11-95

1-11-95

11-22-96

11-22-96

4-9-97

1-16-98

1-16-98

2-22-99



Exhibit No. D~escri rlinn Ori innll FiledneExhibit: FileNn. D~nreE eciieetb

4.18 Agreement ofResignation,
Appointment, Acceptance and
Assignment dated as of
August 18, 1995 by and
among the Company, Bank of
America National Trust and
Savings Association and The
Bank of New York

4.1 to September 25, 1995

Form 8-K Report
1<473 10-24-95

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Two separate

Decommissioning Trust
Agreements (relating to
PVNGS Units 1 and 3,
respectively), each dated July
1, 1991, between the Company
and Mellon Bank, N.A., as

Decommissioning Trustcc

Amendmcnt No. 1 to
Deeormnissioning Trust
Agrccment (PVNGS Unit 1)
dated as ofDecember 1, 1994

Amendment No. 2 to
Decommissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 1)
dated as ofJuly I, 1991

Amendmcnt No. 1 to

Decommissioning Trust
Agrecmcnt (PVNGS Unit 3)
dated as ofDecember 1, 1994

Amendmcnt No. 2 to
Decommissioning Trust
Agrccment (PVNGS Unit 3)
dated as ofJuly 1, 1991

10.2 to September 1991

Form 10-Q

10.1 to 1994 Form 10-K
Report

10.4 to 1996 Form 10-K
Rcport

I

10.2 to 1994 Form 10-K
Report

10.6 to 1996 Form 10-K
Rcport

1-4473

14473

1-4473

1-4473

1<473

11-14-91

3-30-95

3-28-97

3-30-95

3-28-97



D~eccri tive

Amended and Restated
Decommissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 2)
dated as of January 31, 1992,
among the Company, Mellon
Bank, N.A., as
Decommissioning Trustee, and
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to The
First National Bank of
Boston, as Owner Trustee
under two separate Trust
Agreements, each with a
separate Equity Participant,
and as Lessor under two
separate Facility Leases, each
relating to an undivided
interest in PVNGS Unit 2

Ori inall Filed as Exhibit:

10.1 to Pinnacle West
1991 Form 10-K Report

File ¹. DeleteE ective
b

1-8962 3-26-92

First Amendmcnt to Amended
and Rcstatcd
Decommissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 2),
dated as ofNovember 1, 1992

10.2 to 1992 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-30-93

Amendment No. 2 to Amended
and Restated
Decommissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 2)
dated as ofNovember 1, 1994

Atnendment No. 3 to Amended
and Restated
Decommissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 2)
dated as ofJanuary 31, 1992

10.3 to 1994 Form 10-K
Report

10.1 to June 1996 Form
10-Q Rcport

14473

1-4473

3-30-95

8-9-96

Amendment No. 4 to Amended
and Restated
Decommissioning Trust
Agreement (PVNGS Unit 2)
dated as ofJanuary 31, 1992

10.5 to 1996 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-28-97

Asset Purchase and Power
Exchange Agrccment dated
September 21, 1990 between
the Company and Pacifi Corp,
as amended as ofOctober 11,
1990 and as ofJuly 18, 1991

10.1 to June 1991 Form
10-Q Report

1-4473 8-8-91
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Fvtatet Ne . D~eecvi tiett Ori inall 'iled as Exhibit: File iVo.
b

D~ate E ective

10.15 Long-Terin Power
Transactions Agrccmcnt dated
September 21, 1990 between
the Company and PacifiCorp,
as amended as ofOctober 11,
1990 and as ofJuly 8, 1991

10.2 to June 1991 Form '<473
10-Q Report

8-8-91

10.16 Contract, dated July 21, 1984,
with DOE providing for the
disposal of nuclear fuel and/or
high-level radioactive waste,
ANPP

10.31 to Pinnacle West's
Form S-14 Registration
Statement

2-96386 3-13-85

10.17 Amendment No. 1 dated
April5, 1995 to the Long-Term
Power Transactions Agrccmcnt
and Asset Purchase and Power
Exchange Agreement between
PacifiCorp and thc Company

10.3 to 1995 Form 10-K
Rcport

1-4473 3-29-96

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

Restated Transmission
Agrccment between PacifiCorp
and the Company dated
April5, 1995

Contract among PacifiCorp,
the Company and United
States Department ofEnergy
Westcrii Area Power
Administration, Salt Lake
Area Integrated Projects
for Firm Transmission
Service dated May 5, 1995

Reciprocal Transmission
Service Agrccment between
thc Company and PacifiCorp
dated as ofMarch 2, 1994

Indenture ofLcasc with
Navajo Tribe of Indians, Four
Corners Plant

10.4 to 1995 Form 10-K
Rcport

10.5 to 1995 Form 10-K
Report

10.6 to 1995 Form 10-K
Report

5.01 to Form S-7

Registration Statement

14473

1<473

1-4473

2-59644

3-29-96

3-29-96

3-29-96

9-1-77

10.22 Supplemental and Additional
Indenture ofLease, including
amendments and supplements
to original lease with Navajo
Tribe of Indians, Four Corners
Plant

5.02 to Form S-7

Registration Statement
2-59644 9-1-77
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10.23 Amendment and Supplement
No. 1 to Supplemental and
Additional Indenture ofLease,
Four Corners, dated April25,
1985

10.36 to Registration
Statement on Form 8-B of
Pinnacle West

1-8962 7-25-85

10.24 Application and Grant of
multi-party rights-of-way and
casements, Four Corners
Plant Site

5.04 to Form S-7
~ Registration Statement

2-59644 9-1-77

10.25

10.26

Application and Amendmcnt
No. 1 to Grtant ofmulti-party
rights-of-way and easements,
Four Corners Power Plant
Site, dated April25, 1985

Application and Grant of
Arizona Public Service
Company rights-of-way and
easements, Four Corners
Plant Site

10.37 to Registration
Statement on Form 8-B of
Pinnacle West

5.05 to Form S-7
Registration Statement

1-8962

2-59644

7-25-85

9-1-77

10.27 Application and Amendment
No. 1 to Grant of Arizona
Public Service Company
rights-of-way and casements,
Four Corners Power Plant
Site, dated April25, 1985

10.38 to Registration
Statement on Fortn 8-B of
Pinnacle West

1-8962 7-25-85

10.28 Indenture ofLease, Navajo
Units 1, 2, and 3

5(g) to Form S-7

Registration Statement
2-36505 3-23-70

10.29 Application and Grant of
rights-of-way and easements,
Navajo Plant

5(h) to Form S-7
Registration Statement

2-36505 a 3-23-70

10.30 Water Service Contract
Assigrunent with thc United
States Department of Interior,
Bureau ofReclamation,
Navajo Plant

5(l) to Form S-7
Registration Statement

2-39442 3-16-71
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Evhi bit¹. D~rncrt tion Ori innll FiledeeEehibit: FileNo. D~aleE ectiveb

10.31 Arizona Nuclear Power
Project Participation
Agreement, dated August 23,
1973, among the Company,
Salt River Project Agricultural
Improvement and Power
District, Southern California
Edison Company, Public
Service Company ofNew
Mexico, El Paso Electric
Company, Southern California
Public Power Authority, and
Department of Water and
Power of the City ofLos
Angeles, and amendments
1-12 thereto

10.1 to 1988 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-8-89

10.32 Amendment No. 13 dated as

ofApril22, 1991, to Arizona
Nuclear Power Project
Participation Agreement,
dated August 23, 1973, among
the Company, Salt River
Project Agricultural
Improvement and Power
District, Southern California
,Edison Company, Public
Service Company ofNcw
Mexico, El Paso Electric
Company, Southern California
Public Power Authority, and
Departtnent of Water and
Power of the City ofLos
Angclcs

10.1 to March 1991 Form
10-Q Report

14473 5-15-91

10.33'acility Lease, dated as of
August 1, 1986, between
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to The
First National Bank of
Boston, in its capacity as

Owner Trustee, as Lessor, and
the Company, as Lesscc

4.3 to Form S-3

Registration Statement

33-9480 10-24-86



Eebibtt Ne . D~escri tierr OIi inall Filed as Exhibit: File No.b

10.34 Amendment No. 1, dated as of
November 1, 1986, to Facility
Lcasc, dated as of August 1,

1986, betwccn State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, in
its capacity as Owner Trustee,
as Lessor, and the Company,
as Lessee

10.5 to September 1986

Form 10-Q Report by
means of Amendment No.
1 on December 3, 1986
Form 8

1<473

10.35 Amendment No. 2 dated as of
June 1, 1987 to Facility Lease
dated as ofAugust 1, 1986
between State Street Bank
and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Lessor, and APS, as Lessee

10.3 to 1988 Form 10-K
Report

1<473

10.36 Amendment No. 3, dated as of
March 17, 1993, to Facility
Lease, dated as of August 1,

1986, between State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Lessor, and the Company, as

Lcssce

10.3 to 1992 Form 10-K
Report

14473

10.37- Facility Lease, dated as of
Dcccmber 15, 1986, between
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to The
First National Bank of
Boston, in its capacity as

Owner Trustee, as Lessor, and
the Company, as Lessee

10.1 to November 18, 1986

Form 8-K Report
14473

10.38 Atnendment No. 1, dated as of
August 1, 1987, to Facility
Lease, dated as ofDecember

15, 1986, between State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Lessor, and thc Company, as

Lessee

4.13 to Form S-3

Registration Statement
No. 33-9480 by means of
August 1, 1987 Form 8-K
Rcport

14473
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D~ale E ealive

Amendment No. 2, dated as of
March 17, 1993, to Facility
Lease, dated as ofDecember
15, 1986, between State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Lessor, and the Company, as
Lessee

10.4 to 1992 Form 10-K
Report

1-4473 3-30-93

Directors'eferred
Compensation Plan, as

restated, effective January 1,

1986

10.1 to June 1986 Form
10-Q Report

14473 8-13-86

Second Amendment to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Directors'eferred
Compensation Plan, effectiv
as ofJanuary 1, 1993

10.2 to 1993 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-30-94

Third Amendment to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Directors'eferred
Compensation Plan effective
as ofMay 1, 1993

10.1 to September 1994
Form 10+

1-4473 11-10-94

Arizona Public Service
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan, as
restated, effective January 1,

1984, and the second and
third amendments thereto,
dated December 22, 1986, and
December 23, 1987,
respectively

10.4 to 1988 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-8-89

Third Amendmcnt to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan, effective
as of January 1, 1993

10.3 to 1993 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-94

Fourth Amendment to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan effectiv
as ofMay 1, 1993

10.2 to Septeinber 1994
Form 10-Q Report

14473 11-10-94
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Exhibit JVo. D~evari lion Ori inaii Fried as Eehihin File No. D~ate E essiveb

10.46'ifth Amendment to the
Arizona Public Service
Company Dcfcrrcd
Compensation Plan

10.3 to 1997 Form 10-K
Report

IA473 3-28-97

10.47 Pinnacle West Capital
Corporation, Arizona Public
Service Company, SunCor
Development Company
and El Dorado Investment
Company Deferred
Compensation Plan as

amended and restated
effective January 1, 1996

10.10 to 1995 Form 10-K

Report

1<473 3-29-96

10.48* Arizona Public Service

Company Supplemental
Excess Benefit Retirement
Plan as amended and
restated on December 20, 1995

10.11 to 1995 Fortn 10-K
Report

1<473 3-29-96

10.49 Pinnacle West Capital
Corporation and Arizona
Public Service Company
Directors'etircmcnt Plan
cA'ective as of January 1, 1995

10.7 to 1994 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-95

10.50 Arizona Public Service

Company Director
Equity Plan

10.1 to September 1997

Fortn 10-KReport
1-4473 11-12-97

10.51 Letter Agrccmcnt dated
December 21, 1993, between
the Company and WilliamL.
Stewart

10.6 to 1994 Fortn 10-K

Rcport

1-4473, 3-30-95

10.52 Letter Agrccment dated

August 16, 1996 bet>veen

the Company and
WilliamL. Stewart

10.8 to 1996 Form 10-K

Rcport

1-4473 3-28-97

10.53 Letter Agreement between

thc Company and
WilliamL. Stewart

10.2 to September 1997

Form 10aQ Rcport
14473 11-12-97



D~eecri tice OIi inall Filed as Kvhibir: File No. D~ete E ective

Letter Agrccment, dated April
3, 1978, between the Company
and O. Mark DeMichelc,
regarding certain retirement
benefits granted to Mr.
DeMichele

10.7 to 1988 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473 3-8-89

Letter Agreement dated
November 27, 1996 between
the Company and
George A. Schrciber, Jr.

10.9 to 1996 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-28-97

Letter Agreement dated as

of January 1, 1996 between
the Company and Robert G.
Matlock &Associates, Inc.
for consulting services

10.8 to 1995 Form 10-K
Rcport

1-4473 3-29-96

Key Executive Employtnent
and Severance Agreement
between the Company and
certain executive officers of
the Company

10.3 to 1989 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-8-90

Revised form ofKcy Exccutivc
Employment and Severance
Agreement between thc
Company and certain
executive officers of the
Company

10.5 to 1993 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-94

Second revised fortn ofKey
Executive Employment and
Severance Agrccment between
the Company and certain
exceutivc officers of the
Company

10.9 to 1994 Form 10-K
Report

1-4473 3-30-95

Kcy Executive Employment
and Severance Agrccmcnt
between the Company and
certain managers of the
Company

10.4 to 1989 Form 10-K
Rcport

1-4473 3-8-90
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10.61 Revised form ofKey Executive
Employmcnt and Severance
Agreemcnt between the
Company and certain key
employccs of the Company

10.4 to 1993 Form 10-K
Rcport

1<473 3-30-94

10.62 Second revised form ofKcy
Executive Employment and
Severance Agreemcnt between
the Company and certain key
employees of the Company

10.8 to 1994 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-30-95

10.63 Pinnacle West Capital
Corporation Stock Option and
Incentive Plan

10.1 to 1992 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473 3-30-93

10.64

10.65

10.66

10.67

Pinnacle West Capital
Corporation 1994 Long-Term
Incentive Plan effective as of
March 23, 1994

Agreemcnt No. 13904 (Option
and Purchase ofEfIlucnt)
with Cities ofPhoenix,
Glendale, Mesa, Scottsdalc,
Tempe, Town ofYoungtown,
and Salt River Project
Agricultural Improvement and
Power District, dated April23,
1973

Agreement for the Sale and
Purchase of Wastewater
Efiluent with City ofTolleson
and Salt River Agricultural
Improvement and Power
District, dated June 12, 1981,
including Amendmcnt No. 1

dated as of November 12,

1981 and Amendmcnt No. 2
dated as of June 4, 1986

Territorial Agreement
between the Company
and Salt River Project

A to the Proxy Statement
for the Plan Report
Pinnacle West 1994
Annual Meeting of
Shareholders

10.3 to 1991 Form 10-K
Report

10.4 to 1991 Form 10-K
Report

10.1 to March 1998
Form 10-Q Report

1-8962

14473

1-4473

1-4473

4-16-94

3-19-92

3-19-92

5-15-98
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Power Coordination
Agreement between
the Company and Salt
River Project

10.2 to March 1998
Form 10-Q Report

14473 5-15-98

Memorandum of Agreement
between the Company and
Salt River Project

Addendum to Memorandum
of Agreement between. the
Company and Salt River
Project dated as ofMay
19, 1998

Collateral Trust Indenture
among PVNGS IIFunding
Corp., Inc., the Company and
Chemical Bank, as Trustee

10.3 to March 1998
Form 10-Q Report

10.2 to May 19, 1998
Form 8-K Report

4.2 to 1992 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473

1-4473

14473

5-15-98

6-26-98

3-30-93

Supplemental Indenture to
Collateral Trust Indenture
among PVNGS IIFunding
Corp., Inc., the Company and
Chemical Bank, as Trustee

4.3 to 1992 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473 3-30-93

Participation Agrccment,
dated as of August 1, 1986,
among PVNGS Funding
Corp., Inc., Bank of America
National Trust and Savings
Association, State Street Bank
and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, in
its individual capacity and as
Owner Trustee, Chemical
Bank, in its individual
capacity and as Indenture
Trustee, the Company, and
the Equity Participant named
therein

28.1 to September 1992
Form 10-Q Report

14473 11-9-92
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99.4 Amendmcnt No. 1 dated as of
November 1, 1986, to
Participation Agreement,
dated as of August 1,1986,
among PVNGS Funding
Corp., Inc., Bank ofAmerica
National Trust and Savings
Association, State Street Bank
and Trust Company, as
successor to Thc First
National Bank ofBoston, in
its individual capacity and as
Owner Trustcc, Chemical
Bank, in its individual
capacity and as Indenture
Trustee, the Company, and
thc Equity Participant named
thcrcin

10.8 to Septcmbcr 1986
Form 10-Q Report by
means ofAmendment No.
1, on December 3, 1986
Form 8

14473 12-4-86

99.5 Amendment No. 2, dated as of
March 17, 1993, to
Participation Agrcemcnt,
dated as ofAugust I, 1986,
among PVNGS Funding
Corp., Inc., PVNGS II
Funding Corp., Inc., State
Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to The
First National Bank of
Boston, in its individual
capacity and as Owner
Trustee, Chemical Bank, in its
individual capacity and as
Indenture Trustee, the
Company, and thc Equity
Participant named therein

28.4 to 1992 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473 3-30-93

Trust Indenture, Mortgage,
Security Agreement and

Assignment ofFacility Lcasc,
dated as of August I, 1986,
between State Strcct Bank
and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Owner Trustcc, and Chemical
Bartk, as Indenture Trustee

4.5 to Fortn S-3

Registration Statement
33-9480 10-24-86
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99.7 Supplemental Indenture No.

1, dated as of November 1,

1986 to Trust Indenture,
Mortgage, Security Agreement
and Assignmcnt ofFacility
Lease, dated as of August 1,

1986, between State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Owner Trustee, and Chemical
Bank, as Indenture Trustee

10.6 to September 1986

Form 10-Q Reportby
means of Amendment No.
I on December 3, 1986
Form 8

14473 124-86

99.8 Suppletncntal Indenture No. 2
to Trust Indenture, Mortgage,
Security Agreement and
Assignment ofFacility Lease,
dated as of August 1, 1986,
between State Street Bank
and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Owner Trustcc, and Chemical
Bank, as Indenture Trustee

4.4 to 1992 Form 10-K
Report

1-4473 3-30-93

99.9 Assignment, Assumption and
Further Agreement, dated as

ofAugust 1, 1986, between
the Company and State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Owner Trustee

28.3 to Form S-3

Registration Statement
33-9480 10-24-86

99.10 Amendment No. 1, dated as of
November 1, 1986, to
Assignment, Assumption and
Further Agrccment, dated as
of August 1, 1986, between
the Company and State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Owner Trustee

10. 10 to September 1986

Fortn 10-Q Report by
means of Amendmcnt No.
1 on December 3, 1986
Form 8

14473 124-86
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99.11 Amendmcnt No. 2, dated as of
March 17, 1993, to
Assignment, Assumption and
Further Agreement, dated as
ofAugust 1, 1986, between
the Company and State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Owner Trustee

28.6 to 1992 Form 10-K
Report

14473 3-30-93

99.12 Participation Agreement,
dated as ofDecember 15,
1986, among PVNGS Funding
Corp., Inc., State Street Bank
and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, in
its individual capacity and as
Owner Trustee, Chemical
Bank, in its individual
capacity and as Indenture
Trustee under a Trust
Indenture, the Company, and
the Owner Participant named
therein

28.2 to September 1992
Form 10-Q Rcport

14473 11-9-92

99.13 Amendment No. 1, dated as of
August 1, 1987, to
Participation Agreemcnt,
dated as ofDecember 15,
1986, among PVNGS Funding
Corp., Inc. as Funding
Corporation, State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Owner Trustee, Chemical
Bank, as Indenture Trustee,
the Company, and the Owner
Participant named therein

28.20 to Form S-3

Registration Statement
No. 33-9480 by means of a
November 6, 1986 Form
8-K Report

1<473 8-10-87
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99.14 Amendment No. 2, dated as of
March 17, 1993, to
Participation Agrccmcnt,
dated as ofDecember 15,
1986, among PVNGS Funding
Corp., Inc., PVNGS II
Funding Corp., Inc., State
Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to The
First National Bank of
Boston, in its individual
capacity and as Owner
Trustee, Chemical Bank, in its
individual capacity and as
Indenture Trustee, the
Company, and thc Owner,
Participant named therein

'28.5 to 1992 Form 10-K 1-4473

Rcport
r t

3-30-93

99.15 Trust Indenture, Mortgage,
Security Agrcemcnt and
Assignmcnt ofFacility Lease,
dated as ofDecember 15,

1986, between State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as

successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Owner Trustee, and Chemical
Bank, as Indenture Trustee

10.2 to November 18, 1986 1-4473
Form 8-K Rcport

1-20-87

99.16 Supplemental Indcnturc No.
1, dated as of August 1, 1987,
to Trust Indenture, Mortgage,
Security Agreemcnt and
Assignment ofFacility Lease,
dated as ofDecember 15,
1986, between State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as

Owner Trustee, and Chemical
Bank, as Indenture Trustee

4.13 to Form S-3

Registration Statement
No. 33-9480 by means of
August 1, 1987 Form 8-K
Report

14473 8-24-87
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Supplemental Indenture No. 2
to Trust Indenture, Mortgage,
Security Agreement and
Assigmnent ofFacility Lease,
dated as ofDecember 15,
1986, between State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as
successor to The First
National Bank ofBoston, as
Orvner Trustee, and Chemical
Bank, as Indenture Trustee

4.5 to 1992 Form 10-K
Rcport

14473 3-30-93

Assigmnent, Assmnption and
Further Agrecmcnt, dated as
ofDecember 15, 1986,
between the Company and
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to The
First National Bank of
Boston, as Owner Trustee

10.5 to November 18, 1986
Fornr 8-K Report

1-4473 1-20-87

Amendment No. I, dated as of
March 17, 1993, to
Assignment, Assumption and
Further Agreemcnt, dated as
ofDecember 15, 1986,
between thc Company and
State Street Bank and Trust
Company, as successor to The
First National Bank of
Boston, as Owner Trustee

28.7 to 1992 Form 10-K
Report

1-4473 3-30-93

Indemnity Agrccment dated
as ofMarch 17, 1993 by the
Company

28.3 to 1992 Form 10-K
Rcport

1-4473 3-30-93

Extension Lcttcr, dated as of
August 13, 1987, from the
signatories of the
Participation Agreement to
Chemical Bank

28.20 to Form S-3

Registration Statement
No. 33-9480 by means of a

November 6, 1986 Form
8-K Report

1-4473 8-10-87

Arizona Corporation
Commission Order dated
December 6, 1991

28.1 to 1991 Form 10-K
Report

1<473 3-19-92

Arizona Corporation
Commission Order dated
Junc 1, 1994

10.1 to June Form 10-Q
Rcport

1-4473 8-12-94
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99.24 Rate Reduction Agrcemcnt
dated December 4, 1995

between the Company and the
ACC Staff

10.1 to December 4, 1995

Form 8-K Rcport
14473 12-14-95

99.25

99.26

Arizona Corporation
Commission Order
dated April24, 1996

Arizona Corporation
Commission Order,
Decision No. 59943, dated
December 26, 1996,
including thc Rules regarding
the introduction of retail
competition in Arizona

10.1 to March 1996
Form 10-Q Report

99.1 to 1996 Form 10-K
Report

1-4473

1-4473

5-14-96

3-28-97

99.27 Retail Electric Competition
Rules

10.1 to June 1998
Fortn 10-Q Report

1-4473 8-14-98
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'Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement to be filed as an exlubit pursuant to Item 14(c) of
Form 10-K.

b
Reports filed under File No. 1-4473 were filed in the office of the Securities and Exchange Commission

located in Washington, D.C.

'An additional document, substantially identical in all material respects to this Exhibit, has been entered into,
relating to an additional Equity Participant. Although such additional document may differ in other respects (such
as dollar amounts, percentages, tax indemnity matters, and dates of execution), there arc no material details in
which such document diQers from this Exhibit.

dAdditional agreements, substantially identical in all material respects to this Exhibit have been cntercd into
with additional officers and key employees of the Company. Although such additional documents may diQer in
other respects (such as dollar amounts and dates of execution), thcrc are no material details in wluch such
agreemcnts differ from this Exhibit.

Reports on Form 8-K

During the quarter ended December 31, 1998 and the period ended March 30, 1999, the Company filed the
followingReport on Form 8-K:

Report dated December 1, 1998 relating to an order by the Arizona Supreme Court staying ACC hearings
regarding our settlemcnt agreemcnt with the ACC Staff.

Report dated December 9, 1998 relating to (1) a Notice of Withdrawal of Settlement filed by the ACC Staff
(2) terms ofexpiration ofa memorandum ofunderstanding, (3) ACC adoption of the amended rules, and (4) issues
affecting the agreement with Salt River Project.

Rcport dated January 11, 1999 relating to (i) the ACC hearing oQicers'ecommended changes to the amended
rules regarding the introduction of retail electric competition in Arizona and to the June 1998 stranded cost order
and (ii) action by the Arizona Supreine Court vacating its order staying ACC hearings on the proposed settlement
agreement and dismissing thc Attorney General's action.

Rcport dated February 18, 1999 comprised ofExhibits to the Company's Registration Statements (Registration
Nos. 333-27551 and 333-58445) relating to the Company's offering of$ 125 millionofNotes.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its beltalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ARIZONAPUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY
(Registrant),

Date: March 30, 1999 /s/ WILLIAMJ. POST

(WilliamJ. Post, ChiefExecutive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exclenge Act of 1934, this report has been signed below

by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

~Si nalure Date

/s/ WILLIAMJ. POST
(WilliatnJ. Post, Chief Executive OQicer)

Principal Executive OQiccr
and Director

March 30, 1999

/s/ GEORGE A SCHREIBER, JR.

(George A. Schreibcr, Jr.)

Principal Accounting Offlcer,
Principal Financial Officer

and Director

March 30, 1999

/s/ JACK E. DAVIS
(Jack E. Davis)

President and Director March 30, 1999

/s/ O. MARKDEMICHELE
(O. Mark DeMichele)

Director March 30, 1999

/s/ MICHAELL. GALLAGHER
(Michael L. Gallagher)

Director March 30, 1999

/s/ MARTHAO. HESSE
(Martha O. Hesse)

Director March 30, 1999

/s/ MARIANNEM. JENNINGS
(Marianne M. Jennings)

Director Mmch 30, 1999

/s/ ROBERT E. KEEVER
(Robert E. Keevcr)

Director March 30, 1999
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(Robert G. Matlock)
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(Jolm R. Norton III)

Director March 30, 1999
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(Donald M. Riley)
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Director
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Director March 30, 1999
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Director

Director
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A Profile of Southern California Edison Company

Southern California Edison (SCE) is the nation's second largest investor-owned electric utility.
Headquartered in Rosemead, California, SCE is a subsidiary of Edison International, which is primarily
an energy-services company.

SCE, a 113-year old electric utility, serves 4.'3 million customers and more than 11 million people within
a 50,000-square-mile area of central, coastal and Southern California.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations
and Financial Condition

Results of Operations

Earnings

Southern California Edison Company's (SCE) 1998 earnings were $490 million, compared with $576
million in 1997 and $621 million in 1996. SCE's 1996 earnings included special charges of $18 million
for workforce management costs and reserves. The $86 million earnings decline in 1998 was primarily
due to lower authorized revenue, which resulted from reduced authorized returns on generating assets
and a lower earning asset base resulting from the accelerated recovery of investments and divestiture of
gas- and oil-fueled generation assets, partially offset by superior operating performance at the San
Onofre Nuclear Generating Station. Before special charges, 1997 earnings declined $63 million
compared to the prior year, mainly due to the extended outage and lower return at San Onofre. The
decline was partially offset by higher sales and lower non-nuclear operating expenses.

Operating Revenue

Since April 1, 1998, SCE has been required to sell all of its generated power to the power exchange
(PX). For more details, see Competitive Environment. Excluding the safes to the PX, operating revenue
decreased 6% from 1997. The decrease reflects lower average residential rates (mandated by
legislation enacted in September 1996), partially offset by an increase in other revenue resulting from
maintenance work SCE is providing for the new owners of the divested gas- and oil-fueled plants, as
required by the restructuring legislation. Operating revenue increased 5% in 1997 over 1996, due to an
increase in sales volume and customer refunds in 1996. There were no comparable refunds in 1997.
The increase in volume is mainly attributable to the overall increase in retail sales among residential and
commercial customers due to unusually warm weather during the third quarter of 1997. In 1998, over
99% of operating revenue (excluding sales to the PX) was from retail sales. Retail rates are regulated by
the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) and wholesale rates are regulated by the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).

Due to warmer weather during the summer months, operating revenue (excluding sales to the PX) during
the third quarter of each year is significantly higher than other quarters.

The changes in operating revenue (excluding sales to the PX) resulted from:

In mi%I'ons Year ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Operating revenue—
Rate changes (including refunds)
Sales volume changes
Other

Total

$ (527)
(44)
117

$ 454

$173
193

4

$370

$ (522)
206

26

$ 290

Legislation enacted in September 1996 provided for, among other things, a 10% rate reduction (financed
through the issuance of rate reduction notes) for residential and small commercial customers in 1998 and
other rates to remain frozen at June 1996 levels (system average of 10.1', per kilowatt-hour). See
discussion in Competitive Environment.

Operating Expenses

Fuel expense decreased 63% in 1998, primarily due to the sale of the gas- and oil-fueled generation
plants, as well as significantly lower gas prices in the first quarter of 1998. Fuel expense increased 40%
in 1997 over 1996. The increase was due to a $174 million gas contract termination payment during the
third quarter of 1997, combined with higher gas prices and the extended refueling outages at San
Onofre. San Onofre Unit 2 was shut down during the entire first quarter of 1997, Unit 3 was shut down 80

days of the second quarter and both units had a combined outage time of 30 days during the third
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quarter, which resulted in an overall increase in gas-powered generation for 1997. There weie no
comparable outages in 1996.

Since April 1, 1998, SCE has been required to purchase all of its power from the PX for distribution to its
retail customers. SCE is continuing to purchase power from certain nonutility generators (known as
qualifying facilities) and under existing inter-utility contracts. This purchased power is sold to the PX.
Excluding the power purchased from the PX, purchased-power expense decreased slightly in 1998, while
increasing slightly in 1997. SCE is required under federal law to purchase power from certain qualifying
facilities even though energy prices under these contracts are generally higher than other sources. In
1998, SCE paid about $1.5 billion (including energy and capacity payments) more for these power
purchases than the cost of power available from other sources. The CPUC has mandated the prices for
these contracts.

Provisions for regulatory adjustment clauses decreased in 1998, mainly due to the rate-making treatment
of the rate reduction notes. This rate-making treatment has allowed for the deferral of the collection of a
portion of the transition-related revenue, from a four-year period to a 10-year period. This decrease was
almost completely offset by overcollections resulting from the gain on sales of the gas- and oil-fueled
generation plants during 1998 and other transition costs, as well as overcollections related to the
administration of public-purpose funds. The provisions for regulatory adjustment clauses decreased
substantially in 1997, due to undercollections in the energy cost balancing account as actual energy costs
(including the gas termination payment discussed above) exceeded CPUC-authorized fuel and
purchased-power cost estimates. In addition, there were undercollections associated with SCE's direct
access activities (see discussion in Competitive Environment), research and development activities, and
San Onofre. These undercollections were offset by overcollections related to actual base-rate revenue
from kilowatt-hour sales exceeding CPUC-authorized estimates and the final settlement of SCE's
Canadian supply and transportation contracts.

Other operating expenses increased 22/o in 1998, primarily due to must-run reliability services, direct
access activities, and PX and independent system operator (ISO) costs incurred by SCE. Also, storm
damage expense resulting from the harsh winter in 1998 contributed to the increase.

Maintenance expense increased 23/o in 1997, due to higher maintenance costs at the transmission and
distribution operating facilities, and the scheduled refueling outages at the San Onofre units.

Depreciation, decommissioning and amortization expense increased 25/o in 1998, primarily due to the
further acceleration of recovery of San Onofre Units 2 and 3 and the Palo Verde Nuclear Generating
Station units, accelerated recovery of the gas- and oil-fueled generation plants, and the amortization of
the loss on plant sales. The amortization of the loss on plant sales, as well as the accelerated recoveries
implemented in 1998 are part of the competition transition charge (CTC) mechanism. Depreciation,
decommissioning and amortization expense increased 17'/e in 1997, mainly due to increases in plant
assets and the accelerated recovery of the Palo Verde units, effective January 1997.

Income taxes decreased 23'/e in 1998, primarily due to lower pre-tax income, as well as additional
amortization related to the CTC mechanism.

Property and other taxes decreased 32/o in 1997, due to a reclassification of payroll taxes to operation
and maintenance expense.

Gain on sale of utility plant represents the net result from the sale of the gas- and oil-fueled generation
plants in 1998. Gains on sales of the gas- and oil-fueled plants were used to reduce stranded costs.
Losses on sales will be recovered from customers over the transition period.

Other Income and Deductions

The provision for rate phase-in plan reflected a CPUC-authorized, 10-year rate phase-in plan, which
deferred the collection of revenue during the first four years of operation for the Palo Verde units. The
deferred revenue (including interest) was collected evenly over the final six years of each unit's plan.
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The plan ended in February 1996, September 1996 and January 1998 for Units 1, 2 and 3, respectively.
The provision was a non-cash offset to the collection of deferred revenue.

Interest and dividend income increased 49'/o in 1998, reflecting higher investment balances due to the
sale of the gas- and oil-fueled generation plants, as well as increases in interest earned on higher
balancing account undercollections. In 1997, interest and dividend income increased 18/o due to
increases in interest earned on balancing accounts and increases in dividend income from equity
investments.

Other nonoperating income increased 81/o in 1998, when compared to 1997, primarily due to the
additional accruals in 1997 for regulatory matters. These accruals caused a substantial decrease in
other nonoperating income in 1997, when compared to 1996.

Interest Expense

Interest on long-term debt increased 22/o in 1998, mainly due to the issuance of the rate reduction notes
in December 1997. In 1997, interest on long-term debt decreased due to the early retirement of $400
million of first and refunding mortgage bonds in July 1997, partially offset by the additional interest
expense associated with the rate reduction notes issued in December 1997. Interest on the rate
reduction notes was $148 million in 1998 and $9 million in 1997.

Other interest expense decreased substantially in 1998, mostly due to lower overall short-term debt
balances, particularly short-term debt used to finance fuel inventories. These fuel inventories are no
longer needed because of the divestiture of the gas- and oil-fueled plants. Other interest expense
increased substantially in 1997, due to higher levels of short-term debt used to retire first and refunding
mortgage bonds.

Financial Condition

SCE's liquidity is primarily affected by debt maturities, dividend payments and capital expenditures.
Capital resources include cash from operations and external financings.

Edison International's board of directors has authorized the repurchase of up to $2.8 billion (increased
from $2.3 billion in July 1998) of its outstanding shares of common stock. Edison International
repurchased 100.4 million shares ($2.4 billion) between January 1995 and February 4, 1999, funded by
dividends from its subsidiaries and the issuance of rate reduction notes.

SCE's cash flowcoverage of dividends was 0.9 times for both 1998 and 1997 and 2.2 times in 1996. The
1998 decrease reflects the $680 million special dividend SCE paid to Edison International in 1998 from
the gas- and oil-fueled plant sales proceeds, as well as the rate-making treatment of the gains on sales
of the gas- and oil-fueled plants. The 1997 decrease reflects the $1.2 billion special dividend SCE paid
to Edison International in December 1997 from rate reduction note proceeds.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $1.0 billion in 1998, $1.7 billion in 1997 and $1.8 billion
in 1996. Cash from operations exceed capital requirements for all years presented.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

At December 31, 1998, SCE had available lines of $1.3 billion, with $800 million for general purpose,
short-term debt and $500 million for the long-term refinancing of its variable-rate pollution-control bonds.
These unsecured lines of credit are at negotiated or bank index rates and expire in 2002.
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Short-term debt is used to finance fuel inventories and general cash requirements. Long-term debt is
used mainly to finance capital expenditures. External financings are influenced by market conditions and
other factors, including limitations imposed by SCE's articles of incorporation and trust indenture. As of
December 31,1998, SCE could issue approximately $13.9 billion of additional first and refunding
mortgage bonds and $4.4 billion of preferred stock at current interest and dividend rates.

California law prohibits SCE from incurring or guaranteeing debt for its nonutility affiliates. Additionally,
the CPUC regulates SCE's capital structure, limiting the dividends it may pay Edison International. At
December 31, 1998, SCE had the capacity to pay $794 million in additional dividends and continue to
maintain its authorized capital structure.

In December 1997, SCE Funding LLC, a special purpose entity (SPE), of which SCE is the sole member,
issued approximately $2.5 billion of rate reduction notes to Bankers Trust Company of California, as
certificate trustee for the California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank Special Purpose
Trust SCE-1 (Trust), which is a special purpose entity established by the State of California. The terms
of the rate reduction notes generally mirror the terms of the pass-through certificates issued by the Trust,
which are known as rate reduction certificates. The proceeds of the rate reduction notes were used by
the SPE to purchase from SCE an enforceable right known as transition property. Transition property is
a current property right created pursuant to the restructuring legislation and a financing order of the
CPUC, and consists generally of the right to be paid a specified amount from a non-bypassable tariff
levied on residential and small commercial customers. Notwithstanding the legal sale of the transition
property by SCE to the SPE, the amounts reflected as assets on SCE's balance sheet have not been
reduced by the amount of the transition property sold to the SPE, and the liabilities of the SPE for the
rate reduction notes are for accounting purposes reflected as long-term liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheet of SCE. SCE used the proceeds from the sale of the transition property to retire debt and
equity securities.

The rate reduction notes have maturities ranging from one to nine years, and bear interest at rates
ranging from 6.14/e to 6.42/e. The rate reduction notes are secured solely by the transition property and
certain other assets of the SPE, and there is no recourse to SCE or Edison International.

Although the SPE is consolidated with SCE in the financial statements, as required by generally
accepted accounting principles, the SPE is legally separate from SCE, the assets of the SPE are not
available to creditors of SCE or Edison International, and the transition property is legally not an asset of
SCE or Edison International.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities are affected by additions to property and plant, proceeds from the
sale of plant (see discussion in Competitive Environment) and funding of nuclear decommissioning
trusts. Decommissioning costs are accrued and recovered in rates over the term of each nuclear
generating facility's operating license through charges to depreciation expense. SCE estimates that it
will spend approximately $8.6 billion between 2000—2070 to decommission its nuclear facilities. This
estimate is based on SCE's current-dollar decommissioning costs ($1.9 billion), escalated at rates
averaging 5.6'/o annually. These costs are expected to be funded from independent decommissioning
trusts, which currently receive SCE contributions of approximately $100 million per year. However, SCE
has requested the CPUC to authorize a reduction in the annual contributions to the decommissioning
trusts beginning January 1, 2000. The plan to decommission San Onofre Unit 1 beginning in 2000,
which is pending CPUC approval, is not expected to affect SCE's annual contributions to the
decommissioning trusts.

Market Risk Exposures

SCE's primary market risk exposures arise from fluctuations in energy prices and interest rates. SCE's
risk management policy allows the use of derivative financial instruments to manage its financial
exposures, but prohibits the use of these instruments for speculative or trading purposes.
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As a result of the rate freeze established in the restructuring legislation, SCE's transition costs are.
recovered as the residual component of rates once the costs for distribution, transmission, public
purpose programs, nuclear decommissioning and the cost of supplying power to its customers through
the PX and ISO have already been recovered. Accordingly, more revenue will be available to cover
transition costs when market prices in the PX and ISO are low than when PX and ISO prices are high.
The PX and ISO market prices to date have generally been reasonable, although some irregular price
spikes have occurred. The ISO has responded to price spikes in the market for reliability services
(referred to as ancillary services) by imposing a price cap of $250/MW on the market for such services
until certain actions have been completed to improve the functioning of those markets. Similarly, the
ISO currently maintains a cap of $250/MWh on its market for imbalance energy while a software problem
affecting the efficient operation of that market persists. The caps in these markets mitigate the risk of
costly price spikes that would reduce the revenue available to SCE to pay transition costs. During the
upcoming year, the ISO will be considering removing these price caps, which could increase the risk of
high market prices. SCE has entered into hedges against high natural gas prices, since increases in
natural gas prices tend to raise the price of electricity purchased from the PX.

A 10/o increase in market interest rates would result in a $7 million increase in the fair value of SCE's
interest rate hedge agreements. A 10/0 decrease in market interest rates would result in a $7 million
decline in the fair market value of interest rate hedge agreements. A 10/o increase in natural gas prices
would result in a $21 million increase in the fair market value of gas call options. A 10'/o decrease in
natural gas prices would result in a $14 million decline in the fair market value of gas call options. A
10'/o change in market rates is expected to have an immaterial effect on SCE's other financial
instruments.

Projected Capital Requirements

SCE's projected construction expenditures for the next five years are: 1999 —$922 million; 2000—
$831 million; 2001 —$726 million; 2002 —$699 million; and 2003 —$689 million.

Long-term debt maturities and sinking fund requirements for the next five years are: 1999 —$401
million; 2000 —$571 million; 2001 —$646 million; 2002 —$446 million; and 2003 —$371 million.

Preferred stock redemption requirements for next five years are: 1999 through 2001 —zero; 2002—
$105 million; and 2003 —$9 million.

Regulatory Matters

Legislation enacted in September 1996 provided for, among other things, a 10/o rate reduction for
residential and small commercial customers in 1998 and other rates to remain frozen at June 1996 levels
(system average of 10.10 per kilowatt-hour).

In 1999, revenue will be determined by various mechanisms depending on the utility operation. Revenue
related to distribution operations will be determined through a performance-based rate-making
mechanism (PBR) and the distribution assets will have the opportunity to earn a CPUC-authorized 9.49/0
return. The distribution-only PBR will extend through December 2001. Transmission revenue will be
determined through FERC-authorized rates and transmission assets will earn a 9.43/o return. These
rates are subject to refund. Key elements of PBR include: transmission and distribution (T8D) rates
indexed for inflation based on the Consumer Price Index less a productivity factor; adjustments for cost
changes that are not within SCE's control; a cost-of-capital trigger mechanism based on changes in a
bond index; standards for service reliability and safety; and a net revenue-sharing mechanism that
determines how customers and shareholders will share gains and losses from T8 D operations.

Revenue from generation-related operations will be determined through the competitive market and the
CTC mechanism, which now includes the nuclear rate-making agreements. Revenue related to fossil
and hydroelectric generation operations is recovered from two sources. The portion that is made
uneconomic by electric industry restructuring is recovered through the CTC mechanism. The portion that
is economic is recovered through the market. In 1999, fossil and hydroelectric generation assets will
earn a 7.22/. return.
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In 1996 and 1997, the CPUC authorized revised rate-making plans for SCE's nuclear facilities, which call
for the accelerated recovery of the nuclear investments in exchange for a lower authorized rate of return.
SCE's nuclear assets are earning an annual rate of return of 7.35/o. In addition, the San Onofre plan
authorizes a fixed rate of approximately 4g per kilowatt-hour generated for operating costs including
incremental capital costs, and nuclear fuel and nuclear fuel financing costs. The San Onofre plan
commenced in April 1996, and ends in December 2001 for the accelerated recovery portion and in
December 2003 for the incentive-pricing portion. Palo Verde's operating costs, including incremental
capital costs, and nuclear fuel and nuclear fuel financing costs, are subject to balancing account
treatment. The Palo Verde plan commenced in January 1997 and ends in December 2001. Beginning
January1,1998, both the San Onofre and Palo Verde rate-making plans became part of the CTC
mechanism.

The changes in revenue from the regulatory mechanisms discussed above, excluding the effects of other
rate actions, are expected to have an approximately $20 million negative impact on 1999 earnings.

The CPUC is considering unbundling SCE's cost of capital based on major utility function. In May 1998,
SCE filed an application on this issue and hearings were completed in October 1998. A CPUC decision
is expected in early to mid-1999.

Competitive Environment

SCE currently operates in a highly regulated environment in which it has an obligation to deliver electric
service to customers in return for an exclusive franchise within its service territory. This regulatory
environment is changing. The generation sector has experienced competition from nonutility power
producers and regulators are restructuring California's electric utility industry.

California Electric UtilityIndustry Restructuring

Restructuring Decision and Statute —The CPUC's December 1995 decision on restructuring California's
electric utility industry started the transition to a new market structure involving competition and customer
choice. The State of California enacted legislation in 1996 to provide a transition to a competitive
market structure. The Statute substantially adopted the CPUC's restructuring decision by addressing
stranded-cost recovery for utilities and providing a certain cost-recovery time period for the transition
costs associated with utility-owned generation-related assets. Transition costs related to power-purchase
contracts are being recovered through the terms of their contracts while most of the remaining transition
costs will be recovered through 2001. The Statute also included provisions to finance a portion of the
stranded costs that residential and small commercial customers would have paid between 1998 and
2001, which allowed SCE to reduce rates by at least 10/o to these customers, effective January 1, 1998.
The Statute included a rate freeze for all other customers, including large commercial and industrial
customers, as well as provisions for continued funding for energy conservation, low-income programs
and renewable resources. Despite the rate freeze, SCE expects to be able to recover its revenue
requirement during the 1998—2001 transition period. In addition, the Statute mandated the
implementation of the CTC that provides utilities the opportunity to recover costs made uneconomic by
electric utility restructuring. Finally, the Statute contained provisions for the recovery (through 2006) of
reasonable employee-related transition costs, incurred and projected, for retraining, severance, early
retirement. outplacement and related expenses. The new market structure and customer choice began
on April 1, 1998.

1998 Activities —During 1998, SCE implemented changes to comply with restructuring elements
required by the CPUC and the Statute. Beginning Januaiy 1, 1998:

~ SCE's rates were unbundled into separate charges for energy, transmission, distribution, the
CTC, public benefit programs and nuclear decommissioning. The transmission component is
being collected through FERC-approved rates, subject to refund.

~ SCE's costs associated with its hydroelectric plants are being recovered through a performance-
based mechanism. The mechanism sets the hydroelectric revenue requirement and establishes
a formula for extending it through the duration of the electric industry restructuring transition
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period, or until market valuation of the hydroelectric facilities, whichever occurs first. The
mechanism provides that power sales revenue from hydroelectric facilities in excess of the
hydroelectric revenue requirement be credited against the costs to transition to a competitive
market.

~ SCE transition costs are being recovered through a non-bypassable CTC. This charge applies to
all customers who were using or began using utility services on or after the CPUC's December
1995 restructuring decision date. SCE has estimated its transition costs to be approximately
$10.6 billion (1998 net present value) from 1998 through 2030. This estimate was based on
incurred costs, forecasts of future costs and assumed market prices. However, changes in the
assumed market prices could materially affect these estimates. The potential transition costs are
comprised of $6.4 billion from SCE's qualifying facilities contracts, which are the direct result of
prior legislative and regulatory mandates, and $4.2 billion (which reflects the sale of SCE's gas-
and oil-fueled generation plants) from costs pertaining to certain generating assets and
regulatory commitments consisting of costs incurred (whose recovery has been deferred by the
CPUC) to provide service to customers. Such commitments include the recovery of income tax
benefits previously flowed through to customers, postretirement benefit transition costs,
accelerated recovery of San Onofre Units 2 and 3 and the Palo Verde units (as discussed in
Regulatory Matters), and certain other costs.

~ Residential and small commercial customers who began receiving a 10/o rate reduction are
repaying the rate reduction notes issued in December 1997 (see further discussion in Cash Flows
from Financing Activities) through non-bypassable charges based on electricity consumption.

Effective April 1, 1998:

~ The ISO assumed operational control of the transmission system after the ISO and PX had
begun accepting bids and schedules for electricity purchases on March 31, 1998. The
restructuring implementation costs related to the start-up and development of the PX, which are
paid by the utilities, will be recovered from all retail customers over the four-year transition
period. SCE's share of the charge is $45 million, plus interest and fees. SCE's share of the
ISO's start-up and development costs (approximately $ 16 million per year) will be paid over a
10-year period.

~ Customers can choose to remain utility customers with either bundled electric service or an
hourly PX pricing option from SCE (which is purchasing its power through the PX), or choose
direct access, which means the customer can contract directly with either independent power

'producers or energy service providers (ESPs) such as power brokers, marketers and
aggregators. Electric utilities are continuing to provide the core distribution service of delivering
energy through their distribution system regardless of a customer's choice of electricity supplier.
The CPUC is continuing to regulate the prices and service obligations related to distribution
services. As of December 31, 1998, approximately 47,000 of SCE's 4.3 million customers have
requested the direct access option.

~ Customers have options regarding metering, billing and related services (referred to as revenue
cycle services) that have been provided by California's investor-owned utilities. ESPs can
provide their customers with one consolidated bill for their services and the utility's services,
request the utility to provide such a consolidated bill to the customer or elect to have both the
ESP and the utility bill the customer for their respective charges. Customers with maximum
demand above 20 kW (primarily industrial and medium and large commercial) can choose SCE
or any other supplier to provide their metering service. Beginning in January 1999, all customers
can make these choices. In September 1998, the CPUC issued a decision regarding the credits
that would be provided to customers if they elect to obtain revenue cycle services from someone
other than SCE. Although the decision adopted SCE's recommendation of using the net avoided
cost, it also adopted a methodology which results in higher credits to customers but requires
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ESPs to pay service fees to SCE for the costs that SCE incurs as a result of dealing with the
ESP. SCE may experience a reduction in revenue security as a result of this unbundling.

During 1998, SCE sold all of its gas- and oil-fueled generation plants. The total sales price of the 12
plants was $ 1.2 billion, over $500 million more than the combined book value. Net proceeds of the sales
were used to reduce stranded costs, which otherwise were expected to be collected through the CTC
mechanism.

Accounting for Generation-Related Assets —If the CPUC's electric industry restructuring plan continues
as described above, SCE would be allowed to recover its transition costs through non-bypassable
charges to its distribution customers (although its investment in certain generation assets would be
subject to a lower authorized rate of return). In 1997, SCE discontinued application of accounting
principles for rate-regulated enterprises for its investment in generation facilities based on new
accounting guidance. The financial reporting effect of this discontinuance was to segregate these assets
on the balance sheet; the new guidance did not require SCE to write off any of its generation-related
assets, including related regulatory assets. However, the new guidance did not specifically address the
application of asset impairment standards to these assets. SCE has retained these assets on its balance
sheet because the Statute and restructuring plan referred to above make probable their recovery through
a non-bypassable CTC to distribution customers. The regulatory assets relate primarily to the recovery of
accelerated income tax benefits previously flowed through to customers, purchased power contract
termination payments and unamortized losses on reacquired debt. The new accounting guidance also
permits the recording of new generation-related regulatory assets during the transition period that are
probable of recovery through the CTC mechanism.

During the second quarter of 1998, additional guidance was developed related to the application of asset
impairment standards to these assets. Using this guidance resulted in SCE reducing its remaining
nuclear plant investment by $2.6 billion (as of June 30, 1998) and recording a regulatory asset on its
balance sheet for the same amount. For this impairment assessment, the fair value of the investment
was calculated by discounting future net cash flows. This reclassification had no effect on SCE's results
of operations.

I

If during the transition period events were to occur that made the recovery of these generation-related
regulatory assets no longer probable, SCE would be required to write off the remaining balance of such
assets (approximately $2.4 billion, after tax, at December 31, 1998) as a one-time, non-cash charge
against earnings.

If events occur during the restructuring process that result in all or a portion of the transition costs being
improbable of recovery, SCE could have additional writ~ffsassociated with these costs if they are not
recovered through another regulatory mechanism. At this time, SCE cannot predict what other revisions
willultimately be made during the restructuring process in subsequent proceedings or the effect, after the
transition period, that competition will have on its results of operations or financial position.

Environmental Protection

SCE is subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations, which require it to incur substantial
costs to operate existing facilities, construct and operate new facilities, and mitigate or remove the effect
of past operations on the environment.

As further discussed in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, SCE records its environmental
liabilities when site assessments and/or remedial actions are probable and a range of reasonably likely
cleanup costs can be estimated. SCE reviews its sites and measures the liabilityquarterly, by assessing
a range of reasonably likely costs for each identified site. Unless there is a probable amount, SCE
records the lower end of this likely range of costs.
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SCE's recorded estimated minimum liability to remediate its 49 identified sites is $171 million. One of
SCE's sites, a former pole-treating facility, is considered a federal Superfund site and represents 41 /o of
its recorded liability. The ultimate costs to clean up SCE's identified sites may vary from its recorded
liability due to numerous uncertainties inherent in the estimation process. SCE believes that, due to
these uncertainties, it is reasonably possible that cleanup costs could exceed its recorded liability by up
to $247 million. The upper limit of this range of costs was estimated using assumptions least favorable
to SCE among a range of reasonably possible outcomes. SCE has sold all of its gas- and oil-fueled
power plants and has retained some liabilityassociated with the divested properties.

The CPUC allows SCE to recover environmental-cleanup costs at 41 of its sites, representing $88 million
of its recorded liability, through an incentive mechanism. Under this mechanism, SCE will recover 90/o
of cleanup costs through customer rates; shareholders fund the remaining 10/o, with the opportunity to
recover these costs from insurance carriers and other third parties. SCE has successfully settled
insurance claims with all responsible carriers. Costs incurred at SCE's remaining sites are expected to
be recovered through customer rates. SCE has recorded a regulatory asset of $ 141 million for its
estimated minimum environmental-cleanup costs expected to be recovered through customer rates.

SCE's identified sites include several sites for which there is a lack of currently available information,
including the nature and magnitude of contamination, and the extent, if any, that SCE may be held
responsible for contributing to any costs incurred for remediating these sites. Thus, no reasonable
estimate of cleanup costs can be made for these sites.

SCE expects to clean up its identified sites over a period of up to 30 years. Remediation costs in each of
the next several years are expected to range from $4 million to $10 million. Recorded costs for 1998
were $7 million.

Based on currently available information, SCE believes it is unlikely that it will incur amounts in excess
of the upper limit of the estimated range and, based upon the CPUC's regulatory treatment of
environmental-cleanup costs, SCE believes that costs ultimately recorded will not materially affect its
results of operations or financial position. There can be no assurance, however, that future
developments, including additional information about existing sites or the identification of new sites, will
not require material revisions to such estimates.

The 1990 federal Clean Air Act requires power producers to have emissions allowances to emit sulfur
dioxide. Power companies receive emissions allowances from the federal government and may bank or
sell excess allowances. SCE expects to have excess allowances under Phase II of the Clean Air Act
(2000 and later). The act also calls for a study to determine if additional regulations are needed to
reduce regional haze in the southwestern U.S. In addition, another study is in progress to determine the
specific impact of air contaminant emissions from the Mohave Coal Generating Station on visibility in
Grand Canyon National Park. The potential effect of these studies on sulfur dioxide emissions
regulations for Mohave is unknown.

SCE's projected environmental capital expenditures are $900 million for the 1999—2003 period, mainly
for aesthetics treatment, including undergrounding certain transmission and distribution lines.

The possibility that exposure to electric and magnetic fields (EMF) emanating from power lines,
household appliances and other electric sources may, result in adverse health effects has been the
subject of scientific research. After many years of research, scientists have not found that exposure to
EMF causes disease in humans. Research on this topic is continuing. However, the CPUC has issued a

decision, which provides for a rate-recoverable research and public education program conducted by
California electric utilities, and authorizes these utilities to take no-cost or low-cost steps to reduce EMF
in new electric facilities. SCE is unable to predict when or if the scientific community will be able to
reach a consensus on any health effects of EMF, or the effect that such a consensus, if reached, could
have on future electric operations.
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San Onofre Steam Generator Tubes

The San Onofre Units 2 and 3 steam generators have performed relatively well through the first 15 years
of operation, with low rates of ongoing steam generator tube degradation. However, during the Unit 2
scheduled refueling and inspection outage in 1997, an increased rate of tube degradation was identified,
which resulted in the removal of more tubes from service than had been expected. The steam generator
design allows for the removal of up to 10/o of the tubes before the rated capacity of the unit must be
reduced. As a result of the increased degradation, a mid-cycle inspection outage was conducted in early
1998 for Unit 2. Continued degradation was found during this inspection. A favorable or decreasing
trend in degradation was observed during inspection in the scheduled refueling outage in January 1999.
The results of the January 1999 inspection are being analyzed to determine if there is a need for a mid-
cycle inspection outage in early 2000. With the results from the January 1999 outage, 7.5/o of the tubes
have now been removed from service. In September 1998, San Onofre Unit 2 experienced a small
amount of leakage from a steam generator tube plug, which required an 11-day outage to repair.

During Unit 3's refueling outage, which was completed in July 1997, inspections of structural supports for
steam generator tubes identified several areas where the thickness of the supports had been reduced,
apparently by erosion during normal plant operation. A follow-up mid-cycle inspection indicated that the
erosion had been stabilized. Additional monitoring inspections are planned during the next scheduled
refueling outage in 1999. To date, 5/0 of Unit 3's tubes have been removed from service.

During Unit 2's February 1998 mid-cycle outage, similar tube supports showed no significant levels of
such erosion.

New Accounting Rules

A recently issued accounting rule requires that costs related to start-up activities be expensed as
incurred, effective January 1, 1999. SCE does not expect this new accounting rule to materially affect its
results of operations or financial position.

In June 1997, a new accounting standard for reporting operating segment information was issued. The
new standard, which became effective for financial reports issued after December 15, 1998, requires that
operating segment information be disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Since, in management's view, SCE currently operates as one segment, this standard is not expected to
affect SCE's consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

In June 1998, a new accounting standard for derivative instruments and hedging activities was issued.
The new standard, which will be effective January 1, 2000, requires all derivatives to be recognized on
the balance sheet at fair value. Gains or losses from changes in fair value would be recognized in
earnings in the period of change unless the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument. Gains or
losses from hedges of a forecasted transaction or foreign currency exposure would be reflected in other
comprehensive income. Gains or losses from hedges of a recognized asset or liability or a firm
commitment would be reflected in earnings for the ineffective portion of the hedge. SCE anticipates that
most of its derivatives under the new standard would qualify for hedge accounting. SCE expects to
recover in rates any market price changes from its derivatives that could potentially affect earnings.
Accordingly, implementation of this new standard is not expected to affect earnings.

Year 2000 Issue

Many of SCE's existing computer systems were originally programmed to represent any date by using six
digits (e.g., 12/31/99) rather than eight digits (e.g., 12/31/1999). Accordingly, such programs, if not
appropriately addressed, could fail or create erroneous results when attempting to process information
containing dates after December 31, 1999. This situation has been referred to generally as the Year
2000 Issue.

10
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SCE has a comprehensive program in place to address potential Year 2000 impacts. Edison
International provides overall coordination of this effort, working with SCE and its business units. SCE
divides Year 2000 activities into five phases: inventory, impact assessment, remediation, testing and
implementation. SCE's objective for the Year 2000 readiness of critical systems is to be 100% complete
by July 1999. A critical system is defined as those applications and systems, including embedded
processor technology, which if not appropriately remediated, may have a significant impact on
customers, the health and safety of the public and/or personnel, the revenue stream, or regulatory
compliance. SCE was 80% complete at year-end 1998 (the goal was 75%) and is on track to meets its
July 1999 goal.

A system, application or physical asset is deemed to be Year 2000-ready if it is determined by SCE to be
suitable for continued use through the year 2028 (or through the last year of the anticipated life of the
asset, whichever occurs first), even though it is not fully Year 2000-compliant. A system, application, or
physical asset is Year 2000-compliant if it accurately processes date/time data.

SCE has structured the scope of the program to focus on three principal categories: mainframe
computing, distributed computing and physical assets (also known as embedded processors). The
mainframe and distributed computing assets consist of computer application systems (software).
Physical assets include information technology infrastructure (hardware, operating system software) and
embedded processor technology in generation, transmission, distribution, and facilities components.

Year 2000-readiness preparations for SCE's mainframe financial systems were completed in the fourth
quarter of 1997, and preparations for SCE's material management system were completed in the second
quarter of 1998. SCE's customer information and billing system is in the process of being replaced with
a system designed to be Year 2000-ready and final conversion activities are expected to be completed
during the first quarter of 1999. SCE's distributed computing assets include operations and business
information systems. SCE's critical operations information systems include outage management, power
management, and plant monitoring and access retrieval systems. SCE's business information systems
include a data acquisition system for billing, the computer call center support system, credit support and
maintenance management.

Ongoing efforts in 1999 will continue to focus on guarding against reintroduction of components that are
not Year 2000-ready into Year 2000-ready systems.

The other essential component of the SCE Year 2000-readiness program is to identify and assess
vendor products and business partners for Year 2000 readiness, as these external parties may have the
potential to impact SCE's Year 2000 readiness. SCE has implemented a process to identify and contact
vendors and business partners to determine their Year 2000 status, and is evaluating the responses. As
of January31, 1999, Edison International has contacted over 4,300 critical vendors and business
partners (the largest percentage of which are SCE's vendors and business partners). SCE's general
policy requires that all newly purchased products and services be Year 2000-ready or otherwise designed
to allow SCE to determine whether such products and services present Year 2000 issues. SCE is also
working to'ddress Year 2000 issues related to all ISO and PX interfaces, as well as joint ownership
facilities. SCE exchanges Year 2000-readiness information (including, but not limited to, test results and
related data) with certain of its affiliates and other external parties as part of its Year 2000-readiness
efforts.

SCE's current estimate of the costs to complete these modifications, including the cost of new hardware
and software application modification, is $72 million, about 40% of which is expected to be capital costs.
SCE's Year 2000 costs expended through December 31, 1998, were $35 million. SCE expects current
rate levels for providing electric service to be sufficient to provide funding for utility-related modifications.

Although SCE expects that its critical systems will be fullyYear 2000-ready prior to year-end 1999, there
can be no assurance that the systems of other companies on which the systems and operations of SCE
rely will be converted on a timely basis. SCE believes that prudent business practices call for the
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development of contingency plans. Such contingency plans shall include developing strategies for
dealing with the most reasonably likely worst case scenario concerning Year 2000-related processing
failures or malfunctions caused by SCE's internal systems or from external parties. As noted above,
SCE has, in many cases, completed its Year 2000-readiness work and is currently in the remediation and
testing phases for certain of their other internal systems as well as assessing risks posed by external
parties. SCE is working with industry groups in an effort to help define a reasonably likely worst case
scenario and in the development of contingency plans. SCE's contingency plans, which will include
scheduling of key personnel, are expected to be completed by March 1999. As of January 31, 1999,
draft component and system contingency plans were completed and being evaluated, draft plans were in
progress for generating units, and a draft of the grid operations plan had been submitted to the Western
Systems Coordinating Council. However, contingency plans willcontinue to be revised and enhanced as
2000 approaches. SCE also plans to test these contingency plans by conducting or participating in
exercises during 1999. Also, SCE is scheduled to participate in industry-wide drills during 1999.

SCE does not expect the Year 2000 Issue to have a material adverse effect on its results of operation or
financial position; however, if not effectively remediated, negative effects from Year 2000 issues,
including those related to internal systems, vendors, business partners, the ISO, the PX or customers,
could cause results to differ.

Forward-looking Information

In the preceding Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial
Condition and elsewhere in this annual report, the words estimates, expects, anticipates, believes, and
other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking information that involves risks and
uncertainties. Actual results or outcomes could differ materially as a result of such important factors as
further actions by state and federal regulatory bodies setting rates and implementing the restructuring of
the electric utility industry; the effects of new laws and regulations relating to restructuring and other
matters; the effects of increased competition in the electric utility business, including direct customer
access to retail energy suppliers and the unbundling of revenue cycle services such as metering and
billing; changes in prices of electricity and fuel costs; changes in market interest rates; new or increased
environmental liabilities; the effects of the Year 2000 Issue; and other unforeseen events.

12
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In thousands Year ended December 31, 1998 1997 1996

Sales to ultimate consumers
Safes to power exchange
Other
Operating revenue
Fuel
Purchased power —contracts
Purchased power —power exchange
Provisions for regulatory adjustment clauses —net
Other operating expenses
Maintenance
Depreciation, decommissioning and amortization
Income taxes
Property and other taxes
Net ains on sale of utilit lant

Total operating expenses
0 eratln income
Provision for rate phase-in p'Ian

Allowance for equity funds used during construction
Interest and dividend income
Other nonoperating income (deductions) —net

$7,104,800
1,347i579

394,719
8,847,098

323,716
2,625,900
1,983,922
(472) 519)

1,480,644
410,566

1,545,735
445>642
128I402
542,608

7)929,400
917,698

11,826
66,725
(4,385)

$7,639,417

313,969
7,953,386

881,471
2,854,002

(410,935)
1,216,317

405,545
1,239,878

582,031
129,038

3,849
6,893,498
1,059,888

(48,486)
7,651

44,636
(23,036)

$7,272,919

310,463
7,583,382

630,512
2,705,880

(225,908)
1,181,641

329,371
1,063,505

578,329
190,284

3,325
6,450,289
1,133,093

(84,288)
15,579
37,855
(3,623)

Total other Income deductions —net
Income before Interest expense

74,166
991,864 1,098,6161,040,653

19,235 34,477

Interest on Iong-term debt
Other interest expense
Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction
Ca italized interest

421 1857
641225
(8,046)
1,294

345,592
101,078

(9,213)
2,398

380,812
73,914
(9,794)
1,711

Total Interest expense —net 476,742 435,059 443,221

Net Income
Dividends on referred stock
Earnings available for common stock

515,122
24,632

$ 490,490

605,594
29,488

$ 576,106

655,395
34,395

$ 621,000

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

In thousands Year ended December 31, 1998 1997 1996

Net income
Unrealized gain on securities —net
Reciassification ad'ustment for ains included in net income

Com rehensive income

$515I122
9,275

17,836

$506,561

$605,594
14,641

$620,235

$655,395
14,900

$670,295

The accompanying notes are integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands

ASSETS

Transmission and distribution:
Utilityplant, at original cost, subject to

cost-based rate regulation
Accumulated provision for depreciation
Construction work in progress

December 31, 1998

$11,771,678
(6,062,562)

455,233

1997

$11,213,352
(5,573,742)

492,614

Generation:
Utilityplant, at original cost, not subject to

cost-based rate regulation
Accumulated provision for depreciation, decommissioning

and amortization
Construction work in progress
Nuclear fuel, at amortized cost

1,689)469 9,522,127

(833,917)
61,431

172,250

(4,970,137)
100,283
154,757

6,164,349 6,132,224

1,089,233 4,807,030

Total utllit lant 7,253,582 10,939,254

Nonutility property —less accumulated provision
for depreciation of $25,682 and $24,730
at respective dates

Nuclear decommissioning trusts
Other investments

Total other ro ert and Investments

Cash and equivalents
Receivables, including unbilled revenue, less allowances

of $22,230 and $26,453 for uncollectible accounts
at respective dates

Fuel inventory
Materials and supplies, at average cost
Accumulated deferred income taxes —net
Regulatory balancing accounts —net
Pre a ments and other current assets

Total current assets

Regulatory asset —unamortized nuclear investment —net
Regulatory asset —income tax-related deferred charges
Unamortized debt issuance and reacquisition expense
Other deferred char es

56,681
2,239,929

179,480

2,4T6,090

81,500

1,112,630
51,299

116,259
274,833
648,T81

91,992

2,377,294

2,161,998
1,463,256

348,816
865,892

67,869
1,831,460

171,399

2,070,728

962,272

906,388
58,059

132,980
123,146
193,311
93,098

2,469,254

1,543,380
359,304
677,378

Total deferred char es

Total assets

4,839,962 2,580,062

$16,946,928 $18,059,298

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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In thousands, exce t share amounts
CAPITALIZATIONAND LIABILITIES

December 31,

Southern CalifornIa Edison Company

1998 1997

Common shareholder's equity:
Common stock (434,888,104 shares outstanding

at each date)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings

Preferred stock:
Not subject to mandatory redemption
Subject to mandatory redemption

Lon -term debt

$ 2,168,054
334,031
39,462

793,625
3,335,172

128,755
255,700

5,446,638

$ 2,168,054
334,031

48,023
1,407,834
3,957,942

183,755
275,000

6,144,597

Total capitalization

Other lon -term liabilities 467,109 479,637

9,166,265 10,561,294

Current portion of tong-term debt
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Accrued interest
Dividends payable
Deferred unbilled revenue and other current liabilities

400,810
469,565
447,484
678,955

89,828
91,742

1,096,332

692,875
322,028
406,704
509,270

85,406
95,146

931,856

Total current liabilities 3,274,716 3,043,285

Accumulated deferred iri'come taxes —net
Accumulated deferred investment tax credits
Customer advances and other deferred credits

2,993,142
250,116
795 266

2,939,471
326,728
708,745

Total deferred credits

Minorit interest

4,038,524 3,974,944

314 138

Commitments and contingencies
(Notes 2, 8, 9 and 10)

Total ca italization and liabilities $16,946,928 $ 18,059,298

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Southern California Edison Company
"4

In thousands Year ended December 31, 1998 1997 1996

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation, decommissioning and amortization
Other amortization
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits
Regulatory asset related to the sale of

oil and gas plant
Net gains on sale of oil and gas plant
Other —net

Changes in working capital:
Receivables
Regulatory balancing accounts
Fuel inventory, materials and supplies
Prepayments and other current assets
Accrued interest and taxes
Accounts a able and other current liabilities

1,545,735
163,063
(94,504)

(220,232)
(564,623)

(78,668)

(206j242)
(455,470)

23,481
1,106

174,107
205,256

1,239,878
81,363
63,379

(105,986)

14,695
(374,799)

35,707
12,039
16,625

120,464

1,063,505
90,931
46,122

5,710

(9,120)
(156,379)

38,791
9,152

(58,827)
93,362

$ 515,122 $ 605,594 $ 655,395

Net cash rovided b o eratin activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Long-term debt issued
Long-term debt repaid
Rate reduction notes issued
Rate reduction notes repaid
Preferred stock redeemed
Nuclear fuel financing —net
Short-term debt financing —net
Capital transferred
Dividends aid

Net cash used b financin activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and plant
Proceeds from sale of oil and gas plant
Funding of nuclear decommissioning trusts
Unrealized gain (loss) in equity investments —net
Other —net

Net cash rovided used b investln activities

Net Increase (decrease) In cash and equivalents
Cash and e uivalents, be innin of ear

Cash and e uivalents, end of ear

1,008,131

(776,030)

(251,591)
(74,300)
16,244

'l47,537

1,129,812

2,067,952

~ (860,837)
1,203,039
(162,925)

(8,561)
8,333

179,049

(880,772)
962,272

$ 81,500

1,708,959

(916,145)
2,449,289

(100,000)
(20,140)
91,879

153,000
1,871,944

214,061

(685,320)

(153,756)
14,641
28,133

852,568

642,330
319,942

$ 962,272

1,778,642

396,309
(403,957)

41,803
(129,359)

799,593

894,797

(616,427)

(148,158)
14,900
75,985

825,670

58,175
261,767

$ 319,942

The accompariying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Soufhorn California Edison Company

Accounting Principles

Southern California Edison Company's (SCE) accounting policies conform with generally accepted
accounting principles, including the accounting principles for rate-regulated enterprises which reflect the
rate-making policies of the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) and the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC). As a result of industry restructuring legislation enacted by the State of
California and a related change in the application of accounting principles for rate-regulated enterprises
adopted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Emerging Issues Task Force, during the third
quarter of 1997, SCE began accounting for its investment in generation facilities in accordance with
accounting principles applicable to enterprises in general and SCE's balance sheets display a separate
caption for its investment in generation. Application of such accounting principles to SCE's generation
assets did not result in any adjustment of their carrying value; however, SCE's nuclear investments were
reclassified as a regulatory asset in second quarter 1998.

Competition Transition Charge (CTC)

Beginning January 1, 1998, a non-bypassable charge is being billed to all customers, which provides
SCE the opportunity to recover its costs to transition to a competitive market.

Consolidation Policy

The consolidated financial statements include SCE and its subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions have
been eliminated.

Estimates

Financial statements prepared in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles require
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and disclosure of contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Certain
significant estimates related to electric utility restructuring, decommissioning and contingencies are
further discussed in Notes 2, 9 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively.

Fuel /nventory

Fuel inventory is valued under the last-in, first-out method for fuel oil and natural gas, and under the first-
in, first-out method for coal.

Nature of Operations

SCE is a rate-regulated public utility, which produces and supplies electric energy for its 4.3 million
customers in central, coastal and Southern California. SCE operates in a highly regulated environment
in which it has an obligation to deliver electric service to customers in return for an exclusive franchise
within its service territory. This regulatory environment is changing, as further discussed in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. As a result of these changes, effective April 1, 1998, SCE sells all
electric energy produced to the power exchange (PX), as mandated by state legislation and purchases
electric energy from the PX to supply to its customers. SCE's outstanding common stock is owned
entirely by its parent company, Edison International.

Nuclear

CPUC-authorized rate phase-in plans, which deferred collection of revenue for each unit at the Palo
Verde Nuclear Generating Station during the first four years of operation, ended in February 1996,
September 1996 and January 1998 for Units 1, 2 and 3, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1

Under federal law, SGE is liable for its share of the estimated costs to decommission three federal
nuclear enrichment facilities (based on purchases). These costs, which will be paid over 15 years, are
recorded as a fuel cost and recovered through non-bypassable customer rates.

In 1996 and 1997, the CPUC authorized acceleration of the recovery of SCE's remaining investment of
$2.6 billion in San Onofre Nuclear Generation Station Units 2 and 3 and $1.2 billion in Palo Verde Units
1, 2 and 3, respectively. The accelerated recovery will continue through December 2001, earning a
7.35/o fixed rate of return. San Onofre's operating costs, including nuclear fuel and nuclear fuel
financing costs, and incremental capital expenditures are recovered through an incentive pricing plan
which allows SCE to receive about 4g per kilowatt-hour through 2003. Any differences between these
costs and the incentive price will flow through to the shareholders. Palo Verde's accelerated plant
recovery, as well as operating costs, including nuclear fuel and nuclear fuel financing costs, and
incremental capital expenditures, are subject to balancing account treatment through 2001.

Beginning January 1, 1998, San Onofre's incentive pricing plan and accelerated plant recovery and the
Palo Verde balancing account became part of the CTC mechanism. SCE will be. required to share
equally with ratepayers the net benefits received from operation of Palo Verde, beginning in 2002, and
from the operation of the San Onofre units in 2004. Palo Verde's existing nuclear unit incentive
procedure will continue only for purposes of calculating a reward for performance of any unit above an
80/o capacity factor for a fuel cycle.

Reclassltlcatlons

Certain prior-year amounts were reclassified to conform to the December 31, 1998, financial statement
presentation.

Regulatory Balancing Accounts

Prior to January 1, 1998, the differences between CPUC-authorized and actual base-rate revenue from
kilowatt-hour sales and GPUC-authorized and actual energy costs were accumulated in balancing
accounts until they were refunded to, or recovered from, customers through authorized rate adjustments
(with interest). On January 1, 1998, the balances in these balancing accounts were transferred to a
transition cost balancing account. Also, beginning January 1, 1998, the difference between generation-
related revenue and generation-related costs is being accumulated in the transition cost balancing
account, effectively eliminating all other balancing accounts except those used to assist in the
administration of public purpose funds. Additionally, gains resulting from the divestiture of the gas- and
oil-fueled generation plants were credited to the transition cost balancing account; the losses are being
amortized over the remaining transition period and accumulated in the transition cost balancing account.
These transition costs are being recovered from utility customers (with interest) through the GTG. For
further details, see discussion under California Electric Utility Industry Restructuring in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Income tax effects on all balancing account changes are deferred.

In January 1997, in compliance with the restructuring legislation, overcollections in the kilowatt-hour
sales and energy cost balancing accounts at December31,1996, were transferred to an interim
balancing account and were subsequently credited to the transition cost balancing account in
January 1998.

Research, Development and Demonstration (RDZD)

SCE capitalizes RD&D costs that are expected to result in plant construction. If construction does not
occur, these costs are charged to expense. RD&D expenses were $2 million in 1998, $39 million in 1997
and $21 million in 1996.
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'evenue

Southern California Edison Company

Operating revenue includes amounts for services rendered but unbilled at the end of each year.
Beginning April 1, 1998, operating revenue also includes amounts for sales to the PX.

Supplemental Cash Flows Information

SCE's supplemental cash flows information was:

In millions Year ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Payments for Interest and taxes:
Interest —net of amounts capitalized
Taxes

$ 264
405

$ 342
438

$ 347
546

Uti%tyPlant

Plant additions, including replacements and betterments, are capitalized. Such costs include direct
material and labor, construction overhead and an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC).
AFUDC represents the estimated cost of debt and equity funds that finance utility-plant construction.
AFUDC is capitalized during plant construction and reported in current earnings. AFUDC is recovered in
rates through depreciation expense over the useful life of the related asset. Depreciation of utility plant
is computed on a straight-line, remaining-life basis.

Replaced or retired property and removal costs less salvage are charged to the accumulated. provision
for depreciation. Depreciation expense stated as a percent of average original cost of depreciable utility
plant was 4.2% for 1998, 5.2% for 1997 and 4.2% for 1996.

During the third quarter'of 1997, SCE discontinued accounting for its investment in generation facilities
using accounting principles applicable to rate-regulated enterprises and began accounting for such
investment using accounting principles applicable to enterprises in general. The carrying value of such
investment was unaffected by this change. However, the nuclear investments were reclassified as a
regulatory asset in second quarter 1998.

Note 2. Regulatory Matters

California Electric UtilityIndustry Restructuring

Restructuring Decision and Statute —The CPUC's December 1995 decision on restructuring California's
electric utility industry started the transition to a new market structure involving competition and customer
choice. The State of California enacted legislation in 1996 to provide a transition to a competitive
market structure. The Statute substantially adopted the CPUC's restructuring decision by addressing
stranded-cost recovery for utilities and providing a certain cost-recovery time period for the transition
costs associated with utility-owned generation-related assets. Tr'ansition costs related to power-purchase
contracts are being'recovered through the terms of their contracts while most of the remaining transition
costs will be recovered through 2001. The Statute also included provisions to finance a portion of the
stranded costs that residential and small. commercial customers would have paid between 1998 and
2001, which allowed SCE to reduce rates by at least 10% to these customers, effective January 1, 1998.
The Statute included a rate freeze for all other customers, including large commercial and industrial
customers, as well as provisions for continued funding for energy conservation, low-income programs
and renewable resources. Despite the rate freeze, SCE expects to be able to recover its revenue
requirement during the 1998-2001 transition period. In addition, the Statute mandated the
implementation of the CTC that provides utilities the opportunity to recover costs made uneconomic by
electric utility restructuring. Finally, the Statute contained provisions for the recovery (through 2006) of
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4

reasonable employee-related transition costs, incurred and projected, for retraining, severance, early
retirement, outplacement and related expenses. The new market structure and customer choice began
on April 1, 1998.

1898 Activities —During 1998, SCE implemented changes to comply with restructuring elements
required by the CPUC and the Statute. Beginning January 1, 1998:

~ SCE's rates were unbundled into separate charges for energy, transmission, distribution, the
CTC, public benefit programs and nuclear decommissioning. The transmission component is
being collected through FERC-approved rates, subject to refund.

~ SCE's costs associated with its hydroelectric plants are being recovered through a performance-
based mechanism. The mechanism sets the hydroelectric revenue requirement and establishes
a formula for extending it through the duration of the electric industry restructuring transition
period, or until market valuation of the hydroelectric facilities, whichever occurs first. The
mechanism provides that power sales revenue from hydroelectric facilities in excess of the
hydroelectric revenue requirement be credited against the costs to transition to a competitive
market.

~ SCE's transition costs are being recovered through a non-bypassable CTC. This charge applies
to all customers who were using or began using utilityservices on or after the CPUC's December
1995 restructuring decision date. SCE has estimated its transition costs to be approximately
$ 10.6 billion (1998 net present value) from 1998 through 2030. This estimate was based on
incurred costs, forecasts of future costs and assumed market prices. However, changes in the
assumed market prices could materially affect these estimates. The potential transition costs are
comprised of $6.4 billion from SCE's qualifying facilities contracts, which are the direct result of
prior legislative and regulatory mandates, and $4.2 billion (which reflects the sale of SCE's gas-
and oil- fueled generation plants) from costs pertaining to certain generating assets and
regulatory commitments consisting of costs incurred (whose recovery has been deferred by the
CPUC) to provide service to customers. Such commitments include the recovery of income tax
benefits previously flowed through to customers, postretirement benefit transition costs,
accelerated recovery of San Onofre Units 2 and 3 and the Palo Verde units, and certain other
costs.

~ Residential and small commercial customers who began receiving a 10/o rate reduction are
repaying the rate reduction notes issued in December 1997 (see further discussion in Note 3 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements) through non-bypassable charges based on electricity
consumption.

Effective April 1, 1998:

~ The ISO assumed operational control of the transmission system after the ISO and PX had
begun accepting bids and schedules for electricity purchases on March 31, 1998. The
restructuring implementation costs related to the start-up and development of the PX, which are
paid by the utilities, will be recovered from all retail customers over the four-year transition
period. SCE's share of the charge is $45 million, pius interest and fees. SCE's share of the
ISO's start-up and development costs (approximately $ 16 million per year) will be paid over a
10-year period.

~ Customers. can choose to remain utility customers with either bundled electric service or an
hourly PX pricing option from SCE (which is purchasing its power through the PX), or choose
direct access, which means the customer can contract directly with either independent power
producers or energy service providers (ESPs) such as power brokers, marketers and
aggregators. Electric utilities are continuing to provide the core distribution service of delivering
energy through their distribution system regardless of a customer's choice of electricity supplier.
The CPUC is continuing to regulate the prices and service obligations related to distribution
services.

20



Southern Calllornla Edison Company

~ Customers have options regarding metering, billing and related services (referred to as revenue
cycle services) that have been provided by California's investor-owned utilities. ESPs can
provide their customers with one consolidated bill for their services and the utility's services,
request the utility to provide such a consolidated bill to the customer or elect to have both the
ESP and the utility bill the customer for their respective charges. Customers with maximum
demand above 20kW (primarily industrial and medium and large commercial) can choose SCE
or any other supplier to provide their metering service. Beginning in January 1999, all customers
can make these choices. In September 1998, the CPUC issued a decision regarding the credits
that would be provided to customers if they elect to obtain revenue cycle services from someone
other than SCE. Although the decision adopted SCE's recommendation of using the net avoided
cost, it also adopted a methodology which results in higher credits to customers but requires
ESPs to pay service fees to SCE for the costs that SCE incurs as a result of dealing with the
ESP.

During 1998, SCE sold all of its gas- and oil-fueled generation plants. The total sales price of the 12
plants was $ 1.2 billion, over $500 million more than the combined book value. Net proceeds of the sales
were used to reduce stranded costs, which otherwise were expected to be collected through the CTC
mechanism.

Accounting for Generation-Related Assets —If the CPUC's electric industry restructuring plan continues
as described above, SCE would be allowed to recover its transition costs through non-bypassable
charges to its distribution customers (although its investment in certain generation assets would be
subject to a lower authorized rate of return). In 1997, SCE discontinued application of accounting
principles for rate-regulated enterprises for its investment in generation facilities based on new
accounting guidance. The financial reporting effect of this discontinuance was to segregate these assets
on the balance sheet; the new guidance did not require SCE to write off any of its generation-related
assets, including related regulatory assets. However, the new guidance did not specifically address the
application of asset impairment standards to these assets. SCE has retained these assets on its balance
sheet because the Statute and restructuring plan referred to above make probable their recovery through
a non-bypassable CTC to distribution customers. The regulatory assets relate primarily to the recovery of
accelerated income tax benefits previously flowed through to customers, purchased power contract
termination payments and unamortized losses on reacquired debt. The new accounting guidance also
permits the recording of new generation-related regulatory assets during the transition period that are
probable of recovery through the CTC mechanism.

During the second quarter of 1998, additional guidance was developed related to the application of asset
impairment standards to these assets. Using this guidance resulted in SCE reducing its remaining
nuclear plant investment by $2.6 billion (as of June 30, 1998) and recording a regulatory asset on its
balance sheet for the same amount. For this impairment assessment, the fair value of the investment
was calculated by discounting future net cash flows. This reclassification had no effect on SCE's results
of operations

If during the transition period events were to occur that made the recovery of these generation-related
regulatory assets no longer probable, SCE would be required to write off the remaining balance of such
assets (approximately $2.4 billion, after tax, at December 31, 1998) as a one-time, non-cash charge
against earnings.

If events occur during the restructuring process that result in all or a portion of the transition costs being
improbable of recovery, SCE could have additional write-offs associated with these costs if they are not
recovered through another regulatory mechanism. At this time, SCE cannot predict what other revisions
willultimately be made during the restructuring process in subsequent proceedings or the effect, after the
transition period, that competition will have on its results of operations or financial position.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3. Financial Instruments

Cash Equivalents

Cash and equivalents include tax-exempt investments ($78 million at December 31, 1998, and $936
million at December 31, 1997), and time deposits and other investments ($4 million at
December 31, 1998, and $26 million at December 31, 1997) with maturities of three months or less.

Derivative Financial Instruments

SCE's risk management policy allows the use of derivative financial instruments to manage financial
exposure on its investments and fluctuations in interest rates, but prohibits the use of these instruments
for speculative or trading purposes.

SCE uses the hedge accounting method to record its derivative financial instruments, except for gas call
options. Hedge accounting requires an assessment that the transaction reduces risk, that the derivative
be designated as a hedge at the inception of the derivative contract, and that the changes in the market
value of a hedge move in an inverse direction to the item being hedged. Under hedge accounting, the
derivative itself is not recorded on SCE's balance sheet. Mark-to-market accounting would be used if the
hedge accounting criteria were not met. Interest rate differentials and amortization of premiums for
interest rate caps are recorded as adjustments to interest expense. If the derivatives were terminated
before the maturity of the corresponding debt issuance, the realized gain or loss on the transaction would
be amortized over the remaining term of the debt.

SCE has gas call options that mitigate its exposure to increases in natural gas prices. Increases in
natural gas prices tend to increase the price of electricity purchased from the PX. The options cover
various periods from 1998 through 2001.

SCE uses the mark-to-market accounting method for its gas call options. Gains and losses from monthly
changes in market prices are recorded as income or expense. However, the costs of the options and the
market price changes are included in the transition cost balancing account. As a result, the mark-to-
market gains or losses have no effect on earnings.

Interest rate swaps are used to reduce the potential impact of interest rate fluctuations on floating-rate
long-term debt. At the balance sheet dates of December 31", 1998, and December 31, 1997, SCE had an
interest rate swap agreement which fixed the interest rate at 5.585% for $196 million of debt due 2008; it
expires February 28, 2008. The interest rate swap agreement requires the parties to pledge collateral
according to bond rating and market interest rate changes. At December 31, 1998, SCE had pledged
$25 million as collateral due to a decline in market interest rates. SCE is exposed to credit loss in the
event of nonperformance by the counterparty to the agreement, but does not expect the counterparty to
fail to meet its obligation.

Fair Value ofFinancial Instruments

Fair values of financial instruments were:

In millions December 31, 1998
Cost Fair
Basis Value

Cost
Basis

1997
Fair

Value
Financial assets:
Decommissioning trusts
Equity investments
Gas call options

Financial liabilities:
DOE decommissioning and

decontamination fees
Interest rate hedges
Long-term debt
Preferred stock subject to

mandatory redemption

$1,534
7

39

45

5)447

256

$2,240
72
31

$ 1,371
9

34

40 50
28

5)699 6,145

274 275

$1,831
90
34

43
24

6,456

293
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> Financial assets are carried at their fair value based on quoted market prices for decommissioning trusts
, and equity investments and on financial models for gas call options. Financial liabilities are recorded at

cost. Financial liabilities'air values are based on: termination costs for the interest rate swap;
brokers'uotes

for long-term debt and preferred stock; and discounted future cash flows for U.S. Department of
Energy (DOE) decommissioning and decontamination fees. Due to their short maturities, amounts
reported for cash equivalents and short-term debt approximate fair value.

Gross unrealized holding gains (losses) on financial assets were:

In millions

Decommissioning trusts:
Municipal bonds
Stocks
U.S. government issues
Short-term and other

Equity investments
Gas call options
Total

December 31, 1998

$196
365
115

30
706

65
(8)

$763

1997

$131
190

91
48

460
81

$541

There were no unrealized holding losses on financial assets for the years presented, other than the
unrealized holding loss on the gas call options in 1998.

In June 1998, a new accounting standard for derivative instruments and hedging activities was issued.
The new standard, which will be effective January 1, 2000, requires all derivatives to be recognized on
the balance sheet at fair value. Gains or losses from changes in fair value would be recognized in
earnings in the period of change unless the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument. Gains or
losses from hedges of a forecasted transaction or foreign currency exposure would be reflected in other
comprehensive income. Gains or losses from hedges of a recognized asset or liability or a firm
commitment would be reflected in earnings for the ineffective portion of the hedge. SCE anticipates that
most of its derivatives under the new standard would qualify for hedge accounting. SCE expects to
recover in rates any market price changes from its derivatives that could potentially affect earnings.
Accordingly, implementation of this new standard is not expected to affect earnings.

Investments

Net unrealized gains (losses) on equity investments are recorded as a separate component of
shareholder's equity under the caption: Accumulated other comprehensive income. Unrealized gains
and losses on decommissioning trust funds are recorded in the accumulated provision for
decommissioning.

All investments are classified as available-for-sale.

Long-Tenn Debt
I

California law prohibits SCE from incurring or guaranteeing debt for its nonutility affiliates.,

Almost all SCE properties are subject to a trust indenture lien. SCE has pledged first and refunding
mortgage bonds as security for borrowed funds obtained from pollution-control bonds issued by
government agencies. SCE uses these proceeds to finance construction of pollution-control facilities.
Bondholders have limited discretion in redeeming certain pollution-control bonds, and SCE has arranged
with securities dealers to remarket or purchase them if necessary.
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Debt premium, discount and issuance expenses are amortized over the life of each issue. Under CPUC ~

rate-making procedures, debt reacquisition expenses are amortized over the remaining life of the
reacquired debt or, if refinanced, the life of the new debt.

Commercial paper intended to be refinanced for a period exceeding one year and used to finance
nuclear fuel scheduled to be used more than one year after the balance sheet date is classified as long-
term debt.

Long-term debt maturities and sinking-fund requirements for the five years are: 1999 —$401 million;
2000 —$571 million; 2001 —$646 million; 2002 —$446 million; and 2003 —$371 million.

In December 1997, SCE Funding LLC, a special purpose entity (SPE), of which SCE is the sole member,
issued approximately $2.5 billion of rate reduction notes to Bankers Trust Company of California, as
certificate trustee for the California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank Special Purpose
Trust SCE-1 (Trust), which is a special purpose entity established by the State of California. The terms
of the rate reduction notes generally mirror the terms of the pass-through certificates issued by the Trust,
which are known as rate reduction certificates. The proceeds of the rate reduction notes were used by
the SPE to purchase from SCE an enforceable right known as transition property. Transition property is
a current property right created pursuant to the restructuring legislation and a financing order of the
CPUC and consists generally of the right to be paid a specified amount from a non-bypassable tariff
levied on residential and small commercial customers. Notwithstanding the legal sale of the transition
property by SCE to the SPE, the amounts reflected as assets on SCE's balance sheet have not been
reduced by the amount of the transition property sold to the SPE, and the liabilities of the SPE for the
rate reduction notes are for accounting purposes reflected as long-term liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheet of SCE. SCE used the proceeds from the sale of the transition property to retire debt and
equity securities. The rate reduction notes are secured solely by the transition property and certain other
assets of the SPE, and there is no recourse to SCE or Edison International.

'Although the SPE is consolidated with SCE in the financial statements, as required by generally
accepted accounting principles, the SPE is legally separate from SCE, the assets of the SPE are not
available to creditors of SCE or Edison International, and the transition property is legally not an asset of
SCE or Edison International.

Long-term debt consisted of:

In millions ~

First and refunding mortgage bonds:
1999 2026 (5.625% to 7.5%)

Rate reduction notes:
1999 - 2007 (6.14% to 6.42%)

Pollution-control bonds:
1999 - 2027 (5.4% to 7.2% and variable)

Funds held by trustees
Debentures and notes:

1999 - 2006 (5.6% to 8.25%)
Subordinated debentures:

2044 (8.375%)
Commercial paper for nuclear fuel
Long-term debt due within one year
Unamortized debt discount —net

Total

December 31, 1998

$1,550

2,217

1i201
(2)

700

100
108

(401)
26

$5,447

1997

$1,825

2,463

1,202
(2)

1,195

100
92

(693)
37

$6,145
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~Short-Term Debt

Southern Cailfornla Edison Company

SCE has lines of credit it can use at negotiated or bank index rates. At December 31, 1998, these lines
totaled $1.3 billion, with $800 million available for short-term debt and $500 million available for the long-
term refinancing of certain variable-rate pollution-control debt.

Short-term debt consisted of commercial paper used to finance fuel inventories and general cash
requirements. Commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 1998, and December 31, 1997, was $581
million and $415 million, respectively. Commercial paper intended to finance nuclear fuel scheduled to
be used more than one year after the balance sheet date is classified as tong'-term debt in connection
with refinancing terms under five-year term lines of credit with commercial banks. Weighted-average
interest rates were 5.3% and 6.0% at December 31, 1998, and December 31, 1997, respectively.

Note 4. Equity

The CPUC regulates SCE's capital structure, limiting the dividends it may pay Edison International. At
December 31, 1998, SCE had the capacity to pay $794 million in additional dividends and continue to
maintain its authorized capital structure.

In 1998, SCE implemented a recently issued accounting standard that requires companies to report
comprehensive income. Implementation of the new standard had no effect on SCE's results of
operations or financial position.

Changes in SCE's common shareholder's equity were as follows:

In millions

Accumulated Total
Additional Other Common

Common Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Shareholder's
Stock Ca ital Income Earnin s E uit

Balance at December 31, 1995

Net income
Unrealized gain on securities

Tax effect
Dividends declared on common stock
Dividends declared on referred stock

Balance at December 31 1996

$ 2,168

2 168

$ 178

178

$ 18

25
(10)

33

$2,780

655

(735)
34

2 666

$5,144

655
25

(10)
(735)

34
5 045

Net income
Unrealized gain on securities

Tax effect
Dividends declared on common stock
Dividends declared on preferred stock
Reacquired capital stock expense
Additional investment from

arent com an 156

606
24
(9)

(1,829)
(30)

(5)

606
24
(9)

(1,829)
(30)

(5)

156
Balance at December 31 1997 2 168 334 48 1 408 3 958

Net income
Unrealized gain on securities

Tax effect
Reclassified adjustment for gain

Included in net income
Tax efffect

Dividends declared on common stock
Dividends declared on preferred stock
Stock o tion a reciation

14
(5)

(30)
12

515

(1,101)
(24)

4

515
14
(5)

(30)
12

(1,101)
(24)

4

Balance at December 31, 1998 $ 2,168 $ 334 $ 39 $ 794 $3,335
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Authorized'common stock is 560 million shares with no par value. Authorized shares of preferred
and'referencestock are: $25 cumulative preferred —24 million; $100 cumulative preferred —12 million;

and preference —50 million. Allcumulative preferred stocks are redeemable. Mandatorily redeemable
preferred stocks are subject to sinking-fund provisions. When preferred shares are redeemed, the
premiums paid are charged to common equity.

Preferred stock redemption requirements for the next five years are: 1999 through 2001 —zero; 2002—
$105 million; and 2003 —$9 million.

Cumulative preferred stock consisted of:

Dollars in millions, exce t er share amounts December 31, 1998 1997

December 31 1998
Shares Redemption

~Quis andin ~Pico

1,000,000
1,200,000
1,653,429
1,296,769

Total

Not subJect to mandatory redemption:
$25 par value:
4.08/o Series
4.24
4.32
4.78
5.80

$25.50
25.80
28.75
25.80

$ 25
30
41
33

$129

$ 25
30
41

33,
55

$184

SubJect to mandatory redemption:
$100 par value:
6.05% Series
6.45
7.23
Total

750,000
1,000,000

807,000

$100.00
100.00
100.00

$ 75
100

81

$256

$ 75
100
100

$275

In 1998, 193,000 shares of Series 7.23% and 2.2 million shares of Series 5.8% preferred stock were
redeemed. In 1997, 4 million shares of Series 7.36% preferred stock were redeemed. There were no
preferred stock issuances for the years presented.

Note 5. Income Taxes
h

SCE and its subsidiaries will be included in Edison International's consolidated federal income tax and
combined state franchise tax returns. Under income tax allocation agreements, each subsidiary
calculates its own tax liability.

Income tax expense includes the current tax liability from operations and the change in deferred income
taxes during the year. Investment tax credits are amortized over the lives of the related properties.
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I

'The components of the net accumulated deferred income tax liabilitywere:

In millions

Deferred tax assets:
Property-related
Unrealized gains or losses
Investment tax credits
Regulatory balancing accounts
Decommissioning-related
Fixed costs
Other
Total
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property-related
Capitalized software costs
Regulatory balancing accounts
Other
Total

December 31, 1998

$ 197
387
152

96
126
188
285

$1,431

$3,005
196
162
786

$4,149

1997

$ 227
273
192
180
114
109
226

$1,321

$3,272
127
202
536

$4,137

Accumulated deferred Income taxes —net

Classification of accumulated deferred income taxes:
Included in deferred c'redits
Included in current assets

The current and deferred components of income tax expense were:

$2,718

$2,993
275

$2,816

$2,939
123

In millions

Current:
Federal
State

Year ended December 31, 1998

$450
101

551

1997

$375
100

475

1996

$386
129

515

Deferred —federal and state:
Accrued charges
Property related
investment and energy tax credits —net
Pension reserve
Rate phase-in plan
Regulatory balancing accounts
Unbilled revenue
Other

Total Income tax ex ense

(43)
(106)

(74)
(3)

177
(67)

7

(109)
$442

(33)
(47)
(20)

(5)
(19)
141 '

22

45

$520

(14)
(14)
(24)
45

(32)
34

1

(4)
$511

Classification of Income taxes:
Included in operating income
Included in other income

$446 $582 $578
(4) (62) (67)

The composite federal and state statutory income tax rate was 40.551% for 1998 and 1997, and
41.045% for 1996.
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The federal statutory income tax rate is reconciled to the effective tax rate below:

Year ended December 31,
Federal statutory rate
Capitalized software
Property related and other
Investment and energy tax credits
State tax —net of federal deduction
Effective tax rate

1998
35.0%
(o 7)
11A
(6.8)
6.9

45 8

1997
35.0%
(0.9)
6.9

(1.8)
7.0

46.2%

1996
35.0%
(0.8)
4.5

(2.0)
7.1

43 8'I

Note 6. Employee Compensation and Benefit Plans

Stock Option Plans

In April 1998, Edison International shareholders approved the Edison International Equity Compensation
Plan. The plan replaces the Long-Term Incentive Compensation Program, consisting of officer, director,
and management plans, which was adopted by Edison I'nternationai shareholders in 1992. No new
awards will be made under the prior program; however, it will remain in effect as long as any awards
remain outstanding under the prior program.

The prior program participated in the use of 8.2 million shares of parent company common stock
reserved for potential issuance under various stock compensation programs to directors, officers and
senior managers of Edison International and its affiliates. Under these programs, options on 3.0 million
shares of Edison International common stock are currently outstanding to officers and senior managers
of SCE.

The new plan authorizes the annual issuance of shares equal to one percent of the issued and
outstanding shares of Edison International common stock as of December 31 of the prior year. This
authorization is cumulative so that to the extent shares are not needed to meet new plan requirements in
any year, the excess authorized shares will carry over to subsequent years until plan termination. One
percent of the issued and outstanding Edison International common stock on December 31, 1997, was
3.8 million shares. Under the new plan, options on 1.4 million shares of Edison International common
stock are currently outstanding to officers and senior managers of SCE.

Each option may be exercised to purchase one share of Edison International common stock, and is
exercisable at a price equivalent to the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant.
Edison international stock options include a dividend equivalent feature. Generally, for options issued
before 1994, amounts equal to dividends accrue on the options at the same time and at the same rate as
would be payable on the number of shares of Edison International common stock covered by the options.
The amounts accumulate without interest. For Edison International stock options issued after 1993,
dividend equivalents are subject to reduction unless certain shareholder return performance criteria are
met.

The new plan's stock options have a 10-year term with one-fourth of the total award vesting after each of
the first four years of the award term. The prior program's stock options have a 10-year term with one-
third of the total award vesting after each of the first three years of the award term. If an optionee retires,
dies or is'permanently and totally disabled during the vesting period, the unvested options will vest and
be exercisable to the extent of 1/36 (prior program) or 1/48 (the new plan) of the grant for each full
month of service during the vesting period.

Unvested options of any person who has served in the past on the Edison International or SCE
Management Committee (which was dissolved in 1993) willvest and be exercisable upon the member's
retirement, death or permanent and total disability. Upon retirement, death or permanent and total
disability, the vested options may continue to be exercised within their original terms by the recipient or
beneficiary. If an optionee is terminated other than by retirement, death or permanent and total "

disability, options which had vested as of the prior anniversary date of the grant are forfeited unless
exercised within 180 days of the date of termination. All unvested options are forfeited on the date of
termination.
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l
'SCE measures compensation expense related to stock-based compensation by the intrinsic value
method. Compensation expense recorded under the stock-compensation program was $8 million,
$5 million and $8 million for the years 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense under the fair-value method of accounting would have resulted in

pro forma earnings of $516 million, $602 million and $653 million for the years 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 1998 and 1997 was $6A4 per share option
and $7.62 per share option, respectively. The weighted-average remaining life of options outstanding as
of December 31, 1998, and December 31, 1997, was 7 years.

The fair value for each option granted, reflecting the basis for the above pro forma disclosures, was
determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following
assumptions were used in determining fair value through the model:

Expected life
Risk-free interest rate
Ex ected voiatiiit

1998

7 years
47%-56%

17%

1997

7 years
6.3% - 6.8%

17%

The application of fair-value accounting to calculate the pro forma disclosures above is not an indication
of future income statement effects. The pro forma disclosures do not reflect the effect of fair-value
accounting on stock-based compensation awards granted prior to 1995.

Pension Plan

SCE has a noncontributory, defined-benefit pension plan that covers employees meeting minimum
service requirements. SCE recognizes pension expense as calculated by the actuarial method used for
ratemaking. In 1996, SCE recorded pension gains from a special voluntary early retirement program. In

1998, SCE adopted a new accounting standard that revises the disclosure requirements for pension
plans. Prior periods have been restated.

Information on plan assets and benefit obligations is shown below:

In millions Year ended December 31

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss
Benefits aid

Benefit obli ation at end of ear

Change In plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits aid

Fair value of lan assets at end of ear

Funded status
Unrecognized net gain
Unrecognized net obligation (17-year amortization)
Unreco nized rior service cost

Pension asset liabilit

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Expected return on plan assets

1998

$2,094
59

141
90

133

$2,251

$2,298
334

53
133

$2I552

$ 301
(372)

33
168

$ 130

6 75%
5.0%
7.5%

1997

$2,002
44

138
192
282

$2,094

$2,158
369

53
282

$2,298

$ 204
(304)

38
184

$ 122

70%
5 0%
8 Ooj
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The components of pension expense were:

In millions

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization and deferral

Year ended December 31, 1998

$ 59
141

(170)
14

1997

$ 44
138

(160)
13

1996

$ 49
178

(203)
5

Pension expense under
accounting standards

Re viator ad'ustment —deferred
Net pension expense recognized
Settlement ain
Total expense (gain)

44
11

55

$ 55

35
17

52

$ 52

29
22
51
121

$ (70)

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

Employees retiring at or after age 55 with at least 10 years of service (or those eligible under a 1996
special voluntary early retirement program), are eligible for postretirement health and dental care, life,
insurance and other benefits. In 1996, SCE recorded special termination expenses from a special
voluntary early retirement program. In 1998, SCE adopted a new accounting standard that revises the
disclosure requirements for postretirement benefit plans. Prior periods have been restated.

Information on plan assets and benefit obligations is shown below:

In millions Year ended December 31 1998 1997

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss (gain)
Benefits aid

Benefit obli ation at end of ear

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits aid

Fair value of lan assets at end of ear

Funded status
Unrecognized net loss
Unrecognized transition obligation (20-year

amortization

Recorded asset liabilit

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets

$1,533
41
99

(74)
54

$1,545

$ 815
147
121

54

$1,029

$ (516)
84

376

$ 56)

6 75%
7.5%

$1,349
30
99

114
59

$ 1,533

$ 617
147
110
59

$ 815

. $ (718)
244

403

$ 71

7.0%
80%

30



Southorn California Edison Company

The components of postretirement benefits other than pension expense were:

ln millions Year ended December 31, 1998 1997 1996

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of loss
Amortization of transition obli ation

Net expense
Special termination expense

Total ex ense

$ 41
99

(62)
1

27
106

$ 106

$ 30
99

(50)
4

27
110

$ 110

$ 31
90

(43)
6

27
111

72

$ 183

The assumed rate of future increases in the per-capita cost of health care benefits is 8.25% for 1999,
gradually decreasing to 5.0% for 2009 and beyond. Increasing the health care cost trend rate by one
percentage point would increase the accumulated obligation as of December 31, 1998, by $264 million
and annual aggregate service and interest costs by $31 million. Decreasing the health care cost trend
rate by one percentage point would decrease the accumulated obligation as of December 31, 1998, by
$211 million and annual aggregate service and interest costs by $24 million.

Employee Savings Plan

SCE has a 401(k) defined contribution savings plan designed to supplement employees'etirement
income. The plan received employer contributions of $ 17 million in 1998, $ 15 million in 1997 and $24 in
1996.

Note 7. Jointly Owned UtilityProjects

SCE owns interests in several generating stations and transmission systems for which each participant
provides its own financing. SCE's share of expenses for each project is included in the consolidated
statements of income.

The investment in each project, as included in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 1998,
was:

In millions

Original
Cost of
Faciiit

Accumulated
Depreciation and Under Ownership

Amortization Construction Interest

Transmission systems:
Eldorado
Pacific Intertie

Generating stations:
Four Corners Units 4 and 5 (coal)
Mohave (coal)
Palo Verde (nuclear)l'l
San Onofre

(nuclear)"'otal

$ 31
239

459
315

1,605
4,217

$6,866

$ 6
78

288
183
908

2,762

$4,225

$ 2
5

2
6

12
63

$90

60%
50

48
56
16
75

Reported as "Regulatory asset —unamortized nuclear investment —.net."

Note 8. Leases

SCE has operating leases, primarily for vehicles, with varying terms, provisions and expiration dates.
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Estimated remaining commitments for noncancellable leases at December 31, 1998, were:

Year ended December 31

1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
Thereafter
Total

Note 9. Commitments

Nuclear Decommissioning

In millions
$ 13

11
8
5
3
5

$45

Decommissioning is estimated to cost $1.9 billion in current-year dollars, based on site-specific studies
performed in 1998 for San Onofre and Palo Verde. Changes in the estimated costs, timing of
decommissioning, or the assumptions underlying these estimates could cause material revisions to the
estimated total cost to decommission in the near term. SCE plans to decommission its nuclear
generating facilities by a prompt removal method authorized by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.
Decommissioning is scheduled to begin in 2013 for San Onofre Units 2 and 3, and 2025 at Palo Verde.
In December 1998, SCE requested the CPUC's approval to access its nuclear decommissioning trust
funds to commence decommissioning of San Onofre Unit 1 in 2000.

Decommissioning costs, which are accrued and recovered through non-bypassabie customer rates over
the term of each nuclear facility's operating license, are recorded as a component of depreciation
expense.

Decommissioning expense was $ 164 million in 1998, $ 1 54 million in 1997 and $ 148 million in 1996. The
accumulated provision for decommissioning, excluding San Onofre Unit 1, was $1.2 billion at
December 31, 1998, and $1.1 billion at December 31, 1997. The estimated costs to decommission San
Onofre Unit 1 ($368 million) are recorded as a liability.

Decommissioning funds collected in rates are placed in independent trusts, which, together with
accumulated earnings, willbe utilized solely for decommissioning.

Trust investments include:

In millions
Maturity

Dates
December 31,

1998 1997

Municipal bonds
Stocks
U.S. government issues
Short-term and other

2000—2029

1999—2029
1999—2028

$ 547
550
355

82

$ 459
392
357
163

Trust fund balance (at cost) $1,534 $1,371

Trust fund earnings (based on specific identification) increase the trust fund balance and the
accumulated provision for decommissioning. Net earnings were $63 million in 1998, $54 million in 1997
and $49 million in 1996. Proceeds from sales of securities (which are reinvested) were $1.2 billion in
1998, $595 million in 1997 and $ 1.0 billion in 1996. Approximately 89% of the trust fund contributions
were tax-deductible.
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Other Commitments

SCE has fuel supply contracts which require payment only if the fuel is made available for purchase.

SCE has power-purchase contracts with certain qualifying facilities (cogenerators and small power
producers) and other utilities. These contracts provide for capacity payments if a facility meets certain
performance obligations and energy payments based on actual power supplied to SCE. There are no
requirements to make debt-service payments.

SCE has unconditional purchase obligations for part of a power plant's generating output, as well as firm
transmission service from another utility. Minimum payments are based, in part, on the debt-service
requirements of the provider, whether or not the plant or transmission line is operable. The purchased-
power contract is not expected to provide more than 5% of current or estimated future operating
capacity. SCE's minimum commitment under both contracts is approximately $172 million through 2017.

Certain commitments for the years 1999 through 2003 are estimated below:

In millions

Projected construction expenditures
Fuel supply contracts
Purchased-power capacity payments
Unconditional purchase obligations

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

$922 $831 $726 $699 $689
167 136 123 139 117
744 786 797 704 689

9 10 10 9 10

Note 10. Contingencies

In addition to the matters disclosed in these notes, SCE is involved in other legal, tax and regulatory
proceedings before various courts and governmental agencies regarding matters arising in the ordinary
course of business. SCE believes the outcome of these other proceedings will not materially affect its
results of operations or liquidity.

Environmental Protection

SCE is subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations, which require it to incur substantial
costs to operate existing facilities, construct and operate new facilities, and mitigate or remove the effect
of past operations on the environment.

SCE records its environmental liabilities when site assessments and/or remedial actions are probable
and a range of reasonably likely cleanup costs can be estimated. SCE reviews its sites and measures
the liability quarterly, by assessing a range of reasonably likely costs for each identified site using
currently available information, including existing technology, presently enacted laws and regulations,
experience gained at similar sites, and the probable level of involvement and financial condition of other
potentially responsible parties. These estimates include costs for site investigations, remediation,
operations and maintenance, monitoring and site closure. Unless there is a probable amount, SCE
records the lower end of this reasonably likely range of costs (classified as other long-term liabilities at
undiscounted amounts).

SCE's recorded estimated minimum liability to remediate its 49 identified sites is $171 million. The
ultimate costs to clean up SCE's identified sites may vary from its recorded liability due to numerous
uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, such as: the extent and nature of contamination; the
scarcity of reliable data for identified sites; the varying costs of alternative cleanup methods;.
developments resulting from investigatory studies; the possibility of identifying additional sites; and the
time periods over which site remediation is expected to occur. SCE believes that, due to these
uncertainties, it is reasonably possible that cleanup costs could exceed its recorded liabilityby up to $247
million. The upper limit of this range of costs was estimated using assumptions least favorable to SCE
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P

among a range of reasonably possible outcomes. SCE has sold all of its gas- and oil-fueled generation
plants and has retained some liabilityassociated with the divested properties.

The CPUC allows SCE to recover environmental-cleanup costs at 41 of its sites, representing $88 million
of its recorded liability, through an incentive mechanism (SCE may request to include additional sites).
Under this mechanism, SCE will recover 90'/o of cleanup costs through customer rates; shareholders
fund the remaining 10/o, with the opportunity to recover these costs from insurance carriers and other
third parties. SCE has successfully settled insurance claims with all responsible carriers. Costs incurred
at SCE's remaining sites are expected to be recovered through customer rates. SCE has recorded a
regulatory asset of $ 141 million for its estimated minimum environmental-cleanup costs expected to be
recovered through customer rates.

SCE's identified sites include several sites for which there is a lack of currently available information,
including the nature and magnitude of contamination, and the extent, if any, that SCE may be held
responsible for contributing to any costs incurred for remediating these sites. Thus, no reasonable
estimate of cleanup costs can now be made for these sites.

SCE expects to clean up its identified sites over a period of up to 30 years. Remediation costs in each of
the next several years are expected to range from $4 million to $10 million. Recorded costs for 1998
were $7 million.

Based on currently available information, SCE believes it is unlikely that it will incur amounts in excess
of the upper limit of the estimated range and, based upon the CPUC's regulatory treatment of
environmental-cleanup costs, SCE believes that costs ultimately recorded will not materially affect its
results of operations or financial position. There can be no assurance, however, that future
developments, including additional information about existing sites or the identification of new sites, will
not require material revisions to such estimates.

Nuclear insurance

Federal law limits public liabilityclaims from a nuclear incident to $9.6 billion. SCE and other owners of
San Onofre and Palo Verde have purchased the maximum private primary insurance available
($200 million). The balance is covered by the industry's retrospective rating plan that uses deferred
premium charges to every reactor licensee if a nuclear incident at any licensed reactor in the U.S. results
in claims and/or costs which exceed the primary insurance at that plant site. Federal regulations require
this secondary level of financial protection. The Nuclear Regulatory Commission exempted San Onofre
Unit 1 from this secondary level, effective June 1994. The maximum deferred premium for each nuclear
incident is $88 million per reactor, but not more than $10 million per reactor may be charged in any one
year for each incidegt. Based on its ownership interests, SCE could be required to pay a maximum of
$175 million per nuc ear incident. However, it would have to pay no more than $20 million per incident in
any one year. Such amounts include a 5/o surcharge if additional funds are needed to satisfy public
liabilityclaims and are subject to adjustment for inflation. If the public liability limit above is insufficient,
federal regulations may impose further revenue-raising measures to pay claims, including a possible
additional assessment on ail licensed reactor operators.

Property damage insurance covers losses up to $500 million, including decontamination costs, at San
Onofre and Palo Verde. Decontamination liabilityand property damage coverage exceeding the primary
$500 million also has been purchased in amounts greater than federal requirements. Additional
insurance covers part of replacement power expenses during an accident-related nuclear unit outage.
These policies are issued primarily by mutual insurance companies owned by utilities with nuclear
facilities. If losses at any nuclear facility covered by the arrangement were to exceed the accumulated
funds for these insurance programs, SCE could be assessed retrospective premium adjustments of up to
$22 million per year. Insurance premiums are charged to operating expense.
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Spent Nuclear Fuel

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, the DOE is responsible for the selection and development
of repositories for, and the disposal of, spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste. The Act
requires that the DOE provide for the disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste
from nuclear generation stations beginning January 31, 1998. However, the DOE did not meet its
obligations. It is not certain when the DOE will begin accepting spent nuclear fuel from San Onofre or
from other nuclear power plants.

SCE has paid the DOE the required one-time fee applicable to nuclear generation at San Onofre through
April 6, 1983 (approximately $24 million, plus interest). SCE is also paying the required quarterly fee
equal to one mill per kilowatt-hour of nuclear-generated electricity sold after April 6, 1983.

SCE has primary responsibility for the interim storage of its spent nuclear fuel at San Onofre. Current
capability to store spent fuel is estimated to be adequate through 2005. Meeting spent fuel storage
requirements beyond that period could require new and separate interim storage facilities, the costs for
which have not been determined. Extended delays by the DOE can lead to consideration of costly
alternatives involving siting and environmental issues.

Palo Verde on-site spent fuel storage capacity will accommodate needs until 2002 for Units 1 and 2, and
until 2003 for Unit 3. Arizona Public Services, operating agent for Palo Verde, has commenced
construction of an interim fuel storage facility and projects completion in 2002.

Cf
SCE and other owners of nuclear power plants may be able to recover interim storage costs arising from
DOE delays in the acceptance of utility spent nuclear fuel by pursuing relief under the terms of the
contracts, as directed by the courts, through other court actions.

Quarterly Financial Data
1998 4 1997

In millions Total Fourth Third Second First Total Fourth T 'rd Second First

Operating revenue'"
Operating income
Net income
Earnings available for

common stock
Common dividends declared

$8,847
918
515

490
1.'I01

$2,245
241
121

$3,057 $1,922 $1,623 $7,953 $ 1,980 $2,434
237 212 228 1,060 248 349
169 120 105 606 123 233

$1,844 $ 1,695
229 234
129 121

115 163 114 98 576 116 226 122 112
141 422 442 96 1,829 1,266 217 171 175

(1) Effective second quarter 1998, operating revenue includes sales to the PX.
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Responsibility for Financial Reporting
Cp

The management of Southern California Edison Company (SCE) is responsible for the integrity and
objectivity of the accompanying financial.statements. The statements have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis and are based, in part, on

management estimates and judgment.

SCE maintains systems of internal control to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets
are safeguarded, transactions are executed in accordance with management's authorization and the
accounting records may be relied upon for the preparation of the financial statements. There are limits
inherent in all systems of internal control, the design of which involves management's judgment and the
recognition that the costs of such systems should not exceed the benefits to be derived. SCE believes its
systems of internal control achieve this appropriate balance. These systems are augmented by internal
audit programs through which the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and policies and
procedures are monitored, evaluated and reported to management. Actions are taken to correct
deficiencies'as they are identified.

SCE's independent public accountants, Arthur Andersen LLP, are engaged to audit the financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and to express an informed opinion
on the fairness, in all material respects, of SCE's reported results of operations, cash flows and financial
position.

As a further measure to assure the ongoing objectivity of financial information, the audit committee of the
board of directors, which is composed of outside directors, meets penodically, both jointly and separately,
with management, the independent public accountants and internal auditors, who have unrestricted
access to the committee. The committee recommends annually to the board of directors the appointment
of a firm of independent public accountants to conduct audits of its financial statements; considers the
independence of such firm and the overall adequacy of the audit scope and SCE's systems of internal
control; reviews financial reporting issues; and is advised of management's actions regarding financial
reporting and internal control matters.

SCE maintains high standards in selecting, training and developing personnel to assure that its
operations are conducted in conformity with applicable laws and is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of personal and corporate conduct. Management maintains programs to encourage and
assess compliance with these standards.

Richard K. Bushey
Vice President
and Controller

John E. Bryson
Chairman of the Board
and Chief ex ecutive Officer

February 4, 1999
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Report of Independent Public Accountants

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors,
Southern California Edison Company:

Southern Caltfornla Edison Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Southern California Edison Company
(SCE, a California corporation) and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998, and 1997, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 1998. These financial statements are the responsibility of SCE's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position o SCE and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998, and 1997, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 4, 1999
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Dollars in millions 1998

Selected Financial and Operating Data: 1994-1998

1997 1996 1995

Southarn California Edison Company

1994

income statement data:

Operating
revenue"'perating

expenses"'uel

and purchased power expenses'"
income tax from operations
Allowance for funds used during construction
interest expense —net
Net income
Earnings available for common stock
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

$ 8,847
7,929
4,934

446
20

485
515
490

2.95

$ 7,953
6,893
3,735

582
17

444
606
576

3.49

$ 7,583
6,450
3,336

578
25

453
655
621

3.54

$ 7,873
6,724
3,197

560
34

464
680
643

3.52

$ 7,799
6,705
3,403

508
29

443
'39

599
3.43

Balance sheet data:

Assets
Gross utilityplant
Accumulated provision for depreciation and

decommissioning
Common shareholder's equity
Preferred stock:

Not subject to mandatory redemption
Subject to mandatory redemption

Long-term debt
Capital structure:

Common shareholder's equity
Preferred stock:

Not subject to mandatory redemption
Subject to mandatory redemption

Long-term debt

$16,947
145150

6,896
3,335

129
256

5,447

$18,059
21,483

10,544
3,958

184
275

6,145

$17,737
21,134

9,431
5,045

284
275

4,779

$ 18,155
20,717

8,569
5,144

284
275

5,215

$18,076
20,127

7,710
5,039

359
275

4,988

1.4%
2.8%

59.4%

1 7o/
2.6%

58.2%

27%
2 7o/

46 0'/

2.6%
2.5%

47 8'/

3.3%
26%

46.8%

36.4% 37.5% 48.6% 47.1% 47.3%

Operating data:

Peak demand in megawatts (MW)
Generation capacity at peak (MW)
Kilowatt-hour sales (kWh) (in millions)
Total energy requirement (kWh) (in

millions)"'nergy

mix:
Thermal
Hydro
Purchased power and other sources

Customers (in millions)
Full-time employees

19,935
10,546
76,595
80,289

38.8%
7.4%

53.8%
4.27

'13,177

19,118
21,511
77,234
86,849

44 6'/
6.5%

48.9
4.25

12,642

18,207
21,602
75,572
84,236

47 6'/
69%

45 50/
4.22

12,057

17,548
21,603
74,296
81,924

51.6%
7.7%

40 70/
4.18

14,886

18,044
20,615
77,986
85,011

59 5%
3.9%

36.6%
4.15

16,351

1998 includes $1.3 billion from sales to the power exchange (PX).
1998 includes $2.0 billion for purchases from the PX.
1998 excludes direct access and resale customer requirements.
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B ard of Directors

John E. Bryson
Chairman of the Board and CEO,
Edison International and SCE

Charles D. Millor
Chairman of the Board,
Avery Dennison Corporation,
Pasadena, California

Southern California Edison Company

Thomas C. Sutton
Chairman of the Board and CEO,
Pacific Life Insurance Company,
Newport Beach, California

Winston H. Chon
Chairman of the Paramitas Foundation
and Chairman of Paramitas
Investment Corporation,
Santa Clara, California

Luis G. Nogalos
President,
Nogales Partners,
Los Angeles, California

Daniel M. Tollop
Retired Chairman of the Board,
Lockheed Martin Corporation,
Bethesda, Maryland

Warren Christopher
Senior Partner,
O'Melveny & Myers,
Los Angeles, California

Stophon E. Frank
President and Chief Operating
Officer, SCE

Joan C. Henley
Former General Partner,
Miramonte Vineyards,
Rancho Palos Verdes, California

Ronald L Olson
Senior Partner,
Munger, Tolies and Olson,
Los Angeles, California

Jamos M. Rosser
President,
California State University, Los Angeles,
Los Angeles, California

E. L. Shannon, JrP
Retired Chairman of the Board,
Santa Fe International Corporation,
Alhambra, CaJifornia

James D.
Watklns'dmiral

USN, Retired,
President, Joint Oceanographic
Institutions, Inc., and
President, Consortium for
Oceanographic Research and Education,
Washington, D.C.

Edward Zapanta, M.D.
Physician and Neurosurgeon,
Torrance, California

Carl F. Huntslnger
General Partner,
DAE Limited Partnership Ltd. ~

Ojai, California

Robert H. Smith
Managing Director,
Smith and Crowley Incorporated,
Pasadena, California

'etiring on April 15, 1999

Management Team

John E. Bryson
Chairman of the Board and CEO

Stephen E. Frank
President and Chief Operating Officer

Bryant C. Dannor
Executive Vice President and
General Counsel

Alan J. Fohror
Executive Vice President and
Chief FinanciaJ Officer

Harold B. Ray
Executive Vice President,
Generation Business Unit

Pamola A. Bass
Senior Vice President,
Customer Service Business Unit

Thoodoro F. Craver, Jr.
Senior Vice President and Treasurer

John R. Floldor
Senior Vice President,
Regulatory Policy and Affairs

Robort G. Foster
Senior Vice President.
Public Affairs

Lllllan R. Gorman
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Richard M. Rosonblum
Senior Vice President,
T&D Business Unit

Emlko Banfield
Vice President, Shared Services

Richard K. Bushey"
Vice President and Controller

Bruco C. Foster
Vice President,
San Francisco Regulatory Affairs

Lawronco D. Hamlln
Vice President, Power Production

Thomas J. Higglns
Vice President,
Corporate Communications

R.W. Krlegor
Vice President, Nuclear Generation

J. Michaol Mondez
Vice President, Labor Rehtions

Thomas M.
Noonan"'ice

President and Controller

Dwight E. Nunn
Vice President, Nuclear Engineering
and Technical Services

Frank J. Quovodo
Vice President, Equal Opportunity

Anthony L. Smith'"
Vice President, Tax

Mahvash Yazdi
Vice President and Chief
Information Officer

Bovorly P. Ryder
Corporate Secretary

" ResignedMarch1,1999"* Effective March 1 ~ 1999
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Shareholder Information

Pi
Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Thursday, April 15, 1999
10:00 a.m.
The Industry Hills Sheraton Resort and Conference Center
One Industry Hills Parkway
City of Industry, California

Stock Listing and Trading Information

SCE Preferred Stock

The American and Pacific stock exchanges use the ticker symbol SCE. Previous day's closing prices,
when traded, are listed in the daily newspapers in the American Stock Exchange table under the symbol
SoCalEd. The 6.05%, 6.45% and 7.23% series are not listed.

Where to Buy and Sell Stock

The listed preferred stocks may be purchased through any brokerage firm. Firms handling unlisted series
can be located through your broker.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Southern California Edison Company maintains shareholder records and is transfer agent and registrar
for SCE preferred stock. Shareholders may call Shareholder Services, (800) 347-8625, between
8:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. (Pacific time) evep business day, regarding:

~ stock transfer and name-change requirements;
~ address changes, including dividend addresses;

electronic deposit of dividends;
taxpayer identification number submission or changes;
duplicate 1099 forms and W-9 forms;
notices of and replacement of lost or destroyed stock certificates;
dividend checks;
requests to eliminate multiple annual report mailings; and

~ request access to online account information'ia Edison International's Internet Home Page,
www.edisoninvestor.corn

The address of Shareholder Services is:

P.O. Box 400, Rosemead, California 91770-0400
FAR'626) 302-481 5
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